Carsten Röcker John O'Donoghue Martina Ziefle Leszek Maciaszek William Molloy (Eds.)

Communications in Computer and Information Science

869

Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health

Third International Conference, ICT4AWE 2017 Porto, Portugal, April 28–29, 2017 Revised Selected Papers



Communications in Computer and Information Science 869

Commenced Publication in 2007 Founding and Former Series Editors: Alfredo Cuzzocrea, Xiaoyong Du, Orhun Kara, Ting Liu, Dominik Ślęzak, and Xiaokang Yang

Editorial Board

Simone Diniz Junqueira Barbosa Pontifical Catholic University of Rio de Janeiro (PUC-Rio), Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Phoebe Chen La Trobe University, Melbourne, Australia Joaquim Filipe Polytechnic Institute of Setúbal, Setúbal, Portugal Igor Kotenko St. Petersburg Institute for Informatics and Automation of the Russian Academy of Sciences, St. Petersburg, Russia Krishna M. Sivalingam Indian Institute of Technology Madras, Chennai, India Takashi Washio Osaka University, Osaka, Japan Junsong Yuan University at Buffalo, The State University of New York, Buffalo, USA Lizhu Zhou Tsinghua University, Beijing, China

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/7899

Carsten Röcker · John O'Donoghue Martina Ziefle · Leszek Maciaszek William Molloy (Eds.)

Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health

Third International Conference, ICT4AWE 2017 Porto, Portugal, April 28–29, 2017 Revised Selected Papers



Editors Carsten Röcker Hochschule Ostwestfalen-Lippe Lemgo Germany

John O'Donoghue Imperial College London London UK

Martina Ziefle RWTH Aachen University Aachen Germany Leszek Maciaszek Wroclaw University of Economics Wroclaw Poland

William Molloy University College Cork Cork Ireland

 ISSN 1865-0929
 ISSN 1865-0937 (electronic)

 Communications in Computer and Information Science
 ISBN 978-3-319-93643-7 ISBN 978-3-319-93644-4 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93644-4
 (eBook)

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018947314

© Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018, corrected publication 2018 This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer International Publishing AG part of Springer Nature

The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

We are delighted to present the extended and revised versions of a set of selected papers from the Third International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health (ICT4AWE 2017), held in Porto, Portugal, during April 28–29, 2017.

ICT4AWE 2017 received 32 paper submissions from 19 countries, of which 31% are included in this book. The papers were selected by the event chairs and their selection is based on a number of criteria that includes the classifications and comments provided by the Program Committee members, the session chairs' assessment, and also the program chairs' global view of all papers included in the technical program. The authors of selected papers from ICT4AWE 2017 were then invited to submit a revised and extended version of their papers having at least 30% innovative material.

The International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and eHealth aims to be a meeting point for those that study and apply information and communication technologies, and for improving the quality of life of the elderly and for helping people stay healthy, independent, and active at work or in their community along their whole life. ICT4AWE facilitates the exchange of information and dissemination of best practices, innovation, and technical improvements in the fields of age-related health care, education, social coordination, and ambient-assisted living. From eHealth to intelligent systems, and ICT devices, this is a point of interest for all those that work in research and development and across industries involved in promoting the well-being of elderly citizens.

"We have witnessed a rapid surge in assisted living technologies due to a rapidly aging society. The aging population, the increasing cost of formal health care, the caregiver burden, and the importance that the individuals place on living independently, all motivate development of innovative-assisted living technologies for safe and independent aging" (Rashidi and Mihailidis, 2013). Over the past few decades as our societies have been rapidly ageing, so too has the advancement of information and communication technologies (ICT). Yet the convergence of such target end users and new and innovate technologies has not always been fully realized. It has been far too common where the elderly have traditionally been an excluded group in the deployment of ICT (Neves and Amaro, 2012). However, more recently, there has been a growing paradigm shift in the utilization of ICT within an ageing society from a "nice to have" approach to a "need to have" philosophy. This was highlighted by Obi et al. (2013) where its survey clearly demonstrated that greater effort is needed to exploit ICT across a number of all domains (both societal and technological) in order to meet the challenges and needs produced by our rapidly ageing populations.

In that regard, the ICT4AWE has been a leading international conference in promoting the application of ICT across a number of innovative and meaningful methodologies to meet the real needs of our ageing societies. In the 2017 and third edition of ICT4AWE, the breadth and depth of the research and development presented clearly demonstrates the ever-increasing adoption of ICT across all domains within our societies, which clearly showcase that ICT can meet the "need to have" philosophy of our citizens for the twenty-first century and beyond.

In this book a number of innovative papers have made clear contributions in the area of ambient-assisted living (ALL) for the ageing. The papers selected to be included in this book contribute to the understanding of relevant trends of current research on "ICT for Ageing Well and eHealth," including: the collection and evaluation of day/night end user behavior patterns through the adoption of wearable technologies, i.e., "Laying the Foundation for Correlating Daytime Behaviour with Sleep Architecture Using Wearable Sensors" (Chapter 8). Such an approach can assist in the identification of end user activities, which may need greater attention to key behaviors by the end user themselves, caregivers, or health-care professionals, thus providing a higher quality of life.

In parallel, wearable technologies through smart textiles are playing an ever-increasing role in AAL as they provide a passive and natural linkage to ICT support systems, i.e., "What Is Hip? Classifying Adopters and Rejecters of Interactive Digital Textiles in Home Environments" (Chapter 1). In this survey paper, the identification and qualification of factors that influence the adoption or rejection of a smart textile was conducted and found that age in this regard had little or no bearing in the adoption of the smart textile artifact.

Finally, several studies have demonstrated that older adults often struggle with making the right decisions regarding meal preparation, healthy diets, or grocery shopping. In (Chapter 6) "SousChef: Improved Meal Recommender System for Portuguese Older Adults," the authors looked at end user needs as part of the nutrition in older adults. Moreover, an improved version of SousChef application, a meal recommender system, was presented, where new end user-specific heuristics were added to provide optional nutrition and variety. This book contains a diverse range of innovative, evidence-based papers that assist in the bridging of the gap between a nice to have approach to a need to have philosophy of ICT for ageing well.

We would like to thank all the authors for their contributions and also the reviewers who helped ensure the quality of this publication.

References

Rashidi, P. and Mihailidis, A., 2013. A survey on ambient-assisted living tools for older adults. IEEE journal of biomedical and health informatics, 17(3), pp. 579–590. Obi, T., Ishmatova, D. and Iwasaki, N., 2013. Promoting ICT innovations for the ageing population in Japan. International journal of medical informatics, 82(4), pp. e47–e62.

Neves, B.B. and Amaro, F., 2012. Too old for technology? How the elderly of Lisbon use and perceive ICT. The journal of community informatics, 8(1).

April 2017

Carsten Röcker John O'Donoghue Martina Ziefle Leszek Maciaszek William Molloy

Organization

Conference Co-chairs

Wroclaw University of Economics, Poland and Macquarie
University, Sydney, Australia
Centre for Gerontology and Rehabilitation, School
of Medicine, UCC, Ireland

Program Co-chairs

Martina Ziefle	RWTH-Aachen University, Germany
Carsten Röcker	Ostfestfalen-Lippe UAS and Fraunhofer IOSB-INA,
	Germany
John O'Donoghue	Imperial College London, UK

Program Committee

Mehdi Adda	Université du Québec à Rimouski, Canada
Kenji Araki	Hokkaido University, Japan
Carmelo Ardito	Università degli Studi di Bari, Italy
Angel Barriga	IMSE-CNM-CSIC, Spain
Ana Correia de Barros	Fraunhofer Portugal AICOS, Portugal
Bert-Jan van Beijnum	University of Twente, The Netherlands
Dario Bonino	Istituto Superiore Mario Boella, Italy
Noel Carroll	NUI Galway, Ireland
Yao Jen Chang	Chung Yuan Christian University, Taiwan
Malcolm Clarke	Brunel University, UK
Stuart Cunningham	Glyndwr University, UK
Choukri Djellali	University of Quebec at Rimouski, Canada
Georg Duftschmid	Medical University of Vienna, Austria
Stefano Federici	University of Perugia, Italy
Deborah I. Fels	Ryerson University, Canada
David Luigi Fuschi	BRIDGING Consulting Ltd., UK
Alastar Gale	Loughborough University, UK
Ennio Gambi	Università Politecnica Delle Marche, Italy
Todor Ganchev	Technical University of Varna, Bulgaria
Aura Ganz	University of Massachusetts, USA
Mark Gaynor	Saint Louis University College for Public Health and Social Justice, USA
Javier Gomez	Universidad Autonoma de Madrid, Spain
Jaakko Hakulinen	University of Tampere, Finland

Amir Hajjam El Hassani Nanomedicine Lab, Imagery and Therapeutics, France Andreas Heinig Fraunhofer Institute for Photonic Microsystems, Germany Roessingh Research and Development, Netherlands H. J. Hermens Fraunhofer IGD Computer Graphics, Germany Helmi Ben Hmida Alina Huldtgren Eindhoven University of Technology, The Netherlands Takahiro Kawamura Japan Science and Technology Agency, Japan Jeongeun Kim Seoul National University, South Korea University of Maribor, Slovenia Peter Kokol Shin'ichi Konomi The University of Tokyo, Japan Universidad del País Vasco, Spain Mikel Larrea Natasha Layton La Trobe University, Australia Der-Ming Liou National Yang Ming University, Taiwan London South Bank University, UK Jin Luo University of Jyväskylä, Finland Heikki Lyytinen TU Dresden, Germany Hagen Malberg Piero Malcovati University of Pavia, Italy Cezary Mazurek Poznan Supercomputing and Networking Center, Poland University of Bologna, Italy Elvis Mazzoni University of Delaware, USA Kathleen F. McCoy Lucerne University of Applied Sciences, Switzerland René Meier University of Udine, Italy Christian Micheloni Hiroshi Mineno Shizuoka University, Japan Ulster University, UK Maurice Mulvenna IBM Research, India Amit Anil Nanavati University of Maryland Baltimore County, USA Anthony F. Norcio University of Zagreb, Croatia Marko Perisa Marcelo Pimenta UFRGS. Brazil Zainab Pirani MHSaboo Siddik College of Engineering, India Università degli Studi di Pavia, Italy Marco Porta University of Torino, Italy Amon Rapp Ulrich Reimer University of Applied Sciences St. Gallen, Switzerland Philippe Roose LIUPPA/IUT de Bayonne/UPPA, France Sreela Sasi Gannon University, USA Universität zu Lübeck, Germany Andreas Schrader Sungkyunkwan University, South Korea Jitae Shin Josep Silva Universitat Politècnica de València, Spain Jeffrey Soar University of Southern Queensland, Australia Taro Sugihara Okayama University, Japan University of Turku, Finland Reima Suomi Toronto Rehabilitation Institute, Canada Babak Taati Nanyang Technological University, Singapore Yin-Leng Theng Carolyn Turvey University of Iowa, USA Technical University of Madrid, Spain Elena Villalba Miroslav Vrankic University of Rijeka, Croatia

Hsueh-Cheng	National Chiao Tung University, Taiwan
Nick Wang	
George Xylomenos	Athens University of Economics and Business, Greece

Invited Speakers

Panagiotis D. Bamidis	Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece and Leeds
	Institute of Medical Education, University of Leeds, UK
Reima Suomi	University of Turku, Finland

Contents

What Is Hip? – Classifying Adopters and Rejecters of Interactive Digital Textiles in Home Environments Julia van Heek, Philipp Brauner, and Martina Ziefle	1
Living with Disabilities – The Many Faces of Smart Home Technology Acceptance	21
Home-Based Multi-parameter Analysis for Early Risk Detection and Management of a Chronic Disease <i>Christos Goumopoulos and Athanasia Lappa</i>	46
ICT-Supported Interventions Targeting Pre-frailty: Healthcare Recommendations from the Personalised ICT Supported Service for Independent Living and Active Ageing (PERSSILAA) Study <i>Rónán O'Caoimh, D. William Molloy, Carol Fitzgerald, Lex Van Velsen,</i> <i>Miriam Cabrita, Mohammad Hossein Nassabi, Frederiek de Vette,</i> <i>Marit Dekker van Weering, Stephanie Jansen-Kosterink,</i> <i>Wander Kenter, Sanne Frazer, Amélia P. Rauter, Antónia Turkman,</i> <i>Marília Antunes, Feridun Turkman, Marta S. Silva, Alice Martins,</i> <i>Helena S. Costa, Tânia Gonçalves Albuquerque, António Ferreira,</i> <i>Mario Scherillo, Vincenzo De Luca, Pasquale Abete, Annamaria Colao,</i> <i>Alejandro García-Rudolph, Rocío Sanchez-Carrion,</i> <i>Javier Solana Sánchez, Enrique J. Gomez Aguilera, Maddalena Illario,</i> <i>Hermie Hermens, and Miriam Vollenbroek-Hutten</i>	69
Pervasive Business Intelligence in Misericordias – A Portuguese Case Study Danilo Coelho, Tiago Guimarães, Filipe Portela, Manuel Filipe Santos, José Machado, and António Abelha	93
SousChef: Improved Meal Recommender System for Portuguese Older Adults	107
Study on Indicators for Depression in the Elderly Using Voice and Attribute Information	127

Laying the Foundation for Correlating Daytime Behaviour with Sleep Architecture Using Wearable Sensors Ulrich Reimer, Sandro Emmenegger, Edith Maier, Tom Ulmer, Hans-Joachim Vollbrecht, Zhongxing Zhang, and Ramin Khatami	147
ActiveAdvice: A Multi-stakeholder Perspective to Understand Functional Requirements of an Online Advice Platform for AAL Products and Services Soraia Teles, Andrea Ch. Kofler, Paul Schmitter, Stefan Ruscher, Constança Paúl, and Diotima Bertel	168
Delivering Information of General Interest Through Interactive Television: A Taxonomy of Assistance Services for the Portuguese Elderly <i>Telmo Silva, David Campelo, Hilma Caravau,</i> <i>and Jorge Ferraz de Abreu</i>	191
Correction to: What Is Hip? – Classifying Adopters and Rejecters of Interactive Digital Textiles in Home Environments Julia van Heek, Philipp Brauner, and Martina Ziefle	E1
Author Index	209



What Is Hip? – Classifying Adopters and Rejecters of Interactive Digital Textiles in Home Environments

Julia van Heek, Philipp Brauner^{(\boxtimes)}, and Martina Ziefle

Chair for Communication Science, Human-Computer Interaction Center, RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Germany {vanheek,brauner,ziefle}@comm.rwth-aachen.de

Abstract. The omnipresence and familiarity of textiles in combination with the integration of invisible sensors, actuators, and information and communication technology under the term "interactive digital textiles" offer the potential of bridging the gap between age, the aging-population, and latest information and communication technology. Digital textiles are reaching maturity and first technology augmented cloths are becoming commercially available. However, little is known about the acceptance and projected use of digital textiles for/in home environments and whether acceptance is shaped by age, gender, expertise in interacting with technology, or other aspects of user diversity. In a survey with n = 136 participants, we identified and quantified factors that influence the adoption and rejection of a smart cushion as example for digital textiles. We found that attitude towards technology and attitude towards automation are decisive for the projected acceptance, while age plays a minor role. In addition, we provide a customer segmentation based on the projected use and provide detailed descriptions of adopters and rejecters as well as their model-based evaluations of the smart interactive cushion. The article concludes with open research questions and strategies for practitioners to leverage smart textile interfaces as basis for many innovative products in the future.

Keywords: Digital textiles \cdot User diversity \cdot Participatory design Technology acceptance \cdot Adopters & rejecters \cdot Customer segmentation

1 Introduction

Mankind's history is inherently linked to the use of textiles and early traces of the use of textiles for clothing date back to 30.000 B.C. [1,2]. They give warmth and provide protection against the outside world, but they are also perceived

The original version of this chapter was revised: The spelling of the third author's name was corrected. The correction to this chapter is available at $https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93644-4_{-11}$

 [©] Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018
 C. Röcker et al. (Eds.): ICT4AWE 2017, CCIS 869, pp. 1–20, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93644-4_1

as pleasurable and fashionable. Thus, they are part of our everyday lives, for example as clothes and accessories, or as carpets and furniture surfaces.

On the other hand, the invention of the integrated circuit and consequently the microprocessor and advanced information and communication technology is a rather novel development and its consequences on the development of mankind can only be vaguely estimated. More than two and a half decades ago, Weiser and his team at Xerox Parc Palo Alto Research Center envisioned how office environments will evolve when information and communication technology grows in processing power and connectivity, while shrinking in size and cost [3]. They envisioned environments, in which smart computing technology is omnipresent, and framed this under the term "ubiquitous computing".

In line with this development and building on humanity's long history with textiles Post et al. incorporated sensors, actuators, and communication lines in textiles and ignited research on interactive textile interfaces [4,5]. Through progress in research and development digital textiles are reaching maturity and are on the brink of commercial application [6].

However, little is known on the individual's perception of interactive digital textiles, perceived benefits and usage barriers, and who is likely to use interactive textiles. This work fills this void by providing an empirical modeling of user and system factors that shape the projected use and acceptance of iterative textiles, taking textile interfaces in the home environment as an use case.

Age as a key factor of user diversity receives particular attention in this work, as the aging population [7] in combination with lower information and communication technology (ICT) literacy of older people [8–10] yielded in a gray digital divide [11,12]. Thus, the development of novel, more sophisticated, and more complex information and communication technology might pose the unintentional risk of excluding elderly and jeopardizing their social integration and participation. Consequently, the diverse wants and needs of elderly must be addressed adequately throughout the design and development of novel interactive interfaces.

The article has the following structure: Sect. 2 presents the theoretical background of technical developments as well as acceptance research concerning interactive textiles. Section 3 describes our empirical approach to understand the perceived barriers and benefits of smart interactive textiles and to assess the user and system factors that govern acceptance by users. Section 4 shows the results of the empirical study starting with the general evaluation of the smart cushion and followed by a user-group specific description of the smart cushion's evaluation. Section 5 provides a discussion and contextualization of the research findings as well as practical guidelines on the design and development of interactive textiles. Section 6 concludes this article by outlining a future research agenda.

2 Interactive Textiles and Acceptance

This section presents the state of the art in the domain of interactive textiles in Sect. 2.1, technology acceptance research in Sect. 2.2, and their combination (research on the acceptance of interactive textiles) in Sect. 2.3.

2.1 Technical Developments in Interactive Digital Textiles

Post et al. ignited research on interactive digital textiles by integrating sensors, actuators, power supply, and conductive yarn as signaling lines into fabrics [4, 5]. Various projects built upon this work and developed textile interfaces for a multitude of usage scenarios ranging from cloths to furnitures [13]. In principle, every textile product can be augmented by ICT and the most common usage domains are wearables – i.e., when electronics are integrated into clothes – and furnitures. Consequently, the following two paragraphs briefly present related work from these two areas.

"Pinstripe" by Karrer et al. used parallel conductive yarns to detect folds and their movements in clothes two realize a two-dimensional continuous input device [14]. Users can pinch into the fabric of a T-Shirt, form a fold, and move the fold with their fingers up or down. The size of the fold and the movement can then be mapped on – for example – volume control with the size indicating the degree of change and the movement for the continuous adjustment. Building on that work, Hamdan et al. designed an interactive pad that allows grabbing cloth at different angels [15]. Integrated into a jacket, this interface might be used for eyes-free media control. PocketTouch by Saponas et al. used capacitive sensing to realize input detection on different textile surfaces [16]. Exemplary usage scenarios included the detection of small gestures up to the recognition of letters written on textile surfaces. To accelerate the development of textile interfaces Perner Wilson et al. introduced a toolkit to collect best-practice examples of digital textiles interfaces [17].

Multiple projects addressed the integration of interactive textiles in the home environment. For example, Heller et al. embroidered conductive yarns into curtain fabrics and realized a smart curtain [18]. By either touching or swiping orthogonally across the multiple sensing lines, a motor opened or closed the curtain. The integration of the conductive yarns offered room for visual design. The conductive yarn can either be embroidered in nearly invisible parallel lines or may be used as creative element in form of more complex visual ornaments. Rus et al. built and evaluated a smart textile sofa by integrating electrodes in several spots across its surface [19]. Using data from the sensors the sofa was able to perform reliable posture detection.

Recent advances by Poupyrev et al. demonstrated that the integration of conductive yarns can be realized in industrial weaving processes, thus allowing the manufacturing of interactive textiles at scale and with reasonable costs [6]. However, it is still unclear which individuals are inclined towards interactive textiles and what factors shape the individual's assessment of this novel technology. Technology Acceptance Research is the methodology to resolve these questions and will be presented in the following section.

2.2 Empirical Modeling of Technology Acceptance

Technology Acceptance Research aims at understanding what shapes the adoption and rejection of novel technologies. A milestone within this research domain is Davis' Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) [20]. TAM predicts the *intention* to use and later use of software systems using the three constructs perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, and attitude towards using. Based on Davis' TAM and other extended models Venkatesh et al. [21] adapted the concept of linking system evaluations with the intention to use to predict the use of consumer technology – the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology 2 (UTAUT2). The model builds on the seven dimensions Performance Expectancy (PE), Effort Expectancy (EE), Hedonic Motivation (HM), Social Influence (SI), Facilitating Conditions (FC), Price Value (PV), and Habit (HB) and is able to predict almost 74% of the intention to use concerning a specific technology and about 52% of actual use after four months.

2.3 Acceptance Research on Interactive Textiles

So far, only occasional studies have been conducted focusing on technology acceptance of interactive textiles, due to the novelty of this technology. In the following section, an overview of the few existing studies and their results is given.

Holleis et al. provided first qualitative insights by investigating diverse input modes for media player control on different prototypical input devices. In more detail, the preferred design of interaction (e.g., visible vs. invisible buttons, ornaments) and preferred body locations for performing gestures (e.g., hands, legs, chest) were focused [22].

A further study examined the acceptance of wearable smart textiles in different usage contexts using a scenario-based approach [23]. The study revealed an influence of different usage contexts on the evaluations of smart textiles (leisure contexts (i.e., sports) vs. medical contexts (i.e., monitoring vital parameters)) as well as an influence user diversity (age, previous experiences, and the individual knowledge about the technology).

Furthermore, a conjoint-based approach was used by Hildebrandt et al. to identify which product features influence the general acceptance of smart digital textiles most [24]. The study revealed that the technical realization of these products was most important as users disliked noticeable electronics in the devices and preferred a seamless integration into the textile. The second important factor was the room, in which the textile was used (living room preferred; bedroom and kitchen declined). The factor functionality (i.e., what the interactive textile should be able to do) was less, while the factor wearability was comparatively least important with a slight participants' preference towards interactive textiles that are integrated into non-wearable devices (e.g., curtains, cushions).

Another study deepened the comparison of wearable and non-wearable devices in order to understand specific requirements for textile input devices within home environments [25]. In a questionnaire study with 72 participants in an age range between 20–76 years the perceived benefits and barriers of smart textiles in the home context were explored, but also the requested functions to be controlled by textile input devices as well as the type of devices and the specific home locations. Results showed that participants do not see much benefit

in the use of textile input devices, but – on the other hand – the barriers are also not that prominent what might be due to the fact that almost none of the sample already had hands-on experience with smart textiles. However, participants expressed a number of important conditional usage criteria that should be guaranteed first before they would use smart textiles. The most prominent conditionals were a high usability and ease of using the textiles, whereas the material quality, the functionality, and the ease of cleaning were of lower importance. With respect to the device type, the study showed that participants favor table surfaces, chairs or sofas, and outerwear for integrating interactive textile interfaces over smart carpets or curtains. The desired functions that should be controllable by smart textiles (e.g., switching TV or music channels, control interior lighting) related especially to textiles in the living room and the office, which were the most preferred home locations for participants. In contrast, smart textiles were seen as not useful in the kitchen and bedroom [25].

A follow-up study with 90 participants investigated motives, barriers, and conditions for using interactive digital textiles in an aging context. It was of interest if the acceptance of smart textiles is different for persons of different generations. In detail, different usage contexts of interactive textiles (i.e., bedroom, living room, kitchen, and integrated in clothes) [26] were investigated. Results showed that – across all conditions explored – age and generation of participants did not impact the acceptance of smart textiles, revealing a quite unique view on smart textiles. In single areas, though, age effects showed up: With respect to the question of the longevity of smart textiles, a significant age effect was found: Younger adults had significantly higher demands on longevity than middle-aged and the older participants. Another age effect was revealed in the opinion that smart textiles would complicate lives – a belief that was more frequently confirmed by older adults. Overall, the study revealed that the use of smart textiles seems not to be different for older and younger adults, thus revealing that the technology is basically appropriate for a broad user group.

In contrast to scenario-based approaches, an usability study with smart interactive textiles was also conducted [6] focusing on the recognition rates of gestures (swipe right, swipe left, hold) taking different use conditions into account (sitting, walking, standing) and using small interactive areas of a test jacket's sleeve. The study revealed an overall recognition rate of almost 77%, although the recognition rate varied significantly depending on the use conditions under study.

Summarizing previous studies on the acceptance of interactive textiles, smart textiles were especially accepted and desired in the home environment's and specifically the living room. Furthermore, user diversity seemed to influence their acceptance. Strikingly, previous research in the field of smart interactive textiles predominantly focused on smart wearable textiles, while research on non-wearable smart textiles – such as furnitures, bed linen, or pillows and cushions – in home environments is comparatively rare.

Consequently, this article focuses on the overarching research question if these effects are also present for smart textile interfaces in home environments and which evaluation dimensions govern the users' acceptance. Based on preceding studies and specifically findings of focus groups, we specified a smart cushion as an application scenario, whereby the cushion can be placed in the living room, for example on the sofa or armchair. Gestures on the cushion can be used to control music or light within the home environment. The following section precisely describes the underlying methodological approach.

3 Method

This section presents the study's methodological approach starting with a description of the applied research's design, followed by specifications of the applied statistical procedures, and the sample of the study. The goal of this study was to analyze whether an adapted acceptance model could be used for evaluating the acceptance of a specific smart interactive textile and if there are user groups that differ in their acceptance behavior. The following central research questions guided the design of the study:

- 1. Is the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology 2 model (see Sect. 2.2) suitable to predict the likely adoption of a smart cushion as an example for smart interactive textiles in the home environment?
- 2. Do user groups with different patterns of adopting and rejecting the smart cushion exist? What characterizes these user groups?
- 3. Do the key usage motives differ for diverse user groups?

3.1 Design of Applied Research Approach

We chose the method of a paper-and-pencil questionnaire in order to reach similarly younger and older participants. The items of the questionnaire were based on the UTAUT 2 model, but were adjusted to the context of smart textile interfaces. Further, the model was extended by constructs based on the findings of several focus groups consisting of five people carried out prior to this study.

Within the first part of the questionnaire, participants' demographic characteristics (age, gender, educational level) were addressed and we also asked for more detailed user-specific aspects such as participants' health status (e.g., chronic diseases and physical restrictions). Additionally, the participants evaluated their previous experience with smart textiles (using two items; $\alpha = .79$).

In the next part, the participants were asked for their attitudes towards technology (TECH), towards textiles (TEX), and towards automation (AUTO), whereby respective items were summed up for each construct and checked for item and scale reliability. The attitudes towards technology was measured based on Karrer et al. capturing the following four dimensions: technical enthusiasm (EN), experience of technical competency (COMP), and positive (POS) as well as negative (NEG) experience with technology with three items for each dimension [27]. The self-efficacy in interacting with technology (SET) was measured on a scale by Beier [28] (using four items; $\alpha = .82$). In accordance with

Bandura, domain specific self-efficacy refers to an individual's confidence to execute a specific behavior or to attain a specific goal [29] and various studies found an significant influence of domain specific technical self-efficacy on interacting with computing technology [8–10]. As no validated scale for a measurement of the *attitude towards textiles* (TEX) has been applied so far, we built a new scale with four items based on previous findings from our preceding focus group studies. The results revealed that this scale achieved a sufficiently high internal reliability for a newly developed scale (four items; $\alpha = .66$). Furthermore, AUTO was queried (using six items; $\alpha = .83$) also derived from the results of previous qualitative studies.

After the assessment of personal and attitudinal information, the participants were asked to conceive a scenario, in which a cushion lied on the sofa in the living room and functioned as a remote control for the domestic electronic devices such as light, music, and heating in the whole home environment. The participants should imagine that electronic sensors were incorporated in the cushion enabling to respond to different hand gestures, e.g., operating by stroking, kneading, grabbing, or rolling and twisting of folds.

Using the scenario, the participants envisioned the smart cushion and its functions and then evaluated the acceptance of the cushion based on the adapted UTAUT2-model [21]. Our STTAM – Smart Textile Technology Acceptance Model – incorporated the dimensions Intention To Use (ItU), Performance Expectancy (PE), Effort Expectancy (EE), Hedonic Motivation (HM), Social Influence (SI), Facilitating Conditions (FC), Price Value (PV), and Habit (HB) from UTAUT2. Further, the model was complemented by the dimensions Washability (WASH) and Technical Conditions (TC) (capturing technical aspects such as long durability or input efficiency) based on the results of previous qualitative studies. The participants assessed the respective dimensions using each three or four items on six-point Likert scales (0 = strongly disagree; 5 = strongly agree).

Completing the questionnaire took about 15 min and data was collected in Germany in spring 2015. The participation was voluntary and not gratified.

3.2 Applied Statistical Procedures

Data was analyzed using bi-variate correlations of model- and userrelated factors, Pearson's χ^2 , uni- and multivariate analyses of variance (ANOVA/MANOVA) as well as linear regressions. The level of significance was set to p = .05. Spearman's ρ was used for bivariate correlations and Pillai's Vwas stated for the omnibus test of MANOVAs. The effect size was reported as partial η^2 . The step- wise method was used in the multiple linear regression and models with low standardized β were removed between the runs. Models with high variance inflation ($VIF \gg 1$) were excluded. The whiskers in the diagrams indicate the standard error. For the two-step cluster analysis the silhouette coefficient was >.5, indicating a good separation between and a good cohesion within the clusters. \pm indicates the standard deviation.

3.3 Participants

The questionnaires were distributed on paper in a rural area and a total of 136 people participated voluntarily in this study. 12 (8.8%) incomplete datasets were excluded and only complete datasets were considered in the subsequent analyses.

The final sample consists of 56 male (45.2%) and 68 female (54.8%) participants with an age range from 17–86 years, an arithmetic mean of 49.5 ± 16.2 years and a median age of 53.0 years. The sample's educational level is heterogeneous, as 29.3% reported holding a secondary school certificate, 26.6% an university entrance diploma, and 27.4% completed junior high school. Chronic diseases affect only a small share of the participants (14.8%) and include mainly diabetes or allergies. About half of the participants (50.4%) reported owning a pet (48.7% reported no pet ownership). None of the factors (educational level, health status, pets) was associated with age or gender.

Besides these demographic information, the participants were asked for their technology attitude and experience in five dimensions: the participants showed a positive *Perceived Competency* in interacting with technology $(M = 3.7 \pm 1.2; min = 0; max = 5)$, a rather positive *self-efficacy in interacting with technology* $(M = 2.9 \pm 1.2; min = 0; max = 5)$, and a slightly positive perceived technology *Enthusiasm* $(M = 2.7 \pm 1.5; min = 0; max = 5)$; On average, the participants confirmed a *Positive Attitude Towards Technology* $(M = 3.3 \pm 1.0; min = 0; max = 5)$, while they rated *Negative Attitude Towards Technology* $(M = 2.5 \pm 1.2; min = 0; max = 5)$ neutrally. Further, the participants reported a positive *Attitude Towards Textiles* (TEX) $(M = 3.4 \pm 1.1; min = 0; max = 5)$ and a slightly positive *Attitude Towards Automation* (AUTO) $(M = 2.9 \pm 1.6; min = 0; max = 5)$. In contrast, previous experience with smart interactive textiles was very low $(M = 0.7 \pm 1.3; min = 0; max = 5)$.

Analyzing potential relationships of user and attitudinal factors, a correlation analysis revealed significant correlations between gender (dummy coded as 0 = male, 1 = female) and SET ($\rho = -.39, p < .01, sig.$), gender and TECH ($\rho = -.314, p < .05, sig.$), gender and TEX ($\rho = .25, p < .01, sig.$) as well as gender and AUTO ($\rho = -.26, p < .05, sig.$). Hence, women reported to be less inclined to technology than men, however, woman were more inclined to textiles than men. Further, age correlated significantly with SET ($\rho = -.33, p < .01$, sig.) as well as TECH ($\rho = -.28, p < .01, sig.$). The elderly indicate to be less inclined to technology than younger participants. In contrast, age was not related to AUTO ($\rho = -.14, p = .11 > .05, n.s.$) and TEX ($\rho = .02, p = .80 > .05, n.s.$).

4 Results

This section presents the results of the present research approach starting with the overall evaluation of the smart cushion. Afterwards, distinct clusters of users are identified in regard to in acceptance behavior and characterized concerning their differences in user factors. Subsequently, the user group specific evaluation of the smart cushion based on the adapted acceptance model is described.

4.1 Model-Based Evaluation of a Smart Cushion

A previous study revealed that the *Intention to Use* (ItU) the smart interactive cushion was evaluated slightly negative by the participants ($M = 2.1 \pm 1.5$; min = 0; max = 5) and that all considered model dimensions were associated with the *Intention to Use* (ItU) [30]. Especially the dimensions PE, HM, and HB were strongly related with ItU. The dimensions SI, FC, PV, and TC were also significantly but on a slightly lower level correlated with ItU. EE and WASH had the comparatively lowest impact on ItU (see Table 1).

A step-wise multiple regression analysis was conducted in order to find out which model dimensions were the key predictors for the acceptance of the smart cushion. For this, the evaluation dimensions represented the independent and the ItU dimension the dependent variable. The analysis revealed three significant models: the first model predicted 83.5% variance of ItU $r_{adj.}^2 = .835$ with the dimension habit (HB) as key predictor; the second model predicted 85.9% variance $r_{adj.}^2 = .859$ based on HB and additionally hedonic motivation (HM) as key predictors; and finally, the third model predicted 86.2% ($r_{adj.}^2 = .862$) with HB, HM, and performance expectancy (PE) as predictors. Table 2 illustrates the final regression model for the evaluation of the smart cushion referring to the whole sample.

Table 1. Inter-correlations of user factors (bottom) and the product's evaluation (upper) on the Smart Textile TAM dimensions (PE = Performance Expectancy, HM = Hedonic Motivation, HB = Habit, EE = Effort Expectancy, SI = Social Influence, FC = Facilitating Conditions, PV = Price Value, WASH = Washability, TC = Technical Conditions, ITU = Intention To Use, TECH = Attitude Towards Technology, TEX = Affinity Towards Textiles, AUTO = Attitude Towards Home Automation). [†] = p < .1, ^{*} = p < .05, ^{**} = p < .001 (see [30]).

	PE	HM	HB	EE	SI	\mathbf{FC}	PV	WASH	TC	ITU
PE		.689**	.755**	.348**	.553**	.520**	.335**	.351**	.367**	.764**
HM		—	.765**	.313**	.534**	.577**	.373**	.335**	.549**	.791**
HB			—	.281**	.662**	.649**	.445**	.357**	.493**	.904**
EE					$.167^{\dagger}$.514**				.207*
SI						.460**	.363**	.299**	.313**	.655**
FC						—	.342**	.231*	.337**	.606**
PV								.246**		.459**
WASH									.182*	.304**
TC									_	.488**
Age				236**					$.176^{\dagger}$	
TECH	.268**	.288**	.293**	.430**	$.155^{\dagger}$.407**			$.175^{\dagger}$.327**
TEX		.302**		$.156^{\dagger}$.280**	
AUTO	.342**	.343**	.398**	.307**	.197*	.372**	.192*		.198*	.491**

Model	В	SE B	β	Т
(const)	614	.129		-4.761
HB	.664	.070	.633	9.542
HM	.272	.070	.237	3.876
\mathbf{PE}	.136	.068	.114	2.015

Table 2. Linear regression for Intention To Use (ItU) based on HE (Habit), Hedonic Motivation (HM), and Performance Expectancy (PE) $(r_{adj.}^2 = .862)$ (see [30]).

In preceding analysis processes, we found significant correlations of several user diversity factors with ItU and other model dimensions (see Table 1): For instance, the individual attitudes TECH and AUTO were related with ItU (as well as almost all model dimensions) showing that participants who reported to be more inclined with technology and to have higher wishes for automation showed a more positive *Intention to Use* the smart interactive cushion. However, the analysis revealed no significant correlations of age, gender, and TEX with ItU. Although these results deliver insights into single relevant user diversity factors, they do not support to understand in depth who adopts and who rejects the cushion as example for smart interactive textiles.

4.2 Identification of Adopters and Rejecters

To understand the different perceptions of people who are likely to accept or reject smart interactive textiles we segmented the sample by their usage intention. We calculated a two-step cluster analysis with two target clusters based on the three variables capturing the overall *Intention to Use* the smart interactive textile. Overall, this procedure yielded in a good separation between the two clusters and a good cohesion within the clusters (silhouette coefficient >.5).

As Fig. 1 (left) illustrates, the cluster membership had an obvious and strong effect on the *Intention to Use* (ItU) the smart cushion: the first cluster contained 64 participants with a low *Intention to Use* $(M = 0.8 \pm 0.6; min = 0; max = 5)$ and will be referred to as "*rejectors*", while the second cluster contained 59 participants with a high *Intention to Use* and will be referred to as "*adopters*" $(M = 3.3 \pm 1.0; min = 0; max = 5)$.

As Table 3 shows, neither age ($\rho = -.018$, p > .05), nor gender ($\chi^2 = 1.294$, p > .05) are linked to cluster membership. Instead, the personal attitudes TECH and AUTO were related to the membership of the clusters: the group of *adopters* showed a significantly more positive attitude towards technology and automation than the group of *rejecters*. In contrast, TEX was not significantly related with the cluster membership.

4.3 Differences in the Smart Cushion's Evaluation

The cluster membership had a significant and strong effect on each of the STTAM evaluation dimensions (V = .623, $F_{9,107} = 19.647$, $\eta^2 = .623$, p < .001)

Table 3. Characterization of Intention to Use (ItU) clusters (AUTO = Attitude Towards Home Automation, TEX = Affinity Towards Textiles, TECH = Attitude Towards Technology).

	Adopter	Rejecter	Significance
Sex	32m/32w	28m/38w	$\chi^2 = .750, p = .482 > .05$
Age	48.9 ± 16.2 (17–78 years)	49.4 ± 15.9 (18–86 years)	$F_{1,124} = 0.347, \ p = .557 > .05$
TECH	3.1 ± 0.8	2.7 ± 0.8	$F_{1,124} = 11.146, p < .01$
AUTO	3.7 ± 1.2	2.2 ± 1.6	$F_{1,124} = 31.682, \ p < .001$
TEX	3.5 ± 1.1	3.4 ± 1.1	$F_{1,124} = 1.059, p = .305 > .05$



Rejecter Adopter

Fig. 1. Evaluation of the smart cushion on the Smart Textile TAM dimensions by usage intention clusters (adopters and rejecters) ordered by effect size (whiskers indicate the SE, PE = Performance Expectancy, HM = Hedonic Motivation, HB = Habit, EE = Effort Expectancy, SI = Social Influence, FC = Facilitating Conditions, PV = Price Value, WASH = Washability, TC = Technical Conditions, ItU = Intention To Use).

and likely adopters evaluated each of the dimensions higher than the likely rejecters. Figure 1 (right) shows the differences between *rejecters* and *adopters* in regard to the evaluation dimensions ordered by the η^2 -effect size form highest (left) to lowest (right).

Cluster membership unfolded the strongest influence on the perceived ability to use the technology regularly (*HB*: $F_{1,115} = 154.675$, $\eta^2 = .574$), p < .001). The second strongest effect was found on the perceived enjoyment using the technology (*HM*: $F_{1,115} = 95.198$, $\eta^2 = .453$, p < .001). Rejecters and adopters also evaluated the perceived usefulness and the perceived gain in abilities of the technology differently (*PE*: $F_{1,115} = 74.831$, $\eta^2 = .394$, p < .001). The influence of the cluster membership on the perceived facilitating conditions, e.g., if the technology is embeddable in the current environment, was strong as well (*FC*: $F_{1,115} = 57.883$, $\eta^2 = .335$, p < .001). This was also true for the dimension social influence (*SI*: $F_{1,115} = 53.655$, $\eta^2 = .318$, p < .001). A less stronger influence was unfolded on the perceived price-value trade-off of the technology (*PV*: $F_{1,115} = 28.496$, $\eta^2 = .199$, p < .001) as well as on the technology's technical conditions (*TC*: $F_{1,115} = 24.864$, $\eta^2 = .178$, p < .001). The second lowest influence of cluster membership was found for the perceived washability of the smart cushion and although rejectors and adopters evaluated the washability differently, the effect was rather small (*WASH*: $F_{1,115} = 9.514$, $\eta^2 = .076$, p = .003 < .05). Surprisingly, the perceived difficulty to learn using the technology and the later continuous usage was the dimension with the lowest, yet significant, effect of the cluster membership (*EE*: $F_{1,115} = 6.454$, $\eta^2 = .053$, p = .012 < .05).

Correlation Analysis. To understand the relationships of the cluster membership and the model dimensions, correlation analyses were conducted. Tables 4 and 5 illustrate the respective results. Concerning the group of *adopters* (Table 4), the dimensions HB, HM, and PE were strongly related with the ItU a smart cushion and also with almost all other model dimensions. Further, TC, FC, EE, SI, and PV had a lower influence on ItU. In contrast, WASH was the only dimension that did neither correlate with the ItU nor the other model dimensions.

Referring to the group of *rejecters* (Table 5), the results revealed a clearly lower number of correlations as well as weaker correlations. The model dimensions HB, PE, and HM were again strongly related with ItU, though clearly on a lower level than for the *adopters*. The dimensions SI, WASH, and TC were comparably weaker related with ItU. However, the dimensions EE, FC, and PV

Table 4. Correlations of the product's evaluation for the *adopter* user group on the basis of the Smart Textile TAM dimensions (PE = Performance Expectancy, HM = Hedonic Motivation, HB = Habit, EE = Effort Expectancy, SI = Social Influence, FC = Facilitating Conditions, PV = Price Value, WASH = Washability, TC = Technical Conditions, ItU = Intention To Use). [†] = p < .1, ^{*} = p < .05, ^{**} = p < .001.

	PE	HM	HB	EE	SI	FC	PV	WASH	TC	ItU
PE		.600**	.664**	.492**	.338**	.356**			.333**	.631**
HM			.814**	.467**	.329**	.640**	$.224^{\dagger}$.629**	.839**
HB			_	.513**	.332**	.558**	.307**		.515**	.888**
EE						.464**			.316*	.416**
SI						.258*	.311*			.340**
FC									.257*	.514**
PV							_			.322*
WASH								—		
TC									—	.541**
Age								$.228^{\dagger}$	$.235^{\dagger}$	

Table 5. Correlations of the product's evaluation for the *rejecter* user group on the basis of the Smart Textile TAM dimensions (PE = Performance Expectancy, HM = Hedonic Motivation, HB = Habit, EE = Effort Expectancy, SI = Social Influence, FC = Facilitating Conditions, PV = Price Value, WASH = Washability, TC = Technical Conditions, ITU = Intention To Use). [†] = p < .1, ^{*} = p < .05, ^{**} = p < .001.

	PE	HM	HB	EE	SI	FC	PV	WASH	TC	ItU
PE	—	.571**	.505**		.321**			.374**		.555**
HM			.496**		.381**			.342**	.328**	.514**
HB			—		.537**	.281**		.423**	.281**	.688**
EE						.498**				
SI					—					.474**
FC						_		.278*		
\mathbf{PV}							—		234^{\dagger}	
WASH										.282**
TC										.252**
Age				350**		307*				

were neither related with ItU nor had they a strong influence on all other model dimensions as they each correlated with only one dimension.

Regression Analysis. In order to understand which model dimensions predict the ItU of the smart interactive cushion and if these dimensions differ with regard to *adopters* and *rejecters*, we calculated step-wise multiple regression analyses for each group. In the following, the calculated final models are described and illustrated (see Table 6 (left side: *rejecters*; right side: *adopters*)).

Considering the group of *adopters*, the final model predicted 81.4% variance in ItU ($r_{adj}^2 = .814$) and was explained by the dimensions *habit (HB)* and *hedonic motivation (HM)*. In contrast, the final regression model for the group of *rejecters* predicted 50.5% and thus a clearly lower proportion of variance in ItU based on the dimensions *habit (HB)*, *performance expectancy (PE)*, and *effort expectancy (EE)*.

5 Discussion

Interactive digital textiles are a promising development and the brink at commercial exploitation. To fully harness their potential, we need to understand what shapes individual's acceptance and rejection. By using a scenario-based approach with a smart cushion as example for smart interactive textiles in the home environment, this study investigated the acceptance of smart textiles using an adapted version of the UTAUT2 model specifically tailored to smart textiles (Smart Textile Technology Acceptance Model, STTAM). This section provides a discussion of the results and answers to the research questions that represented the basis for the conducted study (see Sect. 3).

Model	В	SE B	β	Т					
(const)	.349	.171		2.038	Model	в	SE B	β	Т
HA	.343	.068	.535	5.080	(const)	258	.240		-1.077
PE	.167	.061	.291	2.739	HA	.702	.103	.651	6.804
EE	100	.047	195	-2.119	HM	.324	.104	.298	3.121
	(a) Rejectors $(r^2 - 505)$					b) Ado	pters (r^2)	. = .814	4)

Table 6. Linear regression models for Intention To Use (ItU) for likely *adopters* and *rejectors* of smart interactive textiles in home environments.

5.1 Suitability of the Applied Acceptance Model

First, the results indicate that the model used in this study is able to capture the overall intention to use the smart cushion. All dimensions from the underlying UTAUT2 model and the newly integrated additional dimensions *washability* of the textile and *technical conditions* significantly and profoundly relate to the intention to use the product (see also [30]).

As of now, the smart cushion is neither realized as a functional demonstrator nor as a salable product. Hence, the postulated relationship between the model's constructs, the captured intention to use, and the final use of a product in the future cannot yet be formally established. However, based on previous work by Fishbein and Ajzen [31,32], Davis [20], and Venkatesh et al. [21], we assume that the strong relationship between intention to use and actual use will also emerge for smart interactive textiles.

5.2 Classification of Adopters and Rejecters

The cluster analysis revealed two existing participant groups with clearly significant differences in their acceptance behavior and attitudes towards the smart cushion as an example for smart interactive textiles. Further, the groups were characterized by differences with regard to attitudinal variables, i.e. attitude towards technology and attitude towards automation: participants with higher acceptance and intention to use the smart interactive textile (adopters) had a more positive attitude towards technology and automation. The classification based on acceptance and not on single user factors enables to compare and understand people with distinctive differences in their behavior.

5.3 Evaluating Differences in Usage Motives

The regression analysis results gave insights into similarities and differences with regard to the evaluation of model dimensions by the clustered groups. In the following we utilize these results to derive empirically grounded communication guidelines for introducing digital textiles to both groups.

15

General Communication Guidelines. Results showed that the dimension *habit (HB)* was part of every model (whole sample, adopters as well as rejecters) and had in each analysis the comparatively strongest influence on the intention to use the smart cushion. Thus, it is of major importance for all participants, that they are able to envision to use the product on a regularly basis and so, increasing the behavioral intention to use the smart cushion requires to increase the perceived habit. Some ideas for realizing an increased perceived habit are based on Bandura [29] suggesting role models who are able to show the opportunities and benefits of smart interactive textiles facilitating certain daily activities as well as friends and family members who are able to persuade people to integrate novel products into their everyday life.

Addressing Adopters. In contrast, there were also some considerable differences in the regression models for adopters and rejectors. For the group of adopters, the *hedonic motivation (HM)* was the second influencing usage motive: if they attest the usage of the smart cushion is fun, this influences their intention to use and acceptance of the smart cushion. Hence, this second strongest predictor should be considered during the design of novel input devices, which should not only focus on usability measures, but also integrate aesthetics and the perceived fun when using these devices. Interestingly, the model for the *adopters* group, showed a high share of explained variance (81.4%) similar to the model referring to all participants.

Addressing Rejecters. However, the regression model for the *rejecters* group predicted a clearly lower share of variance (50.5%). This suggests that this group had the more negative attitude towards the smart cushion due to the clearly lower enthusiasm and more negative attitudes towards technology in general and towards automation. Differences were not only found for the share of variance but also in the predicting motives: for the *rejecters*, the second and third predictors of acceptance and behavioral intention to use the cushion are *performance* expectancy (PE) and effort expectancy (EE). Therefore, these two aspects have to be addressed in order to increase the acceptance of this user group. Referring to performance expectancy (PE), we assume that this dimension refers to perceived benefits of technology usage. For the smart cushion, clear examples should be provided focusing on what the smart cushion can be used for in the personal environment (e.g., light of the living room, music, or television can be adjusted to the individual mood by using an intuitive swipe gesture on the cushion). Referring to effort expectancy (EE) information should be provided on how the cushion has to be controlled and which gestures should be used in order to allay concerns about an arduous and complex handling of the smart cushion.

These results show that prototypical adopters and rejecters have to be addressed in each case adapted to their individual needs (as suggested) in order to satisfy their respective system requirements.

5.4 The Role of Age in the Context of Interactive Digital Textiles

Aging is usually associated with lower perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, perceived usage satisfaction, and perceived and actual effectiveness when interacting with a wide range of electronic devices—ranging from computers, ticket machines, to mobile phones and tablets [9,10].

In contrast to a prior study [23], in which significant influences of user diversity factors (in particular age) were found with regard to the evaluation of use requirements of smart interactive textiles, the overall acceptance behavior was not influenced by age in this study.

Neither was the overall acceptance behavior (intention to use) affected by age, nor did age unfold significant influence of the models variables. Merely, effort expectancy and facilitating conditions were influenced for the group of rejecters and washability and additional technical conditions for the group of likely adopters. Consequently, age plays a minor role in the likely adoption or rejection of these novel technologies. However, if the product's adoption by elderly should be facilitated, these four dimensions might be targeted.

5.5 Limitations and Future Research

The study used a scenario-based approach and the results are therefore shaped by the participant's ability to imagine the form, feeling, and functioning of the smart textile. Consequently, future work should investigate the user's perception of tangible and functional demonstrators. Ideally, the long term adoption and usage of smart textile-based interfaces in the home environment is evaluated and the relationship between user and model constructs, intention to use, and later actual use is precisely quantified in an empirical model.

As already addressed before, the study focused on a specific smart interactive textile example – the smart cushion. Besides this product, it is also of importance to evaluate other product examples with different application contexts. We used the cushion as an scenario-based example for a smart textile in the home environment. In current and future studies, we focus and will further focus on different products with diverse ranges of functions in order to understand which determinants for later use are universal and which are product-specifically relevant. Within our interdisciplinary research project on smart interactive textile surfaces, we have already developed first demonstrators for different usage contexts: an interactive curtain, a smart jacket, and a smart armchair [33]. First usability studies found the demonstrators (curtain and armchair) to be very intuitive and easy to use (high ease of use), whereas the participants attested the armchair a higher usefulness compared to the curtain. Further versions of prototypical demonstrators are currently on a testing stage and will be evaluated in the near future.

In addition, there are some limitations with regard to the sample of the present study, which was rather small. Hence, we aim for a replication of this study's design and will try to reach a greater and more representative sample especially referring to age. The present study tried to reach older participants

17

leading to a comparatively "old" sample due to the paper-and-pencil questionnaire, which was very useful in order to analyze older participants' needs and wishes towards smart interactive textiles. In contrast, it would be useful and desirable to reach a balanced age-distribution covering all age groups in future studies.

6 Conclusion

The article investigated the projected acceptance of interactive digital textiles using a scenario-based approach and an envisioned smart cushion as an example. The study with n = 136 participants shows that age is not decisive for projected acceptance, however that attitude towards technology and attitude towards automation are rather strong determinants for acceptance.

One key finding of this work is that interactive digital textiles are perceived differently than other forms of novel information and communication technology: Elderly people usually report lower literacy and competency in interacting with ICT [8–10] which often yields in lower usage and participation and thus a gray digital divide [11].

Why wasn't this the case for interactive textiles? The omnipresence of textiles in our everyday lives, their deep rooting in mankind's history, their softness, and their warmth may offer a novel approach to design information and communication technology that seamlessly blends into the people's habitats and may include younger and older people alike. Especially in regard to the development of ambient assisted living environments and smart homes [34–36], smart interactive digital textiles may consequently act as a viable solution to bridge the gray digital divide and to facilitate intuitive, gentle, and pleasurable interactions by everybody.

Acknowledgements. The authors thank all participants for sharing their thoughts on smart textile interfaces with us. Furthermore, the research support of Jens Keulen and Sarah Voelkel is highly acknowledged. This project is funded by the German Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) under project *Intuitex* (16SV6270) [33].

References

- 1. Robinson, S.: History of Dyed Textiles. MIT Press, Cambridge (1970)
- Kvavadze, E., Bar-Yosef, O., Belfer-Cohen, A., Boaretto, E., Jakeli, N., Matskevich, Z., Meshveliani, T.: 30,000-year-old wild flax fibers. Science (N. Y., NY) **325**, 1359 (2009)
- 3. Weiser, M.: The computer for the 21st century. Sci. Am. 265, 94–104 (1991)
- Post, E.R., Orth, M.: Smart fabric, or "wearable clothing". In: Proceedings of the 1st IEEE International Symposium on Wearable Computers, ISWC 1997, pp. 167–168. IEEE Computer Society, Washington, DC (1997)

- Post, E.R., Orth, M., Russo, P.R., Gershenfeld, N.: E-broidery: design and fabrication of textile-based computing. IBM Syst. J. 39, 840–860 (2000)
- Poupyrev, I., Gong, N.W., Fukuhara, S., Karagozler, M.E., Schwesig, C., Robinson, K.E.: Project Jacquard: interactive digital textiles at scale. In: Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pp. 4216–4227 (2016)
- 7. Giannakouris, K.: Ageing characterises the demographic perspectives of the European societies. Technical report, EUROSTAT (2008)
- Selwyn, N., Gorard, S., Furlong, J., Madden, L.: Older adults' use of information and communications technology in everyday life. Ageing Soc. 23, 561–582 (2003)
- Arning, K., Ziefle, M.: Understanding age differences in PDA acceptance and performance. Comput. Hum. Behav. 23, 2904–2927 (2007)
- Schreder, G., Smuc, M., Siebenhandl, K., Mayr, E.: Age and computer self-efficacy in the use of digital technologies: an investigation of prototypes for public selfservice terminals. In: Stephanidis, C., Antona, M. (eds.) UAHCI 2013. LNCS, vol. 8010, pp. 221–230. Springer, Heidelberg (2013). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-39191-0_25
- Morris, A.: E-literacy and the grey digital divide: a review with recommendations. J. Inf. Lit. 1, 13–28 (2007)
- Zimmermann, G., Alexandersson, J., Buiza, C., Urdaneta, E., Diaz, U., Carrasco, E., Klima, M., Pfalzgraf, A.: Intelligent technologies for bridging the grey digital divide. In: Intelligent Technologies for Bridging the Grey Digital Divide, pp. 80–93 (2011)
- Cherenack, K., van Pieterson, L.: Smart textiles: challenges and opportunities. J. Appl. Phys. 112, 091301 (2012)
- Karrer, T., Wittenhagen, M., Lichtschlag, L., Heller, F., Borchers, J.: Pinstripe: eyes-free continuous input on interactive clothing. In: Proceedings of the 2011 Annual Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI 2011, pp. 1313– 1322 (2011)
- Hamdan, N.A.h., Blum, J.R., Heller, F., Kosuru, R.K., Borchers, J.: Grabbing at an angle: menu selection for fabric interfaces. In: Proceedings of the 2016 ACM International Symposium on Wearable Computers, ISWC 2016, pp. 1–7. ACM, New York (2016)
- Saponas, T.S., Harrison, C., Benko, H.: PocketTouch: through-fabric capacitive touch input. In: Proceedings of the 24th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, pp. 303–308. ACM (2011)
- Perner-Wilson, H., Buechley, L., Satomi, M.: Handcrafting textile interfaces from a kit-of-no-parts. In: Proceedings of the Fifth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction, pp. 61–68. ACM (2011)
- Heller, F., Oßmann, L., Al-huda Hamdan, N., Brauner, P., Van Heek, J., Scheulen, K., Möllering, C., Großen, L., Witsch, R., Ziefle, M., Gries, T., Borchers, J.: Gardeene! textile controls for the home environment. In: Short Paper at Mensch und Computer 2016, Gesellschaft für Informatik (2016)
- Rus, S., Braun, A., Kuijper, A.: E-textile couch: towards smart garments integrated furniture. In: Braun, A., Wichert, R., Maña, A. (eds.) AmI 2017. LNCS, vol. 10217, pp. 214–224. Springer, Cham (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-56997-0_17
- Davis, F.D.: Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Q. 13, 319–340 (1989)

- Venkatesh, V., Thong, J.Y.L., Xu, X.: Consumer acceptance and use of information technology: extending the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. MIS Q. 36, 157–178 (2012)
- Holleis, P., Schmidt, A., Paasovaara, S., Puikkonen, A., Häkkilä, J.: Evaluating capacitive touch input on clothes. In: Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Human Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services, Mobile-HCI 2008, pp. 81–90. ACM, New York (2008)
- 23. van Heek, J., Schaar, A.K., Trevisan, B., Bosowski, P., Ziefle, M.: User requirements for wearable smart textiles: does the usage context matter (medical vs. sports)? In: Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare, PervasiveHealth 2014, pp. 205–209. ICST (Institute for Computer Sciences, Social-Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering), Brussels (2014)
- Hildebrandt, J., Brauner, P., Ziefle, M.: Smart textiles as intuitive and ubiquitous user interfaces for smart homes. In: Zhou, J., Salvendy, G. (eds.) DUXU 2015. LNCS, vol. 9194, pp. 423–434. Springer, Cham (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-20913-5_39
- Ziefle, M., Brauner, P., Heidrich, F., Möllering, C., Lee, K., Armbrüster, C.: Understanding requirements for textile input devices individually tailored interfaces within home environments. In: Stephanidis, C., Antona, M. (eds.) UAHCI 2014. LNCS, vol. 8515, pp. 589–600. Springer, Cham (2014). https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-319-07446-7_57
- Ziefle, M., Brauner, P., van Heek, J.: Intentions to use smart textiles in AAL home environments: comparing younger and older adults. In: Zhou, J., Salvendy, G. (eds.) ITAP 2016. LNCS, vol. 9754, pp. 266–276. Springer, Cham (2016). https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-39943-0_26
- Karrer, K., Glaser, C., Clemens, C.: Technikaffinität erfassen Der Fragebogen TA-EG [Measuring Affinity to Technology]. ZMMS Spektrum - Der Mensch im Mittelpunkt technischer Systeme. 8. Berliner Werkstatt Mensch-Maschine-Systeme, vol. 22, pp. 196–201 (2009)
- Beier, G.: Kontrollüberzeugungen im Umgang mit Technik [Locus of control when interacting with technology]. Rep. Psychol. 24, 684–693 (1999)
- Bandura, A.: Self-efficacy mechanism in human agency. Am. Psychol. 37, 122–147 (1982)
- 30. Brauner, P., van Heek, J., Martina, Z.: Age, gender, and technology attitude as factors for acceptance of smart interactive textiles in home environments - towards a smart textile technology acceptance model. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on ICT for Aging well (ICT4AWE 2017), pp. 53–56. SCITEPRESS -Science and Technology Publications (2017)
- Fishbein, M., Ajzen, I.: Belief, Attitude, Intention and Behavior: An Introduction to Theory and Research. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, Inc., Reading (1975)
- Ajzen, I.: The theory of planned behavior. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 50, 179–211 (1991)
- Brauner, P., et al.: Towards accepted smart interactive textiles. In: Nah, F.F.-H., Tan, C.-H. (eds.) HCIBGO 2017. LNCS, vol. 10293, pp. 279–298. Springer, Cham (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-58481-2_22
- Aarts, E.: Ambient intelligence: a multimedia perspective. IEEE Multimedia 11(1), 12–19 (2004)

- Kleinberger, T., Becker, M., Ras, E., Holzinger, A., Müller, P.: Ambient intelligence in assisted living: enable elderly people to handle future interfaces. In: Stephanidis, C. (ed.) UAHCI 2007. LNCS, vol. 4555, pp. 103–112. Springer, Heidelberg (2007). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-73281-5_11
- 36. van Heek, J., Himmel, S., Ziefle, M.: Helpful but spooky? Acceptance of AALsystems contrasting user groups with focus on disabilities and care needs. In: Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health: ICT4AWE, INSTICC, pp. 78–90. SciTePress (2017)



Living with Disabilities – The Many Faces of Smart Home Technology Acceptance

Julia van Heek^(IM), Simon Himmel, and Martina Ziefle

Human-Computer Interaction Center, RWTH Aachen University, 52074 Aachen, Germany vanheek@comm.rwth-aachen.de

Abstract. To face the challenges of increasing care needs due to demographic change, the development of smart home and Ambient Assisted Living (AAL) technologies present one approach, which is continuously forwarded. Besides aspects of technical development and implementation, user acceptance of diverse stakeholders plays a major role for a successful rollout and sustainable adoption of those technologies. So far, user acceptance research in this context has concentrated mostly on age-related issues. In contrast, disabilities and related care needs have hardly been researched yet. The current study focused on persons having different experiences with disabilities and care needs. In a qualitative interview pre-study (n = 9) and a follow-up quantitative online questionnaire study (n = 279) perceived benefits and barriers, use conditions, and acceptance of AAL technologies were contrasted. Four user groups were under study: disabled participants, relatives of disabled persons, professional caregivers, and, as a control group, persons without experience with disabilities. Results indicate that disabled and care-needy people show a higher acceptance and intention to use an AAL system than not-experienced people and especially professional caregivers. The motives for acceptance and rejection differ strongly regarding user diversity as well. The results contribute to a better understanding of user-specific acceptance of smart home and AAL technologies and show that the integration of diverse user groups into the technologies' design and evaluation process is necessary.

Keywords: Technology acceptance \cdot User diversity Ambient assisted living (AAL) \cdot Smart home technologies Needs of assistance and care \cdot Experience with disabilities

1 Introduction

Diseases and disabilities are omnipresent challenges for today's society. Particularly in the context of demographic change, a steadily increasing number of older people and people in need of care pose strains for the care sectors [1, 2].

Coincidently, most of the older people desire to live at their own home as long and as autonomously as possible [3]. Hence, connected with the rising age of people and their willingness to stay at home as long as possible, age-related diseases (e.g., cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, or dementia) are greatly relevant and rise continuously [4–6]. However, they represent only one side of the coin as age-independent diseases and disabilities are also of importance causing huge needs of care and assistance as well [7]. Further, a new phenomenon of a first generation of "old and disabled" people needs to be taken into account: on the one hand, this development is enabled by medical and technical innovations in healthcare, e.g., new medicines and inventive therapies; on the other hand, this development is also influenced by the specific historical background of euthanasia offenses (especially in Europe), in which disabled people were systematically aborted, deported, and even murdered [8].

Summarizing, age, diseases, as well as disabilities must be considered while analyzing increasing needs of care and related challenges. Yet, there are technical singlecase solutions and complex ambient assisted living (AAL) or smart home technology systems [9] that address these challenges. These developments already enable systems that monitor (medical) parameters, detect falls and positions, or facilitate living at home using smart home technology elements [10–12]. Besides technical single-case solutions, current research focuses also more and more on holistic systems, that unite different functions and are especially adaptable to individual needs of diverse user groups.

To realize technical systems that meet the requirements of diverse user groups, it is necessary to analyze whether, to which extent, and under which conditions such systems are accepted and also to what extent those evaluations depend on user factors. So far, there have been several studies investigating the acceptance of AAL and smart home technologies focusing on influencing demographic factors such as age (e.g., [13, 14]) or gender [15]. As disabled people have hardly been considered yet, this paper analyzes the acceptance of AAL systems with focus on people having different perspectives and experiences with disabilities.

2 Smart Home Technologies and Acceptance

This section illuminates the technical and acceptance-relevant historical background for the underlying research approach. First, the most important developments concerning AAL and smart home technologies are summarized. Further, key aspects of the theoretical background with regard to technology acceptance research is presented focusing on potential influencing user diversity factors. Finally, an overview of current acceptance research on AAL systems and the starting point for the underlying research approach are given.

In the last decades, the use of Information and Communication Technologies (ICT) in everyday life has been studied [16] and different options of monitoring are enabled by integrating ICT (e.g., microphones, cameras, and movement sensors) into people's living spaces. To date, the amount of commercial smart home technology systems as well as smart home and AAL research projects increased continuously. These systems enable smart home functions (e.g., sensors for lighting and heating control, sensors for automatic opening of doors and windows), fall detection as well as other health care applications (such as a reminder for drugs or blood sugar measuring) and are available for an integration in home environments (e.g., [17, 18]), hospitals [19], and nursing homes [20]. Different research projects focus on the development of holistic systems as well (e.g., [21, 22]) and some of these projects attach importance to integrate future users (in most cases older people) iteratively in the development

process [23]. As the users' perspective is decisive for a successful integration of technologies in their everyday life, a user-centered design and development is necessary. Until now, smart home and especially AAL technologies are not systematically integrated in private home environments (in contrast to professional care contexts), although they have the potential to facilitate the everyday life of older, diseased, or disabled people. To understand the perception of smart home technology systems (and underlying usage motives and barriers), potential users and their perceptions, their mental models about aging as well as their wishes must be focused.

So far, smart home technologies have mostly been perceived and evaluated positive, while especially the necessity and usefulness of technical support have been highly acknowledged [22, 24]. Within these evaluations, the possibility of staying longer at the own home and an increased independency are relevant motives to use smart home and AAL systems. In contrast, the most relevant concerns and acceptance barriers deal with feelings of social isolation (e.g., [25]) and surveillance as well as invasion of privacy (e.g., [26]) if people were asked to think about a concrete integration of a system in their living environment.

To comprehend the trade-off between perceived benefits and barriers, analyses of technology acceptance and user diversity are needed considering not only traditional technology acceptance models (e.g., TAM and UTAUT) as they have been developed in completely different contexts and might thus not be applicable. In contrast to conventional ICT, smart home technology and AAL systems address especially older, diseased, and frail people with individual requirements, wishes, and concerns [27]. Hence, we assume that those specific user groups weight perceived benefits and barriers differently and show diverse acceptance patterns concerning assistive technologies and systems. In the following, an overview of acceptance research findings focusing on user diversity and different user group perspectives is presented.

To understand the elderly's perception of smart home and AAL technologies, numerous focus groups [28, 29] and interviews [24] with people (aged above 60 years) show similar recurrent results: perceived benefits in terms of staying longer at home, understanding the imminent lack of care staff, and the chances of AAL technologies contrast with concerns about dependency on technologies, the lack of personal contact as well as data security and privacy (e.g., [30]). Additionally, recent projects on smart home and AAL labs, e.g., Soprano [21], Philips Research Care Lab [31], eHealth Future Care Lab [32], have understood to integrate particularly older users into the design, development, and evaluation processes.

So far, previous research for smart home and AAL technologies has focused on elderly people with age-specific illnesses. In contrast, the acceptance of such technologies for disabled persons still needs more and specified research attention. While such assistive technologies could be specifically useful to support the inclusion of people with disabilities into society, to improve mobility and communication as well as to hold down a job, nearly any study so far investigated age and disability in depth. Some studies analyzed how diverse diseases and disabilities affect the use of assistive technologies (e.g., [33, 34]) and investigated why a high proportion of available technologies are rejected. Frequently, these analyses (focusing on technology acceptance of diseased or disabled people) remain on a theoretical basis and are in parts unspecific and superficial as they did not integrate disabled people. This is precisely where research is required:
disabled people have to be integrated in the design process of assistive technologies and the care-relevant user factors age, diseases, and disabilities should be focused.

To understand requirements and perceptions of disabled people in need of care, it is also important and useful to integrate and consider the perspectives of professional and family caregivers. So far, some studies [35, 36] have examined the requirements and professional and family caregivers' perspectives on AAL systems and technologies separately. Another study focused on future users (caregivers and patients) and their perceived concerns related to in-home monitoring technologies [37]. On the one hand, these studies enable first insights into diverse user perspectives on the acceptance of assistive smart home and AAL technologies. On the other hand, they do not allow a direct comparison of the perspectives of "affected people" (older, diseased, or disabled people) with family or professional caregivers compared to "not-experienced" people. Summarizing, there is sparse knowledge about the acceptance of smart home and AAL technologies regarding disabled people and people with special care needs as well as other care-relevant user factors. This is especially true for the perspectives of user groups with different experience and domain knowledge - disabled people, their relatives and family members as well as professional caregivers. For this reason, the current study focuses on the acceptance of assistive smart home technology systems with regard to people having different experiences with disabilities and resulting care needs.

3 Capturing Motives and Perceptions: Qualitative Insights

We choose a multi-method approach for our study consisting of a qualitative interview study and a consecutive quantitative questionnaire study. In this section, the research design is presented starting with a description of the qualitative interview study, which was taken as a basis for the subsequent quantitative study. Our approach addressed three essential research questions:

- 1. How do the participants evaluate a smart home technology system and which perceived benefits and barriers are most relevant for its acceptance?
- 2. To which extent does experience with disabilities influence the system's evaluation and the perception of benefits and barriers?
- 3. How are the relationships between perceived benefits, perceived barriers, trade-offs, acceptance, and experiences with disabilities (as user factor)?

As it was detailed in Sect. 2, previous research on the acceptance of AAL technologies was mostly focused on older users. In contrast, there is only sparse knowledge about developing AAL technologies for people with disabilities and also rarely research on the acceptance of AAL technologies focusing on users with different experiences regarding disabilities. Those diverse perspectives (e.g., professional caregivers, relatives and families of disabled people) are also of prime importance as they can support and complete the understanding of potential disabled user's needs and wishes. Hence, a qualitative interview study was initially necessary to identify perceived usage motives and barriers of usage. Only on this basis, it was reasonable to design and conduct a quantitative study focusing on people having different experiences with disabilities and resulting car needs (themselves, families and relatives, professional caregivers).

3.1 Methodology and Design

The methodology of guided interviews was chosen for the preceding qualitative study. Interviews in this sensible topic enable direct and personal contact to the participants, reach a more personal level, and ensure detailed discussions about personal topics. The interviews should provide insights into the desires, perceptions, and requirements of disabled people and people in need of care.

The interview guideline was structured in different parts. After introducing the topic and interview process, the participants were asked for demographic aspects as well as for personal information with regard to disabilities (e.g., own experiences; type, duration and symptoms of the disability). Afterwards, the participants were asked for some information concerning their living circumstances (i.e., housing situations, daily routine, incidental problems in everyday life).

Subsequently, a smart home technology scenario was read to the participants in order to show them a possible technical solution quite plainly that has the potential to facilitate their life. The scenario was used to create a basis for evaluation with regard to all interview participants and was designed as a very personal everyday situation. The participants should close their eyes while listen to the scenario and imagine that the scenario took place at their own living environment. Within the scenario, the implemented smart home technologies were not visible and enabled especially automatic lighting control (by light sensors and motion detectors), a hands-free kit for communication (by microphone, video-camera, and monitor), automatic control of doors and windows (by sensors and motion detectors), and memory functions (e.g., for drugs or measurement of medical parameters via smartphone).

Following the scenario, the participants were asked for their opinions on the described system as well as their ideas with regard to potential benefits and barriers. In the next part, the participants were explicitly consulted to indicate which motives and barriers were crucial for them and under which conditions they would use the smart home system. Specifically, the trade-off between increasing autonomy and independency on the one hand, and protecting own privacy and data security on the other hand has been focused. Finally, the participants had the opportunity to make previously not-mentioned, but for them personally important aspects a subject of discussion.

The guideline enabled that the conducted interviews were comparable, all relevant topics were mentioned and discussed, and all relevant questions were asked. Still, at any time, the participants could add questions, topics, and aspects, which were relevant from their point of view.

The interviews were recorded and protocols with relevant information (date, time, and place of interview, demographic information of participants) were prepared. Afterwards, the interviews were transcribed and anonymized. The interview's results were analyzed by qualitative content analysis [38].

3.2 Participants

As interview partners, we searched for participants who are disabled or in need of care themselves, relatives of disabled people in need of care, or professional caregivers of people with disabilities and care needs. The participants were recruited by personal contact and via email to reach associations and advice institutions regarding disabilities and care needs.

Nine participants (n = 9) were chosen and took part in the interviews that lasted between 40 and 70 min. Three participants were female (male: n = 6) and the participants were between 26 and 62 years old (M = 35.6). Seven interviewees indicated to have disabilities (n = 7) (e.g., infantile cerebral palsy, arthrogryposis multiplex congenita). Three disabled participants indicated to require support and assistance by an outpatient nursing service as well as support by a domestic help. Two participants made use of assisted living facilities, while in each case one participant lived in a stationary care institution and one participant needed currently no assistance in his everyday life.

Further, a relative of two disabled children (n = 1) and a professional caregiver (n = 1) took part in the study, who had both experiences with a broad range of disabilities.

3.3 Key Results

As the qualitative study served as a basis for the subsequent questionnaire study, the qualitative results were presented that are relevant for the subsequently presented quantitative results (i.e., perceived motives and barriers concerning the smart home technology system).

Potential Usage Motives. Eleven usage motives were identified during analysis. *Expansion of autonomy* represented an important motive for all participants as it is of great relevance for disabled people to are able to carry out everyday tasks autonomously. Closely related to this, the motive *to reduce dependency from others* was focused. Here, a participant (male, 32) took the example that he not wants to depend on others "keeping entrance doors open" for him as he perceives it as a kind of paternalism. Along with this, almost all disabled participants considered *compensation of mobility constraints* as important usage motive of a smart home technology system.

Facilitating everyday life was another important usage motive and the participants mentioned support for standing up and control of household appliances as examples. Most of the participants also focused on the motive *increase the feeling of safety* by using a smart home technology system, e.g., "...then you are able to look who is standing in front of your entrance door..." (female, 27). As further usage motive some participants mentioned *the relief of caring family, relatives and professional care-givers*: for example, disabled participants expressed that they don't want to ask their caregivers for minor details (e.g., "control of music" (male, 31)).

Two participants considered *time savings* as additional benefits by using a smart home system (e.g., tasks in household, automatic opening and closing of doors). One participant mentioned *comfort* as usage motive while it was not relevant for the other participants as they want to be supported only in the respective areas where they otherwise would need human assistance. Further, one participant mentioned that by using technologies the *confrontation with own care needs could be reduced*. *Staying longer at the own home* was mentioned as usage motive by the professional caregiver as he had the experience with some older people who could stay at their own home by means of using specific assistive technologies. Finally, the interviews illustrated that disabled people are in frequent contact with medical doctors and ministries: here, the exchange and access of data is very time-consuming as well as problematic and two participants assumed that an implemented system enables *a fast data access*.

Potential Usage Barriers. As one of the most relevant usage barriers *isolation due to the substitution of care staff by technologies* was mentioned especially by the relative and professional caregiver of disabled persons. In contrast, the disabled participants discussed this aspect controversially: e.g., "I would clearly prefer it if a robot would assist me on the toilet than care staff" (male, 33).

The usage barrier *feeling of surveillance* was discussed contrarily too: most of the participants criticized the feeling of surveillance and perceived the technology partly as an invasion in their own privacy, while a participant negated the feeling of surveillance and argued that "smartphones already collect lots of information" (male, 33).

As further potential usage barrier, some participants feared a *too large proportion of technology in their everyday life*. Along with this, it was crucial that the applied technology is functional and hence, *functional incapacity* of technologies and systems – not surprisingly – represented a central usage barriers. Accompanying, the applied system should be easy to operate and control; therefore, *the expectation of a too complicated handling* of the system also represented a usage barrier. Further, some participants mentioned concerns regarding transmission of false information, e.g., falls alarms.

Two participants mentioned a potential usage barrier if *more time is spent on technology usage compared to human assistance (no effective time savings).* In almost all interviews it was mentioned that the system was perceived as useful if they are needed:

"... as I can do most everyday tasks on own, I would currently decide against the system. However, I really like the opportunity to have it" (female, 37).

Along with this aspect, the interviews revealed that some people's *care needs are that intensive* that smart home technology are *not relevant and usefully applicable:*

"The system does not substitute complete assistance - if I am not able to take a shower myself, then the system will not support me to do it" (female, 37).

The results concerning usage motives and barriers align with previous research concerning several aspects (e.g., comfort, facilitating everyday life (e.g., [39]). However, the results are multifaceted and go beyond previous findings due to the reference to disabilities and constraints (e.g., compensation, reduce confrontation with care needs, to be afraid of isolation). Hence, these aspects must be examined quantitatively to be able to do justice to diverse user groups and their different experiences with disabilities and care needs.

Perception of Assistive Smart Home Technologies. To get insights into the participants' perceptions and attitudes towards the described system, the participants were asked to describe their opinions using three associating words following the read scenario. Analyzing the used words, differences between the participants were striking: the relative and the caregiver predominantly used negative and critical words to describe their perceptions of the scenario such as *lonely, unhuman, heteronomous,* and

violation of personal rights and privacy. In contrast, the disabled participants used more positive and fascinated words to describe their feelings and opinions. The most associated words were *exciting*, *facilitation*, *useful*, *helpful*, and *comfortable*. These results showed that a differentiation between the perspectives involved in caring situations is indispensable.

3.4 Conclusions for Quantitative Study

Within the individual interviews, we reached conversations on a very personal level with each interview partner and thus, spontaneous, individual and open answers were enabled. Regarding potential motives and usage barriers, 20 categories were defined and the participants' general attitude towards the introduced system was analyzed. The interviews gave an impression of how complex the issues "care" and "disabilities" are and how diverse the evaluation of assistive technologies can be if different user groups were considered. Even though the participants had different priorities in the interviews, we noticed, that all disabled participants expressed a distinctive wish towards independency and autonomy: it was very important for them not to become too conveniently and to be supported only in the respective areas where it is necessary. Most the participants emphasized the importance that disabled people or people in need of care should decide on their own if, and if so which technology is used.

The presented qualitative results served as a basis for the conception of the quantitative questionnaire. Additionally, the answers collected were used to create items regarding the trade-off between potential usage motives and barriers. Furthermore, the qualitative results confirmed that it is important and necessary to integrate people with different experiences concerning disabilities and needs for care and assistance into the follow-up quantitative study and future studies as well.

4 Quantifying Motives and Acceptance: Questionnaire Study

To quantify the previously gained qualitative results, an online questionnaire study was conducted focusing on people having different experiences with disabilities and care needs. Within this section, the methodological design, the sample, and the quantitative results are presented.

4.1 Methodological Questionnaire Design

Based on the findings of the previous interview study, we developed our online questionnaire consisting of different parts. The first part addressed demographic aspects, such as age, gender, educational level, and income. In the following part, the participants were asked for their experiences with disabilities by indicating (a) if themselves are disabled (b) if they are related to a disabled person, (c) if they are the caregiver of a disabled person, or (d) if they have no experiences with disabilities. Afterwards, the participants were asked to indicate, whether and to which extent (care time, type of care, intensity of care) themselves (a, d) or the person they put themselves in position with (b, c) needs care. As detailed attitudinal information, the participants

evaluated several items concerning their needs for data security and privacy. Needs for data security were evaluated using 14 items ($\alpha = .87$), while needs for privacy were assessed using eight items ($\alpha = .72$).

A scenario was designed in order to ensure that all participants pertain to the same baseline regarding the evaluation of the smart home technology system. The scenario was conceptualized telling a very personal everyday situation wherein the participants should imagine that an specific, invisible smart home technology system was integrated in their home environment and contained the following functions: setting of the home temperature using the smartphone, automatic control of light control using light sensors and position localization, a hands-free kit for phoning enabled by integrated microphones, automatic opening and closing of (front) doors and windows via integrated sensors, monitoring of front door area by video camera, and fall detection by integrated sensors in floor and bed.

Depending on their background (need of care, experience with disabilities), the participants were introduced to the scenario differently. For cases b, c, and d, the participants were asked to put themselves in the/a disabled person's position (more specifically the person they are related with or they care (b + c)) while answering the questions concerning the smart home system scenario. Participants who indicated to be not in need of care were asked to imagine that they would need care during the scenario.

Afterwards, the participants evaluated perceived usage motives (11 items) of the system (e.g., to increase autonomy, to reduce dependency on others, to facilitate everyday life, to relieve fellow people) and perceived barriers of usage (9 items) (e.g., feeling of surveillance, no trust in functionality, to assume a too difficult usage, to be afraid of isolation) based on the findings of the qualitative interview study (see Sect. 3.2; all items are illustrated in Fig. 2). Additionally, the participants evaluated two trade-offs between perceived benefits and barriers: (a) autonomy and independency are more important than data security (three items; $\alpha = .84$) and (b) data security and privacy are more important than the usage of smart home and AAL technologies (three items; $\alpha = .71$). In the following part, the participants should assess the acceptance or rejection of the described system (by evaluating eight items, Fig. 1) including the behavioral intention to use such a smart home technology system. All items had to be answered on six-point Likert scales (1 = min: "I strongly disagree"; 6 = max: "I strongly agree").

Finally, the participants had the opportunity to reason their opinions towards the described system on an optional basis and to provide their feedback concerning the questionnaire and the topic itself. For completing the questionnaire, the participants took on average 15 min. Data was collected in an online survey in Germany (available for 6 weeks) in summer 2016.

4.2 Sample Description

182 participants volunteered to take part (acquired by personal contact and distributed online in social network forums). The participants were on average 38.7 years old (SD = 13.95; min = 20; max = 81), 62.1% of the sample were female, 36.3% were male, and 1.6% gave no answer asked for gender. Overall, the sample was highly educated with 46.7% holding an university degree and 14.8% an university entrance diploma.

Asked for their experience with disabilities, 28% of the participants indicated to be disabled (n = 51), 12.1% (n = 22) were professional caregivers, and 19.2% participants were relatives of a disabled person (n = 35). As a control group, we also integrated people without experiences regarding care and assistance needs caused by disabilities (40.7% (n = 74) of the participants were not-experienced). Concerning current needs of assistance and care, 43.4% (n = 79) participants indicated to need care or that the person - they put themselves in position with (see Sect. 4.1) - needed care (56.6% (n = 103) were not in need of care).

Correlation analysis revealed that the user factors were related only partially: not surprisingly, experience with disabilities correlated with current care needs (r = .607; p = .000 < .05). Age was not related with experience with disabilities (r = -.132; p = .075 > .05) nor with current care needs (r = -.096; p = .197 > .05). Instead, age was related with gender (r = .200; p = .007 < .05; 1 = female; 2 = male).

Further, the participants reported to have on average a positive technical self-efficacy (M = 4.5; SD = 1.0; min = 1; max = 6) and a slightly positive attitude towards technology innovations (M = 3.9; SD = 1.0; min = 1; max = 6). Additionally, they indicated their needs for data security (M = 4.1; SD = 0.8; min = 1; max = 6) and privacy (M = 4.4; SD = 0.7; min = 1; max = 6), which both were on average positive.

4.3 Detailed Group Description (Experience with Disabilities and Care Needs)

To understand the diversity of the user groups under study, their previous experiences, as well as their requirements and needs referring to care and assistance are presented in this section separately for each user group.

Disabled Participants (n = 51). Most of the participants with disabilities provided corresponding information about the type of their disability (n = 44): paralyses (in different extent) were mentioned very frequently (n = 17) (e.g., paraplegia, hemiplegia), followed by disabilities caused by muscle diseases (n = 9) (e.g., muscular atrophy, muscular dystrophy) and neurological diseases (n = 7) (e.g., multiple sclerosis, Parkinson's disease). Further, disabilities in terms of missing extremities (i.e. legs) (n = 2) and other walking impediments (n = 9) (e.g., dwarfism, contracture) were mentioned. Nearly half of the participants reported to be disabled by birth (47.1%), the other participants reported to suffer from their disability a long time ago (in years: M = 25.3; SD = 18.3; min = 3; max = 64). Two thirds of the participants reported to be constantly in need of care (66.7%, n = 34). Most of them indicated to be assisted by their families/partners in combination with professional care staff (n = 15) or only by families/partners (n = 12), whereas few participants were assisted only by professional care staff (n = 3). N = 23 participants reported to need assistance in the areas body care, mobility, housekeeping, and nutrition, while only two participants needed assistance in two of these areas (n = 9 in three areas).

Relatives of Disabled People (n = 35). Asked for the living circumstances of their disabled relative, the majority (67.6%) reported that he/she lived together with the family, while each 8.1% live alone, with partner, or in a flat-sharing community. More than half (54.3%) of the participants indicated that their relatives are disabled by birth.

82.9% of the participants (n = 29) reported that their relatives are constantly in need of care, while the daily time for care was on average 7.4 h (SD = 6.8; min = 1; max = 24). The majority of the disabled relatives in need of care is cared by their families and partners (n = 15) or by professional care staff and their families/partners (n = 11). In contrast, few participants were cared only by care staff (n = 3). Further, most of the disabled relatives in need of care (n = 19) needed assistance in the following four areas: body care, mobility, housekeeping, and nutrition. All of them (n = 29) needed assistance in at least two of the mentioned areas.

Professional Caregivers (n = 22). Asked for the living circumstances of the people the professional caregiver group maintained, they reported that 40.9% live in stationary care facilities, 27.3% live with their family, 13.6% live alone, and each 9.1% in a flat-sharing community and in assisted living. Further, they indicated that the majority (81.8%) was constantly in need of care. In contrast to the group of disabled participants who indicated to be physically disabled, the professional caregivers maintained people with physical and mental disabilities (e.g., trisomy 21, autism). Almost all of these people needed assistance in the areas body care, mobility, housekeeping, and nutrition.

Participants with No Personal Experience Regarding Disabilities (n = 71). 43.2% indicated to live together with their partner, 24.3% live together with their family, 17.6% live alone, and 14.9% live in a flat-sharing community. Not surprisingly, none of the not-experienced participants indicated to need care.

4.4 Key Results

First, the results were analyzed descriptively, followed by linear regression analyses and by (M)ANOVA procedures to investigate potential effects of user diversity (level of significance was set at 5%). Independent variable was the experience with disabilities to analyze the influence of assistance and care needs on perceived benefits, barriers, and acceptance as dependent variable. The results section starts with the description of the findings for acceptance of AAL, perceived benefits, and perceived barriers referring to the whole sample. Then, influences of user-specific characteristics on perceived benefits and barriers as well as acceptance of smart home technologies are reported [40]. Finally, the relationships between the perception of benefits and barriers and smart home technology acceptance are focused, modelled, and complemented by effects of user diversity.

General Acceptance of AAL. Aprior study [40] focused on acceptance of smart home and AAL technologies, which was on average positively evaluated (M = 4.6; SD = 1.0).

Zooming into the evaluation of the respective items (Fig. 1), the participants' highest agreement was found for items referring to care needs (...*due to care needs* (M = 4.7; SD = 1.1) and ... *reduce my care needs* (M = 4.5; SD = 1.3)). In comparison, items with regard to the intention to use an AAL system were rated less positive (e.g., *I can imagine using AAL technologies now* (M = 3.8; SD = 1.6)). The participants rejected all items that militate against usage similarly (e.g., *I think AAL technologies are superfluous* (M = 1.9; SD = 1.1)).



Fig. 1. Evaluation of AAL system acceptance [40].

Figure 2 (left) shows the results of the evaluation of perceived benefits of the AAL system. Apparently, all items were perceived as benefits (above the scale's mean).

The benefit *to facilitate everyday life* (M = 5.2; SD = 0.9) was evaluated highest, followed by *to expand own autonomy* (M = 5.2; SD = 1.0), *to extend staying at home* (M = 5.1; SD = 1.0), and *to reduce dependency from other people* (M = 5.1; SD = 1.0). The items *to relieve fellow people* (M = 4.9; SD = 1.1), *to compensate reduced mobility* (M = 4.8; SD = 1.0), *comfort* (M = 4.7; SD = 1.2), and *to increase the feeling of safety* (M = 4.6; SD = 1.3) were lesser important. *Time savings* (M = 4.3; SD = 1.4), *to enable fast data access* (M = 4.0; SD = 1.4), and *to reduce own conflict with care needs* (M = 3.9; SD = 1.4) were comparably minor important.

To understand which items are most relevant for the decision to use AAL systems, we conducted a stepwise linear regression analysis with all perceived benefit items as independent and the acceptance sum score as dependent variable. The results revealed two significant models for the whole sample. The first model predicted 27.2% (adj. $r^2 = .272$) variance of acceptance and was premised on the benefit *to expand own autonomy* ($\beta = 0.525$; t = 8.279; p < .000). Hence, *to expand own autonomy* was the most important benefit for the acceptance. The second model explained 29.2% (adj. $r^2 = .292$). Beyond the already identified factors, additionally the item *time savings* was included. Therefore, *time savings* ($\beta = 0.166$; t = 2.459; p < .05) and *to expand the autonomy* ($\beta = 0.462$; t = 6.823; p < .000) were the most important benefits and influenced the acceptance of the described system.

Figure 2 (right) illustrates the evaluation of perceived barriers of the system. In contrast to the perceived benefits, none of the items was perceived as "real" barrier - as all values were below the mean of the scale. Zooming into the items' evaluation, the participants perceived the system not as *superfluous* (M = 1.9; SD = 1.0) or *irrelevant* (M = 2.4; SD = 1.1). They judged the *usage not to be too difficult* (M = 2.6; SD = 1.2) and rejected *to have no trust in the functionality* (M = 2.8; SD = 1.3). The items



Fig. 2. Evaluation of perceived BENEFITS (left) and BARRIERS (right) regarding the described AAL system scenario [40].

proportion of technology in everyday life is too high (M = 3.0; SD = 1.5) and to expect to have no "real" time savings (M = 2.9; SD = 1.2) were slightly rejected by the participants. This was also true for the item to be afraid of isolation (M = 3.2; SD = 1.5). In comparison, transmission of incorrect information (M = 3.4; SD = 1.3) and feeling of surveillance (M = 3.4; SD = 1.5) were rated rather neutrally, thus, these two items were the most likely barriers.

After descriptive analyses, a stepwise linear regression analysis was also conducted in order to figure out which barriers influenced the acceptance of the system the most. For this purpose, perceived barriers were integrated as independent and the acceptance sum score as dependent variable into the analysis. The results revealed three significant models for the whole sample. The first model predicted 35.1% acceptance variance (adj. $r^2 = .351$) premised on the barrier AAL technologies are irrelevant ($\beta = -0.596$; t = -9.945; p < .000). Apparently, participants accept the AAL system only if it is really needed and that they want to do as much as possible autonomously on their own. The second model explained 41.7% (adj. $r^2 = .417$) and contained additionally the barrier proportion of technology in everyday life is too high ($\beta = -0.285$; t = -4.624; p < .000) (*irrelevant* ($\beta = -0.484$; t = -7.850; p < .000)). Ultimately, the final model explained 42.9% (adj. $r^2 = .429$) and was premised on the factors to be afraid of isolation ($\beta = -.139$; t = -2.151; p < .000), proportion of technology in everyday life is too high ($\beta = -0.235$; t = -3.591; p < .000), and AAL technologies are irrelevant $(\beta = -0.453; t = -7.228; p < .000)$. As the analyses of acceptance, benefits, and barriers regarded the whole group so far, it was of importance to investigate whether these factors differ even more regarding diverse user groups. Additionally, it was important to analyze whether and to which extent the system's acceptance differed depending on users with different needs for assistance and care.

User-Specific Characteristics. For this analysis, the factor experiences with disabilities was integrated as independent variable to analyze the influence of living with disabilities on the acceptance, perception and evaluation of AAL systems.

User-Specific Acceptance of AAL Systems. The MANOVA analyses showed a significant influence of experiences with disabilities (F(24,465) = 2.060; p < .01) on the acceptance of the described smart home system. This influence occurred for all respective items and is illustrated in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. Evaluation of acceptance depending on the user factor experience with disabilities [40].

The sum-score *acceptance of AAL technologies* was rated rather similar, except for the professional caregivers who showed comparatively the lowest acceptance scores (F (3,162) = 2.646; p < .1). With regard to two of the negative statements (...*superfluous* F(3,162) = 2.895; p < .05) and ... *don't like to have AAL technologies in the own home* F(3,162) = 4.907; p < .01), the professional caregivers showed the lowest rejection. This showed, that they in tendency possessed a higher negative attitude towards the described system than the other three user groups. This evaluation picture occurred again for the item *the intention to use AAL technologies to reduce care needs* (F(3,162) = 2.981; p < .05): the disabled participants, relatives of disabled people, and not-experienced participants showed a clearly higher agreement, while the professional caregivers showed the lowest acceptance scores. Interestingly, the group of not-experienced participants showed the highest agreement referring to the two "in case of care needs"-statements. This evaluation pattern changed regarding the more concrete intention to use item *I can imagine using AAL technologies now*, which was clearly lower agreed by the not-experienced participants (M = 3.5; SD = 1.7) compared to the group of disabled people (M = 4.3; SD = 1.3; p < .05, post-hoc-tests: Tukey's HSD).



Fig. 4. Results of regression analysis – benefits & acceptance for experience with disabilities groups [40].

User-Specific Evaluation of AAL Benefits. MANOVA analyses revealed no significant omnibus effect of experiences with disabilities on the evaluation of benefits. In contrast, some of the single benefit items were rated significantly different depending on the user factor experience with disabilities. In a next step, we conducted a stepwise linear regression analysis to investigate which benefits are most important and acceptance-relevant for which user group and acceptance-relevant for which user group. The results of the regression analysis referring to the experience with disabilities user groups are illustrated in Fig. 4.

The final regression model for the group of disabled participants predicted 50.5% (adj. $r^2 = .505$) of the system's acceptance and was based on the benefits *to expand autonomy* ($\beta = .985$) and *to facilitate everyday life* ($\beta = -.564$). For the group of relatives of disabled people the model explained 37.5% of variance (adj. $r^2 = .375$; $\beta = .535$) and for the not experienced group 25.5% (adj. $r^2 = .255$; $\beta = .633$) - in each case based on the benefit *to facilitate everyday life*. For the professional caregivers, the final regression model explained only 15.4% (adj. $r^2 = .154$) of acceptance variance and was premised by the benefit *to relieve fellow people* ($\beta = .399$).

User-Specific Evaluation of AAL Barriers. The same procedure was conducted for the perceived barriers as previous MANOVA analyses revealed only a slight significant omnibus effect of experiences with diseases (F(27,468) = 1.502; p < .1) and again

single barriers were rated significantly different. The results of the final linear regression analyses for all experiences with disabilities groups are illustrated in Fig. 5.



Fig. 5. Results of regression analysis – barriers & acceptance for experience with disabilities groups [40].

For the groups of relatives, the model predicted only 23.1% of variance of acceptance (adj. $r^2 = .231$) and with the barrier *the proportion of technology in everyday life is too high* ($\beta = -.376$). For the group of disabled participants, the model explained 39.9% of AAL acceptance variance (adj. $r^2 = .399$) premised on the barrier *to perceive AAL technologies as superfluous* ($\beta = -.649$). With regard to the group of professional caregivers, the final model predicted 58.3% (adj. $r^2 = .583$) of variance and was affected by the barriers) *to perceive AAL technologies as superfluous* ($\beta = -.293$), *usage seems to be too difficult* ($\beta = -.494$), and *to be afraid of isolation* ($\beta = -.249$). Finally, and referring to the not-experienced group, the final model explained 60.2% of AAL acceptance variance based on the three barriers *to expect no "real" time savings* ($\beta = -.154$), *to perceive AAL technologies as superfluous* ($\beta = -.520$), and the concerns that *the proportion of technology in everyday life is too high* ($\beta = -.227$).

4.5 Acceptance Model Relationships

In order to figure out how perceived benefits, barriers, and trade-offs between them are related with the acceptance of smart home technology systems, correlation analyses were calculated (see Fig. 6). The results showed that *perceived benefits* (r = .497; p < .01) and *perceived barriers* (r = -590; p < .01) were directly related with the acceptance of the described system. Further, the integrated constructs dealing with trade-offs between benefits and barriers were both related with acceptance: the tradeoff that *autonomy and independency as benefits are more important than data security*

(*TO1*) was related with acceptance (r = .438; p < .01) and - not surprisingly - with perceived benefits (r = .486; p < .01). Further, the trade-off that *data security and privacy are more important than the usage of smart home and AAL technology systems* (*TO2*) was negatively related with acceptance (r = -.374) and – also not surprisingly – with perceived benefits (r = .471; p < .01).



Fig. 6. Model of relationships between perceived benefits, perceived barriers, and AAL acceptance.

In a second step, we also included user diversity as well as attitudinal variables into the analysis. Figure 7 illustrates the relationships between perceived benefits, barriers, their trade-offs, and acceptance including user and attitudinal factors.

The grey arrows show that the attitudinal variables *need for privacy* and *need for safety* were significantly related with the previously described acceptance model. Correlation analyses revealed that the needs for data security were related with the perception of barriers (r = .344; p < .01), however only marginally with the perception of benefits (r = -.160; p < .1). Further, needs for data security were linked to both tradeoffs TO1 (r = -.435; p < .01) and TO2 (r = .488; p < .01) as well as to acceptance (r = .-310; p < .01). Similarly, needs for privacy were related to perceived barriers (r = .238; p < .01) as well as tradeoffs TO1 (r = -.339; p < .01) and TO2 (r = .460; p < .01).

The black arrows illustrate the influence of experience with disabilities within the acceptance model. This factor significantly influenced the perception of barriers (not the perception of benefits) as well as the acceptance of the described system. Interestingly, experience with disabilities was also linked to the evaluation of trade-offs *autonomy and independency as benefits are more important than data security (TO1)* (F(3,178) = 2.995; p < .05) and *data security and privacy are more important than the usage of smart home and AAL technology systems (TO2)* (F(3,178) = 3.968).



Fig. 7. Model of relationships between benefits, barriers, and acceptance complemented by the influence of user diversity factors.

5 Discussion

Sections 5.1, 5.2, and 5.3 provide discussions of the previously presented research results as well as answers to the study's underlying research questions (see Sect. 3.1). Further, limitations and an outlook for future research in the field are presented (Sect. 5.4).

5.1 Decisive Perceived Benefits and Barriers for Smart Home Acceptance

In accordance with previous research results [22], our results show that a holistic smart home and AAL system with a wide spectrum of functions is overall accepted and rated positive by all user groups. Referring to the context of care needs, the intention to use the system is present and differs only slightly regarding the different user groups. Whenever potential care needs are subject of discussion in an intention-to-use-context, they are more important than other wishes or concerns and the AAL system would be used in this regard.

Overall and referring to the whole participant group, the acceptance was more predicted and explained by perceived barriers than by perceived benefits. The results of the regression analyses for all participants reveal that *expanding the autonomy* was the beneficial factor with the biggest influence on acceptance followed by *time savings*. Concerning perceived barriers, *to be afraid of isolation, proportion of technology in everyday life is too high*, and *AAL technologies are irrelevant* were the most acceptance-relevant criteria. In parts, these results are in line with previous research [39, 41], in which especially older participants were afraid of the proportion of technology and a potential isolation in consequence of technology usage. As mentioned before, these new results in the context of experience with disabilities and resulting care needs should be addressed and deepened in future studies. Interestingly, the evaluation of perceived benefits and barriers as influencing factors for the acceptance of smart home systems strongly depends on experience with disabilities and care (see Sect. 5.2).

5.2 The Perspective of Experience with Disabilities

Although the system was overall accepted and evaluated positive by all user groups (see Sects. 4.4 and 5.1), some significant differences between the groups are striking and are illuminated in this section.

If it was asked for the intention to use the system without mentioning the context of care needs, significant differences between the user groups become obvious: in tendency - disabled people and people in need of care indicate a clearly higher acceptance (intention to like to use an AAL system currently or to install an AAL system in their home environment) compared to healthy people without personal experiences with disabilities or care needs. Thus, the fact that people are concerned with health issues and care needs influences the AAL system acceptance. This is a common research finding regarding age as previous research revealed that older participants show higher acceptance scores of assisting technologies than younger people [41]. However, this is a comparatively new phenomenon concerning diseases and disabilities. Focusing on different experiences with disabilities, the evaluations of the professional caregivers group are striking as they indicated to have a more negative attitude towards AAL systems in comparison with all other groups [42]. Particularly, this was obvious during the statements in the interview studies, in which the professional caregivers described AAL systems in parts as spooky, impersonal, or inhuman. Due to previous research findings and current studies, we assume that professional care staff takes a more critical attitude than other user groups due to concerns about a difficult handling of the technology, concerns to be replaced by technology, and also due to a lower general trust in technology. Hence, future studies should focus especially on professional caregivers and analyze their requirements and wishes to be able to integrate them into the development of smart home and AAL technologies and finally, to increase their openness and acceptance of such technologies in professional care contexts.

The evaluation of motives to use and perceived barriers not to use an AAL system differed also regarding user diversity. As a first aspect, it is striking for the group of disabled participants, that the main perceived benefits carry greater weight than the perceived barriers (see Sect. 4.4). The disabled participants of our study associate the in the scenario described AAL system as helpful, very useful, and comfortable. It is most important for them that the applied technical system helps to *expand their autonomy*. In contrast, *facilitation of everyday life* is a comparatively incidental or even not desired benefit as most people of this group want to cope with as much everyday tasks as

possible on their own. Hence, smart home and AAL technology systems could be very enriching for disabled people as they have the potential to help those people to help themselves. In contrast, the most important barrier for this participant group represents the aspect that the use of technology is *seen as superfluous*. As this refers to the concern that the technology undertakes tasks the people would like to do autonomously, it represents the most important benefit's counterpart and highlights the importance of autonomy for this specific user group.

Referring to the perspective of relatives of disabled people, their acceptance results can be best compared with the disabled people's perspective: for them, also the perceived benefits are in tendency more important than the perceived barriers. However, this is not true for the most important usage motives: in line with previous results [39] (but in contrast to the results of the disabled participants group), for the not experienced group, the relatives, and the professional caregivers groups, the benefits *facilitation of everyday life* and *relief of fellow people* are the key motives to use AAL systems.

Focusing the not experienced and the professional caregivers group, the perceived barriers carry clearly more weight than the perceived benefits of smart home and AAL systems. This fits the results of the qualitative study, in which the professional caregivers described the system primarily as spooky and undesirable (see Sect. 3.3). However, there are also differences between these two groups as they weight the perceived barriers differently. For the professional caregiver group, concerns about a difficult usage of the technology is relevant. We assume that this is due to concerns that the workflow is affected and slowed down by technical and especially handling difficulties. In contrast, doubts about a too high proportion of technology and if the technology is really necessary are relevant barriers for the not-experienced group.

Summarizing, this study's results show that the acceptance of smart home and AAL systems depends on the user factor experience with disabilities and resulting care needs. Besides acceptance, the motives for use or non-use of the described system differ with respect to user diversity. Based on the presented results, we suggest including disabled people into early development stages of smart home and AAL technologies to reach technical solutions that are personalized and sufficiently adapted to individual requirements. Equally, professional care staff should be integrated in future studies as they present the most critical users. Thus, not only facilitating and management of everyday life can be ensured at home but also at professional care environments and contexts.

5.3 A Holistic View: Relationships Between Benefits, Barriers, and Trade-Offs

Although the presented model shows that perceived barriers influence the acceptance more strongly than perceived barriers, the direct trade-offs between them are predominantly evaluated in favor of the benefits and system usage. The weightings and trade-offs between perceived benefits and perceived barriers clarify the importance to conceptualize respective communication and information strategies thoroughly. By providing easily comprehensible information about the usage of the system, the data handling, technical characteristics as well as the potential applications of the system, concerns and fears could at least be reduced. The model as well as Sect. 5.2 also illustrate that user diversity clearly shapes smart home and AAL system acceptance. Besides experience with disabilities, especially needs for privacy and data security present factors that are extremely relevant for acceptance as well as for the perception of benefits and barriers within the present study. This is detailed in another study [43] and in line with numerous previous investigations in the field of AAL and smart home acceptance research [26, 39], wherein data security and privacy mostly present perceived barriers and thus, acceptance-relevant criteria.

5.4 Limitations and Future Research

Although the presented two-step empirical study revealed insights into the acceptance of smart home and AAL systems considering users with different experiences concerning disabilities, some limitations concerning methodological approach and sample should be considered for future research in this field.

Initially, the study was a first approach comparing users with different experiences in the context of care and disabilities; therefore, we concentrated on the evaluation of crucial benefits and barriers as well as on the acceptance of our described system in general enabling smart home (e.g., heating, lighting) as well Ambient Assisted Living functionalities (e.g., remembering, monitoring). In future studies, we will be able to integrate more detailed aspects, e.g., relationship between privacy and safety, detailed data security evaluation (period and kind of data storage, data access), that have not been considered so far. Second, the study focused on a holistic multi-functional and its evaluation and not on an evaluation of single technologies and functions as they have already been largely researched. It would be very interesting to analyze if scenarios with slightly divergent descriptions (e.g., adding or changing functions) of a holistic AAL system will be evaluated differently. Of course, the scenario-based approach of our study must be noticed: the evaluation based on a fictional and not on a real AAL system and therefore, we will conduct an evaluation of the real system and will compare the scenario-based and real evaluations as soon as the system is ready to be integrated in care institutions as well as private home environments.

Further, there are also some aspects concerning the sample which should be considered for future studies. The study's sample size was adequate, but the study should be replicated in even larger and especially more representative samples: this was especially true for gender because the sample contained a higher number of women than men. In our sample, age was not related to disabilities or current care needs and therefore our study reached younger as well as older people with disabilities. Nevertheless, it is desirable to try to reach a higher proportion of "old and disabled" people in order to be able to focus on the new phenomenon of "old" disabled people [8] and on the requirements and wishes of these people. A last cultural aspect refers to the fact that the present study addressed German participants and represents a single country perspective with a country-specific health care system. Thus, a comparison of smart home and AAL technology acceptance depending on different countries and their specific characteristics would be desirable to compare future user needs culture-specifically.

6 Conclusion

Addressing the increasing challenge to tackle demographic change and care of elderly and disabled persons, the development of smart home and AAL technologies is a promising approach. The acceptance of users and the broad willingness to use these technologies at home represent the critical cornerstone for a sustainable adoption of those technologies. While research increasingly provides differentiated insights into acceptance research in the context of age and generation, so far, sparse knowledge is prevailing about the acceptance of disabled persons and resulting care needs.

The current study therefore concentrated on the perspective of persons having different experiences with disabilities and care needs. A two-tier approach was pursued: First, a qualitative interview was conducted to gain insights into opinions, wishes, and needs of disabled persons. In addition to the affected persons themselves, we also included relatives of disabled persons, professional caregivers, and, as a control group, persons without experience with disabilities. Second, a questionnaire study was carried out, in which we explored perceived benefits and barriers, use conditions, and acceptance of AAL technologies.

The results showed that acceptance as well as perception of benefits and barriers regarding AAL and smart home technologies depend on user diversity and particularly usage motives and barriers are pronounced and weighted differently referring to user groups having different experiences with disabilities and care needs.

The presented study enabled an identification of user-specific benefits and barriers of smart home and AAL technologies as well as building an acceptance model containing perceived benefits, perceived barriers, their trade-offs, system acceptance and the influence of user diversity factors. Thus, the current study contributes to a deeper understanding of user-specific AAL and smart home technology acceptance focusing on disabilities and care needs. A premature and iterative integration of users with different experiences and needs in the development process of assistive technologies is not merely desirable but also necessary to increase user acceptance and adoption in the context of innovative AAL and smart home technologies.

Acknowledgements. The authors thank all participants for their patience and openness to share opinions on a novel technology and the sensitive topics disabilities and care needs. Furthermore, the authors want to thank Lisa Portz for research assistance. This work was funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research Project Whistle (16SV7530).

References

- Bloom, D.E., Canning, D.: Global Demographic Change: Dimensions and Economic Significance. National Bureau of Economic Research. Working Paper No. 10817 (2004)
- Walker, A., Maltby, T.: Active ageing: a strategic policy solution to demographic ageing in the European Union. Int. J. Soc. Welfare 21, 117–130 (2012)
- Wiles, J.L., Leibing, A., Guberman, N., Reeve, J., Allen, R.E.S.: The meaning of "ageing in place" to older people. Gerontologist (2011). https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnr098

- Shaw, J.E., Sicree, R.A., Zimmet, P.Z.: Global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2010 and 2030. Diab. Res. Clin. Pract. 87(1), 4–14 (2010)
- 5. Wild, S., Roglic, G., Green, A., Sicree, R., King, H.: Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. Diab. Care 27(5), 1047–1053 (2004)
- Roger, V.L., Go, A.S., Lloyd-Jones, D.M., Adams, R.J., Berry, J.D., Brown, T.M., et al.: American heart association statistics committee and stroke statistics subcommittee. heart disease and stroke statistics–2011 update: a report from the american heart association. Circulation 123(4), e18–e209 (2011)
- Geenen, S.J., Powers, L.E., Sells, W.: Understanding the role of health care providers during the transition of adolescents with disabilities and special health care needs. J. Adolesc. Health 32(3), 225–233 (2003)
- 8. Poore, C.: Disability in Twentieth-Century German Culture. University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor (2007)
- 9. Schmitt, J.M.: Innovative medical technologies help ensure improved patient care and cost-effectiveness. J. Med. Mark.: Device Diagn. Pharm. Mark. **2**(2), 174–178 (2002)
- Cheng, J., Chen, X., Shen, M.: A framework for daily activity monitoring and fall detection based on surface electromyography and accelerometer signals. IEEE J. Biomed. Health Inform. 17(1), 38–45 (2013)
- 11. Baig, M.M., Gholamhosseini, H.: Smart health monitoring systems: an overview of design and modeling. J. Med. Syst. **37**(2), 1–14 (2013)
- Rashidi, P., Mihailidis, A.: A survey on ambient-assisted living tools for older adults. IEEE J. Biomed. Health Inform. 17(3), 579–590 (2013)
- Fuchsberger, V.: Ambient assisted living: elderly people's needs and how to face them. In: Proceedings of the 1st ACM International Workshop on Semantic Ambient Media Experiences, pp. 21–24. ACM (2008)
- Demiris, G., Hensel, B.K., Skubic, M., Rantz, M.: Senior residents' perceived need of and preferences for "smart home" sensor technologies. Int. J. Technol. Assess. Health Care 24 (1), 120–124 (2008)
- Wilkowska, W., Gaul, S., Ziefle, M.: A small but significant difference the role of gender on acceptance of medical assistive technologies. In: Leitner, G., Hitz, M., Holzinger, A. (eds.) USAB 2010. LNCS, vol. 6389, pp. 82–100. Springer, Heidelberg (2010). https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-642-16607-5_6
- Silverstone, R., Morley, D., Dahlberg A, Livingstone, S.: Families, Technologies and Consumption: Household and Information and Communication Technologies. Uxbridge: Centre for Research into Innovation, Culture & Technology, Brunel University (1989)
- 17. Casenio: Casenio intelligente Hilfe- & Komfortsysteme [intelligent support and comfort systems] (2016). https://www.casenio.de/
- Essence: Smart Care Care@ Home Product Suite (2016). http://www.essence-grp.com/ smart-care/care-at-home-pers
- 19. EarlySense: EarlySense All-in-One System (2016). http://www.earlysense.com/
- 20. Tunstall: Tunstall Solutions for Healthcare Professionals (2016). www.tunstallhealthcare. com.au
- Sixsmith, A., Meuller, S., Lull, F., Klein, M., Bierhoff, I., Delaney, S., Savage, R.: SOPRANO – an ambient assisted living system for supporting older people at home. In: Mokhtari, M., Khalil, I., Bauchet, J., Zhang, D., Nugent, C. (eds.) ICOST 2009. LNCS, vol. 5597, pp. 233–236. Springer, Heidelberg (2009). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-02868-7_30
- Gövercin, M., Meyer, S., Schellenbach, M., Steinhagen-Thiessen, E., Weiss, B., Haesner, M.: SmartSenior@home: acceptance of an integrated ambient assisted living system. Results of a clinical field trial in 35 households. Inform. Health Soc. Care 41, 1–18 (2016)

- Kleinberger, T., Becker, M., Ras, E., Holzinger, A., Müller, P.: Ambient intelligence in assisted living: enable elderly people to handle future interfaces. In: Stephanidis, C. (ed.) UAHCI 2007. LNCS, vol. 4555, pp. 103–112. Springer, Heidelberg (2007). https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-540-73281-5_11
- Beringer, R., Sixsmith, A., Campo, M., Brown, J., McCloskey, R.: The "acceptance" of ambient assisted living: developing an alternate methodology to this limited research lens. In: Abdulrazak, B., Giroux, S., Bouchard, B., Pigot, H., Mokhtari, M. (eds.) ICOST 2011. LNCS, vol. 6719, pp. 161–167. Springer, Heidelberg (2011). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-21535-3_21
- Sun, H., De Florio, V., Gui, N., Blondia, C.: The missing ones: key ingredients towards effective ambient assisted living systems. J. Ambient Intell. Smart Environ. 2(2), 109–120 (2010)
- Wilkowska, W., Ziefle, M., Himmel, S.: Perceptions of personal privacy in smart home technologies: do user assessments vary depending on the research method? In: Tryfonas, T., Askoxylakis, I. (eds.) HAS 2015. LNCS, vol. 9190, pp. 592–603. Springer, Cham (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-20376-8_53
- Kowalewski, S., Wilkowska, W., Ziefle, M.: Accounting for user diversity in the acceptance of medical assistive technologies. In: Szomszor, M., Kostkova, P. (eds.) eHealth 2010. LNICST, vol. 69, pp. 175–183. Springer, Heidelberg (2011). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-23635-8_22
- Demiris, G., Rantz, M., Aud, M., Marek, K., Tyrer, H., Skubic, M., Hussam, A.: Older adults' attitudes towards and perceptions of "smart home" technologies: a pilot study. Med. Inform. Internet 29(2), 87–94 (2004)
- Ziefle, M., Himmel, S., Wilkowska, W.: When your living space knows what you do: acceptance of medical home monitoring by different technologies. In: Holzinger, A., Simonic, K.-M. (eds.) USAB 2011. LNCS, vol. 7058, pp. 607–624. Springer, Heidelberg (2011). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-25364-5_43
- Himmel, S., Ziefle, M.: Smart home medical technologies: users' requirements for conditional acceptance. I-Com 15(1), 39–50 (2016)
- de Ruyter, B., Pelgrim, E.: Ambient assisted-living research in carelab. Interactions 14(4), 30–33 (2007)
- Brauner, P., Holzinger, A., Ziefle, M.: Ubiquitous computing at its best: serious exercise games for older adults in ambient assisted living environments-a technology acceptance perspective. EAI Endorsed Trans. Serious Games 15, 1–12 (2015)
- Gentry, T.: Smart homes for people with neurological disability: state of the art. NeuroRehabilitation 25(3), 209–217 (2009)
- 34. Harris, J.: The use, role and application of advanced technology in the lives of disabled people in the UK. Disabil. Soc. **25**(4), 427–439 (2010)
- López, S.A., Corno, F., Russis, L.D.: Supporting caregivers in assisted living facilities for persons with disabilities: a user study. Univ. Access Inf. Soc. 14(1), 133–144 (2015)
- Mortenson, W.B., Demers, L., Fuhrer, M.J., Jutai, J.W., Lenker, J., DeRuyter, F.: Effects of an assistive technology intervention on older adults with disabilities and their informal caregivers: an exploratory randomized controlled trial. Am. J. Phys. Med. Rehabil./Assoc. Acad. Physiatr. 92(4), 297–306 (2013)
- Larizza, M.F., Zukerman, I., Bohnert, F., Busija, L., Bentley, S.A., Russell, R.A., Rees, G.: In-home monitoring of older adults with vision impairment: exploring patients', caregivers' and professionals' views. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. 21(1), 56–63 (2014)
- Mayring, P.: Qualitative content analysis: theoretical foundation, basic procedures and software solution. Klagenfurt (2014). http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-395173

- Himmel, S., Ziefle, M., Lidynia, C., Holzinger, A.: Older users' wish list for technology attributes. In: Cuzzocrea, A., Kittl, C., Simos, D.E., Weippl, E., Xu, L. (eds.) CD-ARES 2013. LNCS, vol. 8127, pp. 16–27. Springer, Heidelberg (2013). https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-642-40511-2_2
- 40. van Heek, J., Himmel, S., Ziefle, M.: Helpful but spooky? Acceptance of AAL-systems contrasting user groups with focus on disabilities and care needs. In: Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health (ICT4AWE 2017), pp. 78–90 (2017)
- Wilkowska, W., Ziefle, M., Alagöz, F.: How user diversity and country of origin impact the readiness to adopt E-health technologies: an intercultural comparison. Work (Read. Mass.) 41(Suppl. 1), 2072–2080 (2012)
- Klack, L., Ziefle, M., Wilkowska, W., Kluge, J.: Telemedical versus conventional heart patient monitoring: a survey study with German physicians. Int. J. Technol. Assess. Health Care 29(4), 378–383 (2013)
- van Heek, J., Himmel, S., Ziefle, M.: Privacy, data security, and the acceptance of AAL-systems – a user-specific perspective. In: Zhou, J., Salvendy, G. (eds.) ITAP 2017. LNCS, vol. 10297, pp. 38–56. Springer, Cham (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-58530-7_4



Home-Based Multi-parameter Analysis for Early Risk Detection and Management of a Chronic Disease

Christos Goumopoulos^{1,2(\Box)} and Athanasia Lappa³

¹ Information and Communication Systems Engineering Department, University of the Aegean, Samos, Greece goumop@aegean.gr

² Dynamic Ambient Intelligent Systems Unit, Computer Technology Institute and Press Diophantus, Patras, Greece

³ School of Science and Technology, Hellenic Open University, Patras, Greece nancylappa7@gmail.com

Abstract. Proactive support of patients with chronic diseases such as Congestive Heart Failure is vital since the recovery from a critical condition usually presents complications and it is not always possible. Although emergency situations may occur without prior warning, still in the majority of emergency cases, there are "signals" that precede their appearance. By capitalizing on technology developments that are changing the way how healthcare services are provided, we propose a multi-parameter and multi-level data analysis approach in order to detect possible alarms which can then trigger proper preventive medical interventions. The main contribution of the presented approach is a methodology that combines selected health parameters that can be measured in a home environment using ambient assisted living technologies, with clinical history, in order to design a risk detection system for a chronic disease based on a Bayesian reasoning network. The added value of the proposed approach is that the system not only collects, processes and transmits vital measurements to the healthcare experts but also detects risks within the collected data. The system developed is discussed in detail as well as the validation process performed both on a technical and a medical level.

Keywords: Risk prevention · Bayesian network · Chronic diseases Medical knowledge modelling · Remote healthcare · Multi-layered architecture Sensors · Pervasive computing · Ambient assisted living

1 Introduction

World population aging is accompanied by a significant increase of chronic diseases, such as Congestive Heart Failure (CHF) and Diabetes Mellitus (DM). The cost of managing chronic diseases is huge representing 48% of global GDP (Gross Domestic Product) in 2010 and estimated to approach at a global level 30 trillion US\$ in the next two decades [1]. At a national level, treatment expenses can be high and the loss of labor due to chronic diseases can make a substantial dent in a country's productive

capacity. Additionally heavy burdens are put in the care system for the management of patients devoting resources directly or indirectly to prevention, screening, treatment and care. These difficulties render the management of such medical problems at home as an extremely attractive solution.

However, the management and treatment of chronic diseases at home presents many challenges for patients, their caregivers and health professionals, particularly with respect to the prevention and treatment of dangerous situations and complications such as deregulation-hospitalization in patients with CHF or hypoglycemia in patients with DM. Telemedicine monitoring of patients with chronic conditions has been proposed as an alternative for patient monitoring and early risk detection, however the plethora of parameters that accompany their remote monitoring, create challenges in the management of telemedicine services [2].

The development of information and communications technology systems that integrate modeling of medical knowledge and using of advanced processing techniques on medical and other data can assist the physicians in a diagnostic level, and contribute effectively to the prevention of health risks for the patients. In this perspective we present here the development of a home-based system for supporting CHF patients and addressing the early detection and management of health risks. At the heart of the system lies a multi-parameter analysis process for the early detection of critical medical conditions in CHF patients using artificial intelligence methods for modeling the medical knowledge and algorithmic data processing techniques to extract diagnostic features.

The main contribution of our approach is a methodology that combines health measurements that can be taken in a home environment using ambient assisted living technologies, with clinical history, in order to design a risk detection system for CHF that uses a Bayesian reasoning network. The added value of the proposed approach is that the system not only collects, processes and transmits vital measurements to the healthcare experts but also detects CHF risks within the collected data.

The rest of the text is structured as follows. In Sect. 2 we elaborate on the Bayesian Network model we have used to represent the domain knowledge and build a probabilistic reasoning method. Furthermore, related work is discussed and compared to our approach. Section 3 introduces the multi-parameter and multi-level data analysis approach that is followed in order to detect possible alarms which can then trigger proper preventive medical interventions. In Sect. 4 we discuss details of system development in terms of the logical layers found at the endpoints of the client-server architecture followed and the tools used for measurement scenario management and for system implementation. Section 5 gives information on the validation process performed both on a technical and a medical level. Finally, Sect. 6 gives our conclusions and suggestions for future work.

2 Background

In the domain of disease diagnosis many approaches have been proposed using Artificial Intelligence techniques, however, because on the one hand the expert knowledge in the medical domain is very important and on the other hand the experts want to clearly distinguish the way a diagnostic algorithm reaches a conclusion, Bayesian Networks (BNs) and in particular a variation for continuous data, called dynamic BNs, have been popular and at the same time a powerful approach [3, 4].

A BN is a graphical model, in particular a directed acyclic graph (DAG), which can express probabilistic relationships among a set of nodes or variables whereas arcs represent causal relations among the variables [5]. BNs have been used, for example, to model domain knowledge with a perception of causal effects for asthma case finding [6], for pneumonia [7], for hyper-kinetic disorder [8] and for early detection of hyperglycemia in patients with diabetes [9]. BN-based diagnostic systems for heart failure have been also developed [10] while the typical approach for BN construction is the use of clinical data [11].

BN model construction requires the specification of Conditional Probability Tables (CPTs) which denote the statistical dependence of the corresponding variables. However, for a specific variable, the number of parameters in the CPT is exponential to the number of parent nodes in the BN and thus can be prohibitive for the BN building. An approximation that considers a causal independence among the parent nodes that model causes related to the child node that model the effect can significantly reduce the dimensions of a CPT. This assumption is known as the Noisy-OR model [12] giving a logarithmic complexity on the number of parameters required for the CPT.

A critical question that arises when using the Noisy-OR model to build a BN is whether the performance of the network's reasoning is affected. There have been many studies that examined the effects of using this approximation for specifying the CPTs of a BN. For heart failure diagnosis the Noisy-OR model was successfully used to alleviate the difficulties involved in providing statistical data for all possible combinations of predecessor variables that, all or some combination of them, may cause heart disease [11]. For asthma case finding, an empirical study compared the original BN which was constructed from clinical data taken from a large medical database, with a BN that constructed using the leaky Noisy-OR formalism [6]. Comparison of the two methods concluded that the causes of asthma are independent and therefore both BNs had similar results, proving that the Noisy-OR approach is a strong assumption and a valid construction method for Bayesian reasoning networks. In a similar comparative study related to the early detection of classical swine fever original probabilities of the BN were replaced by Noisy-OR calculated probabilities with the involvement of the domain expert without affecting the sensitivity of the reasoning network [13]. The consistency of the outcomes reported by the above and similar studies led us also to use the Noisy-OR model in our approach for the early detection of CHF risks.

Focusing on heart failure risk detection many approaches have been proposed. An example is an early warning system for CHF using a BN which combined weight and blood pressure data with the location of the user and context-specific health questions in order to calculate a risk probability [14]. In another case researchers proposed a prediction rule to detect low-risk patients with heart failure by analyzing through classification trees a large data set including parameters such as demographics, clinical, laboratory, electrocardiographic and radiographic results [15]. The same clinical data sets and variables were also used to develop algorithms that perform Bayesian model averaging over a set of models using the characteristics of a specific patient to provide heart failure prediction [16]. Such approaches represent research efforts to develop

decision making systems at a laboratory environment and not home-based systems to support early CHF risk detection by using ambient assisted living technologies.

Finally, a number of home-based wearable real-time monitoring systems have been proposed by researchers for continuous medical care of patients [17–19]. However, most of such systems collect, process and transmit vital measurements to healthcare experts in order to remotely monitor their patients, but they generally don't detect CHF risks within the collected data. This is the main difference compared to our system.

3 Multi-parameter Analysis

A risk detection algorithm that performs multi-parameter and multi-level data analysis in order to detect dangerous situations for patients with chronic heart failure is the core of the proposed system. Figure 1 depicts the overall structure of the risk detection algorithm for CHF patients. Multi-parameter data analysis involves a combination of medical measurements and clinical history. Medical measurements include systolic/diastolic blood pressure, heart rate, blood oxygen saturation and electrocardiograph. The clinical history includes clinical measurements specified in the European System for Cardiac Operative Risk Evaluation (EuroSCORE) model that are used in order to calculate the patient risk according to the logistic formula given by EuroSCORE II [20].

The data processing is performed at multiple levels including: (i) medical analysis of measurements based on decision rules which use threshold values specified by medicine science; (ii) statistical analysis of biological data to detect considerable variations between the current measurements and the corresponding medical history data of the same patient; (iii) clinical history data processing which uses EuroSCORE II risk calculation as a method to assess the health risk status for patients that have been operated for heart failure; and (iv) a Bayesian reasoning network which gets as evidence variables the output of the medical analysis and the EuroSCORE II risk



Fig. 1. Multi-parameter, multi-level data analysis for CHF risk detection.

calculation to assess an overall risk level. On the output pre-alarm indicates initial evidence which is not considered critical but should be taken into account for further assessing patient's health state. Alarm indicates evidence that is considered as an emergency for patient's health and requires immediate intervention.

In the following sections we briefly present the various levels of data analysis. A more elaborated description given by the authors can be found in [21].

3.1 Medical Data Processing

In this category of data processing medical measurements are taken regularly at home. As shown in Fig. 2, there are two data processing steps applied by the risk detection algorithm on the medical measurements before outcomes are provided as evidence variables in the Bayesian reasoning network: statistical and medical analysis.



Fig. 2. The medical data processing flow.

The statistical analysis step of the risk detection algorithm uses the deviation index (DI) metric, which is the z-statistic quantity of Statistical Theory measuring the deviation of the measured value of a variable x, from the average value μ of the same variable in standard deviation σ units of its distribution [22]:

$$\mathrm{DI} = \frac{\mathrm{x} - \mu}{\sigma} \tag{1}$$

A high value of instant DI corresponds to a significantly differentiated measurement in relation to the history of the measurements and thus this is assessed as a component of the pre-alarm status for a patient. The deviation index value for a variable x is then categorized based on medical expert empirical knowledge according to the formula [21]:

$$CDI_{x} = \begin{cases} 0 & DI \le 1.5\\ 1 & 1.5 < DI \le 3\\ 2 & DI > 3 \end{cases}$$
(2)

For DI > 3 the observed value occurs with probability less than 0.3% and this signifies a strong pre-alarm. For $1.5 < DI \le 3$ the observed value occurs with probability approximately 13% and signifies a moderate pre-alarm. For DI ≤ 1.5 the observed value occurs with probability approximately 87% and signifies a normal state. The output values of the statistical analysis are fed to the medical analysis component for further processing.

The medical analysis step of the risk detection algorithm examines whether medical variable measurements are exceeding normal value ranges in order to be classified as normal or abnormal based on criteria related to the patient profile (Table 1).

Parameter	Normal range
ECG QRS width/amplitude	60–110 ms/ \le 1 mV
ECG P-wave width/amplitude	$80-110 \text{ ms/} \le 0.1 \text{ mV}$
ECG T-wave width/amplitude	$160-200 \text{ ms/} \le 0.25 \text{ mV}$
Heart rate	60–100 bpm
Systolic pressure	100-130 mmHg
Diastolic pressure	60–85 mmHg
Blood oxygen saturation	96%-100%
Temperature	36.1°C-37.4°C

Table 1. Medical parameters and their normal value ranges [21].

The Electrocardiogram (ECG) signal is a basic parameter giving evidence of the electrical activity of the heart. Figure 3 shows a typical ECG signal with its constituent segments identified as the P wave, the QRS complex and the T wave referring to depolarization or repolarization of the heart [23]. The R-R interval variable denotes the time between two consecutive R waves and a time series of this variable is used to calculate heart rate in beats per minute (bpm).



Fig. 3. ECG waveform.

3.2 Clinical History Data Processing

Clinical history is classified into three data categories: risk factors related to the patient, to the heart health and finally to the heart operation, as defined in EuroSCORE II model [20]. As shown in Fig. 4, the risk detection algorithm in this data processing



Fig. 4. The clinical history data processing flow.

component calculates the EuroSCORE II risk and then categorizes it as low, medium or high before feeding it as evidence variable in the Bayesian reasoning network.

The following formula calculates the patient risk as defined by the EuroSCORE II model [20]:

$$eSCORE = \frac{e^{\left(\beta_0 + \sum \beta_i + x_i\right)}}{1 + e^{\left(\beta_0 + \sum \beta_i + x_i\right)}}$$
(3)

where *e* the natural logarithm base, β_0 equals to -5.324537, x_i is a binary variable representing a specific risk factor and β_i is the variable's corresponding coefficient as defined in [20]. The calculated value is then categorized according to the following formula suggested by the euroSCORE model and is fed to the BN [21]:

$$eSCORE' = \begin{cases} LOW & \text{if } eSCORE < 0.03\\ MEDIUM & \text{if } 0.03 \le eSCORE \le 0.07\\ HIGH & \text{if } eSCORE > 0.07 \end{cases}$$
(4)

3.3 Bayesian Reasoning Network

The basic concept in BNs is that probabilities can be assigned to variable values and by applying the Bayes laws these probabilities can be updated given new measurements [12]. There are two main methods for constructing BNs when trying to model a particular situation (Fig. 5). The first is the knowledge representation approach, in which the domain knowledge is captured into a BN with the assistance of the domain expert. The second method is based on learning from data, where the structure, the probabilities or both can be learned from a given database.

The lack of adequate clinical data as well as the need of having less computational demands and smaller model in size guided us to construct the BN by surveying the relevant literature and consulting the domain experts. Moreover, with this approach we can have a significant amount of discrete binary variables, allowing us to benefit from computational techniques.



Fig. 5. Bayesian network design options.

Given a problem domain one needs to define the BN model structure. CHF disease, in our case, is related to many causes and effects [24]. Relevant literature was explored to determine parameter dependencies and the original conditional probabilities employed in the BN model [11, 25, 26]. For instance, we found that the prognostic importance of systolic and diastolic blood pressure is well known [28]. Moreover the heart rate parameter is also considered as a predictive factor of CHF risk for seniors whereas the ECG parameter establishes a diagnostic factor. Besides the knowledge extracted by surveying medical studies, in-depth discussions with medical experts provided the proper guidance in order to streamline the network with only the variables that are appropriate in the specific problem domain, to fine-tune conditional probabilities in specific edges of the BN model and to specify validation rules for detecting a CHF risk. Nevertheless, an important factor for choosing the basic BN variables was their appropriateness with respect to gathering the relevant medical measurements in a home environment.

So, in our constructed model there are five evidence variables. Four of them represent categorical medical variables provided by the medical analysis phase, which can take one out of two values abnormal/high or normal. The fifth is the categorized EuroSCORE II risk value derived by Eq. (4), which can take one of three values low, medium, high. For the calculation of conditional probabilities and because both parent and child nodes in the BN model are binary variables we can assume a causal independence among the modeled causes and their common effect and therefore we can apply the Noisy-OR model. According to this model each of the parent variables γ_i is considered as a possible cause of the child variable π , which can cause the effect by itself, with a certain probability p_i . Then the probability that the child variable is TRUE is given by the following equation [21]:

$$p(\pi = \{T\}|\gamma_i) = 1 - \prod_{\gamma_i \in \Gamma_{\mathrm{T}}} (1 - p_i)$$
(5)

where the product contains only the factors corresponding to parent variables that are TRUE ($\gamma_i \in \Gamma_T$).

In our case we use a variant of the Noisy-OR model called the *leaky Noisy-OR* approach which attempts to solve the practical problem that not all causes of an effect can be modeled in a BN [29]. This model uses the notion of p_{leak} , which is the total probability of the causes that have not been modeled and can be regarded as one of the causes which may cause the result. In this case Eq. (5) is updated as follows [21]:

$$p(\pi = \{T\}|\gamma_i) = 1 - (1 - p_{leak}) \prod_{\gamma_i \in \Gamma_{\mathrm{T}}} (1 - p_i)$$
(6)

Figure 6 shows the probabilities of each variable in the case when no evidence is provided, i.e. the risk probability calculated by the model reflects only the input probabilities of the variables.



Fig. 6. Bayesian network structure for CHF risk detection when no evidence is given.

Conditional Probabilities. Prior probabilities of nodes in the BN model representing the medical variables "Blood pressure", "Heart rate" and "ECG" were defined according to the study of Ghosh and Valtorta [11]. Table 2 summarizes the Normal value probability for these nodes.

BN node	Variable	Probability
С	Blood pressure	0.56
D	Heart rate	0.26
G	ECG	0.38

Table 2. Prior probabilities of medical variables based on literature [21].

Blood oxygen is associated with other diseases so there are equal chances of influence. For this reason the prior probability of node (E) was set to 0.5.

Prior probabilities of node "EuroSCORE II", were defined based on EuroSCORE model data as follows: $p(L = \{LOW\}) = 0.31$, $p(L = \{MEDIUM\}) = 0.40$ and $p(L = \{HIGH\}) = 0.29$.

The CPT of node K "Heart Disease" given nodes C, D and E was defined using the leaky Noisy-OR formalism. Table 3 gives the contents of the CPT using $p_{leak} = 1$ –0.93 = 0.07, where 0.93 is the probability of state "Present" in node K when all parent nodes are in "Abnormal" state. The conditional probability of node G given node K is defined as: $p(G|K = \{PRESENT\}) = 0.95$.

С	D	Е	Κ
Abnormal	Abnormal	Abnormal	0.93
Abnormal	Abnormal	Normal	0.86
Abnormal	Normal	Abnormal	0.74
Abnormal	Normal	Normal	0.48
Normal	Abnormal	Abnormal	0.88
Normal	Abnormal	Normal	0.76
Normal	Normal	Abnormal	0.54
Normal	Normal	Normal	0.07

Table 3. CPT of node K "Heart Disease" [21].

The CTP of node N "Alarm" given nodes K and L (Table 4) was defined using the Total Probability Theorem as described by the following equation:

$$p(N|K,L) = p(K)p(N|K) + p(L)p(N|L)$$
(7)

Typically the alarm outcome given that the heart disease is present can be set to 0.99.

Also based on the EuroSCORE model data from the 698 deaths, 36 were low risk patients, 182 were medium risk patients and 480 were high risk. So we have the following probabilities per category: $p(N|L = \{LOW\}) = 0.05$, $p(N|L = \{MEDIUM\}) = 0.26$ and $p(N|L = \{HIGH\}) = 0.69$.

K	L	N
Present	Low	0.71
Present	Medium	0.80
Present	High	0.89
Absent	Low	0.02
Absent	Medium	0.11
Absent	High	0.20

Table 4. CPT of node N "Alarm" [21].

4 System Development

In this section we discuss the development of an integrated telemedicine system for supporting CHF patients at home by addressing the early detection and management of health risks. The system developed follows a multi-tier client/server architecture. The advantages of this model refer to the scalability, reusability and maintenance capabilities provided. The system architecture diagram is given in Fig. 7 and its structure consists of six separate layers, three in the client-side and three in the server-side. In the client-side the system collects biomedical measurements using devices and sensors in the user's home space under the supervision of the Local Subsystem Manager (LSM) which after performing local filtering and formatting of the gathered information forwards it to the remote server that can make assessments about the patient's health status. This multi-layer scheme makes integration of new devices and sensors easier and also facilitates the integration of different technologies that may be used between the layers.

To demonstrate the usage of such a system an indicative scenario is given. A CHF patient following the doctor's instructions takes regularly specific measurements (e.g., blood pressure). The data is collected by the LSM through the device's communication protocol (e.g. Bluetooth). LSM packages the data into a secure JSON envelope and sends it to the server. The server combines the data with past measurements (e.g., taken during the past week/month) and analyses the patient's health status by applying the risk detection algorithm described in Sect. 3. The system may assess that there is a possibility of health risk, and as a response sends a message back to the LSM for a pre-alarm warning and communicates with the local administrator. When the local system receives the pre-alarm message, warns the user to communicate with the doctor because the measurements have been out of balance lately.



Fig. 7. Multi-tier client/server architecture.

4.1 Client-Side

In this section we describe the layers of the system implemented in the client-side.

Device Layer: This layer includes all the devices and sensors measuring medical parameters (Table 5). These are mainly wireless devices (e.g. Bluetooth) that transmit the data to the LSM through which it can be transmitted with web connectivity to the

remote server for storage and processing with the algorithms for medical diagnosis. The basic selection criteria for the devices are:

- (a) Openness (i.e. the device has to provide an Application Programming Interface (API) for direct downloading of data without the mediation of some cloud server).
- (b) Reliability via proper certifications (e.g. MED CERT ISO 13485) and
- (c) Interoperability (e.g. Continua Product Certification).

Device	Parameter	Certified	Link
EMB1	ECG	MED CERT ISO 13485	https://www.corscience. com/emb
UC-355PBT-Ci	Weight	Continua-certified	http://www.andonline. com/
CorScience Pulse Oximetry	Blood oxygen saturation	MED CERT ISO 13485	https://www.corscience. com/chipox
AnD Medical UA-767PBT-Ci	Blood pressure	Continua-certified	http://www.andonline. com/

Table 5. Medical devices characteristics.

The API of the devices provide raw measurements that can be subsequently be processed by algorithmic techniques in order to extract useful diagnostic features. For example, the Pan-Tompkins algorithm [30] is used to recognize the QRS-complexes in the ECG signal and then the amplitude and duration can be measured in rode to assess the normal or abnormal classification by checking the threshold values defined in Table 1.

Local Subsystem Manager Layer: This layer includes key processes in the client-side of the system which implement the following operations:

- User notification to start a periodic measurement scenario.
- Data gathering from the medical sensors and devices.
- Temporary storage of data in case of network problems in the communication with the server.
- Data validity checking based on the normal value ranges defined in.
- Data forwarding to the server.
- Receiving commands and processed responses (pre-alarms, alarms) from server.
- User notification management through warning messages.

To initiate a regular medical measurement, the LSM creates the proper low level messages to trigger the relevant devices for starting measurements and prepares the appropriate data structures to store the data collected from the devices. Moreover, the LSM updates the graphical user interface to display a set of guidelines to the user for using the devices (Fig. 8).



Fig. 8. A typical interaction message with the patient.

Mobile Web Application Layer: This layer provides access to the user profile and stored data. It also provides a personalized view of data as well as access levels depending on whether the user is a patient, medical staff or administrator. Figure 9 shows the main screen of the Web Application.

🛓 eHealth App Main Screen 🛛 🗖		_ 🗆 ×
Scenario Management	Patient Profile	euroScore II
Administration	Reports	Exit

Fig. 9. Main screen of the web Application.

In summary the following functionality is provided:

- An interface to create a new medical measurement protocol/scenario;
- A personal profile interface where the user can enter patients' personal information as well as relevant chronic diseases;
- A GUI to simulate sensor measurements for debugging purposes;
- An interface where the history measured data can be displayed in graphs;
- An interface to manage reports;
- An interface to provide notification to the user;
- An interface to create new users and to define new time periods for measurements and new thresholds for the medical analysis process.

4.2 Server-Side

The remote server provides the ability to interface with one or more clients for monitoring one or more patients and accepting HTTP type requests for storing measurements via a web application. In addition it supports the recording of each patient's profile into the database, decision-making by using a risk detection algorithm that performs multi-parameter and multi-level data analysis to identify emergencies and generate alarms and pre-alarms and finally the generation of suitable reports based on the information stored in the database. Figure 10 illustrates the component diagram of the server.



Fig. 10. Server-side system component diagram.

The server is divided into the following logical layers:

Web Service Layer: The components in this layer are responsible for receiving and sending messages from/to the client and also authenticating and validating the http calls and initiating measurement data recording. The communication mechanism is based on sending messages through the HTTP protocol, using the representational state transfer (REST) model.

Application Layer: The main purpose of this layer is to run the health risk assessment algorithm, which may generate pre-alarm or alarm states. More precisely, the received JSON message with the measurements from the client is checked initially for integrity and then the data are stored using the corresponding database package procedures. The EuroSCORE II model procedures are called to perform the calculation of the model result. The risk detection algorithm can then be initiated to check for an alarm or a pre-alarm. In case of abnormality the system either notifies its administrator to contact the patient or sends back to the corresponding client LSM the appropriate notification messages in order to be presented to the user.

Therefore, the application layer contains in the implemented Java classes the business logic of the server-side. In particular, it encompasses the Bayesian reasoning network component and components that interact with the data layer for storing measurements and EuroSCORE values. The application layer performs the following four basic tasks: data retrieval, data storage, patient's EuroSCORE II model calculation and risk detection estimation using the BN.
Data Layer: The data layer contains a relational database which was designed and implemented in Oracle platform. It also includes all the necessary procedures for storing, retrieving, updating and maintenance of data, as well as the necessary mechanisms for ensuring data integrity. The database scheme includes 14 tables with 92 fields in total and 14 relationships between the tables (Fig. 11).



Fig. 11. Database entity-relationship diagram.

The tables are classified into three categories:

EuroSCORE Model Tables. Tables in this category are containing information describing the EuroSCORE related models. The risk detection algorithm uses, in particular, the EuroSCORE II model to determine the degree of patient's health risk. In fact, the corresponding tables in the database have been designed in a general way so that additional risk assessment models related to patient's health can be also supported. Tables in this category are the following:

- SCORE_MDL: This table contains records for all three EuroSCORE models, i.e., additive EuroSCORE, logistic EuroSCORE and EuroSCORE II which is the latest version used by the system.
- SCORE_FACTOR_TP: This table contains records regarding the different data categories per model. For example, EuroSCORE II model has three such categories, namely risk factors related to the patient, risk factors related to heart health and risk factors related to heart operation.

- SCORE_FACTOR: This table contains records with the names and the descriptions of risk factors per category and per model. For example, a risk factor related to the patient in the EuroSCORE II model is the "Extracardiac arteriopathy".
- SCORE_FACTOR_VALS: This table contains the coefficient for each risk factor that is used in Eq. (3). For example the risk factor "Extracardiac arteriopathy" has a single record with the value 0.5360268.

Medical Measurement Tables. Tables in this category are containing information describing medical protocols for which the system collects measurements. The design of the tables takes into account that these tables may have to store measurements from various sources in the future so that the system can be expandable. The tables in this category are the following:

- MSR_VAR_TP: This table contains records for all types of sensors and devices that may be used for medical measurements. For example, biometric measurements from a Bluetooth oximeter.
- MSR_VAR: This table contains records for all the medical measurements supported by the system per device type.

Users Tables. Tables in this category are containing user-related information such as the medical history and stored measurements. The tables in this category are the following:

- USR_TP: Defining user types (patient, doctor, and administrator).
- USR: Containing users' profile.
- USR_SCORE: Containing EuroSCORE II model results that have been calculated.
- USR_SCORE_FACTOR_VARS: Containing values of risk factors that have been recorded for each patient.
- USR_MSR_SET: Containing time periods sets for measurements of each patient.
- USR_MSR_SET_VARS: Measurements per time period of each patient.
- USR_MSR_SET_VAR_VALS: Containing detailed measurements of medical parameters collected by sensors as well as statistical values recorded by the system for each patient. Also it contains the number of measurements, the sum of squares, the average value, the standard deviation and Deviation Index which are calculated and recorded every time a measurement is added to the database.
- USR_BAYESIAN: Bayesian reasoning network results calculated for each patient.

Finally, the access to the data is performed through database procedure packages and not directly from table queries for transparency reasons and separation of concerns between the data layer and the application layer. The packages defined are the following:

- PKG_UI_READ: Procedures to retrieve data for the GUI.
- PKG_UI_SAVE: Procedures to update data.
- PKG_CALC_MSR: Procedures to calculate EuroSCORE model and statistical analysis results.
- PKG_BAYESIAN_NET: Procedures to update and store Bayesian network results.

4.3 Measurement Scenario Management

The system administrator can manage the creation/update/deletion of a measurement scenario using the main screen of the Web Application (Fig. 9). A scenario may consist of one or more MEASUREMENT activities and a number of interaction activities like the NOTIFY activity. A NOTIFY activity stores a message content which notifies the user when such activity is executed by displaying the corresponding message on a screen (an example is shown in Fig. 8) and/or by playing an audio message when a speech to voice conversion utility is available. The scenario creation process is assisted by a wizard tool through a number of interaction steps. The administrator has to define for example the basic properties of the scenario such as its name, type and patient risk level (Fig. 12, left screen). A periodic scenario indicates a measurement process that is taken place on a regular basis. Other types include "On demand" and "Test". The former is initiated by the patient while in the latter case measurement values are not stored in the system database. A user interface is provided also to assist the definition of activities sequence in a scenario. Figure 12 (right screen), depicts the summary of a simple scenario that involves a blood pressure measurement activity and notification activities.

🗟 Scenario Creation — 🗖 🗙	🛓 Scenario Summary – 🗆 🗙
	Name: Blood Pressure Measurement
Name Blood Pressure Measurement	Schedule: Once per second day
	Time: 10:00 am
Type Periodic	OKBPMNotify
Patient Risk Level Medium	BPMNotify BPMStart
	FAILBPMNotify
Continue Cancel	
	OK

Fig. 12. Scenario creation and summary sample screens.

New activities as components of the scenarios can be defined by the administrator using the provided user interface. For example Fig. 13 shows activity creation for two different activity types.

😹 Activity Creation 🗕 🗖 🗙	🛓 Activity Creation 🗕 🗖 🗙
Name BPMStart	Name OKBPMNotify
Type MEASUREMENT	Message Blood pressure measurement
Device UA-767PBT-Ci	successfully. All data have been also stored.
Create Cancel	Create Cancel

Fig. 13. Activity creation sample screens.

4.4 Implementation Tools

The overall system was implemented using several development technologies and tools. The Java programming language and the Eclipse Mars 2 Integrated Development Environment were used to implement the application layer and the LSM. The wireless communication with the medical devices was based on the Bluetooth stack of the operating system. HTML 5 in combination with the Bootstrap CSS framework were used to develop the web application providing cross-browser compatibility, whereas the jQuery JavaScript library was used to implement the asynchronous calls to the restful web services. Web services were implemented using HTTP and JSON data format for transferring messages between the client and the server.

The Bayesian reasoning component of the risk detection algorithm was designed and tested using a tool developed at University of California at Los Angeles for modeling and reasoning with BNs named Sensitivity Analysis Modeling Inference And More – SamIam [27]. For the development of the Bayesian reasoning component we employed the Jayes library [31].

Lastly, the Oracle database framework, Express Edition 11 g Release 2, was used to implement the relational database.

5 Validation

5.1 System Validation

From a technical perspective, the system validation process was performed in three levels: unit level, function-level and overall process level testing. At the unit level, all modules developed were tested regarding their proper operation including device management by the matching software driver depending on the communication interface employed (e.g. wireless LAN, Bluetooth). At the function-level, specific system functionality was tested like system login, user profile management, activity and scenario creation, data storage, recognition of pre-alarms and alarms, and communication of the client-side with the server-side and vice versa. At the overall process level, the system was tested with respect to cohesion and reliability of the provided functionality when combinations of operations are executed for a long period of time.

5.2 Medical Inference Validation

Medical inference validation was performed in two directions. First, the risk values of the EuroSCORE II model calculated by the system were compared to the values calculated by the on-line EuroSCORE calculator [32] and were found to be equal for the same inputs. Secondly, the predictive validity of the risk detection algorithm was checked. The accuracy of the BN reasoning was determined with the participation of medical experts due to the lack of reliable clinical data to compare with the system predictions. The BN model was also checked regarding the mechanism through which prediction is obtained. As suggested by Pitchforth and Mengersen there are seven dimensions of validity in a BN model that should be examined [33]. Figure 14 summarizes how our BN model satisfied these validation tests.



Fig. 14. BN validity tests performed.

In particular, for predictive validity the agreement between the reasoning of the model and the diagnosis made by the domain expert was checked for each possible combination of evidence variable values. In our model there are 48 possible evidence combinations generated from five variables. Four of them represent medical parameters that take one out of two values and the EuroSCORE variable with three values. The process was facilitated by using the SamIam tool to manage the testing of all possible combinations and automatically calculating the probability of the CHF risk. The expert assessed the conclusions of the model as reasonable and also specified the following validation rules for which the CHF risk should always be true:

- Patients with eSCORE risk Low must have all medical measurements Abnormal.
- Patients with eSCORE risk Medium must have at least two medical measurements Abnormal.
- Patients with eSCORE risk High and anyone medical measurement Abnormal.

A critical task was to locate a specific threshold for the probability of CHF risk that divides all the evidence combinations into alarm and no alarm in the same manner as the domain expert. As a result of the analysis, the alarm threshold was found to be sixty-five percent (0.65), in order to generate the alarm. Figure 15 gives a comprehensive view of the BN conclusions according to the eSCORE risk category when different evidences are generated. As it can be observed the generation of an alarm is in accordance to the recommendations made by the expert. As an example, for patients with medium risk and two abnormal measurements, the model calculated an alarm probability of 65.52%, whereas with only one abnormal measurement the alarm probability was 56.54%, which is below the threshold as normally expected.



Fig. 15. Bayesian probability result by risk category and medical measurement result.

6 Conclusion and Future Work

Proactive support of CHF patients is vital since the recovery from a critical condition usually presents complications and it is not always possible. Although emergency situations may occur without prior warning, still in the majority of emergency cases, there are "signals" that precede their appearance. The regular monitoring of selected health variables followed by a multi-parameter and multi-level data analysis for the identification of abnormal health trends is the main contribution of the presented methodology.

Today, telecare systems typically incorporate the monitoring of patients' vital signals which can be transmitted, wirelessly, to a public or private medical care center for the provision of healthcare services. Furthermore, many systems support the automatic generation of alarms when the measurements exceed a predetermined range. The presented system surpasses this functionality and provides risk inference capabilities for the specific chronic disease by combing biological signals with a validated risk model. The system integrates additional mechanisms like the scenario creation tool which can facilitate system usage in different measurement situations.

The technical solution has been validated in several levels where as the medical inference component and the associated BN model defined were validated for prediction accuracy with the assistance of the domain expert with positive results.

Although the system presented addresses the problem of early prevention and management of health risks and complications in CHF patients, still with the proper enhancements in the BN modeling and health parameters monitoring the system could be used for risk management in other chronic diseases such as hypoglycemia in patients with Diabetes Mellitus. Our goal is the specification of a general methodological framework on the management of chronic diseases, as a result of the study of more use cases highlighting the perspective of the system to become a generic tool with built-in medical inference capabilities for various diseases. This aim needs to be validated in clinical trials using the integrated system with patients at their home.

Acknowledgements. Part of this research has been co-financed by the European Union (European Social Fund – ESF) and Greek national funds through the Operational Program "DEPIN" of the National Strategic Reference Framework (NSRF) (Project code: 465435). The authors wish to thank the medical experts for their valuable contribution in this study, especially in the BN model validation process.

References

- Bloom, D., Cafiero, E., Jané-Llopis, E., et al.: The Global Economic Burden of Noncommunicable Diseases. World Economic Forum, Geneva (2011). http://www3.weforum. org/docs/WEF_Harvard_HE_GlobalEconomicBurdenNonCommunicableDiseases_2011. pdf. Accessed Aug 15 2017
- Giamouzis, G., Kalogeropoulos, A., Georgiopoulou, V., et al.: Telemonitoring in chronic heart failure: a systematic review. Cardiol. Res. Pract. 2012, 1–7 (2012)
- 3. Lucas, P.J., van der Gaag, L.C., Abu-Hanna, A.: Bayesian networks in biomedicine and health-care. Artif. Intell. Med. **30**(3), 201–214 (2004)
- van der Heijden, M., Velikova, M., Lucas, P.J.: Learning Bayesian networks for clinical time series analysis. J. Biomed. Inform. 48, 94–105 (2014)
- Heckerman, D.: A tutorial on learning with Bayesian networks. In: Holmes, D.E., Jain, L.C. (eds.) Innovations in Bayesian Networks. Studies in Computational Intelligence, vol. 156, pp. 33–82. Springer, Heidelberg (2008). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-85066-3_3
- Anand, V., Downs, S.M.: Probabilistic asthma case finding: a noisy OR reformulation. In: AMIA Annual Symposium Proceedings, pp. 6–10 (2008)
- Aronsky, D., Fiszman, M., Chapman, W.W., Haug, P.J.: Combining decision support methodologies to diagnose pneumonia. In: AMIA Annual Symposium Proceedings, pp. 12– 16 (2001)
- Foreman, D., Morton, S., Ford, T.: Exploring the clinical utility of the Development And Well-Being Assessment (DAWBA) in the detection of hyperkinetic disorders and associated diagnoses in clinical practice. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 50(4), 460–470 (2009)
- Steinhauer, H.J., Mellin, J.: Automatic early risk detection of possible medical conditions for usage within an AMI-system. In: Mohamed, A., Novais, P., Pereira, A., Villarrubia González, G., Fernández-Caballero, A. (eds.) Ambient Intelligence - Software and Applications. AISC, vol. 376, pp. 13–21. Springer, Cham (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-19695-4_2

- Gatti, E., Luciani, D., Stella, F.: A continuous time Bayesian network model for cardiogenic heart failure. Flex. Serv. Manuf. J. 24(4), 496–515 (2012)
- Ghosh, J.K., Valtorta, M.: Probabilistic Bayesian network model building of heart disease. Department of Computer Science, University of South Carolina Columbia, SC 29208, Technical report TR9911 (1999)
- 12. Pearl, J.: Probabilistic Reasoning in Intelligent Systems: Networks of Plausible Inference. Morgan Kaufmann, San Francisco (1988)
- Bolt, J.H., van der Gaag, L.C.: An empirical study of the use of the noisy-or model in a real-life Bayesian network. In: Hüllermeier, E., Kruse, R., Hoffmann, F. (eds.) IPMU 2010. CCIS, vol. 80, pp. 11–20. Springer, Heidelberg (2010). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-14055-6_2
- 14. Su, J.C.: Developing an early warning system for congestive heart failure using a Bayesian reasoning network. Doctoral dissertation, Massachusetts Institute of Technology (2001)
- Auble, T.E., Hsieh, M., Gardner, W., Cooper, G.F., Stone, R.A., McCausland, J.B., Yealy, D.M.: A prediction rule to identify low-risk patients with heart failure. Acad. Emerg. Med. 12(6), 514–521 (2005)
- Visweswaran, S., Angus, D.C., Hsieh, M., Weissfeld, L., Yealy, D., Cooper, G.F.: Learning patient-specific predictive models from clinical data. J. Biomed. Inform. 43(5), 669–685 (2010)
- Malan, D., Fulford-Jones, T., Welsh, M., Moulton, S.: CodeBlue: an ad hoc sensor network infrastructure for emergency medical care. In: MobiSys 2004 Workshop on Applications of Mobile Embedded Systems (WAMES 2004), Boston, MA, June 2004, pp. 12–14 (2004)
- Ko, J., Lim, J.H., Chen, Y., Musvaloiu-E, R., Terzis, A., Masson, G.M., Gao, T., Destler, W., Selavo, L., Dutton, R.P.: MEDiSN: medical emergency detection in sensor networks. ACM Trans. Embed. Comput. Syst. 10(1), 1–29 (2010)
- Suh, M.K., Evangelista, L.S., Chen, C.A., Han, K., Kang, J., Tu, M.K., Chen, V., Nahapetian, A., Sarrafzadeh, M.: An automated vital sign monitoring system for congestive heart failure patients. In: 1st ACM International Health Informatics Symposium, pp. 108– 117. ACM, New York (2010)
- Nashef, S.A., Roques, F., Sharples, L.D., Nilsson, J., Smith, C., Goldstone, A.R., Lockowandt, U.: EuroSCORE II. Eur. J. Cardiothorac. Surg. 41(3), 734–744 (2012)
- Lappa, A., Goumopoulos C.: A home-based early risk detection system for congestive heart failure using a Bayesian reasoning network. In: 3rd International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health, pp. 58–69. SCITEPRESS, Setúbal (2017)
- 22. Altman, D.G.: Practical Statistics for Medical Research. CRC Press, London (1990)
- 23. Dale, D.: Rapid Interpretation of EKG's: An Interactive Course. Cover Publishing Company, Tampa (2000)
- 24. Braunwald, E., Bristow, M.R.: Congestive heart failure: fifty years of progress. Circulation **102**(4), 4–23 (2000)
- Long, W.J., Fraser, H., Naimi, S.: Reasoning requirements for diagnosis of heart disease. Artif. Intell. Med. 10(1), 5–24 (1997)
- He, J., Ogden, L.G., Bazzano, L.A., Vupputuri, S., Loria, C., Whelton, P.K.: Risk factors for congestive heart failure in US men and women: NHANES I epidemiologic follow-up study. Arch. Intern. Med. 161(7), 996–1002 (2001)
- 27. Darwiche, A.: Modeling and Reasoning with Bayesian Networks. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2009)
- Haider, A.W., Larson, M.G., Franklin, S.S., Levy, D.: Systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, and pulse pressure as predictors of risk for congestive heart failure in the Framingham Heart Study. Ann. Intern. Med. 138(1), 10–16 (2003)

- 29. Onisko, A., Druzdzel, M.J., Wasyluk, H.: Learning Bayesian network parameters from small data sets: application of noisy-OR gates. Int. J. Approx. Reason. 27, 165–182 (2001)
- Pan, J., Tompkins, W.J.: A real-time QRS detection algorithm. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 3, 230–236 (1985)
- Kutschke, M.: Jayes: Bayesian network library (2013). https://github.com/kutschkem/Jayes. Accessed Aug 15 2017
- 32. EuroSCORE calculator. http://www.euroscore.org/calc.html
- Pitchforth, J., Mengersen, K.: A proposed validation framework for expert elicited Bayesian networks. Expert Syst. Appl. 40(1), 162–167 (2013)



ICT-Supported Interventions Targeting Pre-frailty: Healthcare Recommendations from the Personalised ICT Supported Service for Independent Living and Active Ageing (PERSSILAA) Study

Rónán O'Caoimh^{1,2,3(\Box)}, D. William Molloy^{1,2}, Carol Fitzgerald¹, Lex Van Velsen^{4,5}, Miriam Cabrita^{4,5}, Mohammad Hossein Nassabi⁵, Frederiek de Vette⁵, Marit Dekker van Weering⁴, Stephanie Jansen-Kosterink⁴, Wander Kenter⁴, Sanne Frazer⁴, Amélia P. Rauter⁶, Antónia Turkman⁶, Marília Antunes⁶, Feridun Turkman⁶, Marta S. Silva⁶, Alice Martins⁶, Helena S. Costa^{7,8}, Tânia Gonçalves Albuquerque^{7,8}, António Ferreira⁶, Mario Scherillo⁹, Vincenzo De Luca¹⁰ Pasquale Abete¹⁰, Annamaria Colao¹⁰, Alejandro García-Rudolph¹¹, Rocío Sanchez-Carrion¹¹, Javier Solana Sánchez^{12,13}, Enrique J. Gomez Aguilera^{12,13}, Maddalena Illario^{10,14}, Hermie Hermens^{4,5}, and Miriam Vollenbroek-Hutten^{4,5} ¹ Centre for Gerontology and Rehabilitation, St. Finbarrs Hospital, University College Cork, Cork City, Ireland ronan.ocaoimh@nuigalway.ie, {w.molloy, carol.fitzgerald}@ucc.ie ² COLLaboration on AGEing, University College Cork, Cork City, Ireland ³ Health Research Board, Clinical Research Facility Galway, National University of Ireland, Galway, Ireland ⁴ Roessingh Research and Development, Enschede, The Netherlands {L. vanVelsen, m. dekker, S. Kosterink, W. Kenter, S. Frazer, H. Hermens }@rrd.nl ⁵ University of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands {m. cabrita, m. h. nassabi, a. f. a. devette, m.m.r.hutten}@utwente.nl ⁶ Fundação da Faculdade de Ciências da Universidade de Lisboa, Lisboa, Portugal {aprauter, maturkman, mcreis, kfturkman, mfsilva, aimartins, aeferreira }@fc.ul.pt ⁷ Instituto Nacional de Saúde Doutor Ricardo Jorge, IP, Lisboa, Portugal helena.costa@insa.min-saude.pt, tania.g.alb@gmail.com ⁸ REQUIMTE/LAQV, Faculdade de Farmácia da Universidade do Porto, Porto, Portugal ⁹ Nexera Spa, Napoli, Italy mscherillo@nexera.it

© Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 C. Röcker et al. (Eds.): ICT4AWE 2017, CCIS 869, pp. 69–92, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93644-4_4 ¹⁰ Federico II University Hospital, Napoli, Italy vinc. deluca@gmail.com, {p. abete, colao, illario}@unina.it, maddalena.illario@regione.campania.it
¹¹ Institut Guttmann, Institut Universitari de Neurorehabilitació adscrit a la UAB, Badalona, Barcelona, Spain alejandropablogarcia@gmail.com, rsanchezcarrion@guttmann.com
¹² Biomedical Engineering and Telemedicine Center, ETSI Telecomunicacion, Centre for Biomedical Technology, Universidad Politécnica de Madrid, Madrid, Spain {jsolana, egomez}@gbt.tfo.upm.es
¹³ Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red, Biomateriales y Nanomedicina (CIBER-BBN), Zaragoza, Spain

¹⁴ Campania Health Directorate Division for Health Innovation, Naples, Italy

Abstract. As society ages, healthcare systems are preparing for an increasing prevalence of frail, co-morbid and older community-dwellers at risk of adverse outcomes including falls, malnutrition, hospitalisation, institutionalisation and death. Early intervention is desirable and pre-frailty, before onset of functional decline, may represent a suitable transition stage to target, albeit evidence for reversibility and appropriate interventions are limited. No consensus on the definition, diagnosis or management of pre-frailty exists. This work describes 25 healthcare related findings from the recently completed PERsonalised ICT Supported Service for Independent Living and Active Ageing (PERSSILAA) project, funded under the 2013-2016 European Union Framework Programme 7 (grant #610359). PERSSILAA developed a comprehensive Information and Communication Technologies (ICT)-supported platform to screen, assess, intervene and then monitor community-dwellers in two regions (Enschede in the Netherlands and Campania in Italy) in order to address pre-frailty and promote active and healthy ageing, targeting three important pre-frailty subdomains: nutrition, cognition and physical function. Proposed definitions of pre-frailty, ICT-based approaches to screen and monitor for the onset of frailty and targeted management strategies employing technology across these domains are described. The potential of these 25 healthcare recommendations in the development of future European guidelines on the screening and prevention of frailty is explored.

Keywords: Pre-frailty · Frailty · Information and communication technology Healthcare recommendations · Guidelines

1 Introduction

Recent trends associated with demographic ageing have resulted in an increased prevalence of older adults, aged >65 years [1]. With this, health and social care providers and policy makers are recognising a higher prevalence of frailty in community-dwelling older adults [2]. Although no consensus definition of frailty is accepted, most consider it to be a multi-factorial, age-associated loss of physiological reserve

characterised by an increased vulnerability to stressors that results in a propensity for adverse healthcare outcomes [3–6]. Estimates of prevalence differ depending on the population studied, sampling strategy employed and frailty classification applied. Reflecting this, reported frailty rates for persons aged over 65 years varies from 6.9% or lower in large population-based studies [7] to as high as 75% in primary care crosssectional samples [8]. Data similarly vary by region with higher levels found in developing countries [9] compared with more developed nations [2].

The choice of frailty classification is also important with two main approaches commonly used to define frailty: the Frailty Phenotype [7] and the Frailty Index. Fried's Frailty Phenotype characterised by physical signs and symptoms suggesting frailty classifies individuals as frail if they meet three or more of the following five criteria: weight loss (>5% in last year), exhaustion, weakness (decreased grip strength), slow walking speed (>6 to 7 s for 15 feet), and decreased physical activity (males <383 kilocalories; females <270 kilocalories) [7]. Modified versions exist that deviate slightly from this initial description. The Frailty Index is characterised by an accumulation of deficits identified from a list of predefined variables that are used to create a proportion or decimal from 0 (no deficits) to 1 (maximum number of deficits present) [10]. Multiple indices are available with varying numbers of deficits. While complementary, they measure different constructs [11] with Fried's phenotype usually reporting lower prevalence rates [12]. A recent systematic review of the weighted prevalence of frailty from cross sectional data in community-based cohorts of older adults aged >65 estimated that the overall weighted prevalence was 10.7% [2]. In addition, many other factors impact upon the prevalence of frailty such as sex and socioeconomic status [13]. For example, 8.5% of women in the European Union (EU) aged between 65 and 74 years are frail compared with 4.1% of males [14]. Within the EU the prevalence of frailty in community-dwelling older adults aged over 65 years varies between studies with data suggesting that between 5.8% and 27.3% [15] are frail.

Pre-frailty, is a prodromal 'risk' state before the onset of frailty. However, no definition of pre-frailty is established or widely used. Instead, a cut-off score on a frailty screen or frailty assessment scale defines it as an intermediate level before the development of functional decline. For example, a score of one or two on the Fried's Frailty Phenotype denotes pre-frailty. The proportion of frail, older adults living in the community is variable depending on the sample and setting but can reach half [2]. Many more, up to 60% of those aged over 65, can be classified as pre-frail [15], though again this depends on the approach used to categorise pre-frailty [16].

While the development of frailty is often considered permanent, evidence suggests it is a dynamic process with some patients converting from frail to pre-frail and even becoming robust again [17]. Despite this, once established, frailty is difficult to reverse [18] with less than 1% of persons considered frail becoming robust over five years [17]. Given that frailty is associated with an increased incidence of chronic medical conditions [19, 20], hospitalisation [21–23], readmission to hospital after discharge [24], higher healthcare costs [25], institutionalisation [3], and death [26], there is a need to promote active and healthy ageing and instigate measures to prevent frailty [6, 27–30].

From a practical perspective targeting pre-frailty is a reasonable approach, though at present there is insufficient evidence to support this [31]. Specifically, the use of multi-factorial interventions to screen, monitor and manage prodromal states related to

pre-frailty such as mild cognitive impairment [32-34], or reduced physical activity in the presence of sarcopenia [35, 36] appear most appropriate. Likewise, combinations of targeted, coordinated and preventative interventions delivered in the community can reduce adverse healthcare outcomes [37]. Recently, data from intervention studies targeting pre-frailty has shown the potential for using combined physical and nutritional interventions to delay or prevent onset of frailty, though compliance with the intervention can often be suboptimal or unclear [38]. While there is growing interest and uptake in the use of information and communications technology (ICT) by older adults, the presence of frailty affects these persons' ability to access and utilise technological devises [39]. Some limited data suggests that incorporating complex interventions such as physical exercise regimes into ICT devises may improve compliance and produce positive effects on quality of life [40]. The goal of using ICT to either prevent onset or progression of frailty is included in the action plan of the European Innovation Partnership on Active and Healthy Ageing [27] and centres around the construct of recognising functional decline manifest by impairment in activities of daily living (ADL), an older person-important outcome.

As few studies have used frailty as an outcome measure [41], the overarching aim of PERsonalised ICT Supported Services for Independent Living and Active Ageing (PERSSILAA) was to examine whether frailty can be prevented and whether an ICT-based intervention designed to target pre-frail community dwelling older people can delay onset of frailty and functional decline. Specifically, although some data on individual or combined interventions exists, no study has examined the use of a multi-domain, ICT supported platform targeting pre-frailty in its ability (utility and feasibility) to prevent functional decline and subsequent onset of frailty. Similarly, while several national and international Geriatric and Gerontological societies provide best practice recommendations for addressing frailty [6, 42], given the paucity of studies, no guidelines exist for the management of pre-frailty.

2 Overview of the PERSSILAA Project

The PERSSILAA project was funded under the European Commissions' Framework Programme 7 between 2013 and 2016, (see grant number 610359). It consisted of a consortium of eight partners from five EU countries from across the medical, social and technological sciences as well as including partners from industry, academia and enduser organisations. The primary objective of PERSSILAA was to develop an ICTbased platform to identify and manage older community dwellers at risk of functional decline and frailty (i.e. pre-frail older adults) to determine if such an intervention could influence frailty trajectories. This multimodal service model focuses on three core frailty domains, specifically nutrition, cognition and physical function. Supported by an interoperable ICT service infrastructure, PERSSILAA uses an intelligent decisionsupport system and gamification strategies to encourage end-users to engage with the platform. PERSSILAA was designed specifically for older community dwellers aged over 65 who as part of the project were (1) screened by a trained rater or were selfassessed to identify and stratify them according to their frailty status, (2) triaged or stratified to the appropriate ICT-based solution to meet their needs (targeting one, more or all three frailty domains), (3) monitored (unobtrusively) to identify their trajectory of ageing and (4) managed with ICT supported services through local accessible community structures.

The design of the study is described in more detail elsewhere and below but in summary, an 'ideal' service model was developed and refined through a series of meetings with older adults taking a participatory design and iterative approach [43]. An important outcome of this initial work was the need to offer multi-modal screening, stratification and management strategies to older patients, as they are a heterogeneous group with different skills and expectations [43]. The need for education, particularly with respect to ICT skills was highlighted, as was the need for older adults themselves to direct their own management and for participants' primary care physicians to be informed without creating additional burden (i.e. integrating the process and results).

Thus, the PERSSILAA screening and intervention modules consisted of both face to face and remote (postal and online ICT) components. Suitable participants identified in one of the two evaluation sites, Enschede in the Netherlands and Campania in Italy, were screened for frailty using a two-step screening process. Initially a brief pre-screen (conducted by post, online or in person) was performed. This was followed by a more detailed assessment in person to confirm their status for individuals screening positive for pre-frailty (i.e. the target group). In Enschede, older adults aged 65–75 recruited through primary care, selected by their family doctor were recruited. In Campania, older adults aged over 65 were recruited through local church communities, selected by the Naples Curia Diocesana. Once identified as pre-frail, PERSSILAA services targeted specific trainings modules for both health and ICT (ehealth) literacy and where appropriate, based on the screening and triage component, were used to provide physical training, cognitive training (Guttmann NeuroPersonalTrainer®) and nutritional advice (NUTRIAGEINGTM website) to participants. PERSSILAA services were designed to be accessible and thus were offered in multiple formats i.e. in person or online via personal or tablet computers, so older adults could use them with supervision or independently. To enhance the user experience and encourage compliance, in addition to a standard version, a gamified version was also developed, which while designed to be fun and interactive, encouraged on-going participation, also known as 'serious gaming'. For example, in one version older adults were encouraged to build a boat to escape from a virtual island but could only gather the pieces required if they used the trainings modules. Gamification is shown to encourage older people to use telemedicine [44], generate more engaging assessment strategies, [45] and can be used to promote and motivate behaviour to support lifestyle change [46]. The project also investigated the degree to which the PERSSILAA platform was acceptable, efficacious and ultimately effective to real world users in a real world setting, in preventing onset of frailty among pre-frail older adults. As this was an evaluation rather than a validation study, the priority was to show acceptability and proof of concept. PERSSILAA services were studied in two different populations of older people in two of the partner countries, Italy and the Netherlands. To maximise the results two different evaluation studies were performed. In Campania, a prospective cohort study was conducted to examine the uptake, acceptability and usability of the platform among older Italians. In Enschede, a multiple cohort randomised controlled trial (mcRCT) design was applied and 82 participants in the Netherlands were recruited, of whom half (n = 46) received

the intervention. Cost effectiveness was assessed with the Monitoring and Assessment Framework for the European Innovation Partnership on Active and Healthy Ageing (EIP on AHA) tool [47]. The project was funded to last for three years. All participants provided informed consent prior to being included and then assessed at baseline, scheduled intervals and the end point. Additional details including a full list of publications can be found at: www.perssilaa.eu.

3 Recommendations from the PERSSILAA Project

The main results of the project were subdivided and examined by topic to provide recommendations on addressing frailty and functional decline through the identification and targeting of pre-frailty. Results were grouped to be of interest to a broad interdisciplinary audience and developed by the consortium as a whole, led by individual partners according to their area of expertise. These were broadly categorised into three themes: (a) Healthcare related recommendations, (b) ICT related recommendations and (c) Organisational (institutional) recommendations. This work reviews and summarises the healthcare specific findings derived from the project. To compile these, partners were tasked according to their relevant specialty to develop related recommendations within each theme. The results presented here describe the clinically (healthcare) relevant outcomes of the study that could be used to contribute to the development of guidelines for the screening of and prevention of frailty in older EU citizens.

3.1 Definition of Pre-frailty

Although pre-frailty is usually identified as a prodromal state before frailty and subsequent functional decline develop, no clear definition of pre-frailty exists. As part of the project the investigators performed a narrative, state of the art literature review to examine existing definitions of frailty and pre-frailty. As with frailty, no consensus definition was found. Instead, pre-frailty is most often characterised by reference to frailty and classified as a transitional stage on the trajectory from full independence (robust state) to increasing functional dependence (frailty). Pre-frailty, like frailty is measured by several short-screening instruments but is defined by a cut off score below that for frailty. For example, pre-frailty is present when one or two of the Fried frailty phenotype characteristics are present. It is proposed that identifying this prodromal phase at an early stage will allow the introduction of measures to prevent onset of frailty [28]. In order to select a sample, the PERSSILAA investigators adopted a definition of pre-frailty consistent with the goals of the project. After reviewing several possible definitions, a multi-domain definition targeting the key frailty domains. Given that many of the consortium were also member of the EIP on AHA A3 Action Group on frailty prevention, the definition of pre-frailty used in PERSSILAA was based on an adapted version of the A3 groups' definition of frailty [48]. This definition describes pre-frail older adults as those at an increased risk of poor clinical outcomes, such as the development of disability, dementia, falls, hospitalisation, institutionalisation or increased mortality where one or more pre-frailty states (e.g. mild cognitive

impairment, sarcopenia, physical and functional impairment, dysthymia and social isolation) is evident.

Recommendation: *Pre-frailty should be considered a multi-domain, multi-factorial syndrome.*

Recommendation: The EIP on AHA definition of frailty could be adapted to define pre-frailty.

Recommendation: The EIP on AHA A3 action group are ideally placed to take the lead in developing a definition of pre-frailty to support and stimulate debate on a consensus definition of this important prodromal condition and emerging public health priority.

3.2 Screening for Pre-frailty

Multiple short screening instruments to identify frailty are currently available and in use in clinical practice [49]. Despite this, no single instrument is currently recommended, likely relating to differences in approaches to identify frailty syndromes [6]. Further, only a few instruments are able to accurately differentiate pre-frailty from frailty. PERSSILAA was predicated on a two-step screening and assessment strategy in an attempt to correctly categorise participants as pre-frail (i.e. the target condition). This was modified during the project where redundancy was identified. Screening followed by more comprehensive assessment is recommended given the expected high prevalence of pre-frailty in community samples, the relative high sensitivity but low specificity of the screening instruments and the resources required to screen in this setting [50]. Instruments were selected following a literature review. Thus, the two stage selection process involved (1) the screening of people >65 years by trained volunteers/self-screening by email or postal questionnaire to exclude robust subjects and those with established frailty and (2) a face to face assessment by trained multidisciplinary staff of those classified as pre-frail in order to confirm if they were pre-frail. Each domain included in PERSSILAA was screened using this approach.

The screening and assessment instruments used at each stage are presented in Fig. 1. During the first iteration (the first round) the scales were rationalised producing a more streamlined final version. Screening began in 2014. In overview, the first step divided participants into robust, pre-frail and frail using a 'global' frailty scale combined with individual measures of nutrition, cognition and physical function. The Groningen Frailty Indicator (GFI), a 15-point yes-no questionnaire exploring physical, cognitive, social and psychological components of frailty was used as a global measure, using a cut-off of $\geq 4/15$ for moderate-severe frailty [51]. The INTERMED was initially trialled but did not provide sufficient additional information to justify its inclusion. Instead, the GFI was used alone in the final version given that it is shorter and already validated in all the languages of the project. Participants were further screened using instruments specific to the selected pre-frailty domains using stage specific cut off scores. The final instruments selected were the Mini-Nutritional Assessment (MNA) short form to identify nutritional deficits, the 8-item Alzheimer's disease 8 questionnaire (AD8) for cognitive deficits and the Short-form 36 questionnaire (SF-36) to screen for physical impairment. The KATZ activities of daily living (ADL) scale and the Quick Memory Check (QMC), initially trialled during the first iteration were

considered to be too impractical for self-screening. In the second step (face-to-face assessment), older adults were evaluated to confirm if they were pre-frail. Nutritional deficits were identified with the remainder of the MNA (G-R), cognitive impairment with the Quick Mild Cognitive Impairment (Qmci) screen [52–59] using age and education adjusted cut-offs [60], and physical function using the short physical performance battery (using the Timed Up-and-Go Test, the Two-Minute Step Test, the Chair-Stand Test, and Chair-Sit-and-Reach Test).



Fig. 1. Two-step screening protocol for the PERSSILAA project showing the first and final version of the first screening step [61].

The results showed that the PERSSILAA screening service with the addition of demographic data is useful in quickly and accurately classifying older community dwellers as robust, pre-frail or frail. In all, 4071 participants were screened. The majority of these participants (n = 2,438) were classified as robust (60%). An additional, 916 (23%) were characterised as having a high probability of being pre-frail and were thus suitable for further assessment (step two). There were no significant differences in age though frail patients were more likely to be female. The baseline characteristics of patients are presented in Table 1, below.

The face to face assessment (second step) confirmed that of those screening positive for pre-frailty, that 90% were pre-frail. Logistic regression showed that those screening positive were truly pre-frail and showed that the first-step screening process had an overall good to excellent accuracy (area under the curve of 0.87 with a moderate to high sensitivity (77%) and specificity (84%). Analysis of the face to face assessment showed good agreement among the classifications of pre-frail and robust individuals. These results suggest that the two-step screening and assessment approach developed for PERSILLAA was able to correctly categorise pre-frail community-dwelling older adults.

Statistical assessment of accuracy using receiver operating characteristic curve analysis showed that the MNA (assessing nutrition) was the most accurate individual

Variable	Robust	Pre-frail	Frail	Total
Number of participants	2438	916	717	4071
Age (\pm standard deviation)	69.71 ± 4.18	70.44 ± 4.71	70.82 ± 5.97	70.06 ± 4.63
Gender (% female)	48%	56%	61%	52%
Groningen frailty indicator (\pm standard deviation)	0.97 ± 1.08	2.49 ± 1.36	6.35 ± 1.56	2.24 ± 2.33
Alzheimer's disease 8 questionnaire $(\pm \text{ standard deviation})$	0.19 ± 0.39	1.03 ± 1.28	1.86 ± 1.91	0.66 ± 1.22
Short-form 36 questionnaire for physical impairment (\pm standard deviation)	91.57 ± 9.89	65.33 ± 26.36	54.88 ± 29.86	79.21 ± 24.71
Mini-nutritional assessment – short form score (\pm standard deviation)	11.71 ± 1.04	10.36 ± 1.66	9.52 ± 2.53	10.70 ± 1.67

Table 1. Characteristics of participants included in baseline screening by frailty classification.

predictor of pre-frailty with an area under the curve of 0.80, indicating good accuracy, supporting the known important role nutrition plays in the development of frailty [62].

Recommendation: Multiple pre-frailty sub-domains should be addressed when screening for and assessing pre-frailty among older adults and should include cognitive, physical, nutritional, social and other domains.

Recommendation: More research is required in this area and future studies should capture multiple pre-frailty domains along with global measures of frailty.

Recommendation: A two-step screening and assessment approach is an acceptable and accurate means to identify pre-frailty in a community setting, though more research is needed to confirm this.

3.3 ICT Training Modules to Manage Pre-frailty

Three training modules were developed during the project, one for each of the threedomains targeted: (a) nutrition, (b) cognition and (c) physical function. This section outlines how each module was developed, the results of their implementation, the conclusions drawn by the PERSSILAA researchers and the recommendations made. This section also examines the importance of health literacy, which impacts on patient satisfaction and healthcare utilisation and costs among older adults [63]. It also includes a preliminary analysis of the effects of the training platform on participant's quality of life.

Nutrition Training Module

Nutrition is central in the development of frailty [62] and is especially important for older adults. Ageing is associated with increased risk of becoming malnourished [64] or undernourished i.e. at risk of malnutrition [65]. Although data varies considerably by setting and sample surveyed, it is estimated that between 10–35% of community

dwelling older adults are at risk with prevalence rates in acute hospitals approaching 45% [66]. Up to 65% of residents in long-term care are reported to be at risk of malnutrition [67]. The cause is often inappropriate food consumption [68], manifest by a gap between actual nutrient consumption and recommended dietary intake. Education on healthy eating and nutrition is therefore crucial to provide adequate and reliable information to consumers and healthcare providers to promote healthy diets in all settings. The NUTRIAGEING website (http://nutriageing.fc.ul.pt/) is an easy-to-use, "app-like" interface designed to promote and translate scientific knowledge into usable person-centred nutritional advice for the general public. It's three areas are: (1) Healthy eating, (2) Recipes and videos, and (3) Vegetable gardens. The "Recipes and videos" subsection includes 15 videos of recipes developed by the Portuguese Chef Hélio Loureiro. The functionality of the website was tested with 45 older adults and their carers in two day care centres in Portugal. In feedback sessions most participants rated the site as excellent. Take home messages included the need to make websites connecting science and public health such as the NUTRIAGEINGTM website: (1) easy to use, (2) evidence-based and (3) readily accessible (appealing and enjoyable format) to encourage access and learning.

Recommendation: Nutritional education, required to promote healthier eating habits among the general population and in particular pre-frail older adults, can be delivered successfully online.

Recommendation: Educating caregivers on the benefits of nutrition using ICT-supported platforms such as the NUTRIAGEINGTM website is important and may benefit older adults directly – more research is required to confirm this.

Recommendation: Educating cooks and professionals involved in food preparation on the benefits of healthy foods and nutrition using ICT supported platforms such as the NUTRIAGEINGTM website is important and may benefit older adults directly – again, research is required to confirm this.

Recommendation: *ICT platforms, if user friendly and intuitively designed, can support wider public health goals by providing the general population including older adults but also healthcare professionals with reliable information and easy-to-use tools, which may increase their knowledge of nutrition and healthy eating.*

Cognition Training Module

Demographic ageing is associated with an increased prevalence of cognitive impairment including mild cognitive impairment (i.e. subjective and objective cognitive deficits without impairment in ADL function) [69] and dementia (i.e. subjective and objective cognitive deficits with a clear impact upon ADL function) [70]. Recent data suggests that the incidence [71] and prevalence [72, 73] of dementia is reducing in developed countries, likely in response to higher levels of education and other socioeconomic factors such as diet and exercise which have improved cardiovascular and cerebrovascular health over recent generations [74]. Cognitive brain training has also been postulated to slow progression from prodromal stages of cognitive impairment to more advanced stages [75]. Further, studies examining multi-domain interventions directed to at risk population's show that cognitive stimulation combined with lifestyle modification (diet and exercise) and focused cardiovascular risk-factor management can reduce progression to dementia [33]. In PERSSILAA the mean AD8 score for the total sample of 4,071 participants screened at baseline was 0.66 ± 1.22 compared to 1.03 ± 1.28 for pre-frail older adults, (See Table 1). Frail participants approached a score of two or greater on this screen suggesting that these were more likely to screen positive for cognitive impairment [76], albeit the specificity of the AD8 at this cut-off is low [77]. The mean Qmci screen score of pre-frail participants, providing more detailed evaluation of specific cognitive domains at the face to face assessment, was $64.5/100 \pm 11.32$, within the accepted range of cut-off scores for separating mild cognitive impairment from normal cognition: between 64 and 70/100 [60] suggesting that many of these participants were manifesting early evidence of cognitive deficits in keeping with cognitive pre-frailty. The median and interquartile range of Qmci screen scores are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Distribution of Quick Mild Cognitive Impairment (Qmci) screen scores including maximum score, median and interquartile range for pre-frail older adults including in second level assessment.

Subtest	Max score	Median	Interquartile range (Q3–Q1) = \pm
Orientation	10	10	$(10 - 10) \pm 0$
Registration	5	5	$(5-5) \pm 0$
Clock drawing	15	15	$(15 - 15) \pm 0$
Delayed recall	20	12	$(16 - 12) \pm 4$
Verbal fluency	20	8	$(11-5) \pm 8$
Logical memory	30	16	$(18 - 12) \pm 6$
Total Qmci screen score	100	65	$(72 - 58) \pm 14$

During the course of the evaluation, pre-frail older adults were asked to complete the cognitive training modules over a period of 12 weeks, 3 times per week with each session lasting for an hour. The cognitive training tasks were selected from the Guttmann NeuroPersonalTrainer® and incorporated into the platform in two blocks: the first group (Block 1) were assessment-oriented tasks and the second group (Block 2) training-oriented tasks. Block 1 was composed of 10 different tasks, Block 2, 25 tasks. Both sets of tasks addressed the primary cognitive functions related to ADL. At the completion of each session, users received a score from 0 to a maximum of 100 points. The therapeutic range was set between 65%-85% of peak performance and difficulty levels were adjusted according to individual performance. Cognitive training was trialled in both evaluation sites. In Enschede (Netherlands) 18 older adults participated individually completing a total of 893 tasks during 107 sessions. In Campania (Italy) 53 participated in 15 collective (group) sessions: a total of 223 individual log in's to the trainer. Usability testing showed that most participants who were evaluated, eight participants in the Netherlands and ten in Italy, were satisfied. The average satisfaction score across the two sites using the system usability scale (SUS), a subjective 10-item Likert scale measuring usability [78], was 64/100 supporting the usability of the cognitive training module. Interview sessions were also completed with users who provided additional information on the format of the NeuroPersonalTrainer®. Based upon these results the following recommendations were made:

Recommendation: Cognitive training tasks for use with pre-frail older adults should be easy to understand and use. Important information should be provided in a large, conspicuous, non-crowded format in the person's central visual field.

Recommendation: The visual display on cognitive training devices for pre-frail older adults should be simple; avoiding distracting visual stimuli (such as elaborate backgrounds and flashing or flickering lights) unless they are used judiciously to signal a specific required action or function.

Recommendation: Clear instructions should be provided to pre-frail older adults before each cognitive training task, particularly where additional effort is required on behalf of the end user (e.g. sustained attention tasks).

Recommendation: Immediate feedback should always be provided to pre-frail older adults after completing individual cognitive training activities. Aggregated information should also be provided to show trends or evolution in performance over time.

Recommendation: The difficulty of cognitive training tasks for pre-frail older adults should be tailored to each individual's level based upon normative data for these tasks.

Recommendation: Cognitive training modules for pre-frail older people should be adapted to mobile/smart technologies and devices. Engagement with training should be encouraged with techniques such as gamification or through the use of group work (either remotely or at centralised locations).

Recommendation: Fields that represent pre-frail older adults' interests or hobbies should be used throughout cognitive tasks (in the form of images, texts, words etc.) to personalise the experience for older adults.

Physical Training Module

Frailty and pre-frailty are associated with a defined frailty phenotype characterised by Fried's criteria which includes symptoms of weakness, exhaustion, reduced physical activity and slow walking speed [7]. Frailty is also associated with prodromal disease states such as sarcopenia, osteopenia and osteoporosis that contribute and exacerbate the impact of frailty related adverse outcomes such as falls and hip fractures [79]. Identifying early physical decline is therefore important to initiate interventions to prevent these events. Regular physical activity, particularly resistance exercises can slow the development of frailty [80]. Data also suggests that exercise interventions can improve ADL function among frail older adults and delay progression of functional impairment or disability, though which particular interventions offer the most benefit is unclear [81]. The Otago Exercise Programme (OEP), an established, validated, costeffective home-based tailored falls prevention programme [82], reduces the risk of falls and mortality among older community dwellers [83], though it is unknown whether it can be used remotely by pre-frail older patients. A technology-supported selfmanagement, physical training module platform, based on the OEP, was developed for use on the PERSSILAA platform, structured around an existing system called the Condition Coach (CoCo) [84], containing advice and instructional videos, which were adapted for use with pre-frail older adults through an iterative design approach [85]. Participants using the physical training module were asked to log in and train online three times a week over three months. Data showed that there were high levels of compliance and tolerance with the programme. Of the participants finishing the complete protocol (i.e. 12 weeks of training), the majority continued using the service for up to one year. High levels of satisfaction were reported, an average score of 84/100 on the SUS. In the mcRCT average Chair Stand Test and Two minutes step test scores increased for those using the physical training model compared to controls, though this did not reach statistical significance.

Recommendation: Strategies to motivate pre-frail older adults to begin and to continue using physical training modules on ICT supported platforms should be included as part of the implementation process.

Recommendation: A 'home' online physical training module provided on an ICT supported platform is feasible for pre-frail older adults, though professional support seems useful and should be provided as back up.

Recommendation: The provision of physical training modules on ICT supported platforms to pre-frail older adults, at risk of frailty or functional decline may enable them to improve their physical fitness, though more evidence is required.

Health and ICT Literacy

Older adults now represent the fastest growing section of society [1] and are biggest users of healthcare. Despite this, insufficient attention is paid to their understanding of health literature and few measures have been put in place to improve this [86]. PERSSILAA identified this as one of the biggest challenges in introducing ICT-supported screening, triage and management strategies. It is known that simple measures can rapidly improve older person's understanding [87] and this is also applicable to eHealth literacy skills [88]. To overcome these difficulties, health and ICT literacy programmes were developed in Italy, utilising a 'Train the Trainer' approach with healthcare professionals and local volunteers teaching older adults as part of the PERSSILAA response. In total, 2,560 older adults attended ICT training, with a median of 14 people attending per lesson. Feedback was excellent with older adults reporting that they would not have been able to interact with the training and monitoring modules without it (see Sect. 3.5).

3.4 Effects on Quality of Life

Frailty [89] and its subdomains including nutritional and physical impairment are associated with reduced quality of life in older adults [90, 91]. As part of the planning for the PERSSILAA project a survey conducted with participants suggested preexisting high levels of loneliness and depressive symptoms. In all, 73% reported feeling empty and 74% mow mood or depressive symptoms. To explore this further, the European Quality of Life–5 Dimensions questionnaire (Euroqol EQ-5D), scored from 0 (worst imaginable health state) to 100 (best imaginable health state), was used to measure the effects of the PERSSILAA training modules on participants' quality of life. This was also included to facilitate an economic analysis of the cost effectiveness of the project. The EQ-5D was measured at baseline and end-point for those participating in the mcRCT. The final mean score increased compared with the initial assessment by a mean of 10 points suggesting that those using PERSSILAA reported a higher quality of life after using the platform. The Short-Form 12 (SF-12), which includes both physical and mental domains taken from the more comprehensive SF-36 was used to measure perceived health. Higher scores were found on the Mental Component Survey of the SF-12 for those using PERSSILAA training services compared to the control group, suggesting that better mental health is associated with the use of the platform. Based on this, we concluded that participation with the project design improved perceived quality of life. This would be expected given that several components of the PERSSILAA training modules such as exercise [92] and nutrition [93] are known to improve participant motivation, mood and quality of life.

Recommendation: Engaging in online multi-domain training modules to manage pre-frailty may improve the perceived quality of life of older adults.

3.5 Monitoring for the Development of Frailty – Frailty Transitions

Frailty is increasingly being recognised as a dynamic syndrome where individuals may transition through different trajectories from frail to pre-frail or robust [17]. The evidence however suggests that this is usually unidirectional with few older adults transitioning from frail to pre-frail or robust when followed in longitudinal studies [17]. However, these have been limited by the type of data available, which relies on face to face assessment. While technology can provide unobtrusive monitoring, it may also distract end-users and lead to 'attention theft', necessitating a more non-invasive approach in the home environment, particularly when daily activities are being measured [94]. Further, while useful with younger adults, it is unclear if such models are applicable to pre-frail or frail older participants. While older adults do engage with ICT, its uptake is low [95]. Further, it is challenging to combine all the information collected in a meaningful way in order to obtain an overview of the everyday functioning of prefrail older adults. Different approaches to monitoring were used in PERSSILAA to overcome these challenges depending on the pre-frailty domain assessed. To facilitate monitoring, software was provided on the portal, and on mobile and home sensing devices. All data were collected automatically and uploaded into the PERSSILAA database for analysis. The following approach was taken: transitions between different frailty states (robust, pre-frail and frail) were examined using the GFI data at baseline and end-point. Nutrition was monitored using two questionnaires to evaluate eating habits: the 24-h dietary recall and an additional 'general' questionnaire developed by the PERSSILAA investigators. To supplement this, a 'smart scale' (weighing scale connected wirelessly to a computer application) was used to monitor participant's weight on a daily basis. For cognition a shorter version of the full Guttmann NeuroPersonalTrainer[®] was developed to enable monitoring of cognitive function over time in short sessions of less than 15 min comparing each score with baseline and the previous results. For physical function a step counter was chosen to monitor daily physical activity and obtain an overview of physical functioning, all collected by means of a smartphone application. Wellbeing was also measured daily using a smartphone application recorded. The acceptability of the monitoring module was evaluated through semi-structured interviews and by measuring how frequently the technology was used over one month of follow-up.

In all, 169 participants had completed the GFI at baseline and end-point, of whom 78% remained robust, while half remained stable: pre-frail or frail. One quarter transitioned from frail to pre-frail and from pre-frail to robust. One fifth converted from

pre-frailty to established frailty (See Fig. 2). The proportion transitioning is higher than that reported previously and likely represents differences in the way that data is collected and a shorter period of follow-up. There was no statistically significant difference in overall 'global' frailty status as measured by the GFI between those included in the mcRCT as cases utilising the PERSSILAA training modules and pre-frail controls, p > 0.05. In addition, 12 participants took part in the monitoring feasibility sub-study. Each completed a survey at baseline to understand their usual self-reported familiarity and ease with using ICT. These were then followed for one month with daily weights ('smart scale') and a pedometer to assess fluctuations in weight and physical activity. Overall, the compliance of participants was modest suggesting that ICT monitoring devices should be carefully designed to meet their requirements. Most participants stated that they understood the importance of a healthy diet and physical exercise for their overall health.



Fig. 2. Frailty transitions (n = 169) for participants with baseline and end-point Groningen Frailty Indicator scores between 2014–16 [61].

It was also found that most participants enjoyed the 'brain training' games but preferred not to be confronted or compared with the results of peers. Overall, the results of the continuous ICT monitoring showed mixed results and showed that while open to new technology to improve their health, it must meet their needs and expectations. Thus, further research is required to examine the benefits of continuous monitoring. Striking the balance between non-invasive monitoring that is non-obtrusive and avoids 'attention theft' and more obvious strategies that increase awareness and encourage use of ICT are needed to gain wider acceptance among this target group.

Recommendation: There is likely to be no 'one-size-fits-all' approach to monitoring older community dwellers for pre-frailty. However, ICT training is required for older adults in order for them to engage with monitoring, particularly where end-user feedback is required.

Recommendation: Monitoring of everyday function must be complemented by meaningful (older adult-specific) information to support the adoption of healthier behaviours.

Recommendation: Technology to support the prevention of functional decline must go beyond the disease oriented-perspective and focus, instead, on strategies to maintain independence in daily activities.

Recommendation: When remotely monitoring older adults' health (pre-frailty) status using ICT technologies, systems should provide feedback on the data collected.

4 Conclusions

This work describes the healthcare findings of the three-year, FP7-funded, PERSSI-LAA project, highlighting the potential of a multi-domain, ICT-based service module employing gamification techniques in targeting pre-frail older adults living in the community at risk of becoming frail and developing functional decline. The results of the project are discussed in terms of the healthcare recommendations that can be drawn from the project that could be used to support the development of European guidelines on managing pre-frailty. This is much needed as frailty represents an important emerging public health challenge for the EU [96]. To date, interventions have been predominantly reactionary in response to manifest frailty or confined to limited evidence-based, clinical approaches to manage frailty including exercise training and nutritional supplementation [97]. Giving the increasing numbers of older adults in the EU [1], there is now recognition that preventative approaches are urgently required [96] and interest has focused on the ability of technology to support early detection and monitoring of those at greatest risk [43].

The results of PERSSILAA demonstrate both the acceptability and feasibility of deploying an integrated ICT-based platform for use by with older adults, who traditionally find the use of such technology difficult [98], especially where they have coexisting physical or cognitive impairment [99, 100]. As far as we are aware, this is the first study to examine the experience of using ICT among older, pre-frail, community dwellers. The results show that these rated all three training modules (nutritional, cognitive and physical) high for usability. Further, results were consistent for the two disparate populations sampled: older Dutch community-dwelling adults attending general practice (their family doctor) and older Italians living in communities centred on their local church. Although only older Portuguese individuals assessed the NUTRIAGEINGTM website, it unlikely that their views differ considerably from the other participants in Italy or the Netherlands.

In total, PERSSILAA screened over four thousand community-dwellers and showed the feasibility of employing multi-modal screening approaches including postal and online questionnaires and targeted approaches through primary care to identify suitable participants in such studies. The screening approach using validated short frailty and domain-specific instruments shows the potential of and necessity for a two-step screening and assessment approach in order to identify suitable participants. This was important and is consistent with evidence that two-step screening is preferable [50]. It also supports evidence that primary care is a suitable target to identify community-dwellers at risk of developing frailty and an appropriate location for the implementation of such approaches [101]. The study demonstrated clear frailty transitions over the course of the project with only small numbers (2%) transitioning from

robust to frail during follow-up. Reversibility was also seen with one quarter of frail and pre-frail individuals transitioning to a lower frailty status.

eHealth interventions offer the option for older people to assess both information and therapeutic strategies while networking with peers and healthcare professionals [102]. Despite this, few studies have incorporated eHealth literacy interventions into studies evaluating health outcomes. Another important result from PERSSILAA is that health literacy and ICT (eHealth) literacy are useful in supporting older people to access such services. Older Italians taking part in PERSSILAA felt they benefited most from the social environment created by the classrooms provided. In contrast to this, Dutch participants preferred to train alone and preferred not compare results with their peers. This likely reflects different cultural backgrounds and suggests that a one size fits all approach is unlikely to be successful when integrating ICT into the everyday lives of older Europeans to improve their health status. Gamification is now increasingly recognised as an important strategy to motivate behaviour change and has shown the potential to significantly increase adherence and improve healthcare outcomes [46]. PERSSILAA is also one of the first studies to study the effects of gamification [43] on older adults and how it may help engage them with ICT training modules.

The results also highlight many of the challenges and limitations of undertaking similar studies, particularly the difficulty of sampling an ill-defined population: prefrail, older adults, who while at risk for subsequent frailty and functional decline may not be aware of this or motivated enough to engage with screening processes. While, the two-stage process enhanced the screening pathway, it is possible that some participants may have been misclassified as no gold-standard independent assessment was performed e.g. by a consultant geriatrician. This is a recognised limitation of such work where the application of screening tests or frailty scales cannot be considered an equivalent [103]. However, several of the screens used have excellent sensitivity though relatively poor specificity meaning that a face-to-face assessment was required to ensure that participants were pre-frail. The results did suggest that this strategy had reasonable accuracy in correctly classifying participants. Another limitation of the project is that due to restricted resources not all those screening positive for pre-frailty had a repeat assessment at the end-point of the study and only a small number were monitored. This limited the ability of the study to demonstrate frailty transitions. Hence, during the evaluation period the results presented may not be representative of the true trajectory of frailty in this population. Such proportionally high (approx. 20%) transitions from one frailty state to another over a short period are in contrast with data presented elsewhere in larger samples over longer periods [17]. Therefore, it is likely that this reflects the limitations of the screening and assessment process itself, delivered both remotely and face-to-face using validated instruments. This said, PERSSILAA aimed to show the potential for self-screening or screening by lay persons, something that is likely to become more widely accepted as healthcare becomes more proactive and less reactive, stepping away from the traditional medical model. Another limitation is that only a small sample trialled the full platform, released in stages as it was developed, which meant that no significant impact upon GFI scores were seen. This limits the project to the development and evaluation of a service platform, which was the main focus of the research. Thus, as a proof of concept PERSSILAA shows the potential to use a multi-domain ICT-based platform with older, pre-frail adults.

In summary, this work presents an overview of 25 healthcare-related recommendations arising from the PERSSILAA project. The study provides the first practical guidance on how to develop and evaluate a novel ICT supported service to identify, assess, manage and then monitor pre-frailty to slow or prevent the emergence of established frailty and associated functional decline, showing the potential for an ICT platform targeting key pre-frailty domains: nutrition, cognition and physical function. The results of this evaluation are being analysed further and future research is being planned to validate the PERSSILAA platform with a suitably powered RCT to determine if ICT-supported services can prevent or delay onset of frailty and functional decline in pre-frail community-dwelling older adults.

Acknowledgements. The authors wish to thank all the PERSSILAA participants throughout the three years of the project. Specifically, the authors thank - all older adults who joined the project: for Italy this includes residents from the Confalone, Pilar, Rogazionisti and Santa Maria della Salute communities; for the Netherlands this includes those in the municipalities of Enschede, Hengelo, Tubbergen and Twenterand. The researchers would also like to acknowledge the not for profit organizations in Italy who collaborated (Progetto Alfa, Salute in Collina), the healthcare professionals from Campania (Local Health Agency Naples 1, CRIUV) and the health systems including General Practitioners who supported the project in the Netherlands.

References

- 1. Rechel, B., Grundy, E., Robine, J.M., Cylus, J., Mackenbach, J.P., Knai, C., et al.: Ageing in the European Union. Lancet **381**(9874), 1312–1322 (2013)
- Collard, R.M., Boter, H., Schoevers, R.A., Oude Voshaar, R.C.: Prevalence of frailty in community-dwelling older persons: a systematic review. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 60(8), 1487– 1492 (2012)
- Sternberg, S.A., Schwartz, A.W., Karunananthan, S., Bergman, H., Clarfield, A.M.: The identification of frailty: a systematic literature review. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 59, 2129–2138 (2011)
- Borges, L.L., Menezes, R.L.: Definitions and markers of frailty: a systematic review of literature. Rev. Clin. Gerontol. 21(1), 67–77 (2011)
- Rodríguez-Mañas, L., Féart, C., Mann, G., Viña, J., Chatterji, S., Chodzko-Zajko, W., Harmand, M.G., Bergman, H., Carcaillon, L., Nicholson, C., Scuteri, A.: Searching for an operational definition of frailty: a Delphi method based consensus statement. The frailty operative definition-consensus conference project. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 68(1), 62–67 (2013)
- Morley, J.E., Vellas, B., van Kan, G.A., et al.: Frailty consensus: a call to action. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 14, 392–397 (2013)
- Fried, L.P., Tangen, C.M., Walston, J., et al.: Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 56, 146–156 (2001)
- Olaroiu, M., Ghinescu, M., Naumov, V., Brinza, I., Heuvel, W.: The psychometric qualities of the Groningen frailty indicator in Romanian community-dwelling old citizens. Fam. Pract. 31(4), 490–495 (2014)

- At, J., Bryce, R., Prina, M., Acosta, D., Ferri, C.P., Guerra, M., Huang, Y., Rodriguez, J.J., Salas, A., Sosa, A.L., Williams, J.D., Dewey, M.E., Acosta, I., Liu, Z., Beard, J., Prince, M.: Frailty and the prediction of dependence and mortality in low- and middle-income countries: a 10/66 population-based cohort study. BMC Med. 13, 138 (2015)
- Rockwood, K., Song, X., MacKnight, C., et al.: A global clinical measure of fitness and frailty in elderly people. CMAJ 173(5), 489–495 (2005)
- Cesari, M., Gambassi, G., Abellan van Kan, G., Vellas, B.: The frailty phenotype and the frailty index: different instruments for different purposes. Age Ageing 43(1), 10–12 (2013)
- Blodgett, J., Theou, O., Kirkland, S., Andreou, P., Rockwood, K.: Frailty in NHANES: comparing the frailty index and phenotype. Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr. 60(3), 464–470 (2015)
- Harttgen, K., Kowal, P., Strulik, H., Chatterji, S., Vollmer, S.: Patterns of frailty in older adults: comparing results from higher and lower income countries using the Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe (SHARE) and the Study on Global AGEing and Adult Health (SAGE). PLoS ONE 8, e75847 (2013)
- Syddall, H., Roberts, H.C., Evandrou, M., Cooper, C., Bergman, H., Sayer, A.A.: Prevalence and correlates of frailty among community-dwelling older men and women: findings from the Hertfordshire Cohort Study. Age Ageing 39(2), 197–203 (2009)
- Santos-Eggimann, B., Cuenoud, P., Spagnoli, J., Junod, J.: Prevalence of frailty in middleaged and older community-dwelling Europeans living in 10 countries. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 64, 675–681 (2009)
- Roe, L., O'Halloran, A., Normand, C., Murphy, C.: The impact of frailty on public Health Nurse Service Utilisation: Findings from the Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing (TILDA) (2016)
- Gill, T.M., Gahbauer, E.A., Allore, H.G., Han, L.: Transitions between frailty states among community-living older persons. Arch. Intern. Med. 166(4), 418–423 (2006)
- Lang, P.O., Michel, J.P., Zekry, D.: Frailty syndrome: a transitional state in a dynamic process. Gerontology 55(5), 539–549 (2009)
- Gray, S.L., Anderson, M.L., Hubbard, R.A., LaCroix, A., Crane, P.K., McCormick, W., Bowen, J.D., McCurry, S.M., Larson, E.B.: Frailty and incident dementia. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 68(9), 1083–1090 (2013)
- Sergi, G., Veronese, N., Fontana, L., De Rui, M., Bolzetta, F., Zambon, S., Corti, M.C., Baggio, G., Toffanello, E.D., Crepaldi, G., Perissinotto, E.: Pre-frailty and risk of cardiovascular disease in elderly men and women: the Pro. VA study. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 65(10), 976–983 (2015)
- O'Caoimh, R., Healy, E., O'Connell, E., Gao, Y., Molloy, D.W.: The community assessment of risk tool, (CART): investigation of inter-rater reliability for a new instrument measuring risk of adverse outcomes in community dwelling older adults. Ir. J. Med. Sci. 181(S7), 227 (2012)
- O'Caoimh, R., Gao, Y., Svendrovski, A., Healy, E., O'Connell, E., O'Keeffe, G., Cronin, U., O'Herlihy, E., Cornally, N., Molloy, D.W.: Screening for markers of frailty and perceived risk of adverse outcomes using the Risk Instrument for Screening in the Community (RISC). BMC Geriatr. 14, 104 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-14-104
- O'Caoimh, R., Gao, Y., Svendrovski, A., Healy, E., O'Connell, E., O'Keeffe, G., Leahy-Warren, P., Cronin, U., O'Herlihy, E., Cornally, N., Molloy, D.W.: The risk instrument for screening in the community (RISC): a new instrument for predicting risk of adverse outcomes in community dwelling older adults. BMC Geriatr. 15, 92 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-015-0095-z

- Kahlon, S., Pederson, J., Majumdar, S.R., Belga, S., Lau, D., Fradette, M., Boyko, D., Bakal, J.A., Johnston, C., Padwal, R.S., McAlister, F.A.: Association between frailty and 30-day outcomes after discharge from hospital. Can. Med. Assoc. J. 187(11), 799–804 (2015)
- Robinson, T.N., Wu, D.S., Stiegmann, G.V., Moss, M.: Frailty predicts increased hospital and six-month healthcare cost following colorectal surgery in older adults. Am. J. Surg. 202 (5), 511–514 (2011)
- Song, X., Mitnitski, A., Rockwood, K.: Prevalence and 10-year outcomes of frailty in older adults in relation to deficit accumulation. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 58(4), 681–687 (2010)
- Bousquet, J., Michel, J.P., Strandberg, T., Crooks, D., Iakovidis, I., Iglesia, M.: The European innovation partnership on active and healthy ageing: the European geriatric medicine introduces the EIP on AHA column. Eur. Geriatr. Med. 5, 361–362 (2014)
- Fairhall, N., Kurrle, S.E., Sherrington, C., Lord, S.R., Lockwood, K., John, B., Monaghan, N., Howard, K., Cameron, I.D.: Effectiveness of a multifactorial intervention on preventing development of frailty in pre-frail older people: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open 5(2), e007091 (2015)
- O'Caoimh, R., Sweeney, C., Hynes, H., et al.: COLLaboration on AGEing COLLAGE: Ireland's three star reference site for the European Innovation Partnership on Active and Healthy Ageing (EIP on AHA). Eur. Geriatr. Med. 6, 505–511 (2015)
- Michel, J.P., Dreux, C., Vacheron, A.: Healthy ageing: evidence that improvement is possible at every age. Eur. Geriatr. Med. 7(4), 298–305 (2016)
- Frost, R., Belk, C., Jovicic, A., Ricciardi, F., Kharicha, K., Gardner, B., et al.: Health promotion interventions for community-dwelling older people with mild or pre-frailty: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Geriatr. 17, 157 (2017)
- Fiatarone Singh, M.A., Gates, N., Saigal, N., et al.: The Study of Mental and Resistance Training (SMART) study-resistance training and/or cognitive training in mild cognitive impairment: a randomized, double-blind, double-sham controlled trial. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 15(12), 873–880 (2014)
- 33. Ngandu, T., Lehtisalo, J., Solomon, A., Levälahti, E., Ahtiluoto, S., Antikainen, R., Bäckman, L., Hänninen, T., Jula, A., Laatikainen, T., Lindström, J.: A 2 year multidomain intervention of diet, exercise, cognitive training, and vascular risk monitoring versus control to prevent cognitive decline in at-risk elderly people (FINGER): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet **385**(9984), 2255–2263 (2015)
- O'Caoimh, R., Sato, S., Wall, J., Igras, E., Foley, M.J., Timmons, S., Molloy, D.W.: Potential for a "memory gym" intervention to delay conversion of mild cognitive impairment to dementia. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 16(11), 998–999 (2015)
- Bherer, L., Erickson, K.I., Liu-Ambrose, T.: A review of the effects of physical activity and exercise on cognitive and brain functions in older adults. J. Aging Res. J. Aging. Res. 2013 (2013). http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2013/657508. Article ID: 657508
- Pahor, M., Guralnik, J.M., Ambrosius, W.T., Blair, S., Bonds, D.E., Church, T.S., Espeland, M.A., Fielding, R.A., Gill, T.M., Groessl, E.J., King, A.C.: Effect of structured physical activity on prevention of major mobility disability in older adults: the LIFE study randomized clinical trial. JAMA 311(23), 2387–2396 (2014)
- Beswick, A.D., Rees, K., Dieppe, P., Ayis, S., Gooberman-Hill, R., Horwood, J., Ebrahim, S.: Complex interventions to improve physical function and maintain independent living in elderly people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet **371**, 725–735 (2008)
- Serra-Prat, M., Sist, X., Domenich, R., Jurado, L., Saiz, A., Roces, A., et al.: Effectiveness of an intervention to prevent frailty in pre-frail community-dwelling older people consulting in primary care: a randomised controlled trial. Age Ageing 46, 1–7 (2017)

- Keränen, N.S., Kangas, M., Immonen, M., Similä, H., Enwald, H., Korpelainen, R., Jämsä, T.: Use of information and communication technologies among older people with and without frailty: a population-based survey. J. Med. Internet Res. 19(2), e29 (2017)
- 40. Broekhuizen, K., de Gelder, J., Wijsman, C.A., Wijsman, L.W., Westendorp, R.G., Verhagen, E., Slagboom, P.E., de Craen, A.J., van Mechelen, W., van Heemst, D., van der Ouderaa, F.: An internet-based physical activity intervention to improve quality of life of inactive older adults: a randomized controlled trial. J. Med. Internet Res. 18(4), e74 (2016)
- Lee, P.H., Lee, Y.S., Chan, D.C.: Interventions targeting geriatric frailty: a systemic review. J. Clin. Gerontol. Geriatr. 3(2), 47–52 (2012)
- 42. Turner, G., Clegg, A.: British Geriatrics Society; Age UK; Royal College of General Practioners. Best practice guidelines for the management of frailty: a British Geriatrics Society, Age UK and Royal College of General Practitioners report. Age Ageing 43(6), 744–747 (2014)
- Van Velsen, L., Illario, M., Jansen-Kosterink, S., Crola, C., Di Somma, C., Colao, A., Vollenbroek-Hutten, M.: A community-based, technology-supported health service for detecting and preventing frailty among older adults: a participatory design development process. J. Aging Res. (2015). https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/216084
- 44. de Vette, F., Tabak, M., Dekker-van Weering, M., Vollenbroek-Hutten, M.: Engaging elderly people in telemedicine through gamification. JMIR Serious Games **3**(2), e9 (2015)
- Lumsden, J., Edwards, E.A., Lawrence, N.S., Coyle, D., Munafò, M.R.: Gamification of cognitive assessment and cognitive training: a systematic review of applications and efficacy. JMIR Serious Games 4, 2 (2016)
- 46. Patel, M.S., Benjamin, E.J., Volpp, K.G., Fox, C.S., Small, D.S., Massaro, J.M., Lee, J.J., Hilbert, V., Valentino, M., Taylor, D.H., Manders, E.S., Mutalik, K., Zhu, J., Wang, W., Murabito, J.M.: Effect of a game-based intervention designed to enhance social incentives to increase physical activity among families. The BE FIT randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern. Med. (2017). https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.3458
- Boehler, C.E., de Graaf, G., Steuten, L., Yang, Y., Abadie, F.: Development of a web-based tool for the assessment of health and economic outcomes of the European Innovation Partnership on Active and Healthy Ageing (EIP on AHA). BMC Med. Inform. Decis. Mak. 15(S3), 4 (2015)
- Illario, M., Iaccarino, G., Piazza, O., Menditto, E., Coscioni, E.: Proceedings of the EIP on AHA: A3 action group on frailty. Transl. Med. UniSa 13, 1–3 (2016)
- de Vries, N.M., Staal, J.B., van Ravensberg, C.D., Hobbelen, J.S.M., Olde Rikkerte, M.G. M., Nijhuis-van der Sanden, M.W.G.: Outcome instruments to measure frailty: a systematic review. Ageing Res. Rev. 10, 104–114 (2011)
- van Kempen, J.A., Schers, H.J., Philp, I., Rikkert, M.G.O., Melis, R.J.: Predictive validity of a two-step tool to map frailty in primary care. BMC Med. 13(1), 1 (2015)
- Steverink, N., Slaets, J.P.J., Schuurmans, H., Van Lis, M.: Measuring frailty: developing and testing the GFI (Groningen Frailty Indicator). Gerontologist 41(S1), 236 (2001)
- O'Caoimh, R., Gao, Y., McGlade, C., Healy, L., Gallagher, P., Timmons, S., Molloy, D. W.: Comparison of the quick mild cognitive impairment (Qmci) screen and the SMMSE in screening for mild cognitive impairment. Age Ageing 41(5), 624–629 (2012)
- 53. O'Caoimh, R., Gao, Y., Gallagher, P., Eustace, J., McGlade, C., Molloy, D.W.: Which part of the quick mild cognitive impairment screen (Qmci) discriminates between normal cognition, mild cognitive impairment and dementia? Age Ageing 42, 324–330 (2013)
- O'Caoimh, R., Svendrovski, A., Johnston, B., Gao, Y., McGlade, C., Timmons, S., Eustace, J., Guyatt, G., Molloy, D.W.: The quick mild cognitive impairment screen correlated with the standardised Alzheimer's disease assessment scale-cognitive section in clinical trials. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 67, 87–92 (2014)

- Bunt, S., O'Caoimh, R., Krijnen, W.P., Molloy, D.W., Goodijk, G.P., van der Schans, C.P., Hobbelen, J.S.M.: Validation of the dutch version of the quick mild cognitive impairment screen (Qmci-D). BMC Geriatr. 15, 115 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-015-0113-1
- O'Caoimh, R., Timmons, S., Molloy, D.W.: Screening for mild cognitive impairment: comparison of "MCI Specific" screening instruments. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 51(2), 619–629 (2016)
- Yavuz, B.B., Hacer, D.V., O'Caoimh, R., Kizilarslanoglu, M.C., Kilic, M.K., Molloy, D. W., Dogrul, R.T., Karabulut, E., Sağır, A., Yesil, Y., Kuyumcu, M.E., Halil, M., Cankurtaran, M.: Validation of the Turkish version of the quick mild cognitive impairment screen (Qmci-TR). Am. J. Alzheimer's Dis. Other Dement. **32**(3), 145–156 (2017)
- Xu, Y., Yu, Y., Li, X., Chen, Z., Gao, Y., Molloy, D.W., O'Caoimh, R.: Development of the Chinese version of the quick mild cognitive impairment (Qmci-CN). Age Ageing 46 (S3), 57 (2017)
- O'Caoimh, R., Molloy, D.William: The quick mild cognitive impairment screen (Qmci). In: Larner, A.J. (ed.) Cognitive Screening Instruments, pp. 255–272. Springer, Cham (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-44775-9_12
- O'Caoimh, R., Gao, Y., Gallagher, P., Eustace, J., Molloy, W.: Comparing approaches to optimize cut-off scores for short cognitive screening instruments in mild cognitive impairment and dementia. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 57(1), 123–133 (2017)
- O'Caoimh, R., Molloy, D.W., Fitzgerald, C., Van Velsen, L., Cabrita, M., Nassabi, M.H., de Vette, F., Dekker-van Weering, M., Jansen-Kosterink, S., Kenter, W., Frazer, S., et al.: Healthcare recommendations from the personalised ICT supported service for independent living and active ageing (PERSSILAA) study. In: ICT4Ageing Well 2017, Porto, Portugal, 28–29 April 2017 (2017)
- Goisser, S., Guyonnet, S., Volkert, D.: The role of nutrition in frailty: an overview. J. Frailty Aging 5(2), 74–77 (2016)
- MacLeod, S., Musich, S., Gulyas, S., Cheng, Y., Tkatch, R., Cempellin, D., et al.: The impact of inadequate health literacy on patient satisfaction, healthcare utilization, and expenditures among older adults. Geriatr. Nurs. 38(4), 334–341 (2017)
- Shakersain, B., Santoni, G., Faxén-Irving, G., Rizzuto, D., Fratiglioni, L., Xu, W.: Nutritional status and survival among old adults: an 11-year population-based longitudinal study. Eur. J. Clin. Nutr. 70, 320–325 (2016)
- Schilp, J., Kruizenga, H.M., Wijnhoven, H.A., Leistra, E., Evers, A.M., van Binsbergen, J. J., Deeg, D.J., Visser, M.: High prevalence of undernutrition in Dutch community-dwelling older individuals. Nutrition 28(11), 1151–1156 (2012)
- 66. O'Shea, E., Trawley, S., Manning, E., Barrett, A., Browne, V., Timmons, S.: Malnutrition in hospitalised older adults: a multicentre observational study of prevalence, associations and outcomes. J. Nutr. Health Aging 21(7), 830–836 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12603-016-0831-x
- Pauly, L., Stehle, P., Volkert, D.: Nutritional situation of elderly nursing home residents. Z. Gerontol. Geriatr. 40(1), 3–12 (2007)
- van Staveren, W.A., de Groot, L.C.P.: Evidence-based dietary guidance and the role of dairy products for appropriate nutrition in the elderly. J. Am. Coll. Nutr. **30**(S5), 429–437 (2011)
- Plassman, B.L., Langa, K.M., Fisher, G.G., Heeringa, S.G., Weir, D.R., Ofstedal, M.B., Burke, J.R., Hurd, M.D., Potter, G.G., Rodgers, W.L., Steffens, D.C.: Prevalence of cognitive impairment without dementia in the United States. Ann. Intern. Med. 148(6), 427–434 (2008)

- Prince, M., Bryce, R., Albanese, E., Wimo, A., Ribeiro, W., Ferri, C.P.: The global prevalence of dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Alzheimers Dementia 9(1), 63–75 (2013)
- Satizabal, C.L., Beiser, A.S., Chouraki, V., Chêne, G., Dufouil, C., Seshadri, S.: Incidence of dementia over three decades in the Framingham Heart Study. N. Engl. J. Med. 374(6), 523–532 (2016)
- 72. Matthews, F.E., Arthur, A., Barnes, L.E., et al. (Medical Research Council Cognitive Function and Ageing Collaboration): A two-decade comparison of prevalence of dementia in individuals aged 65 years and older from three geographical areas of England: results of the Cognitive Function and Ageing Study I and II. Lancet, **382**(9902), 1405–1412 (2013)
- Langa, K.M., Larson, E.B., Crimmins, E.M., et al.: A comparison of the prevalence of dementia in the United States in 2000 and 2012. JAMA Intern. Med. 177(1), 51–58 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.6807
- Norton, S., Matthews, F.E., Barnes, D.E., Yaffe, K., Brayne, C.: Potential for primary prevention of Alzheimer's disease: an analysis of population-based data. Lancet Neurol. 13 (8), 788–794 (2014)
- Choi, J., Twamley, E.W.: Cognitive rehabilitation therapies for Alzheimer's disease: a review of methods to improve treatment engagement and self-efficacy. Neuropsychol. Rev. 23(1), 48–62 (2013)
- Galvin, J.E., Roe, C.M., Powlishta, K.K., Coats, M.A., Muich, S.J., Grant, E., Miller, J.P., Storandt, M., Morris, J.C.: The AD8: a brief informant interview to detect dementia. Neurology 65(4), 559–564 (2005)
- 77. Larner, A.J.: AD8 informant questionnaire for cognitive impairment pragmatic diagnostic test accuracy study. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry Neurol. **28**(3), 198–202 (2015)
- Brooke, J.: SUS: a "quick and dirty" usability scale. In: Jordan, P.W., Thomas, B., Weerdmeester, B.A., McClelland, A.L.: Usability Evaluation in Industry. Taylor and Francis, London (1996)
- Liu, L.K., Lee, W.J., Chen, L.Y., Hwang, A.C., Lin, M.H., Peng, L.N., Chen, L.K.: Association between frailty, osteoporosis, falls and hip fractures among communitydwelling people aged 50 years and older in Taiwan: results from I-Lan longitudinal aging study. PLoS ONE **10**(9), e0136968 (2015)
- Liu, C.K., Fielding, R.A.: Exercise as an intervention for frailty. Clin. Geriatr. Med. 27(1), 101–110 (2011)
- Giné-Garriga, M., Roqué-Fíguls, M., Coll-Planas, L., Sitjà-Rabert, M., Salvà, A.: Physical exercise interventions for improving performance-based measures of physical function in community-dwelling, frail older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. **95**(4), 753–769 (2014)
- Robertson, M.C., Devlin, N., Scuffham, P., Gardner, M.M., Buchner, D.M., Campbell, A. J.: Economic evaluation of a community based exercise programme to prevent falls. J. Epidemiol. Commun. Health 55, 600–606 (2001)
- Thomas, S., Mackintosh, S., Halbert, J.: Does the 'Otago exercise programme' reduce mortality and falls in older adults?: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Age Ageing 39 (6), 681–687 (2010)
- 84. Tabak, M., Brusse-Keizer, M., van der Valk, P., Hermens, H., Vollenbroek-Hutten, M.: A telehealth program for self-management of COPD exacerbations and promotion of an active lifestyle: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Int. J. Chronic Obstr. Pulm. Dis. 9, 935 (2014)
- Vollenbroek-Hutten, M., Pais, S., Ponce, S., Dekker-van Weering, M., Jansen-Kosterink, S., Schena, F., Tabarini, N., Carotenuto, F., Iadicicco, V., Illario, M.: Rest rust! physical active for active and healthy ageing. Transl. Med.@ UniSa 13, 19 (2015)

- Chesser, A.K., Keene Woods, N., Smothers, K., Rogers, N.: Health literacy and older adults: a systematic review. Gerontol. Geriatr. Med. 2 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1177/ 2333721416630492
- 87. Manafo, E., Wong, S.: Health literacy programs for older adults: a systematic literature review. Health Educ. Res. **27**(6), 947–960 (2012)
- 88. Norman, C., Skinner, H.: eHealth literacy: essential skills for consumer health in a networked world. J. Med. Internet Res. 8, e9 (2006)
- Strawbridge, W.J., Shema, S.J., Balfour, J.L., Higby, H.R., Kaplan, G.A.: Antecedents of frailty over three decades in an older cohort. J. Gerontol. 53b(1), S9–S16 (1998)
- Keller, H.H.: Nutrition and health-related quality of life in frail older adults. J. Nutr. Health Aging 8(4), 245–252 (2004)
- Lenardt, M.H., Carneiro, N.H.K., Albino, J., Willig, M.H.: Quality of life of frail elderly users of the primary care. Acta Paulista de Enfermagem 27(5), 399–404 (2014)
- 92. Gill, D.L., Hammond, C.C., Reifsteck, E.J., Jehu, C.M., Williams, R.A., Adams, M.M., et al.: Physical activity and quality of life. J. Prev. Med. Publ. Health 46(1), S28 (2013)
- Drewnowski, A., Evans, W.J.: Nutrition, physical activity, and quality of life in older adults: summary. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 56(2), 89–94 (2001)
- Bitterman, N.: Design of medical devices—a home perspective. Eur. J. Internal Med. 22(1), 39–42 (2011)
- Selwyn, N., Gorard, S., Furlong, J., Madden, L.: Older adults' use of information and communications technology in everyday life. Ageing Soc. 23(5), 561–582 (2003)
- 96. Cesari, M., Prince, M., Thiyagarajan, J.A., De Carvalho, I.A., Bernabei, R., Chan, P., Gutierrez-Robledo, L.M., Michel, J.P., Morley, J.E., Ong, P., Manas, L.R.: Frailty: an emerging public health priority. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 17(3), 188–192 (2016)
- Sacha, J., Sacha, M., Soboń, J., Borysiuk, Z., Feusette, P.: Is it time to begin a public campaign concerning frailty and pre-frailty? A review article. Front. Physiol. 11(8), 484 (2017). https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2017.00484
- Scanlon, L., O'Shea, E., O'Caoimh, R., Timmons, S.: Technology use, frequency and selfrated skills: a survey of community dwelling older adults. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 63(7), 1483– 1484 (2015)
- Gell, N.M., Rosenberg, D.E., Demiris, G., LaCroix, A.Z., Patel, K.V.: Patterns of technology use among older adults with and without disabilities. Gerontologist 55(3), 412– 421 (2015)
- 100. Scanlon, L., O'Shea, E., O'Caoimh, R., Timmons, S.: Assessment of cognition using cognitive training: comparison of a commercial "brain training" application with the montreal cognitive assessment. Gerontology **62**(2), 247–252 (2016)
- 101. Franchini, M., Pieroni, S., Fortunato, L., Knezevic, T., Liebman, M., Molinaro, S.: Integrated information for integrated care in the general practice setting in Italy: using social network analysis to go beyond the diagnosis of frailty in the elderly. Clin. Transl. Med. 5(1), 24 (2016)
- 102. Watkins, I., Xie, B.: eHealth literacy interventions for older adults: a systematic review of the literature. J. Med. Internet Res. **16**(11), e225 (2014)
- 103. Cesari, M., Marzetti, E., Thiem, U., Pérez-Zepeda, M.U., Van Kan, G.A., Landi, F., Petrovic, M., Cherubini, A., Bernabei, R.: The geriatric management of frailty as paradigm of "the end of the disease era". Eur. J. Internal Med. **31**, 11–14 (2016)



Pervasive Business Intelligence in Misericordias – A Portuguese Case Study

Danilo Coelho, Tiago Guimarães, Filipe Portela^(⊠), Manuel Filipe Santos, José Machado, and António Abelha

Algoritmi Research Centre, University of Minho, Guimarães, Braga, Portugal a61935@alunos.uminho.pt, b772l@algoritmi.uminho.pt, {cfp,mfs}@dsi.uminho.pt, {jmac,abelha}@di.uminho.pt

Abstract. The healthcare system is one of the main pillars of any society. However, it carries with it an enormous economic weight. Portugal, alongside with many others, is a country in economic and social restructuration and consequently, the need to increase the efficiency of resource management and services is imperative. With the proven effectiveness of Business Intelligence (BI) in many organisations, the urge to implement such tools in Healthcare arises, specifically in the healthcare of Misericórdia. In addition to the results, it presents a critical analysis of the implementation and the process followed for the development and usage of KPIs. In this work, some concepts associated with the use of BI in Misericórdias were addressed, and the architecture of the developed solution was designed. It is also important to emphasise that the solution presented is pervasive, available anywhere at any time. Through this work, it was possible to gather all the data into a single structure (Data Mart), to identify a set of aspects that can be improved and to have a generalised view of the state of operation of the organisation, as far as health care is concerned. The developed includes ten KPIs in the area of Surgery Production and Waiting List Surgery. The dashboards can be analysed in several dimensions: date, specialities, physicians, service, diagnosis, location and time.

Keywords: Business intelligence · Misericórdia · Data mart Pervasive HealthCare · Dashboards

1 Introduction

Due to political decisions, the number of Portuguese *Misericordias*, in the last few years, have been increasing. These Institutions are a non-profit organisation that can provide local and specific care to the patients. Non-profits have always been present in society, playing a critical role in it. Misericordias are responsible of offering services in a few number of specialties, providing a new type of care outside the main hospitals. However, existing information systems are not prepared for these type of institutions, and a solution is needed. After a first overview, the main need is Business Intelligence.

Consequently, a case study was created to develop a pervasive functional prototype of BI focused in the Misericordia needs. This prototype aims to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of the care delivery.

One of the purposes of this paper is to present the results obtained and following advantages and disadvantages of applying a BI platform in the health area of an organisation, to understand the extent to which a sustained decision-making process is important in an organisation. This paper represents an extension of a paper previously published about the introduction of BI in Portuguese Misericórdias [15].

This work is divided into several sections. A brief introduction is initially exposed. Next, in Sect. 2 a background is presented to introduce the background in which the article is found. Then in Sect. 3 is stated the methodologies used to develop the Pervasive BI platform. In Sect. 4 is presented the case study with a particular focus on the steps and BI architecture. Section 5 presents the main achieved results. Section 6 address a short discussion of the results and final, in Sect. 7 conclusion and future work.

2 Background

This work aims to contribute in the improvement of the healthcare due to its globality, i.e., it affects every citizen. The quality of healthcare delivery has a vital role in modern societies. Thus, the need for a more sustainable decision-making process arises, as well as the need to identify possible aspects to be improved. An informatization process of healthcare delivery involves the optimization of clinical procedures, with a changeover of paper-based records to electronic processes.

A correct clinical diagnosis is based on the analysis and monitoring of the clinical information of each patient. This data can be converted into knowledge able to improve the decision-making process. Nowadays, with the technological and economic advances, all this clinical information is available and distributed by different Information Systems (ISs). According to Marins [3], hospital information systems (SIH) are "systems responsible for acquiring, processing and presenting all information about all the participants (patients, doctors, nurses, among others) and all services, among others)".

This reality brings extra responsibilities to organisations. They need to manage their workflows better, and their decision process should be sustained by a Business Intelligence (BI) component. Organizations needs to make quick and efficient decisions in any of the business areas, being them tactical, strategic or operational, and this is one of the critical success factors. A correct decision-making from the organisational point of view is based on a large amount of data that allows them to perceive the best option.

As previous stated [15], *Misericórdias* are characterized as non-profit institutions, whose purpose is to express the moral duty of solidarity and justice [4]. Also, they play a considerable role in Portuguese society, characterised by the wide range of areas in which they work, with emphasis on health. During the analysis phase, it was concluded that the necessity of having a clear basis for decision-making is imperative.

Having in consideration the Misericórdias nature, non-profit organisations and the essential needs of providing better care to the citizens, a research question was formulated "How can the use of Business Intelligence contribute to decision making in a Misericórdia?". To answering this question, a BI prototype was developed after exploring open-source tools [13]. The following subsection presents the main topics addressed in this paper [15].

2.1 Portuguese Misericórdias

The Misericórdias have always played a significant role in Portuguese society.

According to the Decree-Law 172-A/2014 of 14 November the Ministry of Solidarity, Employment and Social Security, *Misericórdias* are "associations recognised in canon law, to meet social needs and acts of Catholic worship, by its traditional spirit, informed by the principles of doctrine and Christian morality". Although they have performed different roles in society, they have always been associated with the provision of health care [1]. According to the Decree-Law 172-A/2014, *Misericórdias* may provide goods and develop social intervention activities, which includes the area of health. *Misericórdias* can promote health, disease prevention and care in curative perspective, rehabilitation and reintegration. Also, Penteado [5] defines *Misericórdias* as associations of believers who, according to the country's legislation, have the status of IPSS, which was granted to them in 1979. The same author, Penteado [5], states that *Misericórdias* are non-profit institutions, whose purpose is to express the moral duty of solidarity and justice between individuals and the provision of services in the field of social security.

In Decree-Law no. 138/13 of October 9 of the Ministry of Health, these institutions play a major role in the health system, is increasingly recognized in Portuguese society. The same decree (Decree-Law no. 138/13 of October 9 of the Ministry of Health, 2013) states that the Misericórdias have been associated with the provision of health care, although they have different roles in society [6].

2.2 Pervasive Business Intelligence

In health, the access and presentation of medical information is identified as a major concern for health professionals. This concern is because caregivers need to make sustained and swift decisions because the patient's health is at stake. Currently, one of the biggest problems in health facilities is that all medical information is dispersed by several data sources, the result of the use of various tools. In this way, accessing, crossing and querying the data when necessary becomes a complicated task to perform promptly, which may lead to incorrect decisions from the professionals. To solve this problem, the need to use a pervasive system arises.

The main objective of a pervasive system in health is to achieve a quality care service, to anyone and at any time, regardless of their location or position [7].

A pervasive health system is characterised by a set of unrelated information, a set of stakeholders, and ubiquitous computing that connects digital infrastructures to our daily lives. It gathers, processes and distributes "any kind" of personal information and contextual data anywhere [7].

Pervasive Healthcare is considered a key factor in the reduction of expenses and is known for allowing improvements in disease management and advances in communication technologies and wireless networks providing the acquisition, transmission and treatment of critical medical information in real time [7, 17].
For Larburu et al. [8], the Pervasive Healthcare systems apply information and communication technologies to allow the use of omnipresent clinical data by authorised medical personnel.

Pervasive Business Intelligence (BI) systems in an area whose goal is to support decision-making by professionals.

2.3 Key Performance Indicators

Key Performance Indicators (KPI) are measures that allow monitoring the performance in the main areas of the organisational/business activities that are critical to success. The development of KPIs should form the basis of the analysis of the current performance of the organisation, its future requirements and the improvement strategies necessary for its success. Some principles should be considered for KPIs:

- KPIs should not be regarded as an end in themselves, but rather as a means of assisting management activities. They should foster informed debate leading to the definition of a continuous improvement plan;
- Their semantics are more related to the context of the organisation where they are inserted and should be used to make temporal comparative analyses (evolution over the time coordinate) rather than between organisations;
- The set of KPIs must be balanced. For example, efficiency measures should be counterbalanced by measures of effectiveness and measures of quality and user perception;
- Following their definition and approval, KPIs should be reviewed and updated. The review determines the usefulness for the management associated with each indicator and the reliability of the data source to ensure continuity in its use;
- The description of intended performance, which is measurable through KPIs, should be implemented at the organisational level that has sufficient authority and knowledge to ensure that the most appropriate actions are taken.

Initial proposals for KPIs will, of course, be imperfect. However, it is important that the organisation understands and applies the most appropriate KPIs to accumulate experience and knowhow.

2.4 Related Work

This article is an extension of a paper earlier presented [14, 15] and the previous work developed in two Master dissertations [9, 12]. The former work explored the viability of establishing a BI work in this area. For this aspect, the process-oriented potentialities, such as Business Process Management (BPM), Mlearn, and Balanced Scorecard, was used to precisely and objectively identify the information necessary to support decision making.

So, in the past work, some concepts associated with the use of BI in Misericórdias were addressed, and the Pervasive BI architecture of the developed solution was designed. The surgery area was the main focus, and the data stored in the various sources was extracted, processed and stored in one place. The data can be easily manipulated according to the needs of Misericórdia. A previous paper [14] also

addressed the Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, Threats (SWOT) of the solution proposed and presented the fundamental concepts, tools used by Misericórdias and process architecture. This paper adds new value to the work done. The current work elucidates the modelling process, the definition of KPIs and the presentation of some new achieved results. The new findings are focused in a new area of analysis: waiting time in surgery lists.

3 Methodologies

For the protyle development, two methodologies were followed. The research methodology used was the Design Science Research (DSR). Kimball methodology was used as the practical component. This chapter describes methodologies features, their phases and their relationship. The DSR methodology is based on a set of principles, practices and procedures for conducting research, through the design and assessment of artefacts able to solve problems [10]. The main tasks of DSR are the identification of the problem and motivation; Definition of the objectives of the solution; Design and development; Demonstration and finally evaluation and communication [10].

Regarding Kimball's methodology, also known as the business dimensional life cycle, it was conceived in the mid-1980s by members of the Kimball group. This method has been used in projects related to Data Warehouse and Business Intelligence (DW/BI) in the various organisational areas [11].

The main phases of this methodology are project planning; Analysis of business requirements; Dimensional modelling and design of the technical architecture; Selection of tools; Design and development of the Staging Area and finally installation and start-up and maintenance and evolution. It should be noted that throughout the development of all these phases of the project, a project management is carried out simultaneously, aiming at monitoring the entire evolution of the solution, deadlines, duration and so on [11]. These methodologies are useful to develop a solution in a phased and rigorous way, without forgetting any phase.

In fact, the combination of both methodologies allowed an oriented correctly and rigorously project development.

In the first DSR phase, the problem was identified and described. This phase was fundamental to clarify some business issues and making a methodical planning of work development. Then, some possible solutions were designed and assessed. After analysing the possible solutions an artefact able of solving the problem was developed and implemented using Kimball methodology. The stakeholders followed all the phases.

The last phase was achieved through the written of some scientific papers and solution documentation.

4 Case Study

A set of nine steps was followed for developing and using KPIs, which is divided into four phases (Fig. 1): Begin, Development, Implementation, and Review.



Fig. 1. Developing and implementation steps.

4.1 Phase I - Begin

Step 1 - Create the Project Team

It is proposed to create an inter-functional team to implement KPI measurement. This team should be composed of high-level stakeholders who are aware of the organisation's objectives and priorities. The team should also be familiar with the measure of performance. The number of team members will depend on the size of the organisation and can range from 4 to 6 elements.

Step 2 - Align KPIs with Key Areas and Improvement Strategies

There should be a strong correspondence between the key areas, the organisation's objectives to be achieved and the improvement strategies to be followed, as KPIs should be developed to support those strategies. The first step corresponds to the definition of the key areas and the respective objectives of the organisation, which are considered critical for the organisation and should be aligned with the KPIs that are intended to be developed. The objectives of the organisation may include:

- Improve user satisfaction;
- Improve resource management;
- Improve learning.

KPIs should be focused on simple ideas that represent key objectives with high relevance to the organisation regarding the project evaluated in order to ensure that the organisation understands the link between them and the business strategy.

Step 3 - Explain the Purpose of using and Developing KPIs

The purpose of measuring an organisation's performance is to assess how well the strategies and action plans are being implemented. You can only improve an organisation's performance if you can measure it first.

It is, therefore, necessary to develop KPIs, which will correspond to a set of indicators that will allow monitoring the performance of the main areas of "business" activities. KPIs are an important tool to support improvement in order to achieve organisational goals and prosperity globally. These can also create essential feedback and a learning mechanism to support management decisions.

The goal of using and developing KPIs should be disseminated within the organisation, from the bottom-up to the top, in order to make them aware of their own role in the perspective of getting involved and helping to achieve the objectives of the organisation, as well as the measurement of indicators and their improvement.

Step 4 - Define a Protocol for the Development and Use of KPIs

After the creation of the team, that will be responsible for the development of the KPIs, and defined the key objectives, which should be measured and therefore aligned with the KPIs, and communicated and disseminated the purposes of implementing the KPIs; a protocol should be established for their development and use.

This process should include:

- Definition of the duties of team members;
- For each one of the KPIs selected by the project team, a set of Input, Calculation, Output, and Progress procedures should be reported during the implementation phase as follows:
 - Input involves all procedures for acquiring data and parameters used to evaluate KPIs;
 - Calculation involves all the mechanisms and calculations required to determine the value of each KPI from the input data;
 - Output evolves all processes and presentation of results (e.g., graphs, reports, gauges);
 - Progress involves all requirements to monitor the evolution of KPI.

4.2 Phase II - Development

Step 5 - Identify the Organisation's Critical Success Factors

Critical Success Factors (CSF) are the core competencies or capabilities that must be fulfilled for the organisation to achieve its vision. In the current project, a CSF as been identified as:

Business goal	CSF
Improve patient satisfaction	Decrease waiting times for surgery

Step 6 - Definition of Measures and Selection of KPIs by Teams

Following the definition of the objectives of "Business" and CSF, a set of measures should be defined. These measures should specify the practical outcome that each organisation and project should achieve in accordance with the defined "Business Goals". They will also be useful in monitoring and evaluating the process leading to the achievement of these objectives. A possible set of measures may include:

CSF	Measures
Decrease waiting times for surgery	Decreasing waiting time for surgery

KPIs must have a set of characteristics that make them effective, such as:

- Restricted to a small number of strategically important objectives;
- Based on strategic objectives, making the more general in more specific;
- Consistent, in a balanced perspective, related to financial performance, satisfaction, efficiency and improvement;
- Straightforward and easy to understand by all those who will be evaluated;
- Associated with easy to acquire and calculate data;
- Dynamic (reviewed at least on an annual basis as part of the business plan as a way to ensure they reflect the priorities of the "business");
- Agreed, not imposed by management;
- Reported.

KPIs should not:

- Conflict with other measures without prioritising;
- Produce misleading information;
- Being or being seen as trivial;

All these characteristics must be considered in the development process of KPIs. The suggested KPIs, related to the respective measures, CSF and "business goals" are:

Measure	КРІ
Decreasing waiting time	% surgeries performed within the maximum guaranteed response
for surgery	time defined by the Ministry of Health

4.3 Phase III - Implementation

Step 7 - Develop Visualization Support

In this phase, an architecture must be developed. In this case, the development of the Pervasive Business Intelligence (BI) prototyping component was based on an architecture composed of 3 levels, data sources, Data Mart and finally Dashboards and Reports. As can be seen in Fig. 2, two operational data sources and a set of tools were used to support the development of the whole process. The Misericordia defined this architecture and all the features associated with it.

In an initial phase data were extracted, transformed, loaded, and updated to Data Mart. Next, OLAP cubes were developed through access and manipulation of data and metrics created to meet the needs of users. Finally, panels with dashboards and reports were developed to present the data to the final user(s).

The entire process was developed using the tools shown in the architecture (Fig. 2): MySQL Workbench where Data Mart, Microsoft Visual Studio and Microsoft SQL Server Analysis Services are located where the metrics and OLAP cubes were



Fig. 2. Pervasive BI architecture [15].

developed and finally the Microsoft Power BI Desktop where the panels were developed and therefore presented the data. The fact that the data can be accessed in both the desktop and cloud tools indicates that it is a pervasive platform because the data can be queried and the panels changed if necessary anytime, anywhere.

The development of Data Mart was based on a constellation scheme designed per data type of the operational sources. This consists of two tables of facts, waiting days for surgery and surgeries production and eight dimensions in common (date, speciality, doctor, intervention, diagnosis, intervention type, users and responsible financial entities). Given the complexity of the scheme and to a better perception in the article, the scheme was divided into two diagrams: Waiting days till surgery (Fig. 3) and Production of surgeries (Fig. 4).



Fig. 3. Star schema for waiting days [15].



Fig. 4. Star schema for surgeries production [15].

The Data Mart is already deployed, and it is prepared to be used.

Now, it is the time to develop the KPIs. KPIs should be viewed and reported frequently. The trend of their values should be highlighted. Graphs with historical (previous) records are considered good practice.

The measurements obtained should be analysed and form the basis for the final report.

The multidimensional analysis using facts and dimensions of Data Mart allows a set of functionalities available to the user, among which:

- Ad-hoc creation and access to queries;
- Registration of queries for future use, which may be provided to one or more users;
- Performing Roll-up actions to aggregate the data from a more detailed perspective on a more generalised one;
- Selection detail level in the query, that is, allow the data to be explored for a more detailed perspective, performing drill-down;
- Definition the criteria of the data query;
- Show results of data analysis through graphs, tables and maps.

Over OLAP cube development were defined a set of metrics to allow greater analysis capacity in data presentation. Table 1 presents the developed metrics, where it is possible to verify which type of metric and what dimension or table of facts each metric is based on it.

Metrics	Туре	Used table
Total surgeries	Record count	Fact table: waiting days for surgery
Maximum number of waiting days for surgery	Maximum	
Minimum number of waiting days for surgeries	Minimum	
Total surgeries production	Record count	Fact table: surgeries production
Quantity of patients	Record count	Dimension: Patients
Quantity of interventions	Record count	Dimension: Interventions
Quantity of doctors	Record count	Dimension: Doctors

Table 1. Metrics, types in each table [15].

Step 8 - Facilitate the Use of KPIs to Promote Performance Improvement Coaching makes it easier to use KPIs within the organisation. Employees must be motivated and committed to giving them a controlled authority and responsibility for improvement over the processes for which they are responsible. Managers should be encouraged to delegate responsibilities and employees to identify their own measures and seek solutions.

4.4 Phase IV - Review

Step 9 - Redefine and Refine the Kpis in Order to Maintain Their Relevance KPIs should be reviewed whenever the FSCs are examined. They should also be tested in terms of their relevance and adapted to any changes in the environment, processes and conditions.

Executives should be actively involved in reviewing measures and leading implementation efforts. Continuous communication, given the status and results of the evaluation system, is essential for the ongoing improvement of the system.

5 Results

The presentation of the data was done using panels in the PowerBI Desktop tool. Each group consists of a set of dashboards.

Figure 5 shows one of the presentations created.



Fig. 5. Surgeries production panel example [15].

Figures 3 and 4 are two of the several examples of the use of the cube. As you can see in Fig. 5, it is possible to analyse the data with different levels of detail. In this case,

it is feasible to <u>analyse</u> the production of surgeries by month ($m\hat{es}$), a quarter (*trime-ster*), semester (*semester*) and year (*ano*), which allows obtaining knowledge regarding which periods of time the production of surgeries is more and less. In addition, it is possible to select only one or more specialties (*especialidades*) as well as the type of surgery (*tipo de cirúrgias*) that is intended, Ambulatory (*ambulatório*) and Normal (normal). This kind of information helps the manager to make decisions regarding, for example, what times of the year a larger/smaller amount of hospital material and a larger/smaller amount of health professionals are required. In this way, it is possible to tailor resources to hospital needs based on sustained decision making.

Figure 6 shows the number of patients waiting (*espera*). The number is 449. If the user checks *Operado*, it is possible to see the number of surgeries made. Both analyses can be filtered by physician, specialities (*especialidade*) and date. In this dashboard, you can see the waiting days (count, average and max) by specialities (*Dias de Espera por especialidade*) and the number of waiting patients and specialities (*Doentes em Espera por especialidade* (*número*)). This last dashboard also offers a visual distribution of waiting for patients by specialities.



Fig. 6. Surgeries waiting list panel example.

6 Discussion

This work showed the importance of Business Intelligence for Misericórdias. By using a BI solution, it is possible to influence the quality of life of each citizen directly. The decision-making process can be improved by the application of BI solutions. However, t is essential to design a roadmap for development and to know the business and their stakeholders to define a set of relevant KPIs.

In an health organisation, the volume of data is high and complex. Most of the time the information is stored in several sources which make it difficult to analyse it for later decision-making. This situation makes it an extremely complex process with a high degree of uncertainty [2]. Consequently, recognising the importance of decisionmaking in healthcare and the existence of BI solutions that facilitate the work of health professionals is an improvement for the organisation.

We addressed two subjects: surgeries and waiting time list. In both cases, the stakeholders can have visible benefits, being the patient the most benefited with the development of this prototype.

This work helps the physicians making better and more informed/data driven decisions and improves the surgeries waiting time. They can see the specialties that have the larger waiting time for surgery and which patients are waiting the longest. This tool is also valuable to assess the surgeries by area, diagnoses, physicians, date, place and many other possibilities. The work is now ready to meet the Critical Success Factor and to achieve the main business goal.

7 Conclusions and Future Work

With this work, the data stored in the various sources is extracted, processed and stored in one place and then easily manipulated according to the needs of Misericórdia.

The end user can easily access the dashboard in real time and make sustained decisions, which until then was a complex process.

The answer to the research question "How can the use of Business Intelligence contribute to decision-making in a Misericórdia?" is: BI can support the management of small process executed in the Misericordia. BI is an excellent tool to these types of institutions because it can improve the decision-making process by allowing a better control of the resources (humans, technical and financial) and surgery. The system can indicate the number of waiting patients and the patients who are waiting more time. By contributing to a profound understanding of the waiting times it aids the search for solutions and consequently its decrease and the increase of the patient satisfaction.

This architecture requires a complete system informatization, an interoperable system, and a full method of data storing and processing tasks. The transformation process can then convert the data stored into information/knowledge.

The system developed is ready to answer to user questions. The user can access the system and make some interactive queries. Then, the human can take a decision-based in the information received. The system is designed to providing new insights able to help the decision-maker (physicians or nurses) to make the right choices leading it to a positive impact on their patients. In brief, this BI solution can provide concrete information regarding the trends and needs of the *Misericórdia*.

The main contribution of this work is the full architecture of functional prototype, the KPIs design process and the solution implemented. This solution is pervasive and global because it can be optimized and adapted to other health facilities having the goal of improving the quality of healthcare and patient satisfaction.

This solution addresses a specific and critical field: the surgery. During this phase, Misericordia participated actively in the process, namely in requirements elicitation.

The project is in the installation phase. New dashboards in other areas will be developed and implemented after concluding the installation phase. The monitoring phase also will be implemented to measure the achievement of the business goal.

The assessment phase will follow the methodology already used in the Intensive Care Unit [16].

Acknowledgements. This work has been supported by COMPETE: POCI-01-0145-FEDER-007043 and FCT – Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the Project Scope: UID/CEC/00319/2013.

References

- 1. Decreto-Lei nº.172-A/2014 de 14 de Novembro do Ministério da Solidariedade, Emprego e Segurança Social, Portugal (2014)
- Vuori, H.: Primary health care in Europe—problems and solutions. J. Public Health 6, 221– 231 (1984)
- Marins, F.A.: Monitorização e prevenção em plataformas de interoperabilidade hospitalar (2013)
- 4. Andrade, S.A.C.: Inovação nos serviços de saúde das Misericórdias da região norte de Portugal (2014)
- Penteado, P.: A Investigação em sistemas de arquivo organisacionais: algumas reflexões sobre o caso das Misericórdias de Portugal. Actas do Colóquio "Do Doc. à informação" e das Jornadas sobre Sist. Informação Munic, pp. 141–163 (2004)
- 6. Decreto-Lei n.º 138/2013 de 9 de Outubro do Ministério da Saúde, Portugal (2014)
- Pereira, A., Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Machado, J., Abelha, A.: Pervasive business intelligence: a new trend in critical healthcare. Procedia Comput. Sci. 98, 362–367 (2016)
- Larburu, N., Bults, R.G.A., Van Sinderen, M.J., Hermens, H.J.: An ontology for telemedicine systems resiliency to technological context variations in pervasive healthcare. IEEE J. Transl. Eng. Health Med. 3, 1–10 (2015)
- 9. Miranda, J.: Utilização de metodologias orientadas a processos na implementação de sistemas de Business Intelligence aplicação na saúde (2013)
- Peffers, K., Tuunanen, T., Rothenberger, M., Chatterjee, S.: A design science research methodology for information systems research. J. Manag. Inf. Syst. 24(3), 45–77 (2007)
- 11. Kimball, R.: The Data Warehouse Lifecycle Toolkit: Expert Methods for Designing, Developing, and Deploying Data Warehouses. Wiley, Hoboken (1998)
- 12. Miranda, J.: BI nas Misericórdias, Mestrado em Sistemas de Informação (2015)
- Brandão, A., Pereira, E., Esteves, E., Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Abelha, A., Machado, J.: A benchmarking analysis of open-source business intelligence tools in healthcare environments. Information 7(4), 57 (2016). MDPI. ISSN 2078-2489
- Coelho, D., Miranda, J., Portela, F., Santos, M., Machado, J., Abelha, A.: Towards of a business intelligence platform to portuguese Misericórdias. Procedia Comput. Sci. 100, 762– 767 (2016). HCIST 2016 - Healthy and Secure People. Elsevier. ISSN 1877-0509
- Coelho, D., Portela, F., Santos, M., Machado, J., Abelha, A.: A pervasive business intelligence solution to manage portuguese misericordia. In: Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health, ICT4AWE, vol. 1, pp. 117–123 (2017). https://doi.org/10.5220/0006382301 170123. ISBN 978-989-758-251-6
- Portela, F., Aguiar, J., Santos, M.F., Silva, Á., Rua, F.: Pervasive intelligent decision support system – technology acceptance in intensive care units. In: Rocha, Á., Correia, A., Wilson, T., Stroetmann, K. (eds.) Advances in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 206. Springer, Heidelberg (2013). https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-642-36981-0_27
- Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Gago, P., Silva, Á., Rua, F., Abelha, A., Machado, J.M., Neves, J.: Enabling real-time intelligent decision support in intensive care. In: 25th European Simulation and Modelling Conference, ESM 2011, Guimarães, Portugal. EUROSIS (2011)



SousChef: Improved Meal Recommender System for Portuguese Older Adults

David Ribeiro¹, Jorge Ribeiro¹, Maria João M. Vasconcelos^{1(⊠)}, Elsa F. Vieira², and Ana Correia de Barros^{1,2,3}

¹ Fraunhofer Portugal AICOS, Rua Alfredo Allen 455/461, 4200-165 Porto, Portugal {maria.vasconcelos, ana.barros}@fraunhofer.pt ² REQUIMTE, Institute of Engineering of Porto, Polytechnic Institute of Porto, Porto, Portugal elsavieiraf@gmail.com ³ CRPG - Gaia Vocational Rehabilitation Centre, Vila Nova de Gaia, Portugal ana.barros@crpg.pt

Abstract. Continuing efforts to increase the relevance and effectiveness of nutritional recommendations are essential to promote long-term biological effects. Several studies refer that older adults often struggle with making the right decisions regarding meal preparation, healthy diets or groceries shopping. In this work research on user needs are presented, where different stakeholders were listened concerning their needs and perspectives within the domain of nutrition in older adults. Moreover, an improved version of SousChef, a meal recommender system is here presented, where new heuristics were added to the system and the users can now choose between 4 to 6 meals to be planned per day. Since another important factor besides nutrition and food preferences impact food choice concerns with the budget, new heuristics were considered in order to reduce waste and shortening the shopping list. Also new heuristics were added to the system to better reflect the Portuguese nutritional guidelines and information about food prices in order foster reducing waste and shortening one's shopping list. The nutritional recommendations and the application was thought and designed for older adults, presenting friendly user interfaces and following the guidelines of a nutritionist.

Keywords: Recommender system · Nutrition · Intelligent companions Mobile health monitoring · Older adults · Personalized interfaces

1 Introduction

Although the exact definition of elderly age group is controversial, for high-resourced countries the World Health Organization have accepted the chronological age of 65 years as a definition of 'elderly' or older person [1]. The European Union population aged ≥ 65 years is estimated to rise by over 25% by 2035, and to 30% in 2060 [2, 3]. In Portugal, data from the last national statistics showed that population aged 65 years and older represents approximately 19% [4].

An ageing population tends to have a higher prevalence of chronic diseases, physical disabilities, mental illnesses and other co-morbidities [5]. Thus, in order to promote long-term biological effects, continuing efforts to increase the relevance and effectiveness of nutritional recommendations are essential [6]. The health in older people is influenced by important modifiable factors, namely the nutritional status. The current economic crisis in some European countries, as Portugal, leads us to predict that the prevalence and consequences of the nutritional disorders will increase in the future years. Likewise, the Portuguese elderly population seem to have low nutrition knowledge as well as inadequate food habits, which is a challenge for the improvement of the nutritional status [3]. In fact, data on the food consumption of the Portuguese population, obtained through the National Food Survey 2015–2016 (IAN-AF) and the National Health Survey with Physical Examination (INSEF) showed that overweight is prevalent in the elderly; 4.8% of the elderly had a risk of malnutrition, 16.3% were hypo hydrated and 40% had a vitamin D deficit [7].

According to Madeira et al. [8], malnutrition status is influenced by multiple factors, including physical health problems (cachexia, sarcopenia, malabsorption or hyper metabolism), cognitive skills, appetite changes, mental health impairment (depression, alcohol abuse, among other), functional and/or financial autonomy, as well as socioenvironmental context (social isolation, living in the community/residential homes, for instance). Several studies refer that older adults often struggle with making the right decisions regarding meal preparation, healthy diets or groceries shopping [9]. Studies also suggest that many older adults neglect nutrition and are more inclined to do so if they happen to live alone. Furthermore, under financial restrictions, which older adults often find themselves in, balancing healthy eating habits with money saving can become a complicated task [6, 10].

Taking into account the previous facts and acknowledging that nowadays technologies are always present and may be used to assist people, SousChef, a mobile meal recommender system to assist older adults by providing a nutrition companion to guide them into making wise decisions regarding food management and healthy eating habits has been presented in [11]. In the actual work we present the results of user research in order to better understand their needs that lead to the development of such a system and also describe improvements in the meal recommendation system based on the results of the previous work.

The present paper is organized as follows: Sect. 2 presents the related work regarding recommender systems and ICT applications related to food and nutrition; in Sect. 3, research on user needs is presented while in Sects. 4 and 5 the improved system and mobile application are described; finally, conclusions and future work are drawn in Sect. 6.

2 Related Work

2.1 Recommender Systems

Regarding mobile technologies related to food and nutrition, several studies may be found in the literature addressing issues such as: recommender systems [12–16], social

interaction [17], menu generation [18] or cooking assistance for users with specific impairments. As this work presents a recommender system, we will briefly detail the related work in this topic.

In [19], the authors performed a survey of the state of the art on recommender systems and identified three main types of systems based on the employed methodologies: content-based, collaborative and hybrid recommender systems. The challenges related to the design and implementation of nutritional recommender systems are discussed in [13]. This author identifies the uncertainty of nutritional information of recipes or foods, or the missing or incorrect data from food recording measurements as the main challenges and suggests ways to tackle them. In [14] a literature review on Health Recommender Systems (HRS) is presented: studies have demonstrated that HRS have branched out in different fields of health industry and HRS applications have been increasingly embedded in the health service systems. Challenges and opportunities in HRS are also addressed in this paper.

In [12] the author has focused specifically on older adults and their nutritional needs, designing a recommender system with user interfaces designed to consider the specific needs of the user group. The recommendations generated by this system are based on parameters that go beyond nutritional needs, such as taste or available food items at the person's home. However, the description of the system says nothing about recipes prepared specifically by dieticians, it did not allow multiple users and it was not designed to accommodate specific medical conditions. Moreover, the user interface, given the time of that work, does not consider current mobile contexts of use.

In [15], a prototype for a healthy nutrition expert system for children is proposed that considers all stages of the child, their growth stage, gender and health status. A case study is presented and a web application was developed however, the validation of the knowledge for the proposed system is still needed. Recently, [16] presented NutElcare, a semantic recommender system that provides healthy diet plans for the older adults. It claims to retrieve reliable and complete information from expert sources as nutritionists, gerontologists as well as knowledge from information systems and nutritional databases and with that information aim to assist older people to take advantage of these tips and make their own diet plans.

2.2 ICT Applications

Regarding commercially available ICT applications designed for non-professionals, different options are available, such as Mealboard¹, Lifesum², Nutrino³ and Shopwell⁴.

Mealboard is designed to help users plan their meals, generate a grocery list and keep track of what is left in the pantry. This app allows the user to create a meal by moving meals from one day to another or adjust the number of servings. Once the meal plan is ready the app can generate the shopping list for that menu with a single tap from

¹ http://mealboard.com/.

² https://lifesum.com/.

³ https://nutrino.co/.

⁴ www.shopwell.com.

the user. A third interesting feature allows the user to keep track of what is in their pantry, once the shopping is done then the person can move and put the ingredients in the pantry. However, the Mealboard app do not take into account users' age or dietary preferences and the recipes used in the plan might not have been created or validated by nutritionists.

Lifesum guides its users on a journey to improving their wellbeing through diet strategies, exercise and advice, as well as providing options and tools to help users maintain a healthy lifestyle and achieve their own personal goals. It is the leading health and fitness app in Northern Europe, allowing the user to log what they eat every single day and proposes a breakdown of calories eaten and burned. The app includes a meal planning feature, which is a paid service.

Nutrino is a platform that provides personal meal planning according to the user profile, being its application available for both individuals and business. The app allows users to log data about their levels of exercise, water, food, sleep or stress and can be connected to activity tracking devices such as Fitbit.

Shopwell is another example of a personalized nutrition app that recommends foods to people based on their dietary needs and helps them to build healthy grocery lists. The app can help to match foods to the user's dietary needs, including avoided ingredients such as unwanted ingredients, added sugar, trans fat, and allergens like gluten and lactose. Moreover, it simplifies shopping for groceries by giving a score to the foods the user's unique health needs. Shopwell is a Community Partner of the USDA and certified by Registered Dietitians and is available for both iOS and Android.

In general, among other features all of the above listed applications offer the ability to monitor calorie consumption based on the manual input of food from a database. Other features can be provided, such as step-by-step guidance to prepare meals, a shopping list, the use of social interactions through social networks and gamification. Among these applications, the last three are capable of creating personalized meals plan, however they are not designed to take into consideration elderly people nutrient intake recommendations.

3 Research on User Needs

In the initial stages of the project we begun to conduct user research with potential stakeholders of SousChef system in order to better understand their needs. The research focused on three main groups: nutritionists, food management providers, and of course, older adults. These interviews aimed to get different and diverse perspectives within the domain of nutrition in older adults. Individual semi-structured interviews were conducted with the nutritionists and food management providers and a focus group session was conducted with the seniors.

The insights accumulated during this stage are described in this section and constituted an important step to inform the design of the overall system, and in the definition of SousChef main features.

3.1 Nutritionists

The interviews with nutritionists aimed to explore the needs of nutritionists and their patients. We have looked into what kind of information nutritionists need to collect from patients in order to do their work and explored what does into the process of conceiving a nutritional plan.

Four semi-structured interviews were conducted. At the beginning of the interview, participants were asked to simulated an appointment and go through the steps and questions they would normally go through with a patient. Interviews were later transcribed verbatim and analyzed in order to identify the following major themes.

Collecting Eating History Data. Knowing in detail patients' eating habits is an important part in the diagnostic of seniors' nutritional state. Nutritionists want to find out what and how much the person is eating, in order to identify mistakes in their diets, and to learn more about the senior's food preferences. Whereas food tracking applications look for precise caloric intake, nutritionist use tools such the 24-h recall or a food diary, which are more tolerant in terms of data input. Besides being a tool to register ones' eating habits, food diaries serve to highlight the differences between what people say they are eating and what they are really eating. Moreover, the process of writing down everything one eats can help to raise awareness to ones' eating behaviors.

Changing Eating Habits. Regarding the issue of changing people's diet, it is important to stress out that nutritionists do not provide clients with a strict meal plan that tells them what to eat on each meal of the day. Instead, nutritionists provide their patients with general recommendations on how to eat healthier based on what they are already eating. Recommendations are personalized and adapted to each person's needs and preferences. All the nutritionists emphasized that it is important to work with the senior to come up with a plan that satisfies both parties. There is no point in suggesting seniors to eat something they do not like.

Moreover, the consensus among nutritionists is that dramatic changes should not be imposed to seniors' diets. The best strategy is to make small adjustments. We do not want to make them feel they lived all their lives eating incorrectly, thus the goal should be to identify the mistakes seniors are making and try to amend those mistakes.

Also, it is worth mentioning that rather than receiving a complete meal plan, patients receive from nutritionists a list of food suggestions for each meal of the day. With this approach, nutritionists provided the framework but seniors made their own decisions with regards to what to eat on each day of the week.

Explore More User-Friendly Portions. One of the hardest parts in the process of registering what people eat is to quantify how much one is eating. This task requires a person to look at the food and estimate how much there was in the plate before eating, and how much there is left. While recommendation systems such Souschef use grams as the unit of measurement to compute nutritional requirements, humans on the other hand require more tangible and visual measures. To facilitate the process of registering how much people eat and making food recommendations more comprehensible, nutritionists come up with more human-friendly units, such as spoons for liquids or rice, and using the palm of the hand as reference for 100 g of fish or meat. Therefore, an effective

logging and recommendation system will also demand the conversion between grams and more human-friendly units.

Lack of Physical Activity. Nutritionists recognized that the lack of physical activity and the somehow sedentary lifestyle of seniors is a big barrier to their well-being. Overall, they all try to raise awareness to the importance of having an active life, and as part of their work, the interviewed nutritionists provide their patients with general recommendations regarding the practice of physical exercise. However, there is not seem to be a cohesive strategy with regards to the relationship between physical activity and nutrition.

Identify Key Moments to Introduce Water into Seniors' Diets. Dehydration is a serious problem among seniors given their decreased sense of thirst. In general seniors do not drink enough water so it is necessary to enquire about their daily water intake and to incentivize them to create better drinking habits. Contextual reminders and recommendation alternative drink are two common strategies to address dehydration issues. Contextual reminders take advantage of contextual cues in the environment to help people to drink water, for instance, drink a glass of water in the morning while taking the medication. Another strategy is to recommend people to replace water with other products that might be more pleasurable, e.g. tea.

Identity Interaction Between Drugs and Food. Identifying the potential problem that arises from the interaction of drugs with food will be crucial to any system that aims to handle people's diets. This topic is particularly important when addressing nutrition in older adults because seniors are usually poly-medicated and even nutritionists are not always aware of the contraindications of the active ingredient of a drug with food.

Food Recommendation Based on the Glycemic Index. Diabetic is quite common among older people, and it is a medical condition that imposes hard restrictions on a nutritional level. People with diabetes are required to control their sugar levels with the help of a glucose meter and adapt their eating according to their glycemic index. Controlling what, how much, and when to eat, is vital. People with diabetes are most likely already aware of the effects of food in their body, nevertheless, a reliable system must be responsive and adapt to the physiological state of each person. Consequently, any full-fledged food recommendation system needs to consider how to cater to people with such condition.

3.2 Food Service Management

The purpose of the interviews with workers from food providers was to better understand the decision-making process involved in the planning and managing of meals in elder care institutions. We aimed to identify problems and potentials areas for intervention in their current working process.

Five semi-structured in-context interviews with food service-related personnel were conducted. In these interviews, we talked with nine persons, where four were cooks and others were some type of manager or assistant. Hereby the main designs insights and opportunities are identified.

Weekly Basis Planning. Overall food stocks management works on a weekly basis, and until the end of each week orders are place with food suppliers to be delivered in the following week. With the exception of fresh products, staple ingredients, those use on a weekly basis, are bought in advance and in bulk. While menus are planned in advance, they need to be flexible enough to account for unforeseen situations, such as problems with food suppliers or donations.

Information Heuristics. The process of creating menus in the places that we visited is based on informal heuristics and the tacit experience of the people who work at the kitchen. The process is rather informal and derives a lot from the knowledge passed down between cooks. In most places menus weekly created weekly by the cooks, or by other personnel at the institution.

While the process of planning meals was quite informal, several heuristics, rules, or available resources constrain what goes into the decision-making process of creating a meal plan:

- Alternate between meat and fish on a daily basis.
- Do not repeat fish or meat on the same day.
- Alternate the garnish, e.g., do not serve rice two times in a row.
- Avoid repeating dishes from the last two weeks.
- Preparing food in advance.
- Special meals for holiday and special events, such as national and local holidays, religious festivities. Some religious customs compel people to follow a particular time of diet, e.g.
- Use dishes appropriated to each season. For instance, warmer meals are more comfortable in cold weather.
- Avoid fresh products on Monday, since it might be more difficult to get fresh products on Mondays.
- The diet dish should be similar to the normal dish, e.g. same ingredients but different cooking process. Such arrangement makes the logistic simple. The need for human resources and equipment is reduced since some steps are shared between dishes. Also, all seniors will be eating the same type of food, avoiding to draw attention to the fact they are eating diet food.
- Adapt dishes according to the human recourses available, e.g. a more labor intensive dish cannot be picked if there are workers on holiday.
- Health and safety guidelines must be followed when creating the meal plans. For instance, some foods cannot be served at some times of the year.

Menu Composition. Lunch and dinner followed same basic structure in the visited cafeterias, and overall consisted of a main dish, soup and dessert. Regarding the main dish, with a single exception, institutions offered a diet dish in alternative to the main dish. Diet dishes would have to be required by seniors, and often a medical prescription was required. Overall, the diet dish is very similar to the normal dish, but with a different cooking process or type of garnish. The advantage of such arrangement it is in the simpler logistics. The need for human resources and equipment is reduced since some steps are shared between dishes. Moreover, all seniors will be eating the same type of food, thus not picking out anyone because of their diet and avoiding the natural longings

from seniors who cannot eat the normal dish. In addition to the main meals, institutions often offered morning and afternoon snack. These meals followed a more relaxed planning. That is, more or less the same products were served in all of these meals.

Dietary Restrictions. At their age, dietary restrictions are common, so cooks need to consider the individual needs of seniors in the planning of meals. While a different meal for each senior is impractical, variations of the same dish (e.g. fewer carbohydrates and more vegetables for diabetics) can be prepared. The documentation of dietary restrictions of seniors seems to be rather informal, and in some cases, it was only kept in the memory of the people at the institution.

Since dental problems are more common in older people, cafeterias had to consider special meals for these seniors. One common option is to offer a blend of the normal dish. With such strategy there is no need to cook different dishes, and only an additional step is required at the end of the cooking process. Another alternative mentioned is to serve baby food or porridges.

Cooking What Seniors Like. Cooking food that seniors are used to and like to eat was agreed to be essential for a good acceptance of food, and for a peaceful meal time. Tradition is an important part of the process of deciding what to cook. Seniors are used to eat traditional food, and those are the dishes they yearn the most. Likewise, they are usually not very keen on trying different ingredients and flavors. While institutions do not have formal procedures to collect feedback from seniors, they are typically quite vocal regarding what they like or do not like to eat. A significant part of planning meals comes from knowing the seniors and what they like to eat. Some of the cooks and technician have been with the same seniors for years, so already know what they like to eat.

3.3 Older Adults

In order to look into seniors' perspective with regards to healthy eating with conducted a group session with seniors, to understand the needs and issues they face when trying to have healthy eating habits, and how they deal with those same issues. We have approached this study with two main objectives in mind: (1) to identify barriers inhibiting seniors from developing healthier eating habits; (2) explore new ideas to promote healthier eating habits.

Two group sessions were conducted. In the first session about nine seniors participated in the conversation, although there were other seniors present in the room. Seven seniors participated in the second session. The results gathered in these sessions are described next.

Resisting to Temptations and Desires. The most predominant issue that seniors faced is what they describe as temptations or desires. Here we are not talking about urges to eat substantial meals, but rather desires to indulge in sweet treats or other kind of snacks. The lack of control is a main problem, since it takes a real effort to resist to the temptations that one goes through during a normal day. Seniors are well aware of their bad eating habits but eating is one of the few activities where they still have pleasure. At that point in life they want to indulge in something that gives them pleasure, even if is not the most sensible choice.

Out of Sight, Out of Mind. To deal with temptations and desires, the most common strategy used by seniors is what we can define as out of sight, out of mind. In order not to fall into temptation, they would simply refrain from buying tempting food. To put it simply, the approach used by seniors is to hide temptations from sights, and to limit in advance one's means to acquire those enticing products in the first place.

Aversion to Change. Seniors' aversion to change might be a potential problem to account for when trying to conceive diverse meal plans. Some seniors have quite rigid eating habits, and did not seem very keen to try new things.

Not Drinking Enough Water. While seniors seem to be well aware of the importance of drinking enough water, this is not something they do naturally. They are more than warned by their doctors to drink more often, drinking water requires a serious effort on their part. There is even some resistance to drinking water, and the winter seems to exacerbate the problem since they are less thirsty, and cold drinks are less enjoyable. To address the need of ingesting more fluids, one strategy is to drink warmer beverages such as tea and even coffee. Foods that have a large water content, such a soup, can also be used as an alternative to drinking plain water.

4 System Overview

In [11] the first prototype of SousChef, a meal recommender system for older adults was presented. In the referred work tests to the recommender system and mobile application were made with older adults, to infer, on the one hand, the adequacy and quality of the meal plans suggested and, on the other hand, to test the usability of the mobile application itself for this specific audience. In the next two sections we present an improved version of the system taking into account these results.

The SousChef system is composed of a central cloud server and a mobile application, the user interface for the system. The cloud server is responsible for centrally storing the information of the system and making it accessible through web service application programming interfaces (APIs). Its easy accessibility also facilitates the integration of information from other sources, which is demonstrated through the integration with Fitbit cloud services to retrieve users' activity measurements measured by Fitbit⁵ devices.

The generation of recommendations can be triggered by the mobile devices through web service APIs and consider information from different sources: personal information provided using the user interface, activity data through Fitbit devices and nutritional information from the food composition database. Work performed on top this database will be described in the following subsection, followed by a detailed description of the recommender system.

⁵ http://www.fitbit.com/eu/home.

4.1 Food and Recipe Database

The development of the SousChef system was based on the Portuguese Food Composition database elaborated by INSA [20]. This database contains the nutritional composition of over a thousand products (1094), including raw, cooked and processed ingredients and information about 42 nutrients. For calculation of nutrients in recipes, Euro Fir method was used [21]. The energy and salt values were calculated according Regulation (EU) N.° 1169/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October 2011. In this system context, a recipe does not refer to the instructions to prepare the meal, but rather to a combination of ingredients and respective quantities. Besides including food nutritional information, the LanguaL framework has been used to categorize food according to different criteria including its source, physical state, processing method.

The first task to prepare the database for the purpose of meal recommendations consisted in selecting the ingredients that were suited for the system, namely removing ingredients that are not suitable for direct consumption (e.g. raw chicken) and specific ingredients (e.g. salty chips) which are not considered healthy for the target group. Afterwards, and in order to ensure that SousChef's recommendations are not only suitable for every meal of the day and for the target population, but also culturally acceptable, combinations of recipes and ingredients were created. In the context of this system, a recipe does not refer to the instructions to prepare the meal, but rather to a combination of ingredients and respective quantities. It is worth noticing that the selection of ingredients and recipe creation were performed by a nutritionist.

Each meal of the day has been subdivided in meal divisions and combinations of ingredients have been created for each of those divisions. The recommendation for a meal will comprise a combination for each division. Table 1 shows how meals have been subdivided and how many recipes were created for each division. Each combination comprises the list of ingredients and respective quantities based on a daily intake of 2000 kcal.

The LanguaL descriptors have also been used to group food into product categories. Each product category represents products that need to be bought for different food. An example of a product category is pork spare ribs, which is what one needs to buy to cook grilled, stewed or boiled spare ribs. The price for each product category has been estimated so it can be considered in the recommendations.

4.2 Recommender System

The implemented recommender system follows a content-based approach and mainly employs information retrieval techniques [19]. The algorithm to create a personalized weekly meal plan has three main steps: calculation of nutritional requirements, selection of food items for each meal and scaling the meals to match the user's caloric needs (Fig. 1).

The Estimated Energy Requirement (EER) is calculated from the Institute of Medicine Equation [22] which considers person's characteristics (age, sex, weight, height) and a Physical Activity coefficient. The latest is calculated based on the Total Energy Expenditure measured using Fitbit devices.

Meal of day	Meal division	Number of recipes
Breakfast	Cereal	145
	Fruit	31
	Milk or milk derivate	10
Middle morning	Main dish	149
	Fruit	31
Lunch	Main dish	194
	Soup	18
	Dessert	38
Middle afternoon	Main dish	149
	Fruit	31
Dinner	Main dish	190
	Soup	18
	Dessert	38
After dinner	Main dish	149
	Fruit	31

Table 1. Meal of day divisions and respective number of created recipes.



Fig. 1. Overview of SousChef meal recommendation algorithm.

The algorithm was designed in collaboration with a nutritionist and the applied heuristics followed the general WHO guidelines [6]. A summary of nutrient intake recommendations for older persons (age > 65) included in SousChef system are summarized in Table 2. Moreover, dietary recommendations using the "food-based dietary guideline approach" [23] were also taken into account.

According to the Portuguese Nutritionists Association, a person should eat five to six meals per day [24]. However, to allow a smoother transition of eating habits, SousChef is able to recommend between 4 and 6 daily meals. To do so, the system needs to be configured by a nutritionist, defining how the daily energy should be distributed across meals for each number of daily meals option.

Nutrient	Recommendation
Energy	1.4–1.8 multiples of the BMR to maintain body weight at different levels of physical activity
Protein	0.9-1.1 g/kg per day are beneficial for healthy older persons
Lipids	30% of the daily energy in sedentary older persons and 35% for active older persons; consumption of saturated fats should be minimized and not exceed 8% of energy
Carbohydrates	55 to 60% of the daily energy

Table 2. Summary of nutritional guidelines for healthy ageing [6].

After estimating the user's caloric needs, the next step consists in selecting the most appropriate ingredient combinations for each meal division considering the user personal context. The meal planning context consists of the user's personal information, including nutritional needs and food preferences, as well as meal planning history (in order to enable dietary diversity in the resulting plan). Considering the previously created combinations as candidates, for each meal of the week being planned, a two phase selection process will determine the most suitable candidate for that meal division. The first phase consists of applying restriction rules, which filters candidates that are not suitable for a given meal and context. Multiple rules have been implemented for removing candidates: limiting repeated recipes in the same week by removing candidates which have been used in planning more than twice; removing any candidates that include comfort food; filtering candidates that include ingredients users are allergic to; and excluding not suitable cereal accompaniments (cereals should be combined with milk or voghurt, it should not be combined with e.g. coffee or sugar added milk).

The next phase consists in selecting the most suitable candidate from the ones that were not filtered. This is performed by calculating a score S for each candidate c according to different criteria reflected by heuristic functions Hn. Each heuristic function evaluates the meal planning context, which meal is being planned and each candidate to assign a suitability score between 0.0 and 1.0. Higher scores will be attributed to more suitable candidates according to the criteria reflected by the heuristic. Different heuristic functions have been implemented to reflect the criteria identified by the nutritionist. One of them consists in favouring main dish combinations with the same soup in four consecutive meals (about one litre). The idea behind this criterion is allowing users to cook soup once for several days. The heuristic function checks if the series of one litre was met. If so, the same value (0.5) is assigned to every candidate. Otherwise, 0 is assigned to candidates with a different soup and 1 to the others. Another criterion is to favour meat dishes for lunch and fish for dinner in order to have lighter dinners. For main dishes, the candidates meeting the criteria are assigned the score 1 and 0 to the others. All candidates for other meals are assigned 0.5. Users' food preferences are also considered. Using the application, users are able to provide ratings to ingredients from 1 to 3, which are normalized into a value between 0 and 1. The preference for a candidate is calculated by combining the preference for each of its composing ingredients whenever available or the value 0.5 instead. The energy suitability heuristic attributes higher preference to recipes whose energy value is closer to user energy requirements for a given meal. Another heuristic reflects a Portuguese nutritional guideline to include white meat in the diet, which tries to include recipes with white meat ingredients at least three times per week.

Other important factors besides nutrition and food preferences impact food choice, price is one of them [25]. Therefore it should also be considered by the recommendation engine, two heuristics have been implemented for this. The first gives preference to recipes with lower cost when compared to alternatives for the same meal division. The second tries to reduce the number of different product categories in the plan in order to foster reducing waste and shortening one's shopping list. For the same person, according to all previous heuristics, the same recipes would always be the optimal for each meal and the resulting plan would always be the same. To prevent this, an ingredient variety was implemented that attributes lower scores to recipes whose ingredients have already been planned. The score that is attributed is affected by temporal proximity, i.e. lower scores are attributed to food that have been used more recently than before.

The final score, S, for a candidate is calculated as the weighted average of the values calculated by each heuristic function and a respective weight representing its importance. The chosen candidate for each meal being planned is the one with the highest suitability score S. The approach followed by this algorithm benefits the scalability of the system, since it facilitates the inclusion of new restrictions and heuristics to consider new criteria and data to provide users with better recommendations. It also enables in the future to use different weights to each heuristic function for each user, personalizing the recommendations even further.

Once the ingredient combination has been chosen for each meal, the final step of the planning process consists in scaling the ingredient quantities in order to match the energy requirements of that particular individual. The previously calculated caloric requirements for a given meal are compared with the total energy of the ingredients in the chosen candidate's plan. If the difference is higher than an acceptable deviation, the quantity of the ingredients will be scaled to suit the requirements. To ensure that daily nutrient requirements are maintained, only ingredients from specific categories will be scaled: cereals, fruit and vegetables, dairy products, meat, fish, eggs and oil. The new quantity for each scalable ingredient is then calculated using a weighted average so the quantity of more caloric ingredients changes more than others, therefore reducing the changed amount in grams of the overall combination.

5 Mobile Application

The first prototype on nutrition, SousChef, is organized in three different components: the meal plan, the grocery list, and the activity monitoring.

To support these different components, there is a profile that aggregates the different settings and preferences which are used to refine the system. The profile contains anthropometric data, food-related preferences and activity profile. Regarding the foodrelated preferences, two levels of control are provided: food restrictions, and dietary considerations. While food restrictions are hard constraints, meaning that food added to the food restrictions list will not be returned in the meal recommendation, dietary considerations work with a similar principle, but only in a group level, restricting an entire set of products, and consist of a predefined list of diets that can be followed by the user.

In Fig. 2, the main dashboard of the application is shown and also some details about the profile area. In the top of the screen, the user can see different nutritional contextual tips, for information purposes. Also it should be noticed that the user can always change information regarding their weight or personal preferences in order to obtain meal recommendations more suited to his profile.

5.1 Meal Plan

The Meal Plan section is not only the central component of the entire system from a technical perspective but also from the point of view of the user. The Meal Plan fulfils two main goals: to generate new meal plans, and to track the user's food intake. In the application, the Meal Plan section is responsible for presenting all the information related to nutrition.

The Meal Plan (Fig. 3) is the place to record everything that the user eats throughout the day. There are two different ways to log information into the food diary: (1) Automatic food recommendations; (2) Manual input.

Automatic Food Recommendation. The fundamental feature of this system is the ability to generate personalized meals plan according to the needs of the user.

Manual Input. Considering that the recommendations generated by the system might not be enough to cover all the different scenarios involved in a typical diet, it is also possible to manually record additional information in the diary.

In addition to the food diary, which provides a quick overview of the user's diet, each recipe or ingredient has a dedicated view to display additional information and actions (Fig. 4). The nutritional information of a product is one of the aspects that are provided in this user interface. Besides the energy value in calories, there is also the macro and micro nutrients information.

Basic mechanisms for editing the product and the diary (for example, removing products from the diary) are also provided. The user is able to control the recommender engine by removing ingredients from the list of approved products and also to replace the meal that was initially suggested. However, the control level is rather limited since users are only able to make binary decisions.

In order to empower the user with additional control of the system, another feature particularly important in terms of personalization is the ability to personally rate the products both recipes and ingredients. Whereas in the former case the system works with hard constraints that remove products from the recommender engine entirely, in the latter case the user input is used to influence the weight of a product in the engine. The rating system used in this evaluation contains three different values, which are used to adjust the weight of the product when a new plan is generated. From the perspective of the user, this translates to (Fig. 4) - "I don't like it that much", "I like it", and "I love it". For instance, a product rated with the first score will not stop being recommended to the user, but since it has a lower weight, it will be recommended less often.

.1≋0 के .ad sex∎ 17:54		
Feeling that cold	← Personal info	← Food restrictions
outside? Your meal plan will start showing more fresh orange juice now		Food you don't like or cannot eat Search food Q
	Add photo	Food I would not like considered
	First name	Morango × REMOVE
Meal plan >	Healthy	
📜 Grocery list	Last name	
e Activity	Senior	
Profile >	Date of birth	
	July 1, 1965	

Fig. 2. SousChef main screen (left), personal information (center) and food restrictions (right) detail screens.

ا®18:01 أ€ 🕼 😤 الحالي 🖉	🖬 🛛 🖗 🛜 📶 54% 🖹 17:58	🖬 الازي 🛜 🚧 🖂
← Meal planner	← Meal planner	← Meal
< 🖬 20 Aug >	K Sterday	S C
No plan vet	DINNER	
No plan yet	Pêssego Creme de cenoura	
	Cherne grelhado, Arroz cozido sim	
	Ananás 🗘 REPLACE MEAL	
EDIT PREFERENCES	SUPPER + ADD TO GROCERIES	
+ CREATE NEW PLAN	Pão de mistura de trigo e centeio	

Fig. 3. Meal plan creation screens, when no plan was created and afterwards (left and center), and particular ingredient view (right).



Fig. 4. Recipe ingredient view (left), rating screen (center) and nutrient information (right) details.

5.2 Grocery List

The goal of the Grocery List component is to help the user with shopping related activities. This component takes on a physical grocery list, but augments it with new capabilities (Fig. 5). Even though not being the central piece of SousChef, this component can be a valuable tool in the above mentioned goal to assist food management.

The main features of the Grocery List are the integration with the Meal Plan component and the ability to automatically add products to the list based on the ingredients of a recipe. In addition to these features, the user has also the option to manually add new products to the list based on a database search.

Since the goal of this component is to assist users in their shopping activities, there was the concern to design a user interface that would be easy to use in the wild, e.g. in the supermarket. Therefore, one characteristic of the system is the ability to work offline, so that the user does not need an Internet connection to access his or her grocery list while in the supermarket. Users are also able to mark products as bought as they go, and that information will be synchronized the next time there is an Internet connection. Moreover, products are organized by aisles to make the shopping process in the store more efficient.

5.3 Activity Monitoring

Along with nutrition, an important part of a healthy lifestyle is a person's activity level. The Activity Monitoring used in the SousChef presents the users with metrics related to their activity (Fig. 6).

Given that one of the inputs required by the system in order to generate new meals is the level of activity of the user, the Activity Monitoring component is responsible for

🚥 🖬 📂 🛛 🔯 🕯 🖬 18:09	🖃 📂 🛛 🛤 🛜 📶 50% 🖻 18:10	
← Groceries list	← Grocery	← Groceries list
What do you need to buy? be Q Search	Beringela	What do you need to buy? Search new groceries Q
Beringela	3 - +	VEGETABLES
	Unit	2 Arroz
beef be best > 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 0	kg ~	3 Beringela
qwertyuiop		DAIRY
asdfghjkl		2 Leite
Sym 🗱 English(UK) Q		MEAT

Fig. 5. Groceries list screens: search of products (left), product details (center) and groceries list overview (right).

☑ i≫i 常 "d 50% ■ 18:02	☑ 3≈3 常 .dl 54% ■ 17:57	באון 50% ב
← Devices	← Activity monitor	← Activity Level
Connect your devices with SousChef	Walk 30 minutes a day	How active are you?
Fitbit	(*)	Sedentary O
	26m	Lighty Active
		Moderately active Somewhat regular exercise
	Calories burned	Very Active O Several times a week
	😲 Steps >	Extremely active O
	Active time	

Fig. 6. Activity monitoring example screens: connection to Fitbit devices (left), available details on activity monitoring (center) and activity level scale (right).

collecting user activity data and feeding those data to the recommender engine. In order to do that the system can be connected to an activity monitoring device such as a Fitbit bracelet. Afterwards, the system is able to collect and display calories burned, steps and active time. For each of these metrics, daily objectives can be set in order to raise awareness to their healthy physical activity habits. The information gathered from such devices is then converted to a scale that classifies the level of activity as belonging to one of five levels, ranging from "sedentary" to "extremely active". The advantage of using a wearable device such as Fitbit is that the user activity information can be collected seamlessly, without direct input, with a reasonable level of accuracy, and updated automatically to our system.

Nevertheless, and in order to free the system from dependence on external devices or systems, it is also possible to manually insert this information in the user profile. In such scenario, the charts with the user activity information would not be used.

6 Conclusions and Future Work

In this work important insights of potential stakeholders in the domain of nutrition of older adults are presented. This research focused on nutritionists, food management providers and older adults and aimed to gather the perspectives within this domain.

The presented results were of outmost importance for the design of SousChef, a mobile meal recommender system to assist older adults by providing a nutrition companion to guide them into making wise decisions regarding food management and healthy eating habits that has been firstly presented in [11].

Moreover, in this work an improved version of the meal recommender system is described based upon the results presented in [11]. Now the users can choose between 4 to 6 meals to be planned per day, in order to adapt to their preferences. Also new heuristics were added to the system to better reflect the Portuguese nutritional guide-lines and information about food prices in order foster reducing waste and shortening one's shopping list. Finally, more details on the mobile application were here presented.

As future work, it is intended to realize an evaluation of the recommender output, namely to evaluate the adequacy of recommendations when different combinations are selected, from 4 to 6 meals per day. Another topic to be evaluated in the future is the adequacy of suggestion of alternative dishes for a meal. The current system allows users to get an alternative dish if they do not like the initial suggestion. This is a new feature and it was not tested before.

Acknowledgments. We would like to acknowledge the financial support from North Portugal Regional Operational Programme (NORTE 2020), Portugal 2020 and the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) from European Union through the project 'Deus ex Machina: Symbiotic Technology for Societal Efficiency Gains', NORTE-01-0145-FEDER-000026.

References

- World Health Organization: Definition of an older or elderly person. WHO, Geneva (2010). http://www.who.int/healthinfo/survey/ageingdefnolder/en/index.html. Accessed 10 Oct 2017
- Eurostat. Population Projections 2008–2060. http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_STAT-08-119_en.pdf. Accessed 10 Oct 2017

- Amaral, T.F., Santos, A., Guerra, R.S., Sousa, A.S., Álvares, L., Valdiviesso, R., Afonso, C., Padrão, P., Martins, C., Ferro, G., Moreira, P., Borges, N.: Nutritional strategies facing an older demographic: the nutrition UP 65 study protocol. JMIR Res. Protoc. 5(3), e184 (2016). https://doi.org/10.2196/resprot.6037
- 4. Instituto Nacional de Estatística IP. Censos Resultados definitivos. Portugal 2011 (2012)
- Saka, B., Kaya, O., Ozturk, G.B., Erten, N., Karan, M.A.: Malnutrition in the elderly and its relationship with other geriatric syndromes. Clin. Nutr. 29, 745–748 (2010). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.clnu.2010.04.006
- World Health Organization: Keep fit for life: meeting the nutritional needs of older persons. In: Keep Fit for Life: Meeting the Nutritional Needs of Older Persons. World Health Organisation (2002). ISBN 92-4-156210-2
- Lopes, C., Torres, D., Oliveira, A., Severo, M., Alarcão, V., Guiomar, S., Mota, J., Teixeira, P., Rodrigues, S., Lobato, L., Magalhães, V., Correia, D., Pizarro, A., Marques, A., Vilela, S., Oliveira, L. Nicola, P., Soares, S., Ramos, E.: Inquérito Alimentar Nacional e de Atividade Física 2015–2016. Universidade do Porto (2017)
- Madeira, T., Peixoto-Plácido, C., Goulão, B., Mendonça, N., Alarcão, V., Santos, N., Machado de Oliveira, R., Yngve, A., Bye, A., Bergland, A., Lopes, C., Nicola, P., Santos, O.: National survey of the portuguese elderly nutritional status: study protocol. BMC Geriatr. 16(1), 139 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-016-0299-x
- Ramic, E., Pranjic, N., Batic-Mujanovic, O., Karic, E., Alibasic, E., Alic, A.: The effect of loneliness on malnutrition in elderly population. Med. Arch. 65(2), 92 (2011)
- 10. Ministry of Health: Food and Nutrition Guidelines for Healthy Older People: A background paper. Ministry of Health, Wellington (2013). ISBN 978-0-478-39399-6
- Ribeiro, D., Machado, J., Ribeiro, J., Vasconcelos, M., Vieira, E., de Barros, A.C.: SousChef: mobile meal recommender system for older adults. In: Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health, ICT4AWE, vol. 1, pp. 36–45 (2017). ISBN 978-989-758-251-6
- Aberg, J.: Dealing with malnutrition: a meal planning system for elderly. In: AAAI Spring Symposium: Argumentation for Consumers of Healthcare, pp. 1–7 (2006)
- Mika, S.: Challenges for nutrition recommender systems. In: Proceedings of the 2nd Workshop on Context Aware Intel. Assistance, Berlin, Germany, pp. 25–33. Citeseer (2011)
- 14. Sezgin, E., Özkan, S.: A systematic literature review on health recommender systems. In: E-Health and Bioengineering Conference (EHB), pp. 1–4. IEEE (2013)
- 15. Hazman, M., Idrees, A.M.: A healthy nutrition expert system for children. In: E-Health and Bioengineering Conference (EHB), pp. 1–4. IEEE (2015)
- 16. Espín, V., Hurtado, M.V., Noguera, M.: Nutrition for elder care: a nutritional semantic recommender system for the elderly. Expert Syst. **33**(2), 201–210 (2015)
- 17. Terrenghi, L., Hilliges, O., Butz, A.: Kitchen stories: sharing recipes with the living cookbook. Pers. Ubiquit. Comput. **11**(5), 409–414 (2007)
- Kuo, F.F., Li, C.T., Shan, M.K., Lee, S.Y.: Intelligent menu planning: recommending set of recipes by ingredients. In: Proceedings of the ACM Multimedia 2012 Workshop on Multimedia for Cooking and Eating Activities, pp. 1–6. ACM (2012)
- Adomavicius, G., Tuzhilin, A.: Toward the next generation of recommender systems: a survey of the state-of-the-art and possible extensions. IEEE Trans. Knowl. Data Eng. 17(6), 734–749 (2005)
- Ministério da Saúde: Tabela da composição de alimentos. Instituto Nacional de Saúde Dr Ricardo Jorge. Centro de Segurança Alimentar e Nutrição. 1a Edição. Compil. Ilda Martins; concep., elab. e coord. da edição Andreia Porto e Luísa Oliveira. INSA: Lisboa, p. 355 (2006). ISBN 978-972-8643-19-5

- Vásquez-Caicedo, A., Bell, S., Hartmann, B.: D2.2.9 Report on collection of rules on use of recipe calculation procedures including the use of yield and retention factors for imputing nutrient values for composite foods. European Food Information Resource Network (EuroFIR) (2005)
- Institute of Medicine: Dietary Reference Intakes for Energy, Carbohydrate, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protein, and Amino Acids. The National Academies Press, Washington, DC (2005). https://doi.org/10.17226/10490
- Wahlqvist, M.L., Kouris-Blazos, A., Savige, S.: Food-based dietary guidelines for older adults: healthy ageing and prevention of chronic noncommunicable diseases. In: Keep Fit for Life: Meeting the Nutritional Needs of Older Persons, pp. 81–111. World Health Organisation, Geneva (2002). ISBN 92-4-156210-2
- 24. Cordeiro, T.: Alimentação Adequada: Faça mais pela sua saúde. APN Associação Portugues de Nutricionistas (2011). ISBN 978-989-96506-6-4
- Furst, T., Connors, M., Bisogni, C.A., Sobal, J., Falk, L.W.: Food choice: a conceptual model of the process. Appetite 26(3), 247–266 (1996)



Study on Indicators for Depression in the Elderly Using Voice and Attribute Information

Masakazu Higuchi^{1(⊠)}, Shuji Shinohara¹, Mitsuteru Nakamura¹, Yasuhiro Omiya², Naoki Hagiwara², Takeshi Takano², Shunji Mitsuyoshi¹, and Shinichi Tokuno¹

¹ Verbal Analysis of Pathophysiology, Graduate School of Medicine, The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan {higuchi,shinokan99,m-nakamura,mitsuyoshi,tokuno}@m.u-tokyo.ac.jp
² Research and Product Development Department, PST Inc., Kanagawa, Japan {omiya,hagiwara,takano}@medical-pst.com

Abstract. As the age of the human population increases worldwide, depression in elderly patients has become a problem in medical care. In this study, we analyzed voice-emotion component data, attribute data, and Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) scores by multivariate analysis, particularly in the elderly, and proposed evaluation indicators for estimating the state of depression of elderly patients. We divided the data into two groups according to BDI scores: a state of depression and the absence of this state. The labels distinguishing the two groups were dependent variables, while the voice-emotion component and attribute information were set as independent variables, and we performed logistic regression analysis on the data. We obtained a prediction model with significantly sufficient fitness. In the receiver operating characteristic curve for the proposed depression evaluation indicator, a sorting performance with an area under the curve of approximately 0.93 was obtained.

Keywords: Voice · Emotion recognition · Depression Beck depression inventory · Attribute information

1 Introduction

In recent years, society has become more aged worldwide [28]. Elderly people often develop depression because of physical impairment, anxiety about health, death of friends, and loneliness because of living alone, among other reasons; along with dementia, depression is common among elderly people [6].

Self-descriptive psychological tests such as General Health Questionnaire [11] and Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) [4] are commonly used as screening methods for mentally impaired patients. The self-descriptive psychological test is noninvasive and relatively simple, but it cannot eliminate the influence of reporting bias. Reporting bias is the selective underexposure or overestimation of specific information because of the consciousness/unconsciousness of the respondents [8].

In a previous study, we developed a method for estimating mental health state, such as depression state and stress state, based on voice information [14, 24, 27]. Analysis using voice is advantageous because it is noninvasive and does not require a special dedicated device, and can be performed easily and remotely. The authors focused on speech over telephone calls, which uses voice on a daily basis; using smartphones, which have become increasingly popular in recent years, we developed a system for monitoring mental health state from the voice at the time of a call (MIMOSYS: Mind Monitoring System) [20]. We hope that by using this system to monitor mental health state on a daily basis, it will become possible to prevent mental problems. MIMOSYS is based on Sensibility Technology (ST) [22], and digitizes and outputs the mental health state from voice. ST estimates the emotion of the speaker based on changing patterns in the fundamental frequency during a conversation. Five emotions, "calmness", "anger", "joy", "sorrow", and "excitement", are analyzed in the voice. In MIMOSYS, "vitality", which digitizes the health condition immediately after a call from the emotion analyzed by ST, and "mental activity", which quantifies medium- and long-term health condition, are outputted. By monitoring changes over time in the mental activity, it is possible to determine the health condition and may lead to self-medication, self-control, or early visit to a hospital. However, when trying to use MIMOSYS for screening, previous studies suggested that the mental activity correlates with the BDI score [12, 13], while in our studies, this correlation was not clearly observed (unpublished). Thus, it is necessary to improve the accuracy of this technology.

In this study, we propose a voice evaluation indicator that differs from the mental activity for screening of depression state with better accuracy in the elderly. Additionally, this research expands upon the paper [14] presented at the Information and Communication Technologies for Aging Well and e-Health (ICT4AWE 2017), an international conference held in Porto, Portugal.

2 Method

2.1 Target

Subjects. Of the MIMOSYS users, we targeted those who were aged ≥ 65 years because the United Nation's World Health Organization defines elderly people as those aged ≥ 65 years.

MIMOSYS is open to the public as a smartphone application. In this system, after the user agrees to participate in research, an individual ID is assigned to the user and registered in a dedicated server in an anonymized state. Attribute data by a questionnaire such as age at the time of registration is also saved. Every time a user makes a phone call using a smartphone, the analysis result is recorded on the same server. Analysis results include emotional components/mental activities. Voice at the time of calling is temporarily recorded on the smartphone,

analyzed on the smartphone when the call ends, recorded as an analysis result in the server, and immediately deleted.

In this study, we analyzed data collected from July 20, 2015, which is the first date of MIMOSYS availability, to July 20, 2016. During this time, the total number of downloads was almost 3000; of these, 1456 users agreed to participate in the research, responded to the questionnaire at the time of enrollment, and spoke on the phone. However, after users for whom data could not be properly collected depending on the situation of the communication were excluded, 1436 subjects remained. Of these, 35 people were ≥ 65 years of age. Table 1 shows the details for all users who made calls.

		Male	Female	Total
Age	16-19	22	27	49
	20-29	155	147	302
	30–39	235	142	377
	40-49	242	141	383
	50 - 59	165	74	239
	60–64	39	12	51
	65–69	20	8	28
	70–74	2	2	4
	75-79	2	1	3
Tota	1	882	554	1436

Table 1. Details of all users who made calls (from [14]).

The mean age across the entire population was 40 years (SD = 12), with averages of 41 years (SD = 12) for males and 37 years (SD = 12) for females. The minimum age was 16 years for both males and females, while the maximum age was 76 years for males and 75 years for females.

BDI Score. In MYMOSYS, a BDI questionnaire is performed on a smartphone every 3 months from the start of system use, and its score is recorded on the same server. Of the 35 subjects, we analyzed 33 users aged above 65 years who made phone calls within 2 weeks of the BDI questionnaire. Data collected within 2 weeks of the BDI questionnaire were judged to be effective because the diagnostic criteria of DSM-IV [3] for depression suggests that a state should be maintained for at least 2 weeks. In addition, for users who completed the BDI questionnaire multiple times, we analyzed data collected within 2 weeks of each questionnaire. Finally, we obtained efficacy data for 41 BDI scores from 33 subjects.

We also grouped data from analysis targets based on the criteria for evaluating the BDI score. Although there have been multiple studies of the criteria for evaluating BDI score [7,17], because highly accurate patient screening results have been reported for the criteria used by Beck et al. [5], we used the same criteria in the present study. This criteria for evaluation are shown in Table 2.

0–10	Ups and downs are considered normal
11-16	Mild mood disturbance
17-20	Borderline clinical depression
21-30	Moderate depression
31-40	Severe depression
41-63	Extreme depression
	0–10 11–16 17–20 21–30 31–40 41–63

Table 2. Evaluation criteria of BDI score.

In this study, we conducted verification by dividing the subjects into two groups, one with BDI scores of ≥ 17 that require a physician's diagnosis (clinical depression) and those with BDI score < 17 and not requiring a diagnosis (normal). This threshold value of a BDI score of 17 is a boundary value for the state of depression. The number of people belonging to the former group and latter group was 3 and 30, respectively. In addition, for users who conducted the BDI questionnaire multiple times, those classified to the clinical depression group based on the first BDI score also had a BDI score of ≥ 17 from the second and subsequent times. Users classified into the normal group based on the first BDI score sof < 17 from second and subsequent times. Therefore, there were no overlapping users between the two groups.

Voice Data. A total of 672 pieces of effective voice data were collected within 2 weeks of the BDI questionnaire for the 33 subjects. In the clinical depression and normal groups, the numbers of voice data obtained were 50 and 622, respectively.

2.2 Analysis of Emotion

MIMOSYS estimates mental health based on components of emotions contained in the voice. There are 5 types of emotions analyzed by MIMOSYS, calmness, anger, joy, sorrow, and excitement, calculated with ST, and each component is calculated with real numbers [0, 1]. A value of 0 indicates that the input voice contains none of the emotions in question. A value of 1 indicates that the emotion in question is certainly contained in the input voice.

The minimum unit of voice-emotion analysis by MIMOSYS is "utterance", which indicates continuous speech punctuated by respiration. In practice, the start of speech is detected when the state of silence changes to state of utterance, and this condition is maintained for a certain period. A state of utterance or state of silence is identified by thresholding the amplitude value of the temporal waveform of the voice.

2.3 Logistic Regression Analysis

For logistic regression analysis [2], the clinical depression group and normal group were represented by qualitative values of 1 and 0, respectively. These numbers were used as labels to distinguish the two groups and were assigned to dependent variables during logistic regression analysis.

In logistic regression analysis, a logistic curve rather than a line was fitted to the model. Thus, if the dependent variable is Y and the independent variables are X_1, X_2, \ldots, X_n , the following predictive formula is obtained from [14]:

$$Y = \frac{1}{1 + \exp(-\alpha_0 - \alpha_1 X_1 - \alpha_2 X_2 - \dots - \alpha_n X_n)}$$
(1)

In this study, analysis was carried out by making depression state level a dependent variable and making emotional components and attribute information independent variables as follows:

$$Y = (\text{Depression state}),$$

$$X_1 = (\text{Calmness}), \ X_2 = (\text{Anger}),$$

$$X_3 = (\text{Joy}), \ X_4 = (\text{Sorrow}), \ X_5 = (\text{Excitement})$$

$$X_6 = (\text{sex}), \ X_7 = (\text{Age}), \ X_8 = (\text{History of current illness})$$
(2)

where the depression state is a qualitative value resulting from thresholding the BDI score, and calmness, anger, joy, sorrow, and excitement are emotional values analyzed by MIMOSYS (from [14]). Sex is a qualitative variable and is treated as a dummy variable in analysis. The history of current illness is the number of diseases affecting a subject when responding to the questionnaire. In the analysis, the emotional value for each call, BDI score within the immediate last two weeks, and attribute information at the time of responding to the questionnaire were set as one data set.

The performance of the prediction formula obtained by analysis was evaluated by the sensitivity, specificity, and area under the curve (AUC) of the receiver operating characteristic (RUC) curve with a cutoff point of 17 of the BDI score.

For statistical processing, the Free Software R version 3.3.2 was used for statistical analysis.

3 Results

3.1 BDI Score and Number of Calls

The minimum, maximum, and mean BDI scores were 0, 28, and 8.53 (SD = 6.50), respectively.

The mean number of calls per person during the 2 weeks after the BDI questionnaire was 16.78 times (SD = 25.66).

Each histogram is shown in Fig. 1 and Fig. 2. There were 30 people with BDI scores less than 17, and although each score was distributed uniformly, because


Fig. 1. Distribution of BDI scores for system users (modified from [14]).



Fig. 2. Distribution of the number of calls for system users (modified from [14]).



Fig. 3. Scatter plot of BDI scores and number of calls (modified from [14]).



Fig. 4. Distribution of each emotional component for system users (modified from [14]).

there were only 3 people with scores of 17 or more, these people were sparsely distributed (Fig. 1). The number of calls was $0 \sim 20$ (Fig. 2).

A scatter plot of the BDI score and number of calls per person during the 2 weeks after the BDI questionnaire is shown in Fig. 3. Spearman's rank correlation coefficient [25] was calculated as a correlation coefficient independently of the BDI score and type of distribution of the number of calls. As a result, the coefficient was -0.015 (p = 0.92 > 0.01), indicating no significant correlation.



Fig. 5. Scatter plots of BDI scores and each emotional component (modified from [14]).

3.2 Distribution of Emotional Components

Figure 4 shows a histogram of each emotional component. Calmness and excitement were most commonly present in the voices used in analysis, with low values for anger, joy, and sorrow.



Fig. 6. Distributions of normal and clinical depression for each emotional component.

A scatter plot of BDI scores and each emotional component is shown in Fig. 5. Spearman's rank correlation coefficients between the BDI score and each emotional component (calmness, anger, joy, sorrow, excitement) were $-0.36 (p < 2.20 \times 10^{-16} < 0.01)$, -0.077 (p = 0.046 < 0.05), $0.19 (p = 4.72 \times 10^{-7} < 0.01)$, $0.30 (p = 2.23 \times 10^{-15} < 0.01)$, $0.39 (p < 2.20 \times 10^{-16} < 0.01)$, respectively. Despite the significant correlation between all emotional components and BDI scores, anger and joy showed nearly no correlation with the BDI scores based on the evaluation criteria of the correlation coefficient.

Figure 6 shows the distribution of each emotional component for the normal and clinical depression groups in a box-and-whisker plot. A *t*-test to evaluate differences in the normal and clinical depression groups with respect to each emotional component revealed significant differences for all emotional components except sorrow. The Mann-Whitney U-test [21], which does not depend on

		Male	Female
	Normal	22 (418)	15 (204)
	Clinical depression	2(19)	2 (31)
p	$= 7.79 \times 10^{-5} < 0.0$	1	

Table 3. Contingency table of depression state and sex.

the type of distribution of the two groups, revealed significant differences in all emotional components.

3.3 Distribution of Attribute Information

Sex. Table 3 is a contingency table of the depression state and sex. In the table, the numbers in brackets represent the number of data points. A relationship between depression state and sex was observed by Fisher's exact test [9].

Age. A scatter plot of BDI scores and age is shown in Fig. 7. The Spearman's rank correlation coefficient between BDI scores and age was 0.18 (p = 0.25 > 0.01), indicating no significant correlation.

When statistically evaluating the differences between the normal and clinical depression groups, neither the *t*-test (p = 0.40 > 0.01) nor Mann-Whitney's U-test (p = 0.89 > 0.01) revealed significant differences between groups.

History of Current Illness. A scatter plot of BDI scores and number of current illnesses is shown in Fig. 8. The Spearman's rank correlation coefficient



Fig. 7. Scatter plot of BDI scores and age.



Fig. 8. Scatter plot of BDI scores and current illnesses.

between BDI score and the number of current illnesses was 0.45 (p = 0.0032 < 0.01), indicating a significant, moderately positive correlation.

Evaluation of the difference between the normal and clinical depression groups revealed no significant differences between groups according to the *t*-test (p = 0.066 > 0.01) and Mann-Whitney's U-test (p = 0.13 > 0.01).

3.4 Regression Coefficient

The results of the logistic regression analysis using the variable increase and decrease method together are shown in Table 4.

The estimates in the table represent the coefficients for the independent variables in the prediction formula (1). The variables chosen using the variable increase and decrease method were of 7 types, X_2 to X_8 , while X_1 (calmness)

	Estimate	Std. Error	z value	Pr(> z)	
Intercept	19.20	5.58	3.44	0.00059	*:
X_2 (Anger)	19.97	4.00	4.99	6.01×10^{-7}	*:
X_3 (Joy)	19.10	3.34	5.72	1.06×10^{-8}	*:
X_4 (Sorrow)	9.61	3.69	2.61	0.0091	*:
X_5 (Excitement)	-17.30	2.99	-5.78	7.39×10^{-9}	*:
X_6 (Sex)	-3.40	0.58	-5.90	3.75×10^{-9}	*:
X_7 (Age)	-0.35	0.077	-4.51	6.53×10^{-6}	*:
X_8 (Current illness)	1.21	0.25	4.88	1.05×10^{-6}	*:

Table 4. Results of logistic regression analysis.

was removed because it did not contribute to Y (depression state). Accordingly, the coefficient of X_1 was 0, and the prediction formula was as follows:

$$Y = \frac{1}{1 + \exp(-19.20 - E - A)}, \text{ where}$$

$$E = 19.97X_2 + 19.10X_3 + 9.61X_4 - 17.30X_5$$

$$A = -3.40X_6 - 0.35X_7 + 1.21X_8$$
(3)

When the fitness of the predicted model was evaluated using the Phosmer-Lemeshau test [2], a p-value of 0.76 was obtained. In this test, a greater significance probability indicates better fitting of the model. Therefore, sufficient fitness was demonstrated for the predicted model.

3.5 Distribution of Predicted Values

Using prediction formula (3), it is possible to predict the probability of a subject being in the clinical depression group based on each emotional component contained in the voice and attribute information. This predicted value is defined as the "Depression Evaluation Indicator (DEI)" for elderly people. A scatter plot of BDI score and DEI is shown in Fig. 9. Spearman's rank correlation coefficient between BDI score and DEI was 0.26 ($p = 1.31 \times 10^{-11} < 0.01$), indicating a significant and weakly positive correlation.



Fig. 9. Scatter plot of BDI score and DEI.

Figure 10 shows the distribution of DEI in each group as a box-and-whisker plot. When the difference in DEI between the two groups was evaluated, both the *t*-test and Mann-Whitney's U-test confirmed a significant difference.

The mean DEI values for males and females were 0.13 and 0.043, respectively. The distributions of male and female groups were significantly different according



Fig. 10. Distribution of normal and clinical depression with respect to DEI.

to both the *t*-test and Mann-Whitney's U-test ($p = 8.92 \times 10^{-10}$ and $p = 8.38 \times 10^{-11}$, respectively).

Furthermore, for 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 current illnesses, the mean DEI values were 0.029, 0.049, 0.13, 0.044, and 0.69, respectively. Multivariate analysis with the Steel-Dwass method [26] revealed significant differences in groups with 0-1, 0-2, 0-4, 1-4, and 2-4 current illnesses.

3.6 ROC Curve

The ROC curve (solid line) for DEI is shown in Fig. 11. For comparative evaluation, the ROC curve (dotted line) for the prediction formula (DEI-emotion-Only) [14] when analyzing only the emotional component as the independent variable and ROC curve (dashed line) against the vitality of MIMOSYS are also shown. A higher vitality of MIMOSYS indicates a better mental state. For the data used in this analysis, the vitality of data belonging to the normal group showed low values, and the vitality for data belonging to the clinical depression group was distributed at high values, resulting in an interpretation that contradicts the original interpretation of vitality. Therefore, the ROC curve of the vitality was calculated by reversing the interpretation of vitality.

For DEI-emotion-Only, the AUC under the ROC curve was 0.76, whereas the AUC for DEI was 0.93.

For DEI, the point at which the perpendicular from the ROC curve to AUC = 0.5 was the longest was the point at which sensitivity and specificity were 0.86 and 0.87, respectively, and the threshold of DEI at that time was 0.11. The confusion matrix for this threshold is shown in Table 5.



Fig. 11. ROC curve for DEI, DEI-emotion-Only, and Vitality.

Table 5. Confusion matrix for DEI.

		BDI			
		Normal (BDI $< 17)$	Clinical depression (BDI $\geq 17)$		
DEI	Low(< 0.11)	544	7		
	$\operatorname{High}(\geq 0.11)$	78	43		

3.7 Classification of Three Groups

To further evaluate the performance of the prediction model, we investigated the classification ability of three groups. Based on the BDI score evaluation criteria (Table 2), the normal group was further divided into two groups: healthy and borderline. The borderline group showed BDI scores between 11 and 16, which is a light depression state and does not require a physician's diagnosis but cannot be regarded healthy. For these three groups, a box-whisker plot of the DEI distribution is shown in Fig. 12. When multiple comparisons were carried out using the Steel-Dwass method, significant differences were observed among all groups.

The ROC curve for healthy and borderline is shown in Fig. 13 and the ROC curve for borderline and clinical depression is shown in Fig. 14. The values of the area under the curve (AUC) for the ROC curves were 0.70 and 0.82, respectively.

In Figs. 13 and 14, the points with the highest sensitivity and specificity are (1 - 0.80, 0.64) and (1 - 0.66, 0.86), respectively, and the threshold values of



Fig. 12. DEI distribution for healthy, borderline, and clinical depression.

DEI at that time were 0.036 and 0.11, respectively. The confusion matrices for these thresholds are shown in Tables 6 and 7, respectively.

4 Discussion

One limitation of this study is that little validation data is available. The usage rate of smartphones among the elderly is low and some users downloaded but did not use the application. It may be necessary to collect data from the elderly using another method.

Because the probability of the independent variable coefficient was significant for all selected variables, the probability appeared to be related to the depression state of the elderly. Although the anger and joy components showed nearly no correlation with BDI score, they may greatly impact the depression state based on the sign and magnitude of the independent variable coefficients. The depression state involves the symptom "getting angry and irritated", and the result for which the emotional component of anger has a great influence coincided with this symptom. The result greatly influenced by the emotional component of joy did not match the symptoms of a depression state. Based on the main symptoms of the depression state, the component of sorrow showed the strongest relationship with the degree of depression, which differed from our hypothesis. This may be because the sorrow component was weakly correlated with the BDI score, but the clinical depression distribution was somewhat lower than the normal. Additionally, in this analysis, there was no data for elderly people with a BDI score of ≥ 30 . Because the group requiring a physician's diagnosis was only in a state of moderate depression, it is possible that the influence of the sorrow



Fig. 13. ROC curve for healthy and borderline.



Fig. 14. ROC curve for borderline and clinical depression.

component was underestimated. The excitement component had a large and negative influence on depression state, which is consistent with "loss of motivation", one of the symptoms of depression. Regarding the calmness component, a weak

		BDI	
		Healthy (BDI $< 11)$	Borderline $(11 \le BDI < 17)$
DEI	Low(< 0.036)	400	45
	$\mathrm{High}(\geq 0.036)$	98	79

Table 6. Confusion matrices for healthy and borderline.

Table 7. Confusion matrices for borderline and clinical depression

		BDI	
		Borderline $(11 \le BDI < 17)$	Clinical depression (BDI ≥ 17)
DEI	Low(<0.11)	82	7
	$\operatorname{High}(\geq 0.11)$	42	43

correlation was observed with the BDI score; thus, this component was not involved in the depression state, despite the significant difference observed between the clinical depression and normal groups. Because the four emotions of "calmness", "anger", "joy", and "sorrow" were outputted to 100 percent, if the feelings of "joy" and "sorrow" are suppressed and "anger" does not change, "calmness" correspondingly increases, which may have affected the judgment. The change in emotion estimated from the above symptoms and results of this study require further analyses. Sex showed a link with BDI score, which was reflected in the model. Based on the sign of the independent variable coefficient, women tended to have a higher DEI than men. This is consistent with the fact that women tend to be more depressed than men [18]. Age was not correlated with the BDI score, and the model revealed no significant difference between clinical depression and normal subjects. In fact, the independent variable coefficient value showed a lower value than the other values, indicating that it did not have a large effect on depression state. Because the number of current illnesses was moderately and positively correlated with BDI, it was considered as related to depression. According to the sign of the independent variable, DEI generally increased as the number of diseases increased, and the number of current illnesses was successfully reflected in the model. This is consistent with the fact that a patient is more likely to become depressed if he/she is afflicted with multiple diseases [19], but among the data used for analysis, 3 and 4 current illnesses was observed only in the normal group. Half of the data were erroneously discriminated as clinical depression, and the influence of the number of current illnesses on the model was not accurately reflected.

The prediction formula obtained by analysis fit well with the data based on the fitness test. In addition, because there was a significant difference in the distribution of DEI for the clinical depression and normal groups, this indicator can be used to screen elderly people with depression. The performance of the evaluation indicator as a classifier according to sensitivity, specificity, and AUC showed a high value, and the performance was improved remarkably compared to the model that only included emotional components. However, it is necessary to apply the prediction formula obtained in this study to other data to verify its accuracy.

Although the model was used for two groups of classifiers, the proposed evaluation indicator showed good performance for classifying 3 groups but should be improved. The normal group was divided into healthy and borderline groups; by adding the clinical depression group, we established 3 groups. The borderline group was in a state of mild depression. This demonstrates that this indicator is also effective for classifying the severity of depression.

In the depression state, there is a characteristic decrease in the expression of emotion, so we developed MIMOSYS to detect trends in the emotional components of voice. In this study, we investigated the association between emotional components, attribute information, and a depressed state. In the future, we will consider using not only voice, but also activity data using a smartphone's acceleration sensor and examining their relationships with depression state. Existing approaches for detecting depression state use biometric information obtained from various sensors other than voice, such as heart rate [10], electroencephalogram [1], and facial expression [16]. Invasive approaches include the use of saliva [15] and blood [23], and this information should be incorporated into models developed in future studies.

The number of voice features reflecting emotional components may also be involved in depression. We will also consider selecting new voice features that reflect a depression state and further improve the accuracy of our model.

5 Conclusion

In this study, we used multivariate analysis to analyze voice emotional component data, attribute data, and BDI score collected from users of a system that monitors the mental health state based on the voice quality of individuals during calls on a smartphone and proposed an evaluation indicator for estimating the depression state in elderly people. Dividing data from elderly people into a group requiring a physician's diagnosis and group that does not require diagnosis based on the BDI score and performing logistic regression analysis resulted in a statistically adequate fitness prediction model. In the ROC curve for the proposed depression evaluation indicator, sorting performance by AUC was approximately 0.93. Furthermore, we divided the collected data into healthy, borderline (mild depression state), and clinical depression (requiring physician's diagnosis) groups and evaluated the sorting performance using the proposed evaluation indicator, which showed moderate performance. This suggests that the proposed depression evaluation indicator is also effective for classifying the severity of depression.

These results suggested that the proposed evaluation indicator is effective for screening depression patients among elderly people.

Acknowledgements. This research is (partially) supported by the Center of Innovation Program from Japan Science and Technology Agency, JST. This work was supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Numbers JP15H03002 and JP17K01404.

References

- Acharya, U.R., Sudarshan, V.K., Adeli, H., Santhosh, J., Koh, J.E., Puthankatti, S.D., Adeli, A.: A novel depression diagnosis index using nonlinear features in EEG signals. Eur. Neurol. 2015 74(1-2), 79–83 (2015)
- Agresti, A.: Categorical Data Analysis 3rd Edition, 3rd edn. Wiley-Interscience, Hoboken (2012)
- 3. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders IV. American Psychiatric Association (1994)
- Beck, A.T., Ward, C.H., Mendelson, M., Mock, J., Erbaugh, J.: An inventory for measureing depression. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 4(6), 561–571 (1961)
- 5. Beck, A.T., Steer, R.A., Brown, G.K.: Manual for the beck depression inventory-II. Psychological Corporation, San Antonio (1996)
- Beekman, A.T., Copeland, J.R., Prince, M.J.: Review of community prevalence of depression in later life. Br. J. Psychiatry 174(4), 307–311 (1999)
- Carney, C.E., Ulmer, C., Edinger, J.D., Krystal, A.D., Knauss, F.: Assessing depression symptoms in those with insomnia: an examination of the beck depression inventory second edition (BDI-II). J. Psychiatr. Res. 43(5), 576–582 (2009)
- Delgado-Rodriguez, M., Llorca, J.: Bias. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 58(8), 635–641 (2004)
- 9. Fisher, R.A.: On the interpretation of χ^2 from contingency tables, and the calculation of P. J. Roy. Stat. Soc. **85**(1), 87–94 (1922)
- Garcia, R.G., Valenza, G., Tomaz, C.A., Barbieri, R.: Instantaneous bispectral analysis of heartbeat dynamics for the assessment of major depression. In: Computing in Cardiology 2015, Nice, pp. 781–784 (2015)
- Goldberg, D.P.: Manual of the General Health Questionnaire. NFER Publishing, Windsor (1978)
- Hagiwara, N., Omiya, Y., Shinohara, S., Nakamura, M., Yasunaga, H., Higuchi, M., Mitsuyoshi, S., Tokuno, S.: Validity of the mind monitoring system as a mental health indicator. In: Proceedings of IEEE 16th International Conference on BioInformatics and BioEngineering, Taichung (2016)
- Hagiwara, N., Omiya, Y., Shinohara, S., Nakamura, M., Higuchi, M., Mitsuyoshi, S., Yasunaga, H., Tokuno, S.: Validity of mind monitoring system as a mental health indicator using voice. Adv. Sci. Technol. Eng. Syst. J. 2(3), 338–344 (2017)
- Higuchi, M., Shinohara, S., Nakamura, M., Omiya, Y., Hagiwara, N., Mitsuyoshi, S., Tokuno, S.: Study on depression evaluation indicator in the elderly using sensibility technology. In: Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health, Porto, pp. 70–77 (2017)
- Izawa, S., Sugaya, N., Shirotsuki, K., Yamada, K.C., Ogawa, N., Ouchi, Y., Nagano, Y., Suzuki, K., Nomura, S.: Salivary dehydroepiandrosterone secretion in response to acute psychosocial stress and its correlations with biological and psychological changes. Biol. Psychol. **79**(3), 294–298 (2008)
- Jan, A., Meng, H., Gaus, Y.F.A., Zhang, F., Turabzadeh, S.: Automatic depression scale prediction using facial expression dynamics and regression. In: Proceedings of the 4th International Workshop on Audio/Visual Emotion Challenge, Orlando, pp. 73–80 (2014)
- Kalender, B., Ozdemir, A.C., Koroglu, G.: Association of depression with markers of nutrition and inflammation in chronic kidney disease and end-stage renal disease. Nephron Clin. Pract. 102(3–4), c115–121 (2006)

- Kaplan, H.I., Sadock, B.J., Greb, J.A.: Synopsis of Psychiatry, 7th edn. Williams & Willkins, Baltimore (1994)
- Katon, W.J.: Clinical and health services relationships between major depression, depressive symptoms, and general medical illness. Biol. Psychiatry 54(3), 216–226 (2003)
- Omiya, Y., Hagiwara, N., Shinohara, S., Nakamura, M., Mitsuyoshi, S., Tokuno, S.: Development of mind monitoring system using call voice. In: Proceedings of Neuroscience 2016, San Diego (2016)
- Mann, H.B., Whitney, D.R.: On a test of whether one of two random variables is stochastically larger than the other. Ann. Math. Stat. 18(1), 50–60 (1947)
- Mitsuyoshi, S.: Development of verbal analysis pathophysiology. Econophysics Sociophysics Other Multi. Sci. J. 5(1), 11–16 (2015)
- Sekiyama, A.: Interleukin-18 is involved in alteration of hipothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis activity by stress. In: Society of Biological Psychiatry Annual Meeting, San Diego (2007)
- Shinohara, S., Mitsuyoshi, S., Nakamura, M., Omiya, Y., Tsumatori, G., Tokuno, S.: Validity of a voice-based evaluation method for effectiveness of behavioural therapy. In: Serino, S., Matic, A., Giakoumis, D., Lopez, G., Cipresso, P. (eds.) MindCare 2015. CCIS, vol. 604, pp. 43–51. Springer, Cham (2016). https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-32270-4_5
- Spearman, C.: The proof and measurement of association between two things. Am. J. Psychol. 15(1), 72–101 (1904)
- Steel, R.G.D.: A rank sum test for comparing all pairs of treatments. Technometrics 2, 197–207 (1960)
- Tokuno, S., Mitsuyoshi, S., Suzuki, G., Tsumatori, G.: STRESS EVALUATION BY VOICE: a novel stress evaluation technology. In: The 9th International Conference on Early Psychosis, Tokyo, pp. 17–19 (2014)
- 28. World Population Ageing: 1950–2050. United Nations Population Division (n.d.)



Laying the Foundation for Correlating Daytime Behaviour with Sleep Architecture Using Wearable Sensors

Ulrich Reimer^{1(⊠)}, Sandro Emmenegger¹, Edith Maier¹, Tom Ulmer¹, Hans-Joachim Vollbrecht², Zhongxing Zhang³, and Ramin Khatami³

¹ Institute for Information and Process Management, University of Applied Sciences, St. Gallen, Switzerland {ulrich.reimer,sandro.emmenegger,edith.maier,tom.ulmer}@fhsg.ch ² Research Centre for Process and Product Engineering, University of Applied Sciences, Vorarlberg, Austria hans-joachim.vollbrecht@fhv.at ³ Center for Sleep Research and Sleep Medicine, Clinic Barmelweid, Erlinsbach, Switzerland {zhongxing.zhang,ramin.khatami}@barmelweid.ch

Abstract. The paper presents results from the SmartSleep project which aims at developing a smartphone app that gives users individual advice on how to change their behaviour to improve their sleep. The advice is generated by identifying correlations between behaviour during the day and sleep architecture. To this end, the project addressed two sub-tasks: detecting a user's daytime behaviour and recognising sleep stages in an everyday setting. In the case of daytime activity detection the best results were achieved using an accelerometer at the wrist and another one at the ankle (87%). A subsequent smoothing step increased the accuracy to over 90%. For recognising sleep architecture we experimented with various consumer wearables that we used in addition to the usual PSG sensors in a sleep lab. Several sleep stage classifiers were learned from the resulting sensor data streams segmented into labelled sleep stages of 30s each. Apart from handcrafted features we experimented with unsupervised feature learning based on the deep learning paradigm. Our best results for correctly classified sleep stages are between 86 and 90% for Wake, REM, N2 and N3, while the best recognition rate for N1 is 37%. Finally, we discuss a preliminary design of the algorithm for determining correlations between daytime behaviour and sleep architecture.

Keywords: Sensor data analysis \cdot Sleep stage recognition Activity recognition \cdot Deep learning \cdot Behavioural change support Complex activities

1 Introduction

Sleep disorders such as insomnia or sleep apnea are wide-spread and are on the increase, especially because of an ageing population. Changes in the patterns of our sleep – what specialists call "sleep architecture" – occur as we age and tend to contribute to sleep problems [1]. But apart from ageing, other factors have shown to contribute to sleep disorders, such as lack of ambient light, lack of physical activity or stress [2].

Sleep disorders often remain undiagnosed and untreated even though they are a significant cause of morbidity and mortality [3]; for a detailed review of sleep disorders see [4]. Overall, experts agree that the prevalence of sleep disorders such as obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) or daytime sleepiness tends to be underestimated.

Sleep disorders often coincide with chronic health problems such as diabetes, hypertension, obesity as well as cardiovascular and psychiatric diseases such as depression. According to a recent survey [5], about 20% of people in Switzerland suffer from sleep disorders. About 28% of those affected were taking sleeping pills on a regular basis. Approximately 80% of patients with depression also complained about sleep disorders which can be considered predictors of future depression. According to a meta analysis of over 20 published longitudinal studies between 1980 and 2010, insomnia doubles the risk of suffering from depression [6].

Traditionally, sleep disorders are investigated in sleep laboratories by means of polysomnography (PSG) as well as by actigraphic assessment. A polysomnogram or sleep study usually involves the measurement of brain activity through the electroencephalogram (EEG), muscular activity (EMG) and eye movements (EOG). Other parameters monitored include oxygen saturation, respiratory effort, cardiac activity as well as sound and movement activity.

But not only is such sleep monitoring costly, it also removes people from their normal sleeping environment and prevents repeated or longitudinal studies. Recently, smart watches, fitness trackers as well as sensors built into a smartphone offer new opportunities for continuous monitoring in everyday settings. Sensors and wearables can capture data about people's rest and activity patterns. Most devices use accelerometers for tracking movements during the night from which they derive information on sleep architecture and sleep quality. Some devices take additional vital parameters into account, such as heart rate and skin conductance.

However, the tracking devices and sleep screening apps currently available cannot compete with the accuracy of clinical sleep laboratories. At best, they are able to distinguish between waking time and sleep time. When we compared different devices that claim to distinguish sleep stages we found little match between the identified sleep stages. Besides, according to a review of current sleep screening applications conducted by Behar and his team [7] none of the existing sleep monitoring applications available for smartphones with the exception of simple questionnaires, is based on scientific evidence.



Fig. 1. The objectives of the SmartSleep project (from [8]).

Given the shortcomings of existing solutions for monitoring sleep architecture in a home setting, the SmartSleep¹ Project set out to achieve the following *objectives* (cf. Fig. 1):

- Develop a low-cost monitoring solution for capturing sleep architecture at home over a longer period of time with an accuracy approximating a clinical polysomnography (see right part of Fig. 1),
- collect data about a user's daytime behaviour, stress levels, and environmental factors (see left part of Fig. 1),
- identify correlations between a person's daytime behaviour and sleep architecture and track the person's response to simple behavioural changes, e.g. taking a walk in the evening or more exposure to ambient light during the day (the arrow in the middle of Fig. 1).

The *ultimate goal* of the project is to automatically generate individual advice for behavioural changes based on the insights gained from the tracking during the day and the night. This should open up new opportunities both for developing lifestyle and medical applications, for example:

- Depression: monitor the individual cognitive-behavioural insomnia therapy with a particular focus on sleep restriction and stimulus control;
- Gerontology: monitor sleep and waking rhythms for the diagnosis and validation of therapeutic measures for stabilising sleep/wake phases;
- Rehabilitation: monitor and quantify the impact of activity and movement as well as of sleep quality on the rehabilitation process.

¹ The SmartSleep project is funded by the International Bodensee Hochschule. The consortium includes the Universities of Applied Sciences of St. Gallen, of Vorarlberg and of Constance, the Center for Sleep Research and Sleep Medicine at the Swiss Clinic Barmelweid and the two SMEs Biovotion and myVitali.

The correlations between daytime behaviour and sleep architecture discovered by data mining are highly *personal* because individuals differ greatly with regard to what may promote and what may hinder sleep. Whereas for one person a walk in the evening is very conducive to a good night's sleep, someone else may get too agitated. This is why in the project we focus on recognising patterns that apply to a specific individual rather than on statistical correlations in a population.

To achieve the project goals we have proceeded as follows: Firstly, we have developed various components for determining the daytime behaviour of a user (Sect. 2). Secondly, we have developed a component for recognising sleep architecture, i.e. the sequence and frequency of the various types of sleep stages in the course of a night (Sect. 3). The third subtask is to eventually identify correlations between daytime behaviour and sleep architecture (Sect. 4). This paper is a considerably extended and updated version of [8].

2 Recognition of Daytime Behaviour

The ability to generate meaningful suggestions for changing daytime behaviour to improve one's sleep very much depends on a detailed characterisation of a user's daytime behaviour. Our approach is based on two different kinds of characteristics: a user's activity during the day and a user's stress levels, i.e. if there are high-, medium- and low-level stress phases during the day, how long they last and at which times they occur. For measuring stress levels we use a body sensor and a smartphone as described in our previous work [9].

In the following we discuss how we have tackled the recognition of activities. We distinguish between the recognition of elementary activities (Sect. 2.1) and complex activities (Sect. 2.2). The latter is much more challenging and will therefore be discussed in more detail.

2.1 Detection of Elementary Activities

Elementary (or low-level) activities are either static or dynamic. *Static elementary activities* (such as standing, sitting, lying) correspond to *body postures*. Body postures can be reliably determined by a variety of sensors, resp. wearables on the market so that there is no need to develop any new components.

Dynamic elementary activities show a periodic movement pattern within a time interval of about one to ten seconds. Typical elementary activities are walking, running and cycling, but also dancing and vacuum-cleaning given the periodicity of the activity. Similarly, washing dishes could count as an elementary activity and perhaps also window cleaning depending on how it is done. In fact, the boundary between elementary and complex activities may at times be blurred.

In the literature there are many approaches that deal with the detection of elementary activities using accelerometers, either dedicated ones e.g. worn at the wrist or the upper arm, or ones that are integrated in a smartphone or a smartwatch. For this setting, recognition accuracies of more than 90% have been achieved – see e.g. [10,11]. Additional research for developing new algorithms is therefore not necessary, only an adaptation of existing algorithms to accommodate specific sensors might be necessary.

2.2 Detection of Complex Activities

As already mentioned, defining the concept of a complex activity and differentiating it from an elementary activity is not always easy. A complex activity can be said to be a composition of several low-level activities. It therefore does not show any periodic movement patterns within a timeframe of up to ten seconds as is typical of elementary activities. Based on this definition the following are examples of complex activities: preparing a meal, shopping, gardening. When it comes to learning classifiers for complex activities it becomes important that they are clearly defined, i.e. *sufficiently specific* and with *meaningful boundaries*.

Specificity means that a complex activity does not have too much variation. For example, gardening would be a too generic activity to learn because it can imply pruning roses, planting flowers, or mowing the lawn. All these activities would have a very different signature, which means that we need to subdivide gardening into all possible kinds of activities and then learn classifiers for each of these activities. Similarly, the activity of shopping is too generic. Shopping for groceries in a mall certainly has different movement patterns than doing this in a small shop where you stand at the counter and get served by a sales clerk. Furthermore, shopping for groceries is quite different than shopping for clothes where you may go into different stores, browse what is on offer and try on different clothes. Thus, definitions of complex activities for shopping would be: shopping for groceries in a self-service store, shopping for groceries in a serviced store, shopping for clothes, etc.

Meaningful boundaries means that it must be clearly defined with which kinds of low-level activities a complex activity starts and ends. For example, with what does a shopping activity begin? Is the drive or walk there already part of it? Does it end with putting away the groceries in the kitchen? In order to reduce the possible variation between different activity instances their definition should be such that only the characteristic part of it is covered. In the case of shopping this would mean that it should be defined as starting with entering the shop and ending with leaving it.

Learning classifiers for recognizing complex activities is much more difficult than for elementary activities because the movement patterns are less specific and show greater variation. As a consequence, more data to learn from is needed to make up for the greater variation.

Related Work. The task of learning strong classifiers for complex activities very much depends on using the proper features – as it is the case with all data analysis tasks. Consequently, a main focus of existing research is on determining which features to use. [12] experiments with several approaches that all use the



Fig. 2. Main steps for training a classifier for complex activities.

mean and variance of the acceleration signals of all three axes over a sliding window as the underlying basic features. The resulting feature vectors are then clustered using the k-means algorithm. Each cluster is labeled with the activity that occurs most often in the cluster, i.e. is most often associated with the feature values occurring in the cluster. With this approach the feature vectors are mapped to a set of discrete symbols. One of the approaches examined in [12] classifies a new data sample by assigning to it the label of the closest cluster center. Two other approaches build upon the generated clusters and compute histograms of cluster assignments over a sliding window on the input data. This window needs to be several times longer than the one for computing the features since a histogram aggregates the cluster assignments of several features. Each histogram is labeled with the activity that occurs most often in the window of samples that it covers. Classification is done using a nearest neighbor classifier on the histograms, resp. a support vector machine (SVM) with the histograms as features. The fourth approach described in [12] generates a Hidden Markov Model directly from the feature vectors derived from the input data. The best result of about 92% was achieved using the histogram approach with an SVM classifier.

The central idea of the first three approaches in [12] is to create a *vocabulary* from the feature vectors rather than use the feature vectors directly. This idea has been successfully applied by others as well, e.g. [13,14].

Bottom-up approaches such as [15, 16] pursue a different approach: they identify simple activities first and then characterize complex activities as a composition of simple activities. To this end, [16] includes a preprocessing step that performs a segmentation into simple activities first. Afterwards histograms are generated to describe the distribution of the simple activities for each complex activity. Finally, features are extracted from the histograms which are then used for classification. Similarly, [15] uses the occurrence and sequence of simple activities (called 'micro-activities') to recognize complex activities.

A completely different approach is described in [17] which relies on background knowledge about the composition of complex activities as represented by an ontology. In addition to a concept hierarchy of activities, the ontology represents temporal relationships between the constituent parts of a complex activity. Classification then amounts to recognising simple activities from sensor data and employing terminological and temporal reasoning to identify the complex activity. The advantage is that due to background knowledge, the recognition of simple activities from sensor data need not to be as accurate as when it is the only source. The approach achieves an overall accuracy of about 88%.

Complex activity	Description	Training data (minutes)	Test data (minutes)
Gardening	Includes pruning trees as well as planting flowers	70	124
Grocery shopping	Driving to and from the mall by car, shopping in the mall, putting the groceries in the cupboard at home	57	114
Cooking	Washing and chopping vegetables, working at the stove, setting the table	22	57
Household chores	Includes vacuum cleaning, dusting, changing bed sheets	77	104
Workout in a fitness studio	Changing clothes, various exercises with breaks in between	65	143

 Table 1. Complex activities considered.

Our Approach. The approach we have adopted is based on the generation of histograms of cluster assignments as has been described in [12] and explained above (see also Fig. 2). We experimented with different kinds of sensors, sensor placements, features, numbers of clusters into which the features are arranged, time windows for calculating the histograms as well as various classifiers. We worked with the following sensor placements:

- two MSR 145B² accelerometers one at the right wrist and one at the left ankle (or vice versa), with a sampling frequency of 51.2 Hz,
- one MSR 145B at the wrist,
- the built-in sensor of a smartphone worn in a trouser pocket,
- smartphone and an MSR sensor at the wrist.

Differently from [12] we experimented with various features to find out which ones were most significant. Time domain features included mean, standard deviation, root mean square, and skewness, while frequency domain features included energy, entropy, and maximal frequency. These features were calculated for all three axes of all accelerometers. For each sensor we considered the norm as an additional feature, i.e. the absolute value of the mean acceleration, and in the case of using two MSR sensors, we added the correlation between the two sensors as a further feature.

Table 1 shows the complex activities that we have considered as well as the duration of recorded sensor data for training and testing the classifiers.

Each activity type was recorded and labeled by one person only, meaning that the learned classifiers were person-specific. Activity labeling as well as starting and stopping the recording of sensor data was done using a smartphone app.

² www.msr.ch.



Fig. 3. The effect of smoothing: left side without, right side with smoothing.

The assignment of clusters to histograms was done in two different ways. Hard assignments put a cluster into one histogram only, namely the nearest one. Soft assignments put a cluster into the n nearest histograms, each assignment with a weight that corresponds to the distance and using a softmax function to calibrate the sum of the weights to 1. The results discussed below are based on n = 3. Our approach to recognizing complex activities is described in more detail in [18].

Discussion of Results. We achieved the best results with an SVM over 60 clusters (using soft assignments), a histogram time window of 225 samples and with two MSR sensors, one at the wrist and the other one at the ankle (87%). The second best result was achieved with one MSR sensor attached to the wrist (81%). Hard cluster assignments yielded less accurate results. A Random Forest classifier had only slightly less accuracy than the SVM.

Adding a smoothing step after classification increased the accuracy to 90-95% depending on the exact learning set-up. Smoothing implies looking at classifications left and right on the time axis and assigning the current data sample to the class that is predicted most often in the left and right neighbourhood. The strong effect of this kind of smoothing can be explained by the fact that misclassifications mostly occur at the boundaries of two activities (cf. Fig. 3). Compared to the findings reported in the literature (see discussion above) this is a very good result.

We also experimented with various combinations of features and found that mean and standard deviation give the best results. Combining them with other features such as skewness and root mean square actually reduced the accuracy. The combination of the frequency-based features of energy, entropy and maximal frequency led to similarly good results when using a smartphone only (78%) but gave far worse results for the MSR sensors.

The activity of grocery shopping was often confused with cooking because putting away the groceries in the cupboard is very similar to movements associated with cooking. Household chores and cooking were also often mixed up when using a smartphone as a sensor device, which is not as good at identifying hand and foot movements as an accelerometer at the wrist and/or at the ankle.

There are a few *lessons learned* from our experiments that will feed into our future research. Most important is a narrower definition of the complex activities to be recognised. For example, it is probably better to reduce the complex activity of grocery shopping to the activity within the store and leave out the drive to and from the shopping mall as well as putting away the groceries because it is too close to kitchen work. Similarly, the activity of gardening should be divided into more specific activities such as planting flowers, planting trees and pruning trees.

This will take us closer to the approach underlying [17] who use an ontology of complex activities and how they are constituted of simpler activities. We believe that adding this kind of background knowledge will help us to considerably improve recognition rates. We are also planning to add further types of input data, especially location, e.g. being indoors as opposed to being outdoors, and heart-rate to determine the intensity of an activity.

These improvements should not only increase recognition rates but, more importantly, allow us to learn accurate classifiers from less data. We would then be able to develop a smartphone app which allows users to train classifiers themselves for those activities from the underlying ontology that are most relevant to them. In this way, we could solve the problem that classifiers for complex activities are much more person-specific than classifiers for elementary activities [19], which means that pre-installed classifiers are less accurate than those trained by the users themselves.

3 Learning Sleep Stage Classifiers

For determining the effects of daytime behaviour on sleep architecture the Smart-Sleep project needed to develop classifiers for sleep stage recognition based on wearable sensors that can be used outside the sleep lab in a home setting. The following sections describe our approach, first characterising the kind of problem to be solved (Sect. 3.1), then explaining the experimental set-up (Sect. 3.2) followed by a description of our approach using *handcrafted features* (Sect. 3.3) and our approach based on features learned via a *deep belief network* (Sect. 3.4). A discussion of results is given in Sect. 3.5.

3.1 Recognition of Sleep Stages from Wearable Sensors

The automatic detection of sleep stages from sensor data is a goal that many researchers are currently pursuing. Most existing approaches work on the polysomnography (PSG) data generated in a sleep lab, i.e. EEG, EOG and EMG (see e.g. [20–22]). So far only very few papers have been published on detecting sleep stages from wearable sensors developed for the consumer market. Some of them use other consumer sensors as the ground truth rather than a clinical gold standard such as PSG against which they evaluate their systems and algorithms [23,24].

Among the few papers that have reported the use of sensors suited to a home setting, only a small fraction has actually validated their results against a clinical gold standard such as PSG or the Rechtschaffen and Kales method (R-K method). Automatic sleep stage recognition based on heart rate and body movement was investigated in [25] and the accuracy of their system compared with the R-K method. [26] discuss the detection of sleep and waking time by various motion sensors and compare them with PSG measurements taken in parallel. They were not concerned with the detection of different sleep stages, however.

For our SmartSleep project we could not use the sleep stage recognition services of any of the existing body sensors that offer sleep stage detection because the sleep stage recognition implemented has been shown to be rather unreliable. Many of them even have difficulty in distinguishing sleep from waking phases with sufficient accuracy [27]. These findings coincide with the results of our own experiments which compared two of those devices and found nearly no correlation between detected sleep stages at all. Therefore it was necessary to develop our own recognition algorithm.

Recognition algorithms are not handcrafted but obtained by learning a classifier for each sleep stage. For this we need (a) appropriate input data from which to learn the sleep stage classifiers, (b) an appropriate learning algorithm. The input data was provided by the clinical project partner who has taken measurements with our consumer sensors in parallel to classical PSG. Using data mining algorithms we were then able to correlate the sleep stages as recorded in the PSG hypnogram with specific patterns in the data from the consumer sensors. The patterns so identified can then be used to segment sensor data streams into sleep stages. The following section describes our experimental set-up in more detail.

3.2 Experimental Set-Up

We have been experimenting with several kinds of wearable sensors and finally focused on the following two:

- Zephyr BioHarness 3³ chest strap with a reporting frequency of 1 Hz for the channels: heart rate, breathing rate, breathing rate amplitude, ECG amplitude as well as minimum and peak levels of the vertical, lateral and sagittal axes
- two MSR $145B^4$ accelerometers, one at the wrist and one at the ankle, with a sampling frequency of 51.2 Hz the same ones we used for activity detection (see Sect. 2.2)

These sensors were given to 19 healthy volunteers in addition to the usual PSG sensors in the sleep lab of the clinical project partner. For each person the sleep

³ www.zephyranywhere.com.

⁴ www.msr.ch.

stages ('Wake', 'REM', 'N1', 'N2', 'N3')⁵ were labelled by experts according to the gold standard of the AASM classification⁶. This resulted in sensor data streams segmented into labelled sleep stages of $30 \,\mathrm{s}$ each, from which the sleep stage classifiers were subsequently learned. After filtering out flawed measurements, e.g. due to incorrect sensor setups, we ended up with a total of 14,174 labelled segments.

An important preprocessing step involved the clipping of all the 30 s segments by 1.5 s at their start and their end to make up for possible misalignments between the PSG clock and the sensor clocks. Although they were always manually synchronized with each other at the beginning of each measurement, a slight offset of less than one second between the intervals was still possible. The clipping ensures that we are on the safe side and do not use sensor data across the boundary of two labelled PSG intervals.

We used the Weka libraries⁷ implementation of a Random Forest classifier, an ensemble learning approach which has also been used by other researchers for learning sleep stage classifiers and has shown to be superior to an SVM ensemble by [28]. The data processing pipeline was implemented in Matlab in an objectoriented way: The classes and processing stages were inspired by the pipes and filter patterns described in [29]. This enabled us to set up new experiments in a fast and flexible way by appropriately combining data file readers, interpolation and data merging stages, filtering, feature construction and classification steps.

The quality of the learned classifiers not only depends on the chosen algorithm and its parameter settings but above all on the features being used. Especially in the case of learning from sensor data, identifying significant features is a critical and difficult task. We experimented with handcrafted features (see Fig. 4 and Sect. 3.3) as well as with unsupervised feature learning based on the deep learning paradigm (see Fig. 4 and Sect. 3.4).

3.3 Handcrafted Features

Finding significant features usually involves much experimentation, in particular in the case of sensor data streams. We did a literature review to identify features that worked for other researchers. We not only looked into handcrafted features used for recognising sleep stages (e.g. [30]) but also into features used for recognising activity types (cf. Sect. 2.2 and e.g. [11]). Based on the literature review, we decided to use the following functions to calculate the *features from* the sensor raw data:

- energy (sum of power at each frequency),
- sum over all values,
- root mean square of sensor channel values,
- skewness (asymmetry of the probability distribution relative to its mean),

⁵ REM corresponds to rapid eye movement sleep, while N1 to N3 correspond to progressively deeper stages of sleep, N1 standing for light sleep, N3 for deep sleep.

⁶ www.esst.org/adds/ICSD.pdf.

⁷ weka.wikispaces.com.



Fig. 4. Feature generation and classification pipeline.

- standard deviation,
- vector norm (length of vector of sensor channel values).

We made use of all those features but more systematic experimentation will be needed to find out if a combination of a subset gives better results, as was the case with recognising complex activities (see Sect. 2.2).

The handcrafted features are functions which aggregate the raw data of each $30 \,\mathrm{s}$ window and each sensor channel into a value. For the ten channels of the Zephyr chest strap this results in a feature vector of 60 components per 30 s sleep stage event, and for the six channels of the two MSR accelerometers in a feature vector of 36 components. With these features three Random Forest classifiers of 99 trees were learned – one for the two MSR sensors, one for the Zephyr chest strap, and one for the two MSR sensors together with the Zephyr. For each classifier we determined the classification accuracy based on a *tenfold cross-validation*.

With the two MSR accelerometers we achieved an overall accuracy of 84.5% (see Table 2), while the results of the Zephyr chest strap were around 70%. One would have expected the chest strap, which delivers heart rate and breathing rate in addition to accelerometer data (although measured only at the chest), to be superior to accelerometer data only. However, it turned out that using chest straps such as the Zephyr for sleep stage recognition has several drawbacks: First, we experienced many dropped readings due to the electrodes losing contact when a person moved. We therefore had to eliminate a significant proportion of the sensor data stream, which reduced the number of learning examples. Second, we not only missed measurements but also got many readings with artifacts. We filtered out measurements with obvious artifacts but in all likelihood we missed quite a few artifacts, which then introduced noise into the input data. An additional problem specific to the Zephyr was that in its data streaming set-

up heart rate and breathing rates were delivered only every second, although the sensor works internally with 250 Hz for the ECG signal. Further, for the built-in accelerometer we only obtained the minimum and peak values of the last second. We therefore stopped using a chest strap in our further experiments.

The confusion matrix in Table 2 shows that the worst classification results are for sleep stage N1, it mostly being confused with N2. This is surprising because a human expert can quite easily distinguish N1 from N2. A possible explanation is that we simply did not have enough data to learn from since the N1 stage occurs quite rarely (only 2–5% of total sleep time). Since the distinction between N1 and N2 is not of that much importance we learned an alternative classifier for the sleep stages N1 and N2 combined. The resulting confusion matrix is shown in Table 3. A more detailed discussion of the results can be found in Sect. 3.5.

Instances:		14174			
Correctly Classified:		11973	84.5%		
]	Predicted		
%	REM	Wake	N1	N2	N3
REM	89.6	1.1	2.8	6.3	0
Wake	1.1	86.8	6.1	4.4	1.5
N1	10.1	8.0	37.3	42.5	2.1
N2	2.1	0.8	3.1	90.5	3.5
N3	0	1.0	0.5	8.1	90.2

Table 2. Confusion matrix: two MSR accelerometers, handcrafted features.

Table 3. Confusion matrix: two MSR, handcrafted features, N1 and N2 combined.

Instances	:	14174		
Correctly	Classified:	12764	90%	
		Pred	icted	
%	REM	Wake	N1+N2	N3
REM	87.0	1.0	11.8	0
Wake	0.9	84.4	13.7	1.1
N1+N2	3.4	1.7	92.3	2.6
N3	0	0.6	9.1	90.2

3.4 Unsupervised Feature Learning Using a Deep Belief Network

Feature engineering is a labour-intensive task. Inspired by the recent enthusiasm about deep learning [31] we decided to find out how learning a Random Forest classifier using handcrafted features related to one using features learned via *deep learning*. Especially in the context of learning sleep stage classifiers, [20] have already shown that unsupervised feature learning with deep learning is promising. We followed a similar approach and derived *higher-order features*



Fig. 5. A deep belief network of two stacked Restricted Boltzmann Machines (from [8]).

from the raw data of the sensors by applying a deep belief network (DBN) built from stacked Restricted Boltzmann Machines (RBM) – cf. Fig. 5. These higherorder features reflect significant patterns in the underlying raw data and are therefore expected to be well suited as features for a classifier.

We used DeeBNet⁸, an open source Deep Belief Network implementation in Matlab [32]. For the reasons outlined in the previous section we only considered the MSR sensors. The input vector to the DBN, i.e. the raw sensor data for each 30 s sleep stage event, was constructed as follows: For each MSR accelerometers we have 3 channels with an interpolated sampling frequency of 20 Hz. This amounts to 3600 components in the input vector for the two MSR together.

For the approximation of the log-likelihood gradient the one-step contrastive divergence (CD) method as proposed by [33,34] was applied. As part of future fine-tunings we might experiment with other approximation methods and parameters for the RBMs in the DBN.

Configuring a DBN and finding a good topology requires both expertise and experimentation [35]. We experimented with various numbers and sizes of hidden layers and also used different numbers of learning epochs. It turned out that the results in terms of classifier accuracy did not change significantly, except for the number of units at the output layer which correspond to the number of features learned. In order to avoid overfitting we need to enforce a sufficient amount of generalisation by setting the number of features to be significantly smaller than the number of input units (in our case 3600). We experimented with various settings and found 200 features to give the best results.

The accuracy of the learned Random Forest classifier based on the features generated by the DBN is shown in Table 4. We also did a run with sleep stages N1 and N2 combined: see Table 5.

⁸ ceit.aut.ac.ir/~keyvanrad/DeeBNet%20Toolbox.html.

Layer 1: 886 hidden units, 150 epochs							
Layer 2: 443 hidden units, 150 epochs							
Layer 3:	200 hidden u	nits, 150	epochs				
Instances	Instances: 14174						
Correctly	Correctly Classified: 11290 79.7%						
Predicted							
%	REM	Wake	N1	N2	N3		
REM	82.6	0.8	4.7	11.2	0.7		
Wake	2.3	79.6	6.5	8.9	2.8		
N1	12.4	7.5	34.5	42.0	3.6		
N2	3.2	0.8	3.7	86.6	5.7		
N3	0	1.7	0.7	11.5	85.7		

Table 4. Confusion matrix: two MSR accelerometers, DBN-created features.

Table 5. Confusion matrix: two MSR, DBN-created features, N1 and N2 combined.

Layer 1: 886 hidden units, 150 epochs Layer 2: 443 hidden units, 150 epochs Layer 3: 200 hidden units, 150 epochs

Instances:14174Correctly Classified:1178883.2%	
Correctly Classified: 11788 83.2%	
Predicted	
% REM Wake N1+N2 M	N3
REM 78.5 0.7 19.9 0).9
Wake 2.2 72.6 22.9 2	2.2
N1+N2 5.0 1.8 87.5 5	5.7
N3 0 1.2 16.2 8	2.2

3.5 Discussion of Results

Our results are significantly better than those reported by other researchers who also used sensors suitable for home settings. For example, [25] achieved a mean of correctly classified sleep stages of 56.2% when comparing their approach against the R-K method with 5 distinct sleep stages. For distinguishing between sleep and waking time [26] presented a classifier with a mean number of correct classifications of approximately 85% against PSG measurements. Our best result for identifying waking time against any of the sleep stages is 86.8% (see Table 2). [36] used a wrist-worn accelerometer to detect sleep and wake phases and reported a precision of 79% for detecting sleep and 75% for wake phases against PSG measurements taken in parallel.

The work reported in [23] presented a classifier and evaluated it against another consumer device as a reference point and achieved 63.7% of correctly classified REM stages and 60% of correctly classified N3 stages against that device. [24] presented a classifier that was compared against two other consumer devices and achieved 80.5% when distinguishing REM vs. non-REM stages and 89.3% when distinguishing sleep from waking times.

The recently published work of Biswal et al. [37] is worth mentioning although it does not use consumer devices but aims at developing a clinical decision support system that suggests sleep labels to human sleep stage annotators with the aim to reduce the time needed for the annotation and increase quality. The system makes use of the EEG data and was trained on a PSG database comprising the data from the impressive number of 10,000 patients. Different to our approach the authors used handcrafted features and deep learning to train the classifier. They experimented with various types of neural networks and found that a recurrent neural network worked best, achieving an overall classification accuracy of 86%. At first sight it is surprising that the authors did not achieve a much higher accuracy, but given the fact that the classifier was learned from data from all kinds of persons, many of which probably with sleep disorders, instead of using data from healthy persons only, this is a remarkable result.

Although our results using features generated by a deep learning approach look promising, we still get better results when using handcrafted features. We expect that the results using deep learning will improve when we have more learning data available because the experience of other researchers show that deep learning needs lots of input data, which we currently do not have. Secondly, there are other, more sophisticated types of deep learning architectures, which will might give better results, using for example convolutional or recurrent neural networks [38]. Unfortunately, they need even more input data than our approach based on Restricted Boltzmann machines. When we have more measurements available we will look into these issues.

We also looked at the recognition rates for individual persons and how much they vary. To this end, we trained classifiers without the data from preselected persons and then classified the sensor data of those individuals using the classifier. We did this for 14 persons for the combination of the MSR and Zephyr sensors. For the 14 persons four recognition rates were above 80%, six were between 70% and 80%, three between 60% and 70% and one below that. This shows that while average recognition rates are high, there is a high deviation of accuracy between individual persons. We are still collecting more measurements and will see if the deviation decreases with the amount of learning input.

4 Correlating Daytime Behaviour with Sleep Architecture

Using the recognition of daytime behaviour as described in Sect. 2 and the sleep stages as described in Sect. 3 the final task is to detect correlations between the two (cf. Fig. 1). To this end we first need to define the features to be used when looking for correlations. As has been discussed in Sect. 2, daytime behaviour

is characterised by elementary and complex activities as well as stress levels during the day. Relevant features for describing activities are the type of the activity (e.g. walking, cooking), duration, time of day (morning, noon, afternoon, evening), location (indoors vs. outdoors), and intensity as measured by heart rate. Relevant features for characterising stress are its degree (i.e. low, medium, high) and the duration and time of day associated with each degree.

The following dimensions are relevant for assessing sleep architecture: efficiency (relation between total time of sleep to time in bed), latency (the time it takes to fall asleep), consistency (regular bedtimes and wake times), percentage of deep sleep and percentage of REM sleep. These are the *target variables* to be predicted by daytime behaviour. As the target variables for a specific person we take those that differ significantly from what are regarded as average values, which, of course, changes with age [39].

To be able to learn meaningful correlations between daytime behaviour and the target values we need to *aggregate and generalise the features for daytime behaviour*. This reduces the high dimensionality which would result when considering all combinations of individual features. A possible approach is to aggregate the activities into a bar chart where each bar stands for the duration of a certain kind of activity. The bars could then serve as features in a correlation instead of the occurrence and duration of each single activity. This feature can be refined by creating bar charts for different times during the day. In the same way, a bar chart based on the intensity of activities can be generated.

An underlying ontology of activities could be used to derive other kinds of feature aggregations. Activities could be grouped into indoor and outdoor activities, into social activities and activities users do on their own, e.g. reading. We could also ask users to augment the ontology by stating which activities they find pleasant and which ones unpleasant and then calculate the ratio between the two. We will refine these ideas further and then find out which features work best in real-life settings.

5 Outlook

This paper presents the results of our project SmartSleep which aimed at laying the foundation for a smartphone app giving people individual advice on how to change their behaviour to improve their sleep. The advice is based on correlations between behaviour during the day and sleep architecture. The project therefore focused on the two subtasks of determining daytime behaviour as well as recognising sleep stages, both by using wearable sensors. To tackle the ultimate task of finding correlations to generate advice from, we have developed preliminary data analysis algorithms, which will be implemented and evaluated in real-life settings. This follow-up project will focus more on the actual development of the smartphone app and the associated backend algorithms.

Determining daytime behaviour involves the recognition of a user's activities as well as the stress levels during the day. While stress level detection had been developed in a former project [9], the most challenging part was to detect complex activities such as gardening, cooking, or household chores. We obtained the best results with two accelerometers, one at the wrist and the other at the ankle, achieving an accuracy of 87% and after a subsequent smoothing step of up to 95%. Future work concerning the activity detection subtask will focus on taking different kinds of sensor data into account, in particular *heart rate* and *location*, as well as *background knowledge* in the form of an ontology of complex activities that will comprise a concept hierarchy of activities and a representation of how activities are composed of constituent activities. With these measures we expect to increase the learning rate so that less input is needed, thus enabling users to train the relevant classifiers themselves without having to provide too much annotated data.

Determining sleep stages for healthy people worked surprisingly well with the same two accelerometers that we used for activity detection – one at the wrist and one at the ankle. With these sensors we achieved an overall accuracy of 84.5% (Table 2). The weakest classification result was for the stage N1 which was often confused with N2. If we do not distinguish between N1 and N2 but combine them into one stage the overall accuracy increases to 90% (Table 3).

To further improve sleep stage classification an additional sensor for vital signs is needed. Because of our disappointing experience with the chest strap, we looked for alternatives. While there are other chest straps we could use, they would also have the problem of misreadings and artifacts because movement in bed often causes a loss of electrode contact. We have therefore begun to experiment with a new body sensor from our project partner Biovotion which is positioned at the upper arm. Apart from sensors for measuring skin temperature and an accelerometer the device includes three opto-electronic sensors for different wavelengths which measure the absorption by the skin tissue. We are using the raw signals from the optical sensors as well as the accelerometer data as input to our deep learning framework to learn higher-order features from them. The opto-electronic sensor data is ideal for deep learning since the optical signals contain a lot of information on vital signs, e.g. heart rate and oxygen saturation can be derived from it. First results are encouraging because they show recognition rates of as high as 77% for N2, 84% for N3 and of 77% for REM even for a small amount of learning data of 4069 labeled sleep stages. We are currently collecting more data and expect to achieve significantly higher recognition rates with the Biovotion sensor. Besides the inclusion of vital data we expect further accuracy improvements to be due to having more learning input, using a more powerful deep learning architecture (e.g. based on a recurrent neural net), and - most importantly - from considering transition probabilities between sleep phases.

In the future we might invest the effort to have the sleep stage labels in our learning input be created by two experts who have to come to an agreement on all those labels where they differ. This increase in data quality might prove important as it is known that the inter-rater agreement for annotating sleep stages is between 65-75% [40]. It is pointless trying to achieve recognition rates of 90% on data that is only 75% consistent.

The sleep stage classifiers we have learned so far are for healthy individuals but we will also learn further classifiers for patients with specific diagnoses and will investigate in which cases classifiers for healthy people can be applied to people with certain medical diagnoses and in which cases this does not work.

Finally, we are planning to integrate the results of the SmartSleep project into our framework of behavioural change support systems [41] as we are convinced that giving personalised advice can contribute considerably to behavioural change.

References

- Prinz, P.N., Vitiello, M.V., Raskind, M.A., Thorpy, M.J.: Sleep disorders and aging. N. Engl. J. Med. **323**, 520–526 (1990)
- Tibbitts, G.M.: Sleep disorders: causes, effects, and solutions. Prim. Care: Clin. Off. Pract. 35, 817–837 (2008)
- 3. Hossain, J.L., Shapiro, C.M.: The prevalence, cost implications, and management of sleep disorders: an overview. Sleep Breath. 6, 085–102 (2002)
- Panossian, L.A., Avidan, A.Y.: Review of sleep disorders. Med. Clin. North Am. 93, 407–425 (2009)
- Tinguely, G., Landolt, H.P., Cajochen, C.: Schlafgewohnheiten, Schlafqualität und Schlafmittelkonsum der Schweizer Bevölkerung: Ergebnisse aus einer neuen Umfrage bei einer repräsentativen Stichprobe. Ther. Umsch. **71**, 637–646 (2014)
- Baglioni, C., Battagliese, G., Feige, B., Spiegelhalder, K., Nissen, C., Voderholzer, U., Lombardo, C., Riemann, D.: Insomnia as a predictor of depression: a metaanalytic evaluation of longitudinal epidemiological studies. J. Affect. Disord. 135, 10–19 (2011)
- Behar, J., Roebuck, A., Domingos, J.S., Gederi, E., Clifford, G.D.: A review of current sleep screening applications for smartphones. Physiol. Meas. 34, R29 (2013)
- Reimer, U., Emmenegger, S., Maier, E., Zhang, Z., Khatami, R.: Recognizing sleep stages with wearable sensors in everyday settings. In: Proceedings 3rd International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health (ICT4AWE) (2017)
- Reimer, U., Maier, E., Laurenzi, E., Ulmer, T.: Mobile stress recognition and relaxation support with SmartCoping: user adaptive interpretation of physiological stress parameters. In: Proceedings of the Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS-50) (2017)
- Kwapisz, J.R., Weiss, G.M., Moore, S.A.: Activity recognition using cell phone accelerometers. SIGKDD Explor. Newslett. 12, 74–82 (2011)
- 11. Alsheikh, M.A., Selim, A., Niyato, D., Doyle, L., Lin, S., Tan, H.P.: Deep activity recognition models with triaxial accelerometers. arXiv:1511.04664 (2015)
- Huỳnh, T., Blanke, U., Schiele, B.: Scalable recognition of daily activities with wearable sensors. In: Hightower, J., Schiele, B., Strang, T. (eds.) LoCA 2007. LNCS, vol. 4718, pp. 50–67. Springer, Heidelberg (2007). https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-540-75160-1_4
- Huỳnh, T., Fritz, M., Schiele, B.: Discovery of activity patterns using topic models. In: Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Ubiquitous Computing, pp. 10–19. ACM (2008)

- Blanke, U., Schiele, B.: Daily routine recognition through activity spotting. In: Choudhury, T., Quigley, A., Strang, T., Suginuma, K. (eds.) LoCA 2009. LNCS, vol. 5561, pp. 192–206. Springer, Heidelberg (2009). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-01721-6_12
- Yan, Z., Chakraborty, D., Misra, A., Jeung, H., Aberer, K.: Sammple: Detecting semantic indoor activities in practical settings using locomotive signatures. In: Proceedings 16th International Symposium on Wearable Computers, 37–40. IEEE (2012)
- Garcia-Ceja, E., Brena, R.: Long-term activity recognition from accelerometer data. Procedia Technol. 7, 248–256 (2013)
- Okeyo, G., Chen, L., Wang, H.: Combining ontological and temporal formalisms for composite activity modelling and recognition in smart homes. Future Gener. Comput. Syst. 39, 29–43 (2014)
- 18. Sohm, M.: Erkennung von komplexen Aktivitäten anhand von tragbaren Sensoren. Master thesis, University of Applied Sciences, Vorarlberg (2016)
- Intille, S.S., Bao, L., Tapia, E.M., Rondoni, J.: Acquiring in situ training data for context-aware ubiquitous computing applications. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pp. 1–8. ACM (2004)
- Längkvist, M., Karlsson, L., Loutfi, A.: Sleep stage classification using unsupervised feature learning. Adv. Artif. Neural Syst. 2012, 1–9 (2012)
- Herrera, L.J., Fernandes, C.M., Mora, A.M., Migotina, D., Largo, R., Guillén, A., Rosa, A.C.: Combination of heterogeneous EEG feature extraction methods and stacked sequential learning for sleep stage classification. Int. J. Neural Syst. 23, 1350012 (2013)
- Shi, J., Liu, X., Li, Y., Zhang, Q., Li, Y., Ying, S.: Multi-channel EEG-based sleep stage classification with joint collaborative representation and multiple kernel learning. J. Neurosci. Methods 254, 94–101 (2015)
- Gu, W., Yang, Z., Shangguan, L., Sun, W., Jin, K., Liu, Y.: Intelligent sleep stage mining service with smartphones. In: Proceedings of the ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing, pp. 649–660 (2014)
- Rahman, T., Adams, A.T., Ravichandran, R.V., Zhang, M., Patel, S.N., Kientz, J.A., Choudhury, T.: Dopplesleep: a contactless unobtrusive sleep sensing system using short-range doppler radar. In: Proceedings of the ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing, pp. 39–50 (2015)
- Kurihara, Y., Watanabe, K.: Sleep-stage decision algorithm by using heartbeat and body-movement signals. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. - Part A: Syst. Humans 42, 1450–1459 (2012)
- O'Hare, E., Flanagan, D., Penzel, T., Garcia, C., Frohberg, D., Heneghan, C.: A comparison of radio-frequency biomotion sensors and actigraphy versus polysomnography for the assessment of sleep in normal subjects. Sleep Breath. 19, 91–98 (2015)
- Kolla, B.P., Mansukhani, S., Mansukhani, M.P.: Consumer sleep tracking devices: a review of mechanisms, validity and utility. Expert Rev. Med. Devices 13, 497–506 (2016)
- Radha, M., Garcia-Molina, G., Poel, M., Tononi, G.: Comparison of feature and classifier algorithms for online automatic sleep staging based on a single EEG signal. In: Proceedings of 36th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, pp. 1876–1880 (2014)
- Buschmann, F., Meunier, R., Rohnert, H., Sommerlad, P., Stal, M.: Pattern-Oriented Software Architecture: A System of Patterns. Wiley, Hoboken (2013)

- 30. Panagiotou, C., Samaras, I., Gialelis, J., Chondros, P., Karadimas, D.: A comparative study between SVM and fuzzy inference system for the automatic prediction of sleep stages and the assessment of sleep quality. In: Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare, pp. 293–296 (2015)
- Bengio, Y., Courville, A.C., Vincent, P.: Unsupervised feature learning and deep learning: a review and new perspectives. CoRR abs/1206.5538 (2012)
- 32. Keyvanrad, M.A., Homayounpour, M.M.: A brief survey on deep belief networks and introducing a new object oriented toolbox (DeeBNet). Technical report, Laboratory for Intelligent Multimedia Processing, Computer Engineering and Information Technology Department, Amirkabir University of Technology, Tehran, Iran (2014)
- Hinton, G.E.: Training products of experts by minimizing contrastive divergence. Neural Comput. 14, 1771–1800 (2002)
- Carreira-Perpinan, M.A., Hinton, G.E.: On contrastive divergence learning. In: Artificial Intelligence and Statistics 2005 (2005)
- Hinton, G.E.: A practical guide to training Restricted Boltzmann Machines. In: Montavon, G., Orr, G.B., Müller, K.-R. (eds.) Neural Networks: Tricks of the Trade. LNCS, vol. 7700, pp. 599–619. Springer, Heidelberg (2012). https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-642-35289-8_32
- Borazio, M., Berlin, E., Kücükyildiz, N., Scholl, P., Laerhoven, K.V.: Towards benchmarked sleep detection with wrist-worn sensing units. In: 2014 IEEE International Conference on Healthcare Informatics, pp. 125–134 (2014)
- Biswal, S., Kulas, J., Sun, H., Goparaju, B., Westover, M.B., Bianchi, M.T., Sun, J.: Sleepnet: Automated sleep staging system via deep learning. arXiv:1707.08262 (2017)
- 38. LeCun, Y., Bengio, Y., Hinton, G.: Deep learning. Nature 521, 436-444 (2015)
- Ohayon, M.M., Carskadon, M.A., Guilleminault, C., Vitiello, M.V.: Meta-analysis of quantitative sleep parameters from childhood to old age in healthy individuals: developing normative sleep values across the human lifespan. Sleep 27, 1255–1273 (2004)
- Danker-Hopfe, H., Anderer, P., Zeitlhofer, J., Boeck, M., Dorn, H., Gruber, G., Heller, E., Loretz, E., Moser, D., Parapatics, S., et al.: Interrater reliability for sleep scoring according to the Rechtschaffen & Kales and the new AASM standard. J. Sleep Res. 18, 74–84 (2009)
- Reimer, U., Maier, E., Ulmer, T.: A Self-learning Application Framework for Behavioral Change Support. In: Röcker, C., O'Donoghue, J., Ziefle, M., Helfert, M., Molloy, W. (eds.) ICT4AWE 2016. CCIS, vol. 736, pp. 119–139. Springer, Cham (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62704-5_8


ActiveAdvice: A Multi-stakeholder Perspective to Understand Functional Requirements of an Online Advice Platform for AAL Products and Services

Soraia Teles^{1,2(\boxtimes)}, Andrea Ch. Kofler³, Paul Schmitter³, Stefan Ruscher⁴, Constança Paúl^{1,2}, and Diotima Bertel⁴

¹ Department of Behavioral Sciences, Institute of Biomedical Sciences Abel Salazar, University of Porto, Rua de Jorge Viterbo Ferreira, 228, 4050-313 Porto, Portugal teles.s.soraia@gmail.com, constancapaul@gmail.com ² Center for Health Technology and Services Research (CINTESIS), Rua Dr. Plácido da Costa, 4200-450 Porto, Portugal

³ Zurich University of Applied Sciences, Campus Grüental, 8820 Waedenswil, Zurich, Switzerland

{andrea.kofler,paul.schmitter}@zhaw.ch

⁴ SYNYO GmbH, Otto-Bauer-Gasse 5/14, 1060 Vienna, Austria stefanh.ruscher@gmail.com, diotima.bertel@synyo.com

Abstract. For the last 10 years, ageing well in the community has become a key concern of the European Union and its member states. Action plans as well as distinct programs such as the Ambient Assisted Living (AAL) Joint Programme are evidence of this engagement. Since then, many AAL products and services have been developed and implemented in the European market. Up to now, however, access to, and the availability of these solutions is difficult, and the information on their use is scarce. ActiveAdvice, an AAL EU-funded project aims to develop an online platform which offers both information on AAL solutions as well as advice to end users. This paper discusses the application of a multi-stakeholder perspective approach. It discusses the user-centered development and reflects on the establishment of AAL ecosystems and the functional requirements of the ActiveAdvice platform. It includes an extended methodological framework, which explains conclusively the ActiveAdvice stakeholders' identification process and the user-centered requirements analysis, built on 38 semi-structured interviews with three stakeholder groups - consumers, businesses and governments. The integration of different stakeholders in the development and implementation of AAL solutions is a necessity as well as a challenge. This holds also true for the development of the ActiveAdvice platform.

Keywords: Ambient Assisted Living · Multi-stakeholder perspective User-centered design · Online advice platform

1 Introduction

Research on ageing suggests that older adults would prefer to age independently and in their private homes as long as possible [1, 2]. Similarly, family members and other informal caregivers have shown a preference to provide care in familiar environments [1, 2]. Nonetheless, with regards to their health status, ability to perform the activities and instrumental activities of daily living (ADLs and IADLs) autonomously, socioeconomic and family situations, interests and capabilities, older adults constitute a highly heterogeneous group. This means that new approaches and concepts are required to cope with the great variety of needs these older adults have. In addition, throughout Europe, the number of caregivers - both on a professional, as well as informal level - is declining [3]. Demographic, social and cultural trends causing this development include: (i) the increasing proportion, in the EU population structure, of the old and "oldest old" individuals as opposed to a decreasing proportion of children/vounger adults; (ii) the rise in the female labor market participation (since informal caregivers are mostly women of working age); and (iii) a trend for family organization in small units, particularly in the urbanized context [3]. Due to the above, several pan-European initiatives have been launched to promote and foster innovations, which would allow sustainable, financially affordable, and life enhancing solutions [4, 5]. In 2007, the European Union approved the action plan "Ageing Well in the Information Society" [2]. This plan also was the stimulus for the creation of the Ambient Assisted Living Joint Programme (AAL JP, formerly Ambient Assisted Living Joint Programme) in 2008. The Joint Programme combines social, technological and business aspects and aims to develop new models of service delivery and care [5]. The AAL concept corresponds to a new paradigm, which builds on the potential of ubiquitous ICT-devices and new forms of interaction to improve the quality of life of older adults as well as their autonomy, security, health and social integration [6].

Hence, AAL products and services currently tackle multiple dimensions of older adults' lives. Proposals to categorize AAL products and services have been advanced, which is the case of TAALXONOMY [7], a classification system taking into account the international definitions (e.g. WHO, OECD), initiatives (e.g. BRAID, EIP-AHA) and standards (e.g. ISO 9999). According to this framework, AAL products and services can be categorized according to three levels: (i) scope of application (Health & Care; Living & Buildings; Safety & Security; Mobility & Transport; Work & Training; Vitality & Abilities; Leisure & Culture; Information & Communication); (ii) field of application; and (iii) use cases [7]. Nevertheless, numerous constraints have been found in the implementation of AAL. These are associated with a lack of user-centered design and low adherence by end users [8-10] as well as with business sustainability problems [11]. In addition, the absence of interoperability between systems [11-13] as well as the limited evidence on interactions between technology and society, on the impact of technologies and their cost-effectiveness have been identified as constraints [11, 14]. Another constraint considered as one of the most challenging is the requisite of involving and engaging, from the earliest moment in the development process, multiple stakeholders with their heterogeneous competencies, interests in the technological developments and needs. The different interests and agendas of the various AAL

stakeholders are likely to affect the technology uptake [15–19]. Therefore, the close involvement of different stakeholders requires researchers to find successful strategies to motivate them to participate, to understand them and to finally translate their inputs into the proper requirements [20, 21].

The EU-funded ActiveAdvice project aims to support the promotion of AAL services and products, which must be context and situation-aware, pro-active, and adaptive [22]. ActiveAdvice is intended to set up a European-wide advisory and decision support platform that brings together the broad range of available AAL products, services and experts. It intends to include end-users from the beginning to the moment of its launch and beyond. The project is driven by a design that depicts a holistic representation of a highly complex AAL stakeholder ecosystem. Therefore, the project applies a multi-stakeholder perspective, and, by doing so, attempts to support the collaboration and co-operation among stakeholders towards active ageing and e-inclusion of older adults' needs.

This paper discusses a multi-stakeholder perspective and its methodological implications for the ActiveAdvice EU-funded project. The results presented are based on an extended narrative literature analysis but mainly summarize the key insights from a user requirements analysis, underlying the project. The paper follows the previous publication of preliminary findings in the paper "A Multi-Perspective View on AAL Stakeholders' Needs: A User-centred Requirement Analysis for the ActiveAdvice European Project" [23], which was presented at the ICT4AWE 2017 Conference.

2 Conceptual Considerations

It is frequently reported that many AAL products and services have been developed without taking the stakeholders' interests and needs into consideration [24]. AAL projects too often reflect a more "traditional" techno-centric approach. The ActiveAdvice project intended to minimize this gap by looking at how to best identify the interests of different AAL stakeholders (participatory approach), develop an online platform that regards social components as well as to recognize different needs and motivations (socio-technical approach and inclusive design), and take in consideration the stakeholders' contexts (information ecologies) [25, 26]. In the AAL field, attempts to develop online platforms to better support older adults and their relatives as well as to better integrate them very often lack to conceptualize a healthcare ecosystem. The latter is a rather complex theoretical construct that involves many different stakeholders, with diverse interests, needs and capabilities. Hereinafter, three key concerns of importance for the ActiveAdvice project are discussed in more detail: (i) the multi-stakeholder perspective, (ii) the user-centered development, and (iii) the implications of an AAL ecosystem.

2.1 Applying a Multi-stakeholder Perspective

Stakeholders, broadly defined, are conceived as "any group or individual who can affect or is affected by the achievement of the organization's objectives" [27, p. 46]. Notwithstanding, a wide view of the concept might mean that virtually anyone can be considered a stakeholder and the concept can lose its value. On the other hand, a

narrower approach considers stakeholders as "those groups without whose support, the business would cease to be viable" [27, p. 46]. In the context of the ActiveAdvice project, and, rephrasing the AAL Association's (2014) definition of "stakeholders", those are understood as "(A)all the parties looking for information related to ICT and Ageing well", and wanting to use the ActiveAdvice software solution and the advisory network to gain advice, and more knowledge on existing solutions and on research outcomes; "The stakeholders can be divided into several interrelated groups", "each with their own needs and specific angle of approach towards the information" [28, p. 1]. Since in the context of the ActiveAdvice project, stakeholders are at the same time end users of the platform, the terms 'stakeholders' and 'end user' are used in this knowledge base indiscriminately.

Older adults have been identified as the main stakeholders of AAL products and services. However, there are also other stakeholder groups for AAL frequently pointed out in literature, such as relatives and informal caregivers, formal caregivers, health operators, healthcare professionals, medical specialists including GPs, community nurses, occupational therapists, physiotherapists, and consultants [15, 16, 24, 29-31]. Besides, national and regional governments, local authorities and councils on the one hand, and AAL solutions producing companies or enterprises supplying the devices on the other hand, act as stakeholders. In a broader sense, also technology designers and developers, engineers and researchers, as well as insurance companies are to be considered stakeholders [15, 16, 24, 32-39]. Proposals to cluster this multitude of AAL stakeholders or end users into primary, secondary, tertiary and even quaternary are advanced in literature [40-42]. In 1995, Clarkson [40, p. 106] for instance classified primary and secondary stakeholders. The first group is considered responsible for a company including shareholders and investors but also suppliers, employees, customers as well as the governments and communities whereas in contrast the second is influential but only involved in everyday business activities on a limited basis, "they are not engaged in transactions with the corporation and are not essential for its survival" [40, p. 107]. Any clustering of end users, be it primary to quaternary or primary to secondary stakeholders, however, is not straightforward, since it depends on the AAL solution [42]. Besides the clustering, it is even more important how relevant stakeholders interact with each other. This interaction and its intensity influences the success and guarantees the creation of value [27, 43], e.g. organizing and implementing a proper safety and security device in an older adult's household. So far, therefore, the multi-stakeholder perspective has been a challenge in the AAL context. It is not always straightforward to find and accommodate all stakeholders' interests without trading off one against another [44].

Predominantly, ageing in place is only socially and collaboratively accomplished or "co-produced" by the efforts of all stakeholders [45]. The ActiveAdvice project attempts to address this challenge and consistently applies a multi-stakeholder perspective, combining the views of different stakeholders, namely consumers – here considered older adults and their relatives and/or informal caregivers - , business representatives and government representatives, from a very early stage of the process. As will be shown (see Methodology), stakeholders in this context are clustered into three groups and nine subgroups.

2.2 UCD and Participatory Development of AAL Technologies

An integrated development approach results in a culture of participation and engagement, which promotes higher levels of stakeholders' influence and empowerment as well as an enhanced sustainability of assistive technologies [20, 21, 26, 39]. It is widely agreed that both user-centered design (UCD) and participatory design (PD) are meaningful approaches in developing AAL solutions [46–48]. The notion of UCD means that users' opinions are crucial, starting with the exploration of initial requirements up to the moment of the assessment of products and services [20]. In turn, participatory design assumes that, in its more meaningful form, end users actively share roles and responsibilities in the decision-making process. However, in solutions' development, insufficiently applied UCD and PD is still observed [48, 49].

Experts from diverse backgrounds are usually those who determine by and large the decision-making process regarding the concept, design and development, with end users being involved only in an advanced stage, which means that systems' conceptualization is not built into users' experiences or mental models [21]. This observation was concluded from a systematic literature review, in which existing AAL solutions appear to be rather built on the available technology than on end users' needs, attributes, consequences and values [24]. More recently, AAL projects are characterized, however, by the fact that older adults, as typically the primary end users, are integrated in the development from a very early stage in the project. Whilst this inclusion of older adults is a positive development in the design of AAL technologies, other stakeholders' needs still are very rarely considered [50]. A growing number of studies, therefore, have more recently emphasized the importance of a paradigm shift towards a more participatory development of AAL technologies, which would more frequently open the design process to various stakeholders, making it a collaborative effort. This would assure a faster diffusion of user-relevant technologies [26, 51, 52]. This is also supported by a recent research evaluating a web service developed in accordance with the Web Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG2.0) and the ISO 9241 standards family. The case study highlights problems with system usability and accessibility, when end users were only involved in trial of the new service, yet mostly excluded from the conceptual development of it [37].

The ActiveAdvice project puts emphasis on the premises of the UCD and the PD. Considering this, four theoretical approaches for the design of the online advisory platform are integrated: (i) the socio-technical approach; (ii) the participatory approach; (iii) the inclusive design, and (iv) the information ecologies [25, 26]. In all approaches, end users are participating in the decision-making at all stages of the design process and their different needs, backgrounds and capacities are taken into consideration. Moreover, in this process, technical and social components co-operate and co-evolve

2.3 AAL Stakeholder Ecosystem

At a European level, concerns were expressed about the lack of suitable collaboration and co-operation among stakeholders towards the active ageing and e-inclusion of older adults' needs [53]. It was stressed that, so far, in most AAL product and service developments, the entirety of AAL ecosystem has been somehow neglected [24]. In a recent systematic literature review, it has been found that solutions take "patients" (including older adults) and "physicians" much more into account, thereby not involving other stakeholders [24]. Another recent study in the Austrian AAL community shows that a comprehensive view on the involvement of different stakeholders in AAL projects is still missing; and while primary end-users are usually involved in both requirements definition and evaluation, other stakeholders, e.g. public institutions, are mostly left out [54].

An AAL ecosystem is indeed a rather complex entity. It integrates a diversity of stakeholders, each with different value systems, interests and capacities. Older adults, for example, might seek to increase their quality of life, whereas businesses might want to sell their products; representatives of local authorities might seek to guide their clientele towards appropriate solutions. An AAL stakeholder ecosystem is not the result of the many different bilateral relationships of e.g. buyers and sellers, caretakers and caregivers. Rather it is a collaborative system that describes a community of interconnected and interacting entities - across various different stakeholder groups, with the purpose of providing care and assistance to older adults and their caregivers. The latter are also members of this complex socio-technical ecosystem; they can be partners to developers and businesses [55]. By integrating a diversity of actors, by better understanding their needs and by improving the development and implementation in shortening the time both for the development and the time to market and reduce costs, AAL ecosystems form a hybrid value chain [56]. The analysis of this value chain can provide interesting economic insights into the stakeholders' commercial motivation inside and towards the ecosystem.

This rationale provides a promising framework for the ActiveAdvice project. In an ActiveAdvice ecosystem, stakeholders with very different value concepts meet: whereas older adults might seek to exchange their experiences with AAL products, the interest of AAL businesses is probably in gathering information on their potential customers. The public sector, in general, might be interested in building-up a health ecosystem for a distinct clientele. All this is taken into consideration as the project applies a multi-stakeholder perspective, which guarantees the stakeholders' integration as users of the platform, from the beginning and thereafter.

3 Methodology

The ActiveAdvice project aims to raise public awareness of AAL solutions and provide comprehensive and comparable information for different stakeholder groups. Therefore, the early integration of all potential stakeholder groups as future users, contributors and promoters had to be accomplished. Yet, the challenge was to identify the stakeholders most relevant for the ActiveAdvice platform development in the first place and then learn about their needs, interests, and motivations to use or contribute to the platform. A two-fold methodological design was applied.

In phase one, firstly, a narrative literature review to gather comprehensive information on the needs, requirements, motivations and deterrents for primary, secondary and tertiary users of AAL solutions was carried out. Secondly, in a use case generation and analysis approach, end user requirements were tackled. The aim was to illustrate decision-making processes regarding the search and selection of AAL solutions as well as the prospective use of the ActiveAdvice platform. Based on these two analyses, the ActiveAdvice stakeholders were identified, characterized and segmented. Clearly defined stakeholders were then summarized in a stakeholder map.

In the second phase, semi-structured requirements interviews were carried out. It was the aim to get to know the identified ActiveAdvice stakeholders' motivations in using ICT in general and social media in particular, to learn about challenges in accessing AAL information and when using AAL products and services. The interviewees were invited to discuss situations in which ActiveAdvice could support them the most. Furthermore, the interviews helped to clarify, whether and in which form the different stakeholder groups would pro-actively contribute to the platform in giving feedback on products. Based on these interviews, the functional requirements for the ActiveAdvice platform were identified.

3.1 Get to Know ActiveAdvice Stakeholders: Narrative Literature Review and Use Case Generation

Narrative Literature Review [57]. This was carried out as a first step to identify AAL relevant stakeholders to provide a broader coverage of the topic at stake. It was organized in three steps: (i) review planning, with the definition of research objectives, key-words and databases, as well as inclusion and exclusion criteria; (ii) performing the review, by carrying out the paper gathering and subsequent selection (applying the inclusion and exclusion criteria); and (iii) reviewing the documentation, with a qualitative summarization of the search results. For step one, a broad set of keywords and concepts were identified. It was followed by a preliminary screening of papers on AAL and stakeholder issues in general. Some of the keywords were kept fixed in the complete set of queries, namely Ambient Assisted Living, Active Assisted Living technology, Ambient Assistive, Telehealth and Telecare. The defined keywords were then searched in selected academic databases (e.g. Emerald Insight, Web of Science, EBSCOhost) and grey databases (e.g. Google Scholar). Publications by multilateral European and international organizations (e.g. the European Commission, WHO) were also searched and considered, if relevant. The search was narrowed down to publications not older than 2007. After a multistage filtering phase, 79 papers were selected for further analysis: its contents were categorized by themes, using therefore the qualitative method of thematic coding. The literature findings supported the establishment and segmentation of the project end users. Three main stakeholder groups have been identified: consumers (AAL2C), businesses (AAL2B), and governments (AAL2G). These three groups were further divided into nine sub-groups, as presented in Table 1.

 Table 1. AAL stakeholder groups and sub-groups.

ActiveAdvice Primary stakeholders

C1 Older adults aged between 55 to 70 years old, characterized by being active and autonomous. Includes older adults who decided to invest in a new home, usually in a smaller housing unit, and/or who wish to think ahead and adapt the house for an upcoming chronic illnesses and future loss of autonomy. Individuals within this group should be computer literate and be able to access information online

C2	Older adults who are facing loss of autonomy and wish to live longer at home, therefore avoiding/postponing institutionalization. They are forced to look for solutions that enable them to improve their quality of life without leaving home. These adults are not necessarily literate in informatics and are not necessarily able to access information online. However, they must be able to do it with caregiver's support			
C3	Relatives and/or informal caregivers of older adults who wish to help and assist their relative/the older adult they care for. This can be because of effective loss of autonomy (therefore forced to find a solution), but also to prevent further degradation, loss of functionality and autonomy (prevention)			
Active	ActiveAdvice Secondary Stakeholders			
B1	Suppliers of AAL solutions (products, services or a combination)			
B2	Suppliers of services – consultancy services to older adults and their families – that could take a role as "active advisor" in the field of AAL and the ActiveAdvice ecosystem			
ActiveAdvice Tertiary Stakeholders				
G1	Suppliers of services or solutions. This can be under normal market conditions (e.g. a provision of home assistance services), or under subsidized schemes for specific target groups			
G2	Suppliers of services assessing needs of older adults and directing them towards the right solution or service. This segment could also play a role as "active advisor"			
G3	Policy makers at local, regional and national levels, linked to ageing, living longer at home, health services and homecare services			
G4	Public Services, senior organizations, interest groups, care cooperatives with governmental support			

The older adults' segmentation is based on the interlinkage of the following factors: (i) chronological age; (ii) life course events; (iii) health and functionality status; (iv) relationship with ICT (particularly internet use); and (v) AAL related needs and desires. Since literature has shown that relatives are often the decision-makers or facilitators regarding the acquisition of AAL products and services, they are considered as a third segment as "indirect consumers". Businesses were segmented into two subgroups, the first including suppliers of AAL solutions (products, services or a combination) and the second referring to businesses which offer advisory services and could take a role as "active advisors" in the AAL field. Similarly, the "governments" target audience was segmented: first, differentiating between institutions, which are aimed at supplying services or solutions to older adults from policy and decisionmakers, who design policies at several levels (local, regional and national); second, by distinguishing between organizations that only supply services or solutions to older adults, from those that also provide advisory services, similar to the segmentation established for businesses. Moreover, an additional stakeholder group was identified and integrated into "G4": public services, senior organizations, interest groups, and care cooperatives. It is noteworthy that during the data collection, it was noticed that some participants reunited criteria to cluster in more than one subgroup (e.g. older adults who simultaneously assist a relative).

Use Case Scenarios [57]. A use case scenario describes a real-world example, a narrative, of how people or organizations, a user, e.g. an older adult, interact with a system being designed to achieve a particular goal. Use cases represents descriptions of single steps, events, and actions that occur during an interaction.

Use cases within the ActiveAdvice project facilitate the illustration of the decisionmaking processes regarding the search and selection of AAL products and services as well as the learning about the prospective use of the ActiveAdvice platform. Four scenarios, two based on real life experiences and two hypothetical scenarios, were developed. From the four use cases derived, two concerned the requirements of primary stakeholders, i.e. older adults, while one use case targeted secondary, and another tertiary stakeholders.

The following exemplified use case illustrates what it takes to find a product or service that supports an older adult living alone. This is an example of a decision-making process around the purchase of a telecare service (pendant alarm) for an 82-year-old woman who lives alone in the UK. Table 2 provides information about the timeline, actors involved and steps taken.

Process - steps	Time
Encouraged mum to get a pendant alarm	January 2016
Speak to occupational therapists	February 2016
Advice to use "Medicare" – council service, but this has a long waiting list	February 2016
Use "Age UK" service or "Magenta" (local housing association)	March 2016
Searched "Wirral Telecare" on google looking for subsidized/free council service (nothing available)	March 2016
Looked for pendant alarm that resembled jewelry that had been seen at an AAL exhibition	March 2016
Looked up "Age UK" and phoned them	March 2016
Appointment made with a representative to visit mum	April 2016
Representative visited house and demonstrated the system	April 2016
Not sure due to call center in Devon, key holder identification, did not like salesperson, monthly charge	April 2016
Searched council website again – no real section on telecare, even though the service is provided	
E-mailed "Magenta", other local provider, no response	May 2016
Searched telecare on google following a link from Tunstall website	May 2016
	Process - steps Encouraged mum to get a pendant alarm Speak to occupational therapists Advice to use "Medicare" – council service, but this has a long waiting list Use "Age UK" service or "Magenta" (local housing association) Searched "Wirral Telecare" on google looking for subsidized/free council service (nothing available) Looked for pendant alarm that resembled jewelry that had been seen at an AAL exhibition Looked up "Age UK" and phoned them Appointment made with a representative to visit mum Representative visited house and demonstrated the system Not sure due to call center in Devon, key holder identification, did not like salesperson, monthly charge Searched council website again – no real section on telecare, even though the service is provided E-mailed "Magenta", other local provider, no response Searched telecare on google following a link from Tunstall website

Table 2. Decision making process: looking for a pendant alarm.

(continued)

Actors	Process - steps	Time
Son	Reviewed packages from Telecare24	May 2016
Son	Reviewed packages from Boots – more expensive than Telecare24, not sure about falls monitoring, no picture of pendant	May 2016
Son	Checked forums on financial website. Nothing for telecare but personal alarms showed some results. Most of the equipment/services were low cost and required some local set up so required some skilled ICT knowledge. The forums focused on traditional tech like large button phones rather than pendant alarms. It was felt that this would put off people who were looking for a standard solution as it seemed to be relatively technical people trying to do something as cheaply as possible, rather than looking at the reliability and responsiveness of the system. www.moneysavingtexpert.co.uk	Jun-16
Son	Checked DLF website and considered visit to look at systems in local branch http://www.dlf.org.uk/content/about-us http://www.livingmadeeasy.org.uk/contacts_edc.php	Jun-16
Son	Looked at comparison website with lots of suppliers found on google - narrowed down to Merseyside but showed mainly National providers that covered the area. http://www. housingcare.org/service/list/s-24-telecare/l-451-merseyside.aspx	Jun-16
Son	Checked Local Authority website. No mention of telecare being available. Son rang the Adult Social Care line and they processed the referral then made an appointment. www.wirral. gov.uk	Jun-16
Local Authority	Visit to mum to explain options and process	Jun-16
Daughter	Explanation of key safe, impact on local neighbors	Jun-16
Local Authority	Key safe installed by Local Authority	Jul-16
Local Authority	Pendant alarm System installed	Aug-16

 Table 2. (continued)

Lesson learned from the use case generation, amongst others, are that the purchasing process of an AAL product takes too long and was resolved only via a telephone enquiry, as there was no information on the local authority website. Furthermore, the son needed to search in various websites to compare the different AAL products characteristics and did not always found the needed information. There is a lot of information available from commercial providers, but the public-sector provider has no web-based information so far. Besides the 82-year-old woman, many actors are involved in this process, namely her daughter, son, an occupational therapist, the Council Website and an Age UK sales representative. In this use case, it is the nontechnical issues, rather than the technical choice, which causes problems for the involved parties. The ActiveAdvice applications are designed with the exact intention to ease this process and make it less time consuming for all actors involved.

3.2 Better Understand ActiveAdvice Stakeholders: User-Centered Requirements Analysis

The first phase of the analysis helped to identify the stakeholders of AAL products and services in general, as well as to gain a better understanding of the ActiveAdvice stakeholders. After that clarification, the next step encompassed a user-centered requirements analysis [58]. This methodology involves users from the onset of the solutions' development, to give an early feedback to developers and researchers regarding user requirements, preferences, acceptances and expectations – in this case the use of an online advisory and feedback platform on AAL products and services.

Semi-Structured Interviews. Overall, 38 semi-structured interviews were conducted. The aim was to identify and clarify the highest possible number of issues, which are supporting or preventing the development, and in the ongoing process, the implementation of the ActiveAdvice platform. This qualitative technique was chosen because it allows an in-depth analysis and learning of what people expect and how individual circumstances determine their reasoning. It is important to note, that the results can neither be generalized nor quantified. Nevertheless, they give insights in the stakeholders' different perspectives and needs.

Potential participants corresponding to the nine previously defined segments were approached through convenience sampling strategy. The 38 interviews included in the analysis were rather evenly distributed among the different stakeholder groups: older adults and relatives (n = 12), business representatives (n = 14), and members of local and regional governments or representatives of end user organizations (n = 12). The data was collected in each ActiveAdvice partner country, distributed in the following way: Austria (n = 5); Belgium (n = 3); the Netherlands (n = 10); Portugal (n = 7); Switzerland (n = 6); and the UK (n = 7). The interview guidelines were built in a collaborative effort among all partners. Three different guidelines - one for each stakeholder group were developed. With respect to older adults, the general use of the internet, motivations to use social media, attitudes towards feedback giving and advice as well as the general awareness of AAL solutions were in focus. Businesses were asked to comment on their use of the internet to promote their product, to get in contact with their customers. They were also asked to reflect on feedback features, their marketing and how to integrate their products and services into an AAL platform. The government stakeholder group was asked to comment on AAL developments, products and services in a more general way. Of interest was e.g. whether they were aware of AAL solutions, how they make themselves familiar with developments, whether they promote AAL products, and in which role they could contribute to an ActiveAdvice ecosystem.

All interview guidelines were first available in English and then translated into the respective languages (Dutch, German, French, and Portuguese). Adaptations to local and national specifications were also performed. This was necessary to grasp the differences in e.g. the role of health insurances, the social security systems and, legal and financial issues. All participants received the study information sheet and gave their informed consent. Depending on the interviewees' availability and preferences, the interview was carried out face to face, in a teleconference or by telephone. Each of the interviews took between 30 to 45 min.

Matrix Analysis. The data was analyzed using the matrix analysis method. This method was chosen because it provides a structure with which large amounts of qualitative data can be categorized and analyzed, allowing to obtain new insights across topics that have previously not been established [59, 60]. For every stakeholder group (consumers, business and government), a separate matrix table was created. All answers were then transferred into the matrixes and all answers were anonymized. Each column represented one interviewee (i.e. end user 1, end user 2, etc.). Likewise, each row covered one individual code, which has been defined based on the overall aims discussed above (i.e. social media, giving feedback, trust in online reviews, etc.). Consequently, the analysis offered a better understanding of the individual assumptions, as well as a comparison across the cases of the different interviewees' assumptions.

4 Results: Stakeholder Perspectives Under Focus

For the ActiveAdvice project, it was important to gain an understanding across the participating countries and stakeholder groups about the state of the art with respect to advice, feedback, and availability of AAL solutions; and, furthermore, what the stakeholder groups expect from an online advice and information platform. Below, the most important results from the user-centered requirements analysis are presented. These findings support a better understanding of different and common stakeholders' motivations, intentions, needs and expectations in the scope of the ActiveAdvice project. The results section is organized along the line of two main insights. The three stakeholder perspectives (Cs = consumers, i.e. older adults/relatives, BR = business representatives, GR = government representatives) are presented in an integrated manner to highlight differences and similarities in their perspectives towards each topic as well as to develop a holistic picture.

4.1 Attitudes Towards ICT and Internet Use

ICT Skills, Interest and Internet Use. In general, Cs have demonstrated interest in ICT-based solutions. However, not all interviewees in this group reported to use the internet regularly, let alone to consult the web for health-related information. This constraint was also identified by GRs, who have shown concerns about whether or not older adults would be able to access an advisory platform in the first place. Perceived barriers for access include older adults' lack of technology or ICT skills (technology illiteracy) or fear of technology/learning process and missing access to technological devices or internet connection. GRs also stressed that different profiles for older adults must be taken into account, since those in need for geriatric help are very unlikely to use the internet.

For those older adults who use the internet, particularly to gather health information, a preference for receiving information (e.g. via newsletters) rather than actively searching for it was expressed. Care consultancy is more often sought to be found in the virtual reality; but the use of internet is often reduced to a first consultancy rather than an ongoing advice. Regarding social media as a means to look and provide information, neither Cs nor BRs see it as a preferential or priority channel. On the one hand, Cs tend to see social networks as a means for social interaction rather than a platform for learning or being informed about products and services. On the other hand, BRs tend to report a lack of resources or skills to invest in the use of social networks, although they wish to do it at a later stage. When it comes to customer interaction, they prefer face to face (f2f) interaction, as it provides better means of communication when building up a relationship with the customer. Furthermore, Cs reported to only rarely have used online catalogues (not necessarily of AAL solutions) so far. On this topic, BRs consider that ActiveAdvice must avoid becoming just another online catalogue providing a selling service.

The main observations by Cs and GRs on these topics are in line with the literature reviewed. Some reasons for the low acceptance of technology by older adults are: poor ICT skills, fear of both the technology itself and the learning process, lack of financial resources to purchase and maintain devices and internet access [8, 29, 34, 61, 62]. It is documented, however, that barriers associated with ICT skills for older adults will tend to decrease in future generations [36]. In this study, some Cs report not to have searched for health information online at all. In contradiction, searching for health information was reported in the literature as one of the activities most performed online by older adults [29].

Knowledge of AAL Products and Services. The three groups of stakeholders interviewed tend to consider that ICT products and services are not well known by older adults, and they welcomed the possibility to raise awareness and give information. GRs stressed that either older adults do not know where to find solutions or they only start looking once they are in need. Hence, GRs considered that the ActiveAdvice project should target the awareness raising as much as offering advice. In the BRs perspective, more and better information on AAL solutions is welcomed in order to make those solutions widely known. Evidence from literature reviewed pointed to the same direction when concluding the lack of general public awareness about AAL technologies. For example, caregivers had perceived a lack of relevant information available on AAL technologies and its benefits or its availability, only when a point of crises was reached; while business stakeholders identified it as an obstacle to introduce and succeed with these products and services in the marketplace [12, 36, 61, 63].

Online Promotion of AAL Services and Products. BRs report to use internet predominantly for marketing. However, some also stressed they do not use it at all, one of the reasons being the fact that while online promotion reduces costs from a customer perspective, this is not automatically the case for businesses. The internet was seen as an important means for promoting more simple solutions: the less maintenance a product needs, the more suitable it is to be promoted online. In BRs perspective, the internet loses importance with business to business (B2B) promotions, since negotiations are dependent on time, experience and trust building. Similarly, GRs also seem to use multiple formats for AAL products and services promotion, including ICT-based promotion, but also other strategies (e.g. events). GRs stress that regardless of the channel used, promotion should include a focus on services rather than on technologies, in order to guarantee solutions' quality and flexibility, i.e. allowing easy entry for companies to promote services and products. In either case, ActiveAdvice is seen as an opportunity by GRs to raise the level of awareness of AAL and having a broadened overview of the entire European AAL market.

Face-to-Face (f2f) Contact. Both Cs and BRs have shown a preference for f2f contact with each other. For consumers, both buying or getting advice online still compete with the f2f experience, which is perceived as more trustworthy. For BRs, the f2f approach allows customers to get to know and build a relationship with the company. Moreover, complex AAL solutions need to be tailor-made and adapted, tested and introduced to the specific application-settings, and therefore buying online without guaranteeing support and service is perceived as too risky. GRs also stress that technological innovations, social interaction and prevention of loneliness and struggling are important issues to consider. Similarly, literature reviewed produced on the usability evaluations has shown that solution's uptake can be hindered by older adults' fear of losing social interaction, f2f contact and becoming lonely [26, 33, 64, 65]. However, it has been reported that if technologies are seen as facilitators of new social interactions rather than a replacement of human interactions, this apprehensiveness can be partially minimized [61].

Consumer-Business Online Interaction. BRs have shown to be more receptive to online interaction than Cs. While the former considered online interaction with potential customers as very important, the latter might experience businesses directly communicating with them (e.g. via social networks) as an intrusion into their privacy. The emergence of the privacy topic in this data collection is not surprising, since older adults' concerns about security and privacy in ICT use – particularly when health and well-being data is involved, or when it comes to online transactions – has been extensively mentioned in the literature [10, 16, 26, 33, 66, 67]. In spite of BRs' more favorable positions regarding online interaction, these actors also mentioned some deterrents. In particular, it was stressed that everyday activities are dominated by a f2f and problem focused approach: BRs appreciate to get in contact with their customers as quickly as possible, but they understand it as an action-and-reaction communication pattern. Moreover, they stress that communication must not take place in a "public sphere", a statement also extended to feedback and advice.

4.2 Feedback and Advice in an Online Environment

Trustworthiness and Usefulness of Online Feedback. Most important for Cs is feedback about AAL-solutions, preferably by other end users. Cs tend to value feedbacks offering a description of the product or service (e.g. price, functionalities) and the related personal experiences; information on the service providers; information on the website or platform presenting the solutions; and information on the feedback giving person. Cs declare to value family members' and friends' comments for evaluating whether or not a product or a service is reliable, useful or trustworthy. However, even with feedbacks from reliable customers or experts, trust is still the biggest concern for them when accessing the web – thus, the f2f experience is preferred. In the position of giving feedback themselves, Cs report to be driven by negative incentives such as complaints about unfulfilled expectations. For BRs, these negative incentives are a

reason to be hesitant about feedback in a "public sphere". When customers interact, and discuss their positive and negative experiences, companies of course run the risk that too much negative feedback starts to affect the promotion of a product. However, they also have the chance to learn first-hand about how their product or service is perceived and accepted in the market [68]. Nevertheless, for BRs, whereas real user testimonials (on the own website or on a meta-site) are welcomed, they doubt, in general, the need for and usefulness of online customer feedback. Moreover, businesses typically do not appear on websites where customers can place their reviews. Furthermore, Cs' will-ingness to provide feedback can be dependent on the age-generation. Literature in that respect clearly differentiates between Millennials and Baby Boomers, with the latter preferring to give feedback in a f2f context rather than in the virtual reality, especially as the privacy cue has priority for them [69]. Yet, in general, interviewed Cs expressed interest in becoming more active and successful users as well as commenters in a secured, easy-to-use environment.

Neutrality as Precondition for Advice. In general, both Cs and BRs considered advice as an important and needed service. Cs demonstrated their willingness to learn about the best products and/or services for them. However, if asking for advice is something that Cs would like to do, they currently do not seem to be doing it. Lack of trust in online-advice is one of the reasons invoked for that. Hence, both GRs and BRs stress that quality of data and neutrality are important features for them to get involved, and for consumers to trust in online advice.

Both GRs and BRs highlighted that when providing advice, it is important to understand what the customer really wants and based on such understanding, offer them a customized, specific support, and one-to-one advice resulting in a perceived benefit. Regarding the question of who should provide advice, BRs consider that, on the one hand, advice is best given by those who sell a product, but on the other hand, becoming advisors themselves was not seen as an option, due to a lack of resources and the disruption of the neutrality condition. Therefore, a "neutral" body or a virtual agent is suggested to perform this task. GRs suggest that a panel of older adults could test products and the platform itself, and similarly, volunteers could act as advisors on the platform.

With regard to digital and virtual advice, it was argued that the use of virtual agents, particularly in the e-commerce context, is especially relevant to older adults due to the anticipated decline of physical and cognitive abilities [70]. Studies have supported the strong impact of virtual agents in the context of online shopping, arguing for their relevance to address age-related navigational needs [71]. However, building trust is a challenging task. For example, consumer cohorts have different trust understandings and thereby reference systems. Furthermore, peer-endorsement seems to have a different impact on consumer behavior, depending on the national context. Clearly, trust is dependent on website-interface variables; while provider's brand strength, online expertise or web site familiarity were less influential. The presence of provider advice, privacy cues and community features are crucial [72, 73].

AAL Solutions, Platform Features and Usability. When questioned about the AAL services and products most relevant for end users, GRs stressed that platforms must include products that take the older adults' needs and their physical and cognitive ageing process into account. Both Cs and GRs referred that besides offering information on

AAL products and services and their suppliers, the ActiveAdvice platform should contain information about social services, care organizations and other informative websites (e.g. for dementia, epilepsy). Moreover, Cs expected the inclusion of so-called "flow charts" on the platform, as a tool to help older adults solving problems or improving situations step by step, as well as guidelines for ordering products online.

When reflecting on the features that a platform like ActiveAdvice should have, both Cs and GRs stressed the importance of inclusive design. In addition, a clear communication strategy, a simple, and a well-structured web-layout can help to build trust. Mistaken wording can lead to negative emotional reactions, causing the end user to abandon the technology [37]. It was suggested by GRs that one possibility to address the problem of accessing online information is to design the website in a way that allows neatly formatted and easily readable printouts. Cs stressed the importance of platform features influencing its use, such as the website organization, used colors, the amount of information included, and, as a critical factor, security and safety. The security topic was highly valued by BRs, as was the neutrality, i.e. the platform needs to guarantee impartiality in the presentation of products and services. Neutrality was also highly esteemed by GRs, who suggested that the quality standards should be transparent, such as the criteria and guidelines on how products and services are being evaluated.

BRs have suggested that specific functionalities of ActiveAdvice must include videos (with comments by developers and users) and "qualitative photographs". Both should help to best describe the solution as well as its functionality; and include e-Expert stories. Moreover, testimonials for the platform itself and not only for the single services can be a way to assess and improve platform reliability. BRs also mentioned that both the products and the platform need to be certified, as this is a guarantee for quality management; and thus, a valuable and reliable offer – for both businesses and institutions were provided. Additional features such as the inclusion of a telephone number by country and the presentation of the platform administration were considered by GRs as relevant factors for raising the website's credibility.

ActiveAdvice Perceived Added Value. All stakeholder groups appear to anticipate and recognize positive effects of a pan-European advisory platform. GRs value the potential benefit of the ActiveAdvice platform for experience exchange between organizations in stimulating older adults to use ICT solutions, in offering their own product(s) or specific assistance on a local municipal/communal level. Offering information on the AAL market, such as data on suppliers and services and feedback from end users that could feed into the evaluation process for procurement is essential. In addition, it could possibly serve as basis for policies for care for older adults. Moreover, ICT support was considered helpful for businesses promoting AAL solutions, with interoperability with other systems being seen as an opportunity. A platform such as ActiveAdvice was also seen as providing an opportunity for smaller suppliers to promote their products.

Nevertheless, some BRs have raised concerns and shown reluctance in contributing to a future platform due to a potential risk of competition. Also, for the occurrence of the benefits pointed out above, both GRs and BRs stressed that ActiveAdvice must guarantee the quality of products and services, as well as their security, and, as previously mentioned, neutrality. Those are the baseline conditions for these stakeholder groups to allow their products and services being promoted through the platform, and to promote the platform themselves. BRs also asked for transparency with respect to the business model and the responsibilities of each stakeholder involved and expressed that they need to make sure that the platform is accepted and reliable. GRs suggested that a credible quality label would ensure reliability and trust as well as mobilizing a wider support from governments, large associations with high reputation, suppliers and local persons providing services (e.g. general practitioners). The involvement of municipalities and local authorities was considered by GRs as essential to better promote the platform and to increase trust amongst older adults.

5 Discussion and Lessons Learned for the ActiveAdvice Platform

When it comes to functional requirements, the ActiveAdvice platform builds on the results from the user requirements analysis. The three stakeholder groups may share requirements for basic functionalities, such as a desire to gather comprehensive information and a holistic market overview being offered. However, there are also stakeholder group-specific functional requirements that are not necessarily shared among all of them.

Both consumers and governments share a need for comprehensive information and decision support. Thus, the system has to provide (i) digital advice and decision support as the core of the ActiveAdvice platform; and (ii) guidelines, use cases and use stories in order to illustrate AAL products and services. In addition, based on the identified needs for community exchange and feedback for the consumer stakeholder group, a feedback function for review and rating should enable them to generate content and exchange experiences about AAL services and solutions. This latter function is a clear contrast to commercial expectations. The ActiveAdvice platform developers need to manage these different expectations accordingly. Then again, businesses do want the possibility to get in contact with their customers, hence a functionality for customer contact and customer interaction is required. With the use of profiles for vendors, products and services, businesses can provide information on the products and services they offer.

In order to provide governments with the needed information, an additional functionality providing accessibility guides and awareness sheets will be implemented to allow showcase retrieval for best practice. Furthermore, knowledge channels are planned. Through them, the ActiveAdvice platform also contributes to the awareness raising of AAL products and services. It is both an information feature as well as an AAL development sensitizer. The "ActiveAdvice Information and Awareness Hub" was conceived and recently launched precisely with the aim to answering these requirements. In line with this is the functional requirement for promotion and networking. Such a functionality allows businesses to provide up-to-date information about their respective services and products, thus ensuring the timeliness of the provided information - this, then, will benefit both the consumer and government stakeholder groups.

Based on the user requirements analysis, the ActiveAdvice platform will provide three main functions:

- (i) providing up-to-date information on AAL products and solutions;
- (ii) offering feedback, advice and decision support; and
- (iii) giving businesses the opportunity to present their products and services.

With these functions, the ActiveAdvice platform presents itself as an integrated communication tool with the potential of bridging the gaps between AAL stakeholders. It facilitates cooperation, information exchange and, ultimately, e-commerce. More than its value regarding the front-end (i.e. the website/app), the power of the ActiveAdvice platform lies in connecting the organizational, non-visible parts, in the back-end.

6 Conclusion

The AAL field would profit from more collaboration and coordination among stakeholders. This call for multi-stakeholder partnerships comes not only from academics but also from other protagonists in the AAL fields, such as the industry and CSOs as well as governments, and the European Commission (EC) [34, 67]. The integration of different stakeholders' perspectives in the development and implementation of AAL solutions is a necessity as well as a challenge. This holds also true for the development of the ActiveAdvice platform. In that respect, the literature analysis confirms that the development of a platform that supports both the sharing of information and building up of networks between different stakeholders, is a comprehensive task. Moreover, this paper demonstrates that interests and intentions vary between stakeholders. While for example the need for more information on AAL developments is expressed by all three stakeholder groups, at the same time reservations from the business side towards the extent and format of product information is articulated. The same applies to AAL advice. Businesses would want to provide advice; however, they consider it as a service to be offered one-to-one rather than online. In addition, governments would need an AAL product and service information tool, however, they are not sure whether to at all, and how they should contribute.

The ActiveAdvice project has applied a multi-stakeholder perspective right from the project start, by that, facing the many different contradictions concerning the stakeholders' interests, needs, knowledge and motivations. It has the potential to integrate and facilitate an AAL product and service environment for all stakeholder groups. However, it has to prove to all stakeholders that it is safe to interact and share experiences within the ActiveAdvice platform, that it presents a neutral and reliable environment in which stakeholders can trust. While ActiveAdvice is designed to be pan-European, it is clear that ageing will always happen locally.

The ActiveAdvice project also needs other developments to take into consideration: we observe a shift happening in the influence of physical and virtual realities. Authors detect the introduction of a new regime, namely the establishment of engagement ecosystems. These integrate both the virtual and the physical environments with the purpose of optimizing the promotion and selling of products and services. The purely virtual service landscape in such an engagement ecosystem, is enhanced by real world physical environments. Prominent examples are e.g. Google or Microsoft and Apple [74]. The ActiveAdvice EU-funded project will need to take into account this trend to shift from a purely online interaction to an integrated logic.

In the ongoing ActiveAdvice project, the stakeholder ecosystem is focused even more. In a next step, the respective stakeholder requirements will be integrated into the user testing phase. The overall aim again is to ensure the possibility of (knowledge) exchange and collaboration within the ActiveAdvice platform and to build up an engagement ecosystem. Moreover, especially the concept of "active advisors" [75] offers the possibility to bring together various stakeholders with the use of the ActiveAdvice platform.

Acknowledgments. The research leading to this paper has received funding from the European AAL JP. The authors also want to thank the NCPs and the project partners from Smart Homes, Cybermoor Services LTD, the City of Alkmaar and Yellow Window. The results presented in the paper only reflect the author's view. The European Union is not liable for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.

References

- Kofler, A.Ch.: Assistenztechnologien im Einsatz f
 ür mehr Lebensqualit
 ät ist keine Generationenfrage - aber eine Frage des Konzeptionierens. In: Kempter, G., Ritter, W. (eds.) Assistenztechnik f
 ür betreutes Wohnen. Beitr
 äge zum Usability Day XII, pp. 41–49. Pabst Science Publishers, Lengerich (2014)
- 2. European Commission: i2010: Independent Living for the Ageing Society. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg (2007)
- WHO: The solid facts. Home Care in Europe. WHO Regional Office for Europe (2008). http://www.euro.who.int/en/publications/abstracts/home-care-in-europe.-the-solid-facts. Accessed 03 Aug 2017
- EU-funded iCareCoops project: iCareCoops (2017). http://project.icarecoops.eu/. Accessed 10 Jul 2017
- 5. AAL Active and Assisted Living Programme: Objectives (2016). http://www.aal-europe. eu/about/objectives/. Accessed 10 Jul 2017
- Bechtold, U., Sotoudeh, M.: Assistive technologies: their development from a technology assessment perspective. Gerontechnology 11(4), 521–533 (2013)
- Leitner, P., Neuschmid, J., Ruscher, S.: Taalxonomy. Entwicklung einer praktikablen Taxonomie zur effektiven Klassifizierung von AAL Produkten und Dienstleistungen – Guidebook. TAALXONOMY (2015). http://www.taalxonomy.eu/wp-content/uploads/ Downloads/benefit%20846232-TAALXONOMY-D4.3-Guidebook.pdf
- Doyle, J., Bailey, C., Ni Scanaill, C., van den Berg, F.: Lessons learned in deploying independent living technologies to older adults' homes. Univers. Access Inf. Soc. 13, 191– 204 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10209-013-0308-1
- Michel, J., Franco, A.: Geriatricians and technology. JAMDA 15, 860–862 (2014). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2014.09.016
- Peek, S.T.M., Wouters, E.J.M., van Hoof, J., Luijkx, K.G., Boeije, H.R., Vrijhoef, H.J.M.: Factors influencing acceptance of technology for aging in place: a systematic review. Int. J. Med. Inf. 83(4), 235–248 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.01.004
- Ehrenhard, M., Kijl, B., Nieuwenhuis, L.: Market adoption barriers of multi-stakeholder technology: smart homes for the aging population. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 89, 306– 315 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2014.08.002

- Balta-Ozkan, N., Davidson, R., Bicket, M., Whitmarsh, L.: Social barriers to the adoption of smart homes. Energy Policy 63, 363–374 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.08. 043
- Perumal, T., Ramli, A.R., Leong, C.Y.: Interoperability framework for smart home systems. IEEE Trans. Consum. Electron. 57, 1607–1611 (2011)
- Graybill, E.M., McMeekin, P., Wildman, J.: Can aging in place be cost effective? A systematic review. PloS ONE 9(7), e102705 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0102705
- Bygholm, A., Kanstrup, A.M.: The living challenge of ambient assisted living a literature review. In: Proceedings of the 13th Scandinavian Conference on Health Informatics, 15–17 June 2015, Tromsø, Norway, pp. 89–92. Linköping University Electronic Press, Linköping (2015)
- Clark, J., McGee-Lennon, M.: A stakeholder-centred exploration of the current barriers to the uptake of home care technology in the UK. J. Assist. Technol. 5(1), 12–25 (2011). https://doi.org/10.5042/jat.2011.0097
- 17. Agbakoba, R., McGee-Lennon, M., Bouamrane, M.M., Watson, N., Mair, F.: Implementing a national Scottish digital health & wellbeing service at scale: a qualitative study of stakeholders' views. Stud. Health Technol. Inform. **216**, 487–491 (2015)
- Lambooij, M.S., Hummel, M.J.: Differentiating innovation priorities among stakeholder in hospital care. BMC Med. Inform. Decis. Mak. 13(1), 91 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1186/ 1472-6947-13-91
- Murray, E., Burns, J., May, C., Finch, T., O'Donnell, C., Wallace, P., Mair, F.: Why is it difficult to implement e-health initiatives? A qualitative study. Implement. Sci. 6(6) (2011). https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-6-6
- Leonardi, C., Mennecozzi, C., Not, E., Pianesi, F., Zancanaro, M.: Getting older people involved in the process of ambient assisted living research and development. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium of Gerontechnology ISG08, vol. 7, no. 2 (2008). https://doi. org/10.4017/gt.2008.07.02.089.00
- Queirós, A., Cerqueira, M., Martins, A.I., Silva, A.G., Alvarelhão, J., Teixeira, A., Rocha, N. P.: ICF inspired personas to improve development for usability and accessibility in ambient assisted living. Procedia Comput. Sci. 27, 409–418 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs. 2014.02.045
- Sabou, M., Kantorovitch, J., Nikolov, A., Tokmakoff, A., Zhou, X., Motta, E.: Position paper on realizing smart products: challenges for semantic web technologies. In: Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Semantic Sensor Networks, vol. 522, pp. 135–147. CEUR-WS.org, Washington DC (2009)
- Teles, S., Bertel, D., Kofler, A.Ch., Ruscher, S., Paúl, C.: A multi-perspective view on AAL stakeholders' needs a user-centred requirement analysis for the ActiveAdvice European project. 24. In: Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health, ICT4AWE, Porto, Portugal, vol. 1, pp. 104–116. (2017). https://doi.org/10.5220/0006380701040116
- Calvaresi, D., Cesarini, D., Sernani, P., Marinoni, M., Dragoni, A.F., Sturm, A.: Exploring the ambient assisted living domain: a systematic review. J. Ambient Intell. Humaniz. Comput. 8, 239–257 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12652-016-0374-3
- 25. Cherns, A.: The principles of sociotechnical design. Hum. Relat. **29**(8), 783–792 (1976). https://doi.org/10.1177/001872677602900806
- Olphert, W., Damodaran, L., Balatsoukas, P., Parkinson, C.: Process requirements for building sustainable digital assistive technology for older people. J. Assist. Technol. 3(3), 4– 13 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1108/17549450200900019

- Freeman, R.E.: Strategic management: strategic management: a stakeholder approach.
 B. The politics of stakeholder theory: some future directions. Bus. Ethics 4(4), 409–421 (1984)
- AAL Association: Study on Information Portals in AAL field Final Report. Ambient Assisted Living Association (2014). http://www.aal-europe.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/ Information-Portal-in-the-field-of-AAL-Final-Report-public-version-2.pdf
- Marschollek, M., Mix, S., Wolf, K.-H., Effertz, B., Haux, R., Steinhagen-Thiessen, E.: ICTbased health information services for elderly people: past experiences, current trends, and future strategies. Med. Inform. Internet Med. 32(4), 251–261 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14639230701692736
- Peek, S.T.M., Wouters, E.J., Luijkx, K.G., Vrijhoef, H.J.: What it takes to successfully implement technology for aging in place: Focus groups with stakeholders. J. Med. Internet Res. 18(5) (2016). https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.5253
- van Hoof, J., Kort, H.S.M., Rutten, P.G.S., Duijnstee, M.S.H.: Ageing-in-place with the use of ambient intelligence technology: perspectives of older users. Int. J. Med. Inf. 80(5), 310– 331 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2011.02.010
- Cunha, D., Trevisan, G., Samagaio, F., Ferreira, L., Sousay, F., Ferreira-Alves, J., Simoes, R.: Ambient assisted living technology: comparative perspectives of users and caregivers. In: 2013 IEEE 15th International Conference on e-Health Networking, Applications and Services (Healthcom 2013), pp. 41–45 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1109/healthcom.2013. 6720635
- Damodaran, L., Olphert, W.: User Responses to Assisted Living Technologies (ALTs)—a review of the literature. J. Integr. Care. 18(2), 25–32 (2013). https://doi.org/10.5042/jic. 2010.0133
- Finn, R.L., Wright, D.: Mechanisms for stakeholder co-ordination in ICT and ageing. J. Inf. Commun. Ethics Soc. 9(4), 265–286 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1108/14779961111191066
- Kriegel, J., Schmitt-Rüth, S., Güntert, B., Mallory, P.: New service development in German and Austrian health care–bringing e-health services into the market. Int. J. Healthc. Manag. 6 (2), 77–86 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1179/2047971913y.0000000034
- Reginatto, B.M.B.: Understanding barriers to wider telehealth adoption in the home environment of older people: an exploratory study in the Irish context. J Adv Life Sci. 4, 63– 76 (2012)
- Ruscher, S.H., Burger, J., Sauli, E., Kofler, A.C.: Implementing WCAG and ISO 9241 in AAL software applications-a case study. In: 2nd IET International Conference on Technologies for Active and Assisted Living (TechAAL 2016), pp. 1–6. IET (2016). https://doi.org/10.1049/ic.2016.0057
- Sponselee, A.-m., Schouten, B., Bouwhuis, D., Willems, C.: Smart home technology for the elderly: perceptions of multidisciplinary stakeholders. In: Mühlhäuser, M., Ferscha, A., Aitenbichler, E. (eds.) AmI 2007. CCIS, vol. 11, pp. 314–326. Springer, Heidelberg (2008). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-85379-4_37
- van Gemert-Pijnen, J.E., Nijland, N., van Limburg, M., Ossebaard, H.C., Kelders, S.M., Eysenbach, G., Seydel, E.R.: A holistic framework to improve the uptake and impact of eHealth technologies. J. Med. Internet Res. 13(4) (2011). https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1672
- Clarkson, M.E.: A stakeholder framework for analyzing and evaluating corporate social performance. Acad. Manag. Rev. 20(1), 92–117 (1995)
- Moschetti, A., Fiorini, L., Aquilano, M., Cavallo, F., Dario, P.: Preliminary findings of the AALIANCE2 ambient assisted living roadmap. In: Longhi, S., Siciliano, P., Germani, M., Monteriù, A. (eds.) ambient assisted living, pp. 335–342. Springer, Cham (2014). https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-01119-6_34

- 42. Nedopil, C., Schauber, C., Glende I.: AAL stakeholders and their requirement. In: Report by the Ambient and Assisted Living Association (2013)
- Holtbrügge, D., Berg, N., Puck, J.F.: To bribe or to convince? Political stakeholders and political activities in German multinational corporations. Int. Bus. Rev. 16(1), 47–67 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2006.11.001
- 44. Frooman, J.: Stakeholder influence strategies. Acad. Manag. Rev. 24(2), 191–205 (1999). https://doi.org/10.2307/259074
- Procter, R., Greenhalgh, T., Wherton, J., Sugarhood, P., Rouncefield, M., Hinder, S.: The day-to-day CoProduction of ageing in place. Comput. Support. Cooper. Work (CSCW) 23 (3), 245–267 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10606-014-9202-5
- Lindsay, S., Jackson, D., Schofield, G., Olivier, P.: Engaging older people using participatory design. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pp. 1199–1208. ACM, New York (2012)
- Mao, J.-Y., Vredenburg, K., Smith, P.W., Carey, T.: The state of user-centered design practice. Commun. ACM 48(3), 105–109 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1145/1047671.1047677
- Röcker, C.: User-centered design of intelligent environments: requirements for designing successful ambient assisted living systems. In: Central European Conference on Information and Intelligent Systems. Faculty of Organization and Informatics Varazdin, pp. 4–11 (2013)
- Peruzzini, M., Germani, M.: Designing a user-centred ICT platform for active aging. In: 2014 IEEE/ASME 10th International Conference on Mechatronic and Embedded Systems and Applications (MESA), pp. 1–6. IEEE (2014). https://doi.org/10.1109/mesa.2014. 6935624
- McGee-Lennon, M.R., Wolters, M.K., Brewster, S.: User-centred multimodal reminders for assistive living. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pp. 2105–2114. ACM (2011)
- Gudowsky, N., Sotoudeh, M.: Citizens' visions on active assisted living. Stud. Health Technol. Inform. 212, 43–49 (2015)
- 52. Fuchsberger, V.: Ambient assisted living: elderly people's needs and how to face them. In: Proceedings of the 1st ACM International Workshop on Semantic Ambient Media Experiences, pp. 21–24. ACM, Vancouver (2008)
- 53. European Commission: How to Promote Active Ageing in Europe EU Support to Local and Regional Actors. European Union Committee of the Regions (2011)
- Garschall, M., Neureiter, K., Hallewell, J., Bertel, D., Krainer, D., Moser, C.: Investigating user-centered design practices in Austrian AAL projects. In: Proceedings of Smarter Lives (2016)
- Camarinha-Matos, L.M., Rosas, J., Oliveira, A.I., Ferrada, F.: Care services ecosystem for ambient assisted living. Enterp. Inf. Syst. 9(5–6), 607–633 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17517575.2013.852693
- Budinich, V., Reott, M., Kimberly, Schmidt, S.: Hybrid Value Chains: Social Innovations and the Development of the Small Farmer Irrigation Market in Mexico. Social Science Research Network, Rochester (2007)
- Teles, S., Castro, R., Paúl, C.: Stakeholder and Target Groups Report (2017). ActiveAdvice. http://project.activeadvice.eu/wp-content/uploads/ActiveAdvice_D2.2-Statekeholder-and-Target-Groups-Report_revision.pdf
- Catanio, J.T.: Requirements analysis: a review. In: Sobh, T., Elleithy, K. (eds.) Advances in Systems, Computing Sciences and Software Engineering: Proceedings of SCSS05, pp. 411– 418. Springer, Dordrecht (2006). https://doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-5263-4
- Nadin, S., Cassell, C.: Using data matrices. In: Cassel, C., Symon, G. (eds.) Essential Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research, pp. 271–287. SAGE Publications Ltd., London (2011)

- King, N.: Using template in the thematic analysis of text. In: Cassel, C., Symon, G. (eds.) Essential Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research, pp. 257–269. SAGE Publications Ltd., London (2011)
- Lewin, D., Adshead, S., Glennon, B., Williamson, B., Moore, T., Damodaran, L., Hansell, P.: Assisted living technologies for older and disabled people in 2030. Final Report to Ofcom. Plum Consulting, London (2010). https://www.ofcom.org.uk/data/assets/pdffile/ 0033/44889/assistedannexes.pdf
- Sanders, C., Rogers, A., Bowen, R., Bower, P., Hirani, S., Cartwright, M., Fitzpatrick, R., Knapp, M., Barlow, J., Hendy, J.: Exploring barriers to participation and adoption of telehealth and telecare within the whole system demonstrator trial: a qualitative study. BMC Health Serv. Res. 12(1), 220 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-12-220
- Begley, P.: 360 degrees of care. Qual. Ageing Older Adults. 11(4), 47–50 (2010). https://doi. org/10.5042/qiaoa.2010.0717
- Novitzky, P., Smeaton, A.F., Chen, C., Irving, K., Jacquemard, T., O'Brolcháin, F., O'Mathúna, D., Gordijn, B.: A review of contemporary work on the ethics of ambient assisted living technologies for people with dementia. Sci. Eng. Ethics 21(3), 707–765 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-014-9552-x
- Siegel, C., Prazak-Aram, B., Kropf, J., Kundi, M., Dorner, T.: Evaluation of a modular scalable system for silver-ager located in assisted living homes in Austria–study protocol of the ModuLAAr ambient assisted living project. BMC Publ. Health 14(1), 736 (2014). https:// doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-736
- Nordgren, A.: Personal health monitoring: ethical considerations for stakeholders. J. Inf. Commun. Ethics Soc. 11(3), 156–173 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1108/jices-06-2013-0015
- Wright, D.: Structuring stakeholder e-inclusion needs. J. Inf. Commun. Ethics Soc. 8(2), 178–205 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1108/14779961011040587
- Choi, Y., Thoeni, A.: Social media: is this the new organizational stepchild? Eur. Bus. Rev. 28(1), 21–38 (2016)
- 69. Obal, M., Kunz, W.: Trust development in e-services: a cohort analysis of Millennials and Baby Boomers. J. Serv. Manag. **24**(1), 45–63 (2013)
- Chattaraman, V., Kwon, W.-S., Gilbert, J.E., In Shim, S.: Virtual agents in e-commerce: representational characteristics for seniors. J. Res. Interact. Mark. 5(4), 276–297 (2011)
- Rickel, J., Johnson, W.L.: Task-oriented collaboration with embodied agents in virtual worlds. In: Cassell, J., Sullivan, J., Prevost, S., Churchill, E.F. (eds.) Embodied Conversational Agents, pp. 95–122. MIT Press, Boston (2000)
- Liang, T.-P., Lai, H.-J.: Effect of store design on consumer purchases: an empirical study of on-line bookstores. Inf Manag. 39, 431–444 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-7206(01) 00129-X
- Bart, Y., Shankar, V., Sultan, F., Urban, G.L.: Are the drivers and role of online trust the same for all web sites and consumers? A large-scale exploratory empirical study. J. Mark. 69, 133–152 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.2005.69.4.133
- Breidbach, C., Brodie, R., Hollebeek, L.: Beyond virtuality: from engagement platforms to engagement ecosystems. Manag. Serv. Qual. Int. J. 24(6), 592–611 (2014). https://doi.org/ 10.1108/MSQ-08-2013-0158
- Bertel, D., Teles, S., Strohmeier, F., Vieira-Marques, P., Schmitter, P., Ruscher, S., Paúl, C., Kofler, A.: High tech, high touch: integrating digital and human AAL advisory services for older adults. In: Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health - ICT4AWE, vol. 1, pp. 241– 249 (2018). https://doi.org/10.5220/0006799002410249. ISBN: 978-989-758-299-8



Delivering Information of General Interest Through Interactive Television: A Taxonomy of Assistance Services for the Portuguese Elderly

Telmo Silva^(⊠), David Campelo, Hilma Caravau, and Jorge Ferraz de Abreu

CIC.DIGITAL/Digimedia, Department of Communication and Arts, University of Aveiro, Aveiro, Portugal {tsilva, david.campelo, hilmacaravau, jfa}@ua.pt

Abstract. In the context of an ageing population, providing relevant information to support seniors' daily activities plays an important role to promote these citizens' quality of life. This study is part of the +TV4E project, which aims to develop an Interactive Television (iTV) platform to transmit personalized information regarding Services of General Interest (SGI) to senior citizens. In order to better assess seniors' preferences and expectations this study aims to propose the Assistance Services of General Interest for Elderly (ASGIE) concept and taxonomy. To achieve this, we set out to collect contributions from specialists in welfare promotion and public policies development for the Portuguese elderly to elicit detailed perceptions on the information needs of these population segment. The validity and relevance of contributions gathered along with these specialists were subsequently confirmed in a survey with 23 seniors recruited in the context of the +TV4E project. The ASGIE taxonomy is composed by 7 domains of information: Healthcare and Welfare services, Social services, Financial services, Culture services, Security services, Transport services and Local authority services. Findings from this study are relevant for authorities in charge of designing, implementing and monitoring public policies for seniors, as they present valuable indicators of information needs of these citizens.

Keywords: Information needs · Taxonomy · Public policies Social services · Seniors · +TV4E · Portugal

1 Introduction

Ageing is one of the most important social challenges of the 21st century. Though increased longevity is something to be celebrated, for a considerable part of the population ageing may be distressing and problematic if there are no conditions for being independent, active, and healthy for as long as possible.

In many countries people live significantly longer than they did a few decades ago. The number of senior citizens in 2000 came from 600 million to nearly one billion in 2015 and this number is projected to reach 2.1 billion by 2050 and 3.1 billion by 2100 [1, 2]. Particularly, between years of 2015 and 2030 population aged over 60 years in European countries will increase by 23%, while in less developed regions such as South America and Africa this population segment is projected to grow around 50% or even 70% [1]. These changes have resulted in an expressive reversal of the age pyramid and caused great economic impacts on public health and pension systems. So far, the leading response for the social and economic implications concerning older people is the development of active ageing initiatives to enhance participation, health and security, as well as to achieve quality of life as people age [3].

In what concerns Portugal, between the years of 2001 and 2011 the senior population increased from 16% to 19%, leading the population ageing index from 102 to 128, which means that for each 100 young people there were 128 elderly people [4]. According to PORDATA Institute report [5], in 2015 the number of Portuguese inhabitants aged 60 or more finally surpassed the number of children, adolescents and young adults (less than or equal to 24 years), which puts Portugal as one of the most advanced countries in the society ageing process in Europe. Moreover, even the most optimistic projections (considering high levels of fertility and lower levels of mortality and migration) indicate that in 2060 the number of seniors in Portugal will be around 2.7 million, leading the population ageing index to 287 [4]. In 2080, it is expected that for each 100 young people there will be 317 elderly people [6].

The European Commission (EC) recognizes the ageing population theme as a common challenge to all European countries. To address this challenge it was established an European Innovation Partnership (EIP) on Active and Healthy Ageing (AHA), which focuses on actions developed in 3 work fronts: prevention, screening and early diagnosis; care and cure; and active ageing and independent living [7]. Also, the EC has launched several programs, flagship initiatives and action plans to foster structural measures to create and improve public and social services. Some of these measures are e-government solutions, creating new sources of growth and social cohesion according to a quality framework and promoting the deployment and usage of modern accessible online services [8]. These measures were envisioned by the EC as an opportunity to all European countries to lead the world in active ageing projects, by creating innovative technologies that enable older people to live independently and more active in society [9]. These technologies play a vital role by enabling individuals with the access and the ability to obtain information and knowledge about several areas of their daily living situations [10]. Portuguese government has been also strongly investing on this way to provide public and social services. According to comparative studies based on the digital public administration of European Member States and published by the National Interoperability Framework Observatory [11], Portugal stands out in three important metrics concerning public electronic services implementation: (i) user centric (to what extent information is provided to users and perceived by them); (ii) key enablers (to what extent technical pre-conditions regarding information security are present) and (iii) transparency (to what extent the government is transparent on its own responsibilities and performance, on public services delivery and on personal data involved).

Strategies and measures implemented in recent decades put Portugal at the forefront of Member States in terms of provision of public electronic services, with performance levels above the average of European countries in the field of national electronic government [11]. However, despite being among the top three in Europe concerning quality and availability of public electronic services, Portugal still faces low levels of adoption of these new digital interfaces due to a set of structural factors, such as "low levels of computer skills of the population" [12]. Moreover, much of the population still not reached by these new sources of information regarding public services, as usually they require direct searches in the media, previous registrations, among others.

The reach of information about public and social services is even lower when considering the elderly as the target audience. In Portugal, given the current scenario of info-exclusion [13] and low literacy levels [14] of seniors, they are commonly in a disadvantaged position for not being aware of the welfare benefits available to them, though they are the ones who most need assistance and information [15]. Such exclusion contributed to the fallacious perception of older people as being passive individuals, family-oriented only and disinterested in social and political participation [16].

According to Everingham et al. [17] providing information needed by older people is critical to "age well and socially included". In this way, effective delivery of public services information considering elderly needs is vital for a successful development of public policies. Furthermore, fulfilling information requirements of elderly using personalized and acceptable methods may give them more independency and autonomy.

In this context, the +TV4E project comes up as a platform for interactive television (iTV) to enrich the television experience with the integration of informative contents about public and social services in a personalized way [18, 19]. The target audience of this project is the Portuguese elderly population considering their characteristics, specific needs and expectations in the use of public and social services. This project aims to leverage the proximity and familiarity that elderlies have with the television (TV) to develop an iTV platform in a promising way to access information that otherwise would not be easily accessible. The +TV4E project is an on-going research action project, and to achieve this goal, it provides mechanisms for gathering and transmitting informative contents regarding public and social services, which in turn, must be properly classified to meet the user requirements and interests. In addition, this classification of services is discussed in this paper and will be used as input for the +TV4E content recommender system [20, 21], which is responsible for selecting and matching the informative contents with the users in a personalized way.

The research presented in this article sought to find out a list of public and social services available for seniors in Portugal and, according to this list, the concept and taxonomy of *Assistance Services of General Interest to the Elderly* (ASGIE) is proposed. Such taxonomy categorizes not only services, activities, resources, and social programs directed to the elderly, but also the ones that might assist them in their daily activities.

This paper is structured as follows. The theoretical framework section reviews some concepts regarding public and social services in Europe as well as some literature works on information needs of elderly that supported a preliminary version of the taxonomy. Section 3 describes the methodology applied by this study and in Sect. 4 a proposal of taxonomy of Services of General Interest tailored for the Portuguese elderly population is presented. Finally, in Sects. 5 and 6, discussions and final remarks are given singly, especially with respect to the context of +TV4E project.

2 Theoretical Framework

Over time, a set of transformations occurred concerning the terminology of "public services". Following it is presented a historical view evolution of the concept of Services of General Interest (SGI), as well as the information needs of elderly people, in Portugal.

2.1 Services of General Interest

In the late 1990s there was a change in the terminology used in the EC to designate public and social services due to discomfort and misunderstandings around the multiple possible meanings and interpretations of the many-faceted "public" word, which can refer to the group of beneficiaries of the services or to the public institutions providing it. Though there is no precise definition given by the EU [22], the term SGI has emerged as the main designation in Europe to comprehend the services tailored to fulfil the citizen's wellbeing, considered to be of general interest by the public authorities and thus subjected to a set of predetermined public-service regulations [8, 23]. The SGI comprehend a wide range of activities, functions and resources, from telecommunication networks, postal services are vital for the daily life of citizens and enterprises, essential for ensuring the sustainable development of the European Union (EU) in terms of higher levels of employment, social inclusion, economic growth and environmental quality [8]. Also, these services are important to promote social, economic and territorial cohesion throughout the EU.

Some other terms related to the SGI are also applied and considered by a set of EC communications, reports and papers. The concept of *Services of General Economic Interest (SGEI)*, sometimes used interchangeably with the term SGI, covers services of an economic nature which Member States or the Union have elected to subject to a series of public-service obligations by virtue of a general-interest agreement [23]. It includes economic activities that public authorities recognize as being critical to citizens and that would not be supplied (or would be supplied under distinct conditions) if there were no public regulation.

The concept of *Social Services of General Interest (SSGI)* refers to a subset of SGI which plays a crucial role to improve quality of life and provide social protection of citizens, in order to enable economic and territorial cohesion, high employment, social inclusion, environmental quality and economic growth [25]. These services are person-oriented, designed to respond to vital human needs, particularly to support the ones who are in vulnerable position, and are addressed to the whole population, independently of wealth, income or any other idiosyncrasy.

Finally, the term *Universal Service Obligation (USO)* consists of predetermined rules and requirements stated to make sure the SGI will be available to all citizens according to certain parameters of affordability, quality and accessibility [8]. Setting up specific USO at a European level is essential for the market liberalization of service sectors, such as transports, postal services and telecommunications.

Other SGI related definitions and concepts may be found in scientific literature and in project research reports. Tagarev et al. [26] elaborate on the concept of *European*

Essential Services (EES) as functions that "allow to preserve the functioning of government, economy and citizens under extreme conditions". In the context of the SeGI ESPON project [27], the concept of SGI is divided in SSGI and SGEI only. Hence, SSGI are composed by labour market services, education, healthcare, childcare, social care, housing and social assistance services; while SGEI comprehend services of gas, electricity, postal services, transport, Information and Communications Technology (ICT) and electronic communications as well as water and waste management [27].

Debates on the "lack of clarity on terminology" and on the fact that "concepts are used interchangeably and inaccurately" still draw attention [8]. In their research work, Bjørnsen et al. [24] discuss to what extent SGI can be meaningfully determined and interpreted based on scientifically procedures, as the definition of SGI itself implies no clear guidelines about what specific types of activities, processes and resources are involved. Nevertheless, according to the authors some exemplifications typically involve "areas into which the economic and/or government activities of a country are divided" and industries. These areas refer to the main institutional sectors (public and private), as well as to policies involving actors, activities and resources of these sectors. Some examples of SGI could be implied based on the Green Paper on Services of General Interest division of SGI in "non-market as well as market services which the public authorities class as being of general interest and subject to specific public service obligations" [23]. Thus, market services would comprehend activities delegated to mostly private entities (e.g. water and natural gas supply, transports, electricity and telecommunications), whilst non-market would designate services delegated typically (or fully) to public entities (e.g. justice, social security, financial services, housing and health care) [23].

This concept of SGI was intentionally built to replace well-established concepts, such as "public services", to promote a common language in the EU and respect local heterogeneities. So, all definitions made by the EU regarding SGI do not reflect any national terminologies on what should be provided or regulated as a service. For service obligations typically vary among the Member States and local historical, economic, cultural and political developments can lead to different understandings, agreements and definitions. Therefore, despite the several normative statements concerning the delivery of SGI specified at the European level, the development of policies and, in many instances, the provision of the services themselves remains mostly a responsibility of each Member State. So, the development of public policies regarding SGI as well as the activities, resources and functions entrusted to public authorities' regulation are decided in a local perspective, considering particularities and requirements of the citizens who benefit from them.

The development of SGI to address citizen needs have been receiving growing attention of EC and EU Member States, which considers these activities, resources and functions as essential components of the modern European society's model, as they are of great importance to foster high competitiveness of the European economy as well as to enable social and territorial unity among Member States. This premise is stated by the *White Paper on Services of General Interest* [28], which emphasizes the importance of the SGI as one of the main pillars of the modern European society model. Thus, it is necessary to "ensure the harmonious combination of market mechanisms and public service missions" to achieve the EC objectives in terms of European cohesion and

convergence policies. Therefore, the development of SGI according to certain parameters of availability and accessibility as well as according to a proper territorial distribution represents a key strategy for the EU. These developments intend to ensure that all citizens and enterprises will be provided with affordable and high-quality services.

Given the importance of the SGI to maintain and enhance older citizens' quality of life it is also important to consider this specific population information needs when developing new services and improving the existing ones.

2.2 Information Needs of Elderly

Though there has been an increasing interest among researchers in investigating the information needs of elderly [29], research studies on this subject are still scarce in scientific literature [30]. Considering elderly information needs is fundamental for effective planning and implementation of services and public policies to assist this population segment.

Zou and Zhou [30] conducted a survey with 600 respondents in a rural community of China in order to list the sources and types of information on which elderly often rely. Based on the survey results, a typology of five categories of information needs was established: physiological (food, clothing, care and shelter); safe (healthcare and pension policy); affective (friends and family activities and club activities), Respected (self-assessment and social evaluation) and self-realized (jobs and knowledge skills). Also, the results showed that information accessibility, reliability, and relevance highly influence elderly choice of information sources. With respect to information sources, audio-visual media were preferred (e.g. TV and radio).

Similarly, audio-visual media were the most preferred source of information for elderly according to a research based in Nigeria [29]. This study sought to identify Nigerian elderly needs of information as well as the sources they are familiar with. Findings revealed that elderlies are mainly interested in information about health conditions, pension/finance, government policies, current affairs, and transport. Also, the authors pointed out some factors influencing the information seeking behaviour of older people, such as problems with access and availability.

Information must be relevant, accessible and appropriate to older adults' expectations to be effectively delivered and consumed. This is aligned with a study by Barret [15], which investigated and analysed the information needs of older people in the United Kingdom in a nationwide survey with 1630 respondents. Questions regarding the most common day-to-day problems, areas and sources of information older people were aware of, and preferred means of getting such information helped to evaluate issues on finding information about formal support. Results showed that respondents demand for information about financial and practical help, housing, products and home adaptations, support and services at home that are available to them.

Some authors consider that elderly often find it very hard to point out subjects and information they are really interested, as usually they only require such information at a time of crisis or life change. So, instead of investigating about topics of interest, Everingham et al. [17] preferred inquiring about people recent information needs. The authors conducted a study to "understand issues impacting on older people's capacity to access relevant information" as a part of a larger project which developed a model of local collaboration in eastern Australia. Conclusions show that older people seek information about availability of programs for delivering hot meals, home health care, special transportation, and other assistance services. Also, they wish to know all the benefits, concessions, rebates and subsidies they are entitled to.

There are two paths available to receive information: information may be deliberately sought and retrieved or may be opportunistically received by chance and, thus, be discovered and noticed. In this way, assuming that information discovered and noticed reflect people's everyday life problems, concerns and lifestyle, Pálsdóttir [31] proposed an exploratory study about opportunistic information discovery by elderly people in Iceland. According to the author, it is consensual for elderly that authorities should disseminate in a more efficient way information regarding formal support from the state or the municipality (e.g. house cleaning, driving service, home delivery of meals, assistance with bathing, administering medications, etc.), available healthcare programs, and financial support or reimbursements that older people are entitled to.

The aforementioned studies on seniors' information needs show that information about healthcare, financial help, pensions and local policies are recurring demands among senior citizens from many countries. To cope the lack of studies concerning the information needs of the Portuguese elderly, previous works of our research team consisted in assessing the SGI on which the older adults of this country would like to receive information about [10]. These works served as basis for a draft of the services belonging to the taxonomy proposed by this research. The development of a proper taxonomy of SGI considering senior citizens information needs presents a valuable artefact for government entities so that they can effectively propose and implement more adequate policies for a promotion of the quality of life. Details on the process of composing this taxonomy follows.

3 Methodology

This study forms an early stage of +TV4E project, a two-year action research project conducted at University of Aveiro, Portugal, which proposes an iTV platform for delivering personalized informative contents about SGI to senior citizens. Thus, in order to achieve a more adequate and personalized approach for the content delivery it is necessary to create a proper categorization of such information [21].

In order to consider particularities of Portugal as well as to establish the validity of the current study, our research team decided to invest in a preliminary exploratory approach to gather information about: (a) development and implementation of SGI in Europe; (b) common information needs of elderly and (c) respective sources of information. This approach consisted of a literature survey of research in international databases with the keywords "elderly" and "information needs". As result, it was produced a list of services in which elderly would be interested in receiving information.

This list was composed by three categories of services: (a) Healthcare services; (b) Social and financial services, and (c) Local (nearby) services. Though rather incomplete, it already had most of services available to Portuguese seniors, and served as basis for guidelines and questionnaires used in subsequent phases, which consisted of:

- A semi-structured interview with an expert in public health promotion for Portuguese seniors;
- A focus groups carried out with experts in public policies development in Portugal;
- Surveys with seniors.

Figure 1 shows in a schematic form the methodological process that allowed the creation of *Assistance Services of General Interest for Elderly* (ASGIE) taxonomy.

The process of categorizing the SGI tailored for elderly was an evolutionary process where the outputs of a given phase served as input for the subsequent phase in order to evolve, improve and validate the taxonomy proposed by this study. The output of the phase **"Semi-structured Interview with a Specialist"** was a first draft of the taxonomy, while the phase **"Focus Group with Experts"** provided contributions for the composition of a second draft. Afterwards, the second draft version was validated through a survey with seniors recruited in the context of the +TV4E project. Finally, after the preliminary phase of literature review and the application of three different research methods the final version of the ASGIE taxonomy was achieved (see Fig. 1). Details on the application of these several research techniques are presented below.



Fig. 1. Methodology towards ASGIE taxonomy [10].

3.1 Semi Structured Interview with a Specialist

Formal caregivers are the closest professionals of the elderly. Hence, in order to assess needs and sources of information of elderly with respect to SGI, it was carried out an interview with a formal caregiver. Due to times constrains, related to the schedule of +TV4E project in which this study is under development, it was only possible to carried out the interview with one formal caregiver with consolidated know-how in this field.

The selected interviewee, S.R.¹, is a gerontologist and expert in seniors' welfare promotion and active ageing in Lisbon. S.R. has 6 years of experience as formal caregiver of seniors and is a technical coordinator of a non-profit organization whose mission is to fight loneliness and isolation by providing personalized solutions. Currently, this organization provides support for 118 aged citizens living in Lisbon Downtown. An important part of her job is ensuring companionship, administering healthcare treatments, and supporting aged people with everyday activities, such as buying groceries, home cleaning and repairing (many times supported by third-party and associated services providers).

¹ The interviewee has her names hidden for ethic privacy reasons.

This interview involved questions on the following subjects: (1) the interviewee's profile (academic and professional background); (2) the organization where the interviewee works; (3) seniors' needs regarding social public services, and (4) media used by seniors to discover information about SGI. Hence, the questions below were asked:

- Which public services are the most searched by the seniors supported by your organization?
- Which are the most used ways by seniors, to access information? (e.g. flyers, internet, newspapers, TV, radio, others).
- How do seniors look for and receive information about Public Services?
- What role the formal and informal caregivers play in informing seniors about Public Service activities?
- Where do caregivers seek information? Can you help us to realize how often they look for information?

According to the interviewee, seniors usually demand information regarding general subsidies (e.g. social tariffs, housing complements and subsidies in medicines), nearby professional services (e.g. vet, house cleaning and house repairing), income taxes, retirement rules, social and civil rights, juridical support and social security. Considering the objectives of this study and of the +TV4E project, the major findings of this interview were: (a) the average digital literacy of people attended by this expert is rather low; (b) almost all seniors choose TV as the main digital medium for receiving information and for being up-to-date with general news and (c) there are many governmental and third-party Web portals currently providing public information that may be leveraged by +TV4E platform [18]. In addition, the interview provided new inputs for the services tailored for Portuguese seniors unidentified during the exploratory literature survey.

Then, the first draft version of the taxonomy was composed based on the compiled services list built during the exploratory phase as well as the contributions noted from the interview (see Fig. 1). This first draft version counted with three different domains of information: (a) Healthcare services, (b) Social services and (c) Financial services. Local (nearby) services listed during the literature research were distributed all over these three domains. In addition, some services were categorized as part of more than one domain (e.g. hospital social tariffs are both part of healthcare and financial services).

3.2 Focus Group with Experts

A focus group may be treated as a mix of participant observation and in-depth interview to characterize participants' perceptions, spontaneous opinions and attitudes [32]. It is a very useful tool for getting information about how people or a group of people think about certain topics in a session moderated by an element with experience and leadership ability.

In the context of +TV4E project, a focus group with experts in public policies development in Portugal played a key role to assess services, activities and social programs available for elderly in the country. Then, this two hours long focus group

occurred in October 2016 and was formed by four research experts, three researchers of +TV4E project with expertise in designing technologies for seniors and one moderator.

Even though it is a challenging and time-consuming task, it is highly valuable to promote and learn from discussions and debates of professionals with know-how in different fields of knowledge. Concerning the peculiar inter-disciplinarity of the +TV4E project as well as the concepts covered by it, this focus group was developed with four professionals from different areas:

- a senior academic researcher on the relationship between new information and communication technologies and people/organisations;
- a researcher with background in gerontology, with research works in technology assessment for the elderly, including Ambient Assisted Living products and services, and in the field of assistive technologies use and evaluation of human functioning and environmental factors using the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health;
- a senior researcher and specialist in public policies planning and development; territorial governance; and economic, social and territorial impacts of Information and Communications Technologies;
- a gerontologist working in a Portuguese town hall, in the social action office, with responsibilities ranging from interventional planning to action and/or referral of problematic social situations of the elderly population.

The main purpose of this focus group was to validate the first draft of taxonomy, which was subjected to extensive review and analysis of the experts. Firstly, the participants were introduced to the main objectives of the +TV4E project. Then, the focus group was divided in four parts: (1) an initial brainstorming on the information needs of Portuguese seniors, where the participants were motivated to think about which services, resources or activities entrusted to the government they would like to receive information on TV by filling the sentence: "If I were a senior, I would like to see on my TV the following information regarding SGI..."; (2) validation of the service list which composed the first draft of the ASGIE taxonomy; (3) validation of the information, and (4) validation of the ASGIE concept.

Considering the objectives of the current study, the main contributions of this focus group consisted of a series of insights to reformulate the first drafted taxonomy. The experts stated that it would be necessary to come up with more than three domains of information to cover all the possible activities and social programs provided by Portuguese government authorities. Hence, the inputs gathered from these experts enabled the creation of a second draft version of the taxonomy containing seven domains of information that would be of interest of the Portuguese elderly: (a) Health Care and Welfare Services; (b) Social Services; (c) Financial Services (taxes and fees); (d) Culture, Informal education and entertainment; (e) Security services; (f) Transport services, and (g) Local authority services. These domains were formed by services, activities and social programs regulated by Portuguese authorities to benefit senior citizens. This second draft version supported the next phase and guided the survey with 23 seniors that have been already recruited to take part in the participatory design process of +TV4E project.

3.3 Survey with Seniors

Participatory design techniques are vital to research and development projects since they involve potential target users enabling a more adapted and personalized approach to improve engagement with the developed solutions. So, as a final step of the current study, involving seniors who can benefit from the +TV4E platform granted the drafted taxonomy relevance and validity.

As it is challenging to elicit valid and useful inputs from seniors in designing innovative concepts [33], a simple survey based on the second drafted taxonomy was carried out with 23 seniors. This sample was recruited in Aveiro (Portugal) and neighbouring cities. This survey occurred in November 2016, and had the list of services, activities and social programs addressed in previous phases. Thus, based on their information needs, seniors were asked to classify every item in a total of 30 items, in the list according to three levels of importance (1 = not important, 2 = important and 3 = very important). An analysis of the results achieved is presented in the Results and Discussion section.

Surveys helped to quantify interests of seniors regarding the services that comprise the taxonomy proposed by this study. The final version of the *Assistance Services of General Interest for Elderly* (ASGIE), which was the result of the preliminary literature review and the application of three research methods, is presented and discussed following.

4 A Taxonomy of Assistance Services for Seniors in Portugal

Created considering the context of SGI tailored for old citizens of Portugal, the concept of *Assistance Services of General Interest for Elderly* (ASGIE) comprehends services, activities and agreements assumed to be of essential importance to elderly citizen welfare, quality of life and social inclusion, as well as to inform about civil rights and obligation regarding public authorities. It includes all SGI related to support the elderly in Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADL), which are the tasks needed to enable seniors to live independently (e.g. managing finances, handling transportation and health care).

From the ASGIE concept, a taxonomy formed by seven domains was derived. These domains were organized according common interests of senior citizens regarding services, activities and social programs provided by public authorities (Fig. 2).

The taxonomy organization in domains and sub-domains, is topic-based and not necessarily "service provider"-based. In other words, this organization considers the kind of benefit obtained by the seniors and not the service provider. Therefore, each domain comprises a range of information considered to be relevant for the elderly daily activities and quality of life in a specific area. The seven domains are: Health Care and Welfare Services; Social Services; Financial Services; Cultural Services; Security Services; Transport Services and Local Authority Services.



Fig. 2. The ASGIE taxonomy domains of information [10].

The **Health Care and Welfare Services** domain comprehends services, activities and social programs related to health management, divided in six areas:

- **Primary Care** general practitioner consultation at the health centre and health promotion, such as vaccine programs and preventive methods.
- Hospital Care emergency arrangements, urgency and specialized medical attendance at hospital facilities.
- Continuous and Integrated Care promotion of care in an integrated manner, continuous treatment of chronic diseases, situations of dependency and loss of autonomy.
- Transport emergency and continuous treatment transports.
- Welfare and Life Quality healthy ageing recommendations.
- **Pharmacy Stores** information regarding nearby pharmacies (addresses, timetables and discounts).

Concerning the **Social Services**, these play an important role in European societies by contributing to social protection and social inclusion. Considering the context of Portugal, this domain is composed by the **Seven Social Policies for Seniors:** home care services, social living centre, day care centre, night care centre, host family, nursing homes, leisure activity centres. Portuguese authorities have several social specific measures to help lower income persons and elderly to benefit from public services. In this scenario, **Financial Services** have social programs, including lower **National and Local Taxes** (e.g. IRS², IRC³, IMI⁴, IUC⁵), **Social Tariffs** (discounts on water supply, telecommunications, electric, and natural gas bills, transport fares, and cultural tickets)⁶, lower **Health Fees** (co-participation fees charged for using the Public Health System), **Subsidies in Medicine** and **Financial Assistance** (e.g. pensions, social security and complementary security income).

Culture Services are important for preventive health promotion as they support citizens staying active and functional for longer. These services, activities and social programs include **Senior tourism** trips; **Informal Education** courses – often provided by the Portuguese Senior Universities (www.rutis.pt); and **Events** (e.g. recreational, leisure and cultural activities).

Considering the Portuguese context of SGI tailored for old citizens, Security Services are composed by social programs, alerts and advices promoted by the Republican National Guard (GNR) and the Public Security Police (PSP). Likewise, the domain of Transport services comprises Taxi Information, Flights Information and Bus/Train Information.

Finally, the **Local Authority Services** are composed by services, activities and social programs promoted by the local authority. These services are responsible for the **Town Hall Citizen Support Office** (local representative of the central power), **Local services** (exclusively services and programmes provided by the local authority), and **Civic Services** (e.g. volunteering networks).

Lastly, it is worth to mention that some services, activities and social programs may be transversal to more than one domain of information, but, for the sake of simplicity, they are mentioned in one domain only. For example, specific **Health fees** and **Subsidies in Medicine** are programs concerning the domains: **Health Care and Welfare Services**, **Social Services** and **Financial Services**. Also, **Social Tariffs** and **Financial Assistance** are programs transversal to both domains: **Social Services** and **Financial Services**.

5 Results and Discussion

The European Commission (EC) defines guidelines to foster homogeneity among the Member States, but the implementation itself of public policies is a role of every Member State. Hence, considering that it is a role of every local government to define, organize, finance and monitor their own SGI, the ASGIE concept proposed in this work

² Portuguese individual income tax.

³ Portuguese corporate income tax.

⁴ Portuguese municipal property tax.

⁵ Portuguese motor vehicle property tax.

⁶ Social Tariffs are measures launched by the Portuguese Government in order to guarantee access to the essential services taking into account socioeconomic inequalities.
is based on specific services, activities and social programs available for Portuguese elderly. Moreover, as Portugal is a Member State of the EU, some coincidences of services, activities and social programs listed in the taxonomy may be noticed in other European countries. Also, to clarify what is provided or regulated by public authorities as well as to avoid any misunderstandings on the *public* word, the ASGIE concept uses the same terminology of "general interest" created by the EC.

Though no specific studies on information needs of Portuguese seniors were found, studies conducted by researchers from other countries reveal trends of information demanded by this population segment. These studies contributed to define a first draft of the ASGIE taxonomy. In addition, as noticed during the literature survey, services, activities and social programs related to **Healthcare and Welfare Services**, **Social Services** and **Financial services** are often mentioned by seniors when it comes to their information needs. Afterwards, discussions with research specialists in welfare promotion and public policies development helped to evolve the ASGIE concept by adding four more domains: **Culture Services**, **Security Services**, **Transport Services** and **Local Authority Services**.

To check the validity of the ASGIE concept and taxonomy it was conducted a survey with seniors recruited in the context of the +TV4E project, which helped to quantify their interests regarding the services, activities and social programs that form the taxonomy. Respondents were asked to score a list of 23 items (sub-domains) using a Likert scale with 3 levels of importance (1 = unimportant, 2 = a bit important and3 = very important). The analysis based on *Mean* and *Standard Deviation* (SD) of the collected data is presented on Table 1. The sample addresses a total of 23 respondents, who were recruited by convenience. The female gender represented 56.5% of the sample (n = 13), and male 43.5% (n = 10). The ages ranged from 62 to 77, with an average of 69 years old. Almost all items listed in the survey were classified as important, with average of 2.1 points or more. Particularly, services, activities and social programs belonging to Healthcare and Welfare Services, Social Services, Financial Services and Security Services domains were considered very important (as depicted in Table 1). This result indicates that these domains may be considered as having essential information for daily living of seniors. The information domain considered as less important was the Transport Services, maybe because public transportation is not a common choice of seniors or, perhaps, because they often depend on family members and caregivers to get around. At the end of survey the respondents were able to propose additional services, activities or social programs but nobody used this field, which indicates the completeness of the taxonomy.

Categorizing information regarding SGI tailored for the Portuguese elderly is a key aspect of +TV4E project. Organizing this information according to parameters that would reflect preferences and needs of elderly is a prerequisite for a proper content selection. In this way, for example, the +TV4E iTV platform will deliver to users who are interested in the local authority roles, informative contents related to the domain of **Local Authority Services**. Thus, the content selection and matching with user preferences will be supported by the content recommender system of the +TV4E platform using the taxonomy proposed in this study [20, 21].

ASGIE domains and sub-domains of information	Mean	SD
Health care and welfare services		
Primary care	3.0	0.00
Hospital care	2.5	0.59
Continuous and integrated care	2.6	0.74
Transport	2.7	0.45
Welfare	2.6	0.50
Pharmacies	2.3	0.69
Social services		
Social support and programs	2.7	0.47
Financial services		
National and local taxes	2.6	0.50
Health fees	2.4	0.58
Subsidies in medicine	2.6	0.50
Social tariff	2.5	0.60
Financial assistance	2.6	0.58
Culture, informal education and entertainment		
Senior tourism	2.7	0.48
Entertainment	2.2	0.81
Informal education	2.1	0.83
Security services		
National republican guard	2.6	0.59
Public security police	2.6	0.59
Transport services		
Taxi number by district	2.5	0.67
Number of public transport	2.5	0.67
Airlines contact	2.1	0.71
Local authority services		
Town hall citizen support office	2.1	0.68
Specific benefits of local authorities	2.3	0.63
Civic services	1.4	0.59

Table 1. Descriptive analysis of data collected in surveys with 23 seniors [10].

6 Conclusions and Future Work

Around 40 years ago Childers and Post [34] wrote that "probably one of the most serious problems facing elderly people today is the lack of information and knowledge about existing programs and the available community resources which could meet some of their needs" [34]. Though the number of information sources available may have been increasing over the past forty years, mainly due to improvements in information and communication technologies, the current study suggests that seniors still don't access adequate information regarding services, activities and social programs they could benefit from.

This work aimed to provide a classification for SGI focused on the Portuguese elderly. Thus, this paper elaborates on a list of assistance services endowed by public authorities to old citizens and, considering the Portuguese context, proposes the concept and taxonomy of *Assistance Services of General Interest to the Elderly* (ASGIE).

To fundament and validate the ASGIE concept and the taxonomy, research experts in welfare promotion and public policies development were called to participate in an interview and a focus group. Contributions from these specialists served as guidelines to a survey conducted with 23 seniors. This survey allowed the validation of the relevance of the domains and sub-domains structuring ASGIE taxonomy.

In addition, as a future research study it is necessary to assess acceptable data sources regarding the ASGIE domains to retrieve information from. Though some contributions in this regard were noted during the interview and the focus group with specialists, a detailed study should be performed in a near future to gather adequate information about this topic. This is a very important subject as these sources will be used as feeds for the +TV4E platform to automatically generate video informative contents.

The reduced size of the sample of the survey may limit the significance of achieved results. Although it should not be overlooked that the findings show homogeneity and agreement, both across literature and the participants of this study, which gives consistency to the results that supported the proposed taxonomy. Thus, as future steps, the research team intends to extend the survey application, so that the results can be representative of the Portuguese population.

Findings from this research will be very valuable for the +TV4E project in its upcoming development stages towards a personalized system for the elderly, enhancing the probabilities of adherence and acceptance by its target users. An appropriate categorization of the informative contents handled by the iTV platform guarantees a proper implementation of the +TV4E recommendation system [21].

Finally, in order to accomplish the Europe 2020 guidelines for development of innovative Services of General Interest [9], Portuguese authorities in charge of designing, implementing and monitoring public policies for seniors can use these findings as indicators of information needs of this population segment. Furthermore, studies like this can be an asset to other countries to evaluate information needs of their senior citizens. Fulfilling seniors' information needs is essential to promote their health and quality of life.

Acknowledgements. The research team would like to thank the funding from Project 3599 – Promover a Produção Científica e Desenvolvimento Tecnológico e a Constituição de Redes Temáticas (3599-PPCDT) and European Commission Funding FEDER (through FCT: Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia I.P. under grant agreement no. PTDC/IVC-COM/3206/2014) and to the Brazilian National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq) for providing a research productivity scholarship process 204935/2014-8. The research team would like also to thank to the Senior University of Curia and to the Senior University of Cacia and to all the survey participants.

References

- 1. United Nations: World Population Ageing 2015, New York, USA (2015)
- 2. United Nations: World Population Prospects: The 2017 Revision, Key Findings and Advance Tables, New York, USA (2017)
- 3. Walker, A.: Active ageing: realising its potential. Australas. J. Ageing 34, 2-8 (2015)
- 4. Instituto Nacional de Estatística: Projeções de População Residente 2012-2060 (2014)
- 5. PORDATA: População residente: total e por grupo etário Portugal (2017)
- 6. Instituto Nacional de Estatística: Projeções de População Residente 2015-2080 (2017)
- 7. European Commission: Taking Forward the Strategic Implementation Plan of the European Innovation Partnership on Active and Healthy Ageing. Commun. from Comm. (2012)
- 8. European Commission: A Quality Framework for Services of General Interest in Europe, Commission of European Communities COM, 900 final, Brussels (2011)
- 9. European Commission: Europe 2020: A European Strategy for Smart, Sustainable and Inclusive Growth, Commission of European Communities COM, 2020 final, Brussels (2010)
- Silva, T., Caravau, H., Campelo, D.: Information needs about public and social services of Portuguese elderly. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health, Porto, Portugal, pp. 46–57 (2017)
- 11. National Interoperability Framework Observatory: Portuguese eGovernment Factsheets, Ed. 17.0. https://joinup.ec.europa.eu/community/nifo/og_page/egovernment-factsheets
- European Commission: EU eGovernment Report 2015 Shows that Online Public Services in Europe are Smart But Could be Smarter. https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/news/ eu-egovernment-report-2015-shows-online-public-services-europe-are-smart-could-besmarter
- Amaro, F., Gil, H.: The "Info-(ex/in)-clusion" of the elderly people: remarks for the present and for the future. In: ED-MEDIA 2011–World Conference on Educational Multimedia, Hypermedia & Telecommunications, pp. 1024–1030 (2011)
- Instituto Nacional de Estatística: Censos 2011: Resultados Definitivos Portugal, Lisboa, Portugal (2012)
- Barrett, J.: Support and information needs of older and disabled older people in the UK. Appl. Ergon. 36, 177–183 (2005)
- 16. Walker, A., Maltby, T.: Active ageing: a strategic policy solution to demographic ageing in the European Union. Int. J. Soc. Welf. **21**, 117–130 (2012)
- 17. Everingham, J.A., Petriwskyj, A., Warburton, J., Cuthill, M., Bartlett, H.: Information provision for an age-friendly community. Ageing Int. **34**, 79–98 (2009)
- Silva, T., Abreu, J., Antunes, M., Almeida, P., Silva, V., Santinha, G.: +TV4E: interactive television as a support to push information about social services to the elderly. Procedia Comput. Sci. 100, 580–585 (2016)
- Silva, C., Campelo, D., Silva, T., Silva, V.: System architecture for personalized automatic audio-visual content generation from web feeds to an iTV platform. In: Abásolo, M., Almeida, P., Pina Amargós, J. (eds.) Applications and Usability of Interactive TV. jAUTI 2016, vol. 689. Communications in Computer and Information Science, Springer, Cham (2017)
- 20. Jannach, D., Zanker, M., Felfernig, A., Friedrich, G.: Recommender Systems: An Introduction (2010)
- Campelo, D., Silva, T., Abreu, J.: Recommending Personalized Informative Contents on iTV. In: ACM International Conference on Interactive Experiences for TV and Online Video, Hilversum, Holanda (2017)

- 22. Lenaerts, K.: Defining the Concept of "Services of General Interest" in Light of the "Checks and Balances" Set Out in the Eu Treaties. Jurisprudencija, p. 19 (2012)
- 23. European Commission: Green Paper on Services of General Interest, Commission of European Communities COM, 270 final, Brussels (2003)
- 24. Bjørnsen, H.M., Foss, O., Johansen, S., Langset, B.: Services of General Interest (SGI): is it possible to define this concept in scientific terms? Rom. J. Reg. Sci. 7, 9–36 (2013)
- 25. European Commission: Services of General Interest, Including Social Services of General Interest: A New European Commitment, Commission of European Communities COM, 725 final, Brussels (2007)
- Tagarev, T., Georgiev, V., Rachev, V.: A taxonomy of essential services. Radioelectron. Comput. Syst. 6, 191–196 (2012)
- Rauhut, D., Marques da Costa, E., Humer, A.: SeGI Indicators and perspectives for services of general interest in territorial cohesion and development: Final report, ESPON, Luxemborg (2013)
- 28. European Commission: White Paper on Services of General Interest, Commission of European Communities COM, 374 final, Brussels (2004)
- 29. Edewor, N., Ijiekhuamhen, O.P., Emeka-ukwu, U.P.: Elderly people and their information needs (2016)
- Zou, C., Zhou, P.: Analyzing information needs of elderly people: a survey in Chinese rural community. Open J. Soc. Sci. 2, 109–115 (2014)
- Pálsdóttir, Á.: Opportunistic discovery of information by elderly Icelanders and their relatives. Inf. Res. 16, 485 (2011)
- Coutinho, C.P.: Metodologia de Investigação em Ciências Sociais e Humanas. Almedina (2015)
- Rice, M., Carmichael, A.: Factors facilitating or impeding older adults' creative contributions in the collaborative design of a novel DTV-based application. Univers. Access Inf. Soc. 12, 5–19 (2013)
- 34. Childers, T., Post, J.: The Information-Poor in America (1975)



Correction to: What Is Hip? – Classifying Adopters and Rejecters of Interactive Digital Textiles in Home Environments

Julia van Heek, Philipp Brauner, and Martina Ziefle

Correction to: Chapter "What Is Hip? – Classifying Adopters and Rejecters of Interactive Digital Textiles in Home Environments" in: C. Röcker et al. (Eds.): *Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health*, CCIS 869, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93644-4_1

The chapter was indvertently published with the incorrect author name information "Martina Zielfe". This has been corrected as "Martina Ziefle".

The updated online version of this chapter can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93644-4_1

[©] Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 C. Röcker et al. (Eds.): ICT4AWE 2017, CCIS 869, p. E1, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93644-4_11

Author Index

Abelha, António 93 Abete, Pasquale 69 Albuquerque, Tânia Gonçalves 69 Antunes, Marília 69

Bertel, Diotima 168 Brauner, Philipp 1

Cabrita, Miriam 69 Campelo, David 191 Caravau, Hilma 191 Coelho, Danilo 93 Colao, Annamaria 69 Costa, Helena S. 69

de Abreu, Jorge Ferraz 191 de Barros, Ana Correia 107 De Luca, Vincenzo 69 de Vette, Frederiek 69

Emmenegger, Sandro 147

Ferreira, António 69 Fitzgerald, Carol 69 Frazer, Sanne 69

García-Rudolph, Alejandro 69 Gomez Aguilera, Enrique J. 69 Goumopoulos, Christos 46 Guimarães, Tiago 93

Hagiwara, Naoki 127 Hermens, Hermie 69 Higuchi, Masakazu 127 Himmel, Simon 21

Illario, Maddalena 69

Jansen-Kosterink, Stephanie 69

Kenter, Wander 69 Khatami, Ramin 147 Kofler, Andrea Ch. 168

Lappa, Athanasia 46

Machado, José 93 Maier, Edith 147 Martins, Alice 69 Mitsuyoshi, Shunji 127 Molloy, D. William 69

Nakamura, Mitsuteru 127 Nassabi, Mohammad Hossein 69

O'Caoimh, Rónán 69 Omiya, Yasuhiro 127

Paúl, Constança 168 Portela, Filipe 93

Rauter, Amélia P.69Reimer, Ulrich147Ribeiro, David107Ribeiro, Jorge107Ruscher, Stefan168

Sánchez, Javier Solana 69 Sanchez-Carrion, Rocío 69 Santos, Manuel Filipe 93 Scherillo, Mario 69 Schmitter, Paul 168 Shinohara, Shuji 127 Silva, Marta S. 69 Silva, Telmo 191

Takano, Takeshi 127 Teles, Soraia 168 Tokuno, Shinichi127Turkman, Antónia69Turkman, Feridun69

Ulmer, Tom 147

van Heek, Julia 1, 21 Van Velsen, Lex 69 van Weering, Marit Dekker 69 Vasconcelos, Maria João M. 107 Vieira, Elsa F. 107 Vollbrecht, Hans-Joachim 147 Vollenbroek-Hutten, Miriam 69

Zhang, Zhongxing 147 Ziefle, Martina 1, 21